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DEFINITIONS

In this circular, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions have

the following meanings.

“Acquisition”

“ADR”
“ADS”

“Agent”

“Amer Sports” or “Target
Company”

“Amer Sports Group” or “Target
Group”

“Anamered Investments”

“Announcement”

“Announcement on the Result of

the Tender Offer”

“Anda Investments”

“Anda Holdings”

“Anta SPV”

“Arrangers”

the Tender Offer and any
Redemption Proceedings;

subsequent Mandatory

Level I American depositary receipt;
American depositary share;

the independent third party bank which acts as the
agent of the Arrangers and Lenders under the Recourse
Senior Facilities Agreement;

Amer Sports Oyj (Amer Sports Corporation*), a
sporting goods company incorporated in Finland whose
shares are listed on the official list of Nasdaq Helsinki
Stock Exchange (stock code: AMEAS);

Amer Sports and its subsidiaries;

Anamered Investments Incorporation, a limited liability
company incorporated in British Columbia, Canada,
which is owned by Mr. Chip Wilson;

the announcement of the Company dated 7 December
2018 in relation to the Acquisition;

an announcement on the final result of the Tender Offer
to be issued by the Offeror in accordance with Chapter
11, Section 18 of the Finnish Securities Market Act;

Anda Investments Capital Limited, a British Virgin
Islands private limited company wholly-owned by Anta
International Group Holdings Limited;

Anda Holdings International Limited, a British Virgin
Islands private limited company wholly-owned by Anta
International Group Holdings Limited;

ANLLIAN Sports Products Limited, a British Virgin
Islands private limited indirectly
wholly-owned by the Company;

company

the independent third party banks which act as
arrangers under the

Agreement;

Recourse Senior Facilities
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“associate”

“Board”

“Business Day(s)”

“CFIUS”

“Closing Date”

“Combination Agreement”

“Commitment Parties”

“Company”

“Commitment Letter”

“connected person”

“controlling shareholder”

“Director(s)”

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules;

the board of Directors;

a day (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public
holidays and a day on which typhoon signal no. 8 or a
black rainstorm warning is hoisted at any time in Hong
Kong) when (i) banks are generally open for business
in Helsinki, Hong Kong, London, New York, Dublin,
and the Cayman Islands and (ii) on which the
Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement
Express Transfer payment system is open for the
settlement of payments in EUR;

The Committee on Foreign Investment in United States;

the twelfth Business Day after the date of the
Announcement on the Result of the Tender Offer;

the combination agreement dated 7 December 2018
entered into by the Offeror, JVCo, the Company, FV
Fund, Anamered Investments, and Amer Sports;

independent third banks which act as mandated lead
arranger, bookrunners and underwriters in connection
with the financing arrangement in connection with the
Combination Agreement;

ANTA  Sports  Products Limited, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability and the issued shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2020);

a commitment letter dated 6 December 2018 entered
into by, amongst others, the Offeror and the
Commitment Parties in connection with the financing
arrangement in connection with the Combination
Agreement;

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules;

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules;

the director(s) of the Company;
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“EGM”

“Enlarged Group”
66EUR7’

“Expiration Date”

“Facility A”

“Facility B”

“Finnish Companies Act”

“Finnish Securities Market Act”

“FountainVest SPV”

“FV Fund”

“GI’Oup”

”»”

“Helsinki Business Day(s)

“Hong Kong”

an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be
convened for the purpose of considering, and if though
fit, approving the Acquisition and the transactions
contemplated thereunder;

the Group as enlarged by the Acquisition;
Euro, the lawful currency of the European Union;

the end of the offer period for the Tender Offer, or
such other date as extended by the Offeror from time
to time until such time when all Offer Conditions shall
have been fulfilled (or waived by the Offeror);

has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed
“Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement” in this circular;

has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed
“Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement” in this circular;

Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act* (624/2006,
as amended);

Finnish  Securities Market Act* (746/2012, as
amended);

Baseball Investment Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, which is
currently owned/controlled by funds advised/managed
by FountainVest Partners;

FV Mascot JV, L.P.,, an exempted limited partnership
established in the Cayman Islands whose general
partner is FV Babylon GP Limited which is ultimately
controlled by FountainVest Partners;

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time;

a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public
holidays) when (i) banks are generally open for general
business in Helsinki and (ii) on which the
Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement
Express Transfer payment system is open for the
settlement of payments in euro;

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region;
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“Hong Kong Listing Rules”

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”

“Independent Third Party(ies)”

“Interim Agent”

“Interim Arrangers”

“Interim Facilities”

“Interim Facilities Agreement”

“Interim Lenders”

“Investor Consortium”

“IPO”

“Joint Announcement”

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange;

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

person or company who or which is not a connected
person of the Company;

the independent third party bank which acts as the
agent of the Interim Arrangers and the Interim Lenders
under the Interim Facilities Agreement;

the independent third party banks which act as
arrangers under the Interim Facilities Agreement;

has the meaning ascribed to it in the section under
“Commitment Letter and Interim Facilities Agreement”
in this circular;

an interim facilities agreement dated 6 December 2018
entered into by, amongst others, the Offeror, Midco and
the Interim Arrangers, the Interim Lenders and the
Interim Agent;

the independent third party banks which act as lenders
under the Interim Facilities Agreement;

collectively, the Company, FountainVest Partners, Mr.
Chip Wilson and Tencent;

initial public offering;

a joint stock exchange release published on the Nasdaq
Helsinki Stock Exchange by the Company and Amer
Sports on 7 December 2018 in relation to the
Acquisition;
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“JVCo”

“JV Group”

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Lenders”

“Long Stop Date”

“Mandatory Redemption
Proceedings”

“Midco”

“Nasdaq Helsinki Stock
Exchange”

Mascot JVCo (Cayman) Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands which is
currently wholly-owned by Anta SPV. It is expected
that, on the third Business Day before the Closing
Date, (i) the Company will indirectly through Anta
SPV own 57.95%, (ii) FV Fund will own 21.40% (and
FountainVest SPV will indirectly, and Tencent will
indirectly through Tencent SPV, in each case as a
limited partner in FV Fund, respectively own 15.77%
and 5.63%), and (iii) Anamered Investments will own
20.65% of the shares in the Offeror by way of equity
contribution to the share capital of JVCo;

JVCo and its subsidiaries;

Monday, 28 January 2019, being the latest practicable
date prior to the printing of this circular for
ascertaining certain information in this circular;

the independent third party banks which act as lenders
under the Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement;

28 June 2019 or such later date as may have been
agreed in writing among the Parties and provided
further, that the right to postpone such date for a
maximum of three months by a written notice to Amer
Sports in the event that the non-occurrence of the
Closing Date is due to any of the regulatory approvals
required for the completion of the Tender Offer (to the
extent such regulatory approvals have not been waived
by the Offeror) not having been obtained and still
being pending on such date;

the mandatory redemption proceedings under the
Finnish Companies Act by a shareholder, who holds
more than 90% of the total number of all the issued
shares and voting rights of Amer Sports, to redeem the
remaining shares of Amer Sports;

Mascot Midco 1 Oy (Mascot Midco 1 Limited*), a
limited liability company incorporated in Finland, the
immediate parent company of the Offeror and
ultimately wholly-owned by the JVCo;

Nasdaq Helsinki Limited;
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“Non-Recourse Senior Facilities”

“Non-Recourse Senior Facilities
Agreement”

“Offer Conditions”

“Offer Price”

“Offeror”

“Original Disclosure Date”

“Party(ies)”

“PRC”

“Recourse Senior Facilities
Agreement”

“SFO”

“Shares”

“Shareholder(s)”

has the meaning ascribed to it in the section under
“Commitment Letter and Interim Facilities Agreement”
in this circular;

a non-recourse senior facilities agreement which is
expected to be entered into by, amongst others, the
Commitment Parties and the Offeror before the Closing
Date pursuant to the Commitment Letter and the
Interim Facilities Agreement;

the offer conditions to the making of the Tender Offer,
as set out under the section headed “Offer Conditions”
of this circular;

the offer price per offer share of Amer Sports under the
Tender Offer;

Mascot Bidco Oy (Mascot Bidco Limited*), a limited
liability company incorporated in Finland for the
purpose of making the Tender Offer and ultimately
wholly-owned by the JVCo;

10 September 2018, the last trading day prior to Amer
Sports confirming the receipt of a non-binding
preliminary indication from the Company and
FountainVest Partners;

parties to the Combination Agreement, which are the
Offeror, JVCo, the Company, FV Fund, Anamered
Investments and Amer Sports;

the People’s Republic of China which, for the purpose
of this circular, excludes Hong Kong, Macau Special
Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan;

a senior facilities agreement dated 6 December 2018
entered into by, amongst others, the Company, the

JVCo, Anta SPV and independent third party banks;

The Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong);

ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of
the Company;

holder(s) of the share(s) of the Company;
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“Shareholders’ Agreement”

“Tencent SPV”

“Tencent”

“Tender Offer”

“Tender Offer Document”

“Trade Sale”

a shareholders’ agreement to be entered into by Anta
SPV, FV Fund, FountainVest SPV, Anamered
Investments and Tencent SPV;

Mount Jivhua Investment Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in British Virgin Islands which is
currently directly owned by Tencent;

Tencent Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability and the issued
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0700);

a voluntary public cash tender offer to be made by the
Offeror to acquire all the issued and outstanding shares
of Amer Sports, subject to the fulfilment or waiver by
the Offeror of the Offer Conditions;

the tender offer document in relation to the Tender
Offer;

a sale of 100% of the ordinary shares of JVCo or a
sale of all of the business and assets of JVCo and its
subsidiaries, in a single transaction or series of related
transactions (provided however the aggregate valuation
implied by such series of related transactions shall not
be lower than the valuation in a single transaction),
where:

(a) in the event of a Trade Sale of ordinary shares of
JVCo, FountainVest SPV shall have the right to
require the other shareholders of JVCo to sell all
(but not part only) of their ordinary shares of
JVCo to the proposed purchaser (the “Trade Sale
Purchaser”) on the same terms and at the same
price as FountainVest SPV;

(b) the consideration for such Trade Sale shall be in
cash only;

(c) the Trade Sale Purchaser shall not be any of the
following: (i) any shareholder of JVCo or
affiliates of such shareholder; (ii) any competitor
of the Company within the PRC as reasonably
agreed in good faith among the shareholders of
the JVCo in the Shareholders’ Agreement; and
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(d) the proceeds of such Trade Sale shall be first used
to repay the outstanding principal, interest, fees
and charges of Facility A (where JVCo is the
borrower) (to the extent not repaid by the Trade
Sale Purchaser), and then distributed to the
shareholders of JVCo pro rata;

“U.S.” the United States of America, its territories, its
possessions and all areas subject to its jurisdiction;

“US$” U.S. dollar(s), the lawful currency of U.S.; and
“%” per cent.
The English names of the Finnish entities, Finnish laws or regulations and Finnish

governmental authorities which are marked with * in this circular are translations from their
Finnish names and are for identification purposes.
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Executive Directors: Registered office:
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Hong Kong

4 February 2019
To the Shareholders,

Dear Sir/Madam,

POSSIBLE VERY SUBSTANTIAL ACQUISITION
TO ACQUIRE ALL THE ISSUED AND OUTSTANDING SHARES OF
AMER SPORTS BY THE OFFEROR THROUGH TENDER OFFER AND
ANY SUBSEQUENT MANDATORY REDEMPTION PROCEEDINGS
AND
NOTICE OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

INTRODUCTION
Reference is made to the Announcement.

The purpose of this circular is to provide you with (i) further information on the
Acquisition and the transactions contemplated under, incidental to, ancillary to, in
connection with or for the ultimate purpose of the Acquisition and the related agreements
entered and/or to be entered into by the Group, including the escrow arrangement in
connection with the Combination Agreement, the financing arrangement and the provision of
guarantee given by the Company under the Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement, and the
financing arrangement, the provision of guarantee and other securities given by Midco and/
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or its subsidiaries under the Commitment Letter and the Interim Facilities Agreement and the
Non-Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement; (ii) the financial and other information on Amer
Sports; (iii) the financial and other information on the Group; and (iv) notice of EGM.

COMBINATION AGREEMENT
Date: 7 December 2018

Parties: the Offeror, JVCo, the Company, FV Fund, Anamered Investments, and Amer
Sports

To the best of the knowledge, information and belief of the directors of the Company,
having made all reasonable enquiries, FV Fund, Anamered Investments, JV Co, and Amer
Sports and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are third parties independent of the
Company and its connected persons (save for the Company’s indirect shareholding interests
in Amer Sports).

The Combination Agreement sets forth the principal terms under which the Offeror will
make the Tender Offer:

Subject Matter of the Tender Offer

Pursuant to the Combination Agreement, and subject to the Offer Conditions being
satisfied or waived, the Offeror is to acquire all issued and outstanding shares of Amer
Sports including 1,679,936 shares of Amer Sports currently held by the Group,
corresponding to approximately 1.4% of the issued shares in Amer Sports, but excluding any
shares of Amer Sports which are held by Amer Sports or its subsidiaries.

The Tender Offer is not being made for ADS representing the issued and outstanding
shares of Amer Sports, nor for ADR evidencing such ADS. However, the Tender Offer is
being made for the issued and outstanding shares of Amer Sports underlying the ADS.

Offer Price

The Offer Price under the Tender Offer is EUR40.00 in cash per Amer Sports share.
Any change to the number of shares of Amer Sports as a result of a new share issue,
reclassification, stock split (including a reverse split) or any other similar transaction with
dilutive effect, or distribution of a dividend or other distribution of funds or assets by Amer
Sports after the date of the Combination Agreement shall reduce the final Offer Price
accordingly on a Euro-for-Euro basis on the gross value distributed or made, before the
deduction of any withholding tax and/or any other applicable taxes.

—10 -
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The Offer Price represents a premium of:

—  39% compared to the closing price of the shares of Amer Sports on the Nasdaq
Helsinki Stock Exchange on the Original Disclosure Date;

—  43% compared to the volume-weighted average trading price of the shares of
Amer Sports on the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange during the 3-month
undisturbed trading period prior to and up to the Original Disclosure Date;

—  63% compared to the volume-weighted average trading price of the shares of
Amer Sports on the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange during the 12-month
undisturbed trading period prior to and up to the Original Disclosure Date;

- 14% compared to the closing price of the shares of Amer Sports on the Nasdaq
Helsinki Stock Exchange on 5 December 2018, the last trading day before the
date of the Joint Announcement; and

—  44% compared to the volume-weighted average trading price of the shares of
Amer Sports on the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange during the 12-month period
preceding the date of the Joint Announcement.

The Offer Price is determined after arm’s length negotiation among the Investor
Consortium and Amer Sports with reference to Amer Sports’ market positioning, the
historical business and financial performance of Amer Sports and the prospects of the
business and its financial condition, as well as Amer Sports’ current and historical share
prices.

The terms of the Tender Offer value the entire issued and outstanding share capital of
Amer Sports at approximately EUR4.6 billion.

Obligation to increase the Tender Offer or to pay compensation

The Offeror reserves the right to also acquire the issued and outstanding shares of
Amer Sports in public trading on the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange or otherwise before,
during and/or after the offer period and any subsequent offer period or otherwise outside the
Tender Offer to the extent permitted by Finnish, U.S. and other applicable law.

If the Offeror, or any party referred to in Chapter 11, Section 5 of the Finnish
Securities Market Act acquires, before the expiry of the offer period, shares of Amer Sports
at a higher price than the Offer Price or otherwise on terms that are more favourable than
those of the Tender Offer, the Offeror must amend the terms and conditions of the Tender
Offer to the price corresponding to the more favourable acquisition terms. The Offeror shall
then, without delay, make public the triggering of the obligation to increase the offer and
pay, in connection with the completion of the Tender Offer, the difference between the more
favourable acquisition terms and the consideration offered in the Tender Offer to the
shareholders who have accepted the Tender Offer.

—11 =
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If the Offeror, or any party referred to in Chapter 11, Section 5 of the Finnish
Securities Market Act, acquires during the nine months following the expiry of the offer
period shares of Amer Sports at a higher price than the Offer Price or otherwise on terms
that are more favourable than those of the Tender Offer, the Offeror must compensate those
holders of securities who have accepted the Tender Offer by the amount equal to the
difference between the more favourable acquisition terms and the Offer Price. The Offeror
shall then, without delay, make public the triggering of the obligation to compensate and pay
the difference between the more favourable acquisition terms and the consideration offered
in the Tender Offer within one month after the triggering of the obligation to compensate to
the shareholders who have accepted the Tender Offer.

Terms of payment and settlement of shares

The sale and purchase of the issued and outstanding shares of Amer Sports validly
tendered and not properly withdrawn in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Tender Offer is expected to be executed following the Announcement on the Results of the
Tender Offer, but in any event with settlement being commenced no later than the Closing
Date. The sale and purchase of the issued and outstanding shares of Amer Sports will take
place on the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange (if permitted by the applicable rules).
Otherwise, the sale and purchase of the issued and outstanding shares of Amer Sports will
take place outside of the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange.

Tender Offer Document and Offer Period

A tender offer document with detailed information on the Tender Offer was published
on or around 20 December 2018. The offer period under the Tender Offer commenced on or
around 20 December 2018, and will run for approximately ten weeks. The Offeror reserves
the right to extend the offer period from time to time in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Tender Offer. The Tender Offer is currently expected to be completed
during the second quarter of 2019 at the latest.

Offer Conditions

The obligation of the Offeror to accept for payment of the tendered shares of Amer
Sports and to complete the Tender Offer shall be subject to the fulfilment (or waiver by the
Offeror, as applicable to Offer Conditions (a) and (f) below) of the following Offer
Conditions on or prior to the Announcement on the Result of the Tender Offer:

(a) the Tender Offer has been validly accepted with respect to outstanding shares
representing, together with any outstanding shares otherwise held by the Offeror
prior to the Announcement on the Result of the Tender Offer, more than 90% of
the outstanding shares and voting rights of Amer Sports calculated in accordance
with Chapter 18, Section 1 of the Finnish Companies Act governing the right and
obligation to commence Mandatory Redemption Proceedings;

—12 —
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(b) the receipt of all necessary approvals, permits, consents, clearances, termination
or expiration of any applicable waiting periods (or extensions thereof) and other
actions by any competition authorities or other regulatory authorities required
under any applicable competition laws or other regulatory laws in any jurisdiction
for the completion of the Tender Offer by the Offeror;

(c) the Tender Offer has been approved by the shareholders of the Company in
accordance with, and to the extent required by, applicable law (including the
Hong Kong Listing Rules);

(d) the removal of Article 11 of the articles of association of Amer Sports (in relation
to the obligation of shareholders, whose shareholding attains or exceeds certain
thresholds, to, on demand by other shareholders, redeem the shares of such other
shareholders as well as securities giving entitlement to such shares) has been duly
approved by an extraordinary general meeting of shareholders of Amer Sports;

(e) mno legislation or other regulation has been issued or decision by a competent
court or regulatory authority has been given that would wholly or in any material
part prevent or postpone the completion of the Tender Offer;

(f) no fact or circumstance has arisen after the announcement of the Tender Offer that
constitutes a material adverse change as defined under the Combination
Agreement;

(g) the Combination Agreement has not been terminated in accordance with its terms
and remains in full force and effect; and

(h) the board of directors of Amer Sports has issued its recommendation that the
shareholders of Amer Sports to accept the Tender Offer and the recommendation
remains in full force and effect and has not been modified, or amended, and the
board of directors of Amer Sports has not included conditions to or decided not to
issue its recommendation (excluding any technical modification or change of the
recommendation required under applicable laws or the Helsinki Takeover Code as
a result of a competing offer so long as the recommendation to accept the Tender
Offer is upheld).

The Offeror has started to obtain approvals from relevant regulatory authorities in
jurisdictions where the applicable laws and regulations require the Offeror to do so,
including the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority and the Foreign Investment Review
Board in Australia, the competition authorities in the PRC, the European Union, the U.S.,
Canada, Mexico, Russia and Turkey. The Offeror may receive such approvals within the
anticipated offer period. The Offeror has so far received approvals for the Tender Offer from
the State Administration for Market Regulation of the PRC and the Federal Antimonopoly
Service of Russia. In addition, the competition authorities in the U.S. and Canada have
completed their review processes concerning the Tender Offer. The completion of the Tender
Offer is still conditional on the receipt of authority approvals from the Foreign Investment
Review Board in Australia and the competition authorities in the European Union, Mexico
and Turkey. However, the offer period may be extended in accordance with the terms and

— 13 —
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conditions of the Tender Offer to the extent such approvals have not been obtained within
that timeframe, and the Offeror may also commence a subsequent offer period as permitted
under Finnish law. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offer Condition (d) had been
fulfilled.

The Offeror reserves the right to withdraw the Tender Offer in the event that any of the
Offer Conditions is not fulfilled.

The Offeror can only invoke any of the Offer Conditions so as to cause the Tender
Offer not to proceed, to lapse or to be withdrawn if the circumstances which give rise to the
right to invoke the relevant Offer Condition have a material significance to the Offeror in
view of the Tender Offer, as referred to in the relevant laws and regulations in Finland.

The Offer Conditions set out herein are exhaustive for the completion of the Tender
Offer. The Offeror reserves the right to waive, to the extent permitted by applicable law, any
of the Offer Conditions that have not been fulfilled. To the extent that a material Offer
Condition has not been fulfilled, the Offeror may extend the offer period to the extent
permitted by applicable law.

Completion

The initial Expiration Date of the Tender Offer shall be the date which is ten weeks
after the date on which the offer period for the Tender Offer commences. The Expiration
Date may be extended by the Offeror from time to time until such time in accordance with
the Combination Agreement when all Offer Conditions shall have been fulfilled (or waived
by the Offeror).

After the fulfilment (or waiver by the Offeror) of the Offer Conditions, the Offeror
shall:

(a) 1issue in the Announcement on the Result of the Tender Offer the final result of
the Tender Offer no later than the third Helsinki Business Day after the Expiration
Date; and

(b) promptly and in no event later than the Closing Date, accept for payment, pay for
and otherwise take such actions as required to acquire all the outstanding shares
of Amer Sports validly tendered and not withdrawn pursuant to the terms of the
Tender Offer in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Tender Offer.

The Offeror is expected to accept for payment and otherwise take such actions as
required to acquire all the outstanding shares of Amer Sports validly tendered and not
withdrawn pursuant to the terms of the Tender Offer following the Announcement on the
Result of the Tender Offer. The completion of the Tender Offer is expected to take place on
the Closing Date.

—14 -
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Other information relating to Amer Sports under the Tender Offer

The board of directors of Amer Sports decided to unanimously recommend that the
shareholders of Amer Sports accept the Tender Offer and issued its complete statement on
the Tender Offer in accordance with the Finnish Securities Market Act on 17 December
2018.

The following major shareholders of Amer Sports have, subject to certain customary
conditions, irrevocably undertaken to accept the Tender Offer: Kaleva Mutual Insurance
Company, Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company, Mandatum Life Insurance
Company Limited and Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company, representing, as at the
Latest Practicable Date, in aggregate approximately 7.91% of the issued shares and votes in
Amer Sports. In addition, Maa-ja vesitekniikan tuki r.y., who hold, as at the Latest
Practicable Date, approximately 4.29% of the issued shares and votes in Amer Sports, have
expressed that they view the Tender Offer positively.

Under the Combination Agreement, the board of directors of Amer Sports may not
withdraw, modify, amend, include conditions to or decide not to issue its recommendation to
accept the Tender Offer unless, after taking advice from its external legal advisor and its
external financial adviser, the board of directors of Amer Sports, on the basis of its fiduciary
duties under Finnish laws and regulations (including the Helsinki Takeover Code), considers
that, due to materially changed circumstances, the acceptance of the Tender Offer would no
longer be in the best interest of the holders of outstanding shares of Amer Sports. The board
of directors of Amer Sports may withdraw, modify, amend, include conditions to or decide
not to issue its recommendation to accept the Tender Offer in accordance with the above in
the event of a possible competing or superior offer only if the board of directors of Amer
Sports has complied with certain agreed customary procedures allowing the Offeror to
negotiate with the board of directors of Amer Sports in respect of such competing or
superior offer.

Amer Sports has undertaken not to actively, directly or indirectly, solicit, or knowingly
encourage a third party to launch a competing offer, except if such measures are required for
the board of directors of Amer Sports to comply with its fiduciary duties towards Amer
Sports’ shareholders under applicable laws or regulations.

Representations, warranties and undertakings

The Combination Agreement further includes certain customary representations,
warranties and undertakings by the parties to the Combination Agreement, such as conduct
of business by Amer Sports in the ordinary course of business before the completion of the
Tender Offer, and cooperation by the parties in making necessary regulatory filings.

Termination

The Combination Agreement may be terminated and the Acquisition may be abandoned
by Amer Sports or the Offeror under certain circumstances, including, amongst other things,

(a) by a mutual written agreement of the Parties;
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(b)

©

(d)

(©

()

(2)

(h)

@)

@

(k)

by either Amer Sports or the Offeror, if the Closing Date has not occurred on or
before the Long Stop Date (however, this right to terminate shall not be available
to the Party whose failure to fulfil any obligation under the Combination
Agreement shall have resulted in the failure of the Closing Date to occur on or
before the Long Stop Date);

by either Amer Sports or the Offeror, if any order that would wholly or in any
material part prevent or postpone the completion of the Tender Offer shall have
been issued by any court or other authority of competent jurisdiction and shall
have become final and non-appealable;

by either Amer Sports or the Offeror, if any new legislation or regulation
preventing the completion of the Acquisition or a material part of it, have been
issued and entered into force;

by Amer Sports, if the board of directors of Amer Sports, has withdrawn,
modified, amended, included conditions to or decided not to issue its
recommendation to accept the Tender Offer in compliance with certain
requirements under the Combination Agreement;

by Amer Sports, if the Offeror has not commenced the Tender Offer within five
Helsinki Business Days following approval by the Finnish Financial Supervisory
Authority of the Tender Offer Document or such later date as the Finnish
Financial Supervisory Authority may agree but in any event no later than the 15th
Helsinki Business Day following approval by the Finnish Financial Supervisory
Authority of the Tender Offer Document;

by Amer Sports, if the Offeror fails to complete the Tender Offer in accordance
with, or breaches certain obligations under the Combination Agreement once the
Offer Conditions have been satisfied;

by the Offeror, if the board of the directors of Amer Sports, has withdrawn,
modified, amended, included conditions to or decided not to issue its
recommendation to accept the Tender Offer (excluding any technical modification
or charge of the recommendation required under applicable laws or the Helsinki
Takeover code as result of a competing offer so long as the recommendation to
accept the Tender Offer upheld);

by either Amer Sports or the Offeror upon a material breach of any warranty
given, or any covenant or agreement, by the Parties;

by the Offeror if a material adverse change (as defined in the Combination
Agreement) has occurred; and

by the Offeror if CFIUS informs the Parties that it will recommend that the

President of the U.S. block the transaction, or the President of the U.S.
announcing a decision to block or prohibit the Acquisition.
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Liquidated damages

Subject to the terms of the Combination Agreement, the Offeror shall pay to Amer
Sports liquidated damages if the agreement is terminated in certain specific circumstances;

namely:

(@)

(b)

(c)

EUR175 million as liquidated damages, if the Combination Agreement is
terminated due to:

(i) failure to satisfy regulatory approvals and requirements in the PRC before
the Long Stop Date, provided that such approvals and requirements are not
based on or required by any new legislation or other new regulation coming
into force after the date of the Combination Agreement;

(ii) disapproval by the shareholders of the Company for the Tender Offer;

(iii) the issue of any final and non-appealable court decision in the PRC that
wholly or in any material part prevents or postpones the completion of the
Tender Offer;

(iv) failure on the part of the Offeror to commence the Tender Offer before a
prescribed date or failure to complete the Tender Offer in accordance with
the Combination Agreement once the Offer Conditions have been satisfied,
including if a financing bank fails to provide funding in accordance with the
financing arrangements described in this circular which results in the Offeror
failing to complete the Tender Offer (except to the extent that bank is
insolvent and therefore prohibited from advancing funds by law or
regulation); or

EUR100 million as liquidated damages, if the Combination Agreement is
terminated due to, amongst other things:

(i) failure to satisfy certain regulatory approvals and requirements outside the
PRC (other than CFIUS or the President of the U.S. pursuant to the Defense
Production Act) before the Long Stop Date, provided that such approvals and
requirements are not based on or required by any new legislation or other
new regulation coming into force after the date of the Combination
Agreement; or

(i) the issue of any final and non-appealable court or regulatory authority
decision outside the PRC (other than CFIUS or the President of the U.S.
pursuant to the Defense Production Act) that wholly or in any material part
prevent or postpone the completion of the Tender Offer.

EUR20 million as liquidated damages, if the Combination Agreement is
terminated due to an order issued by CFIUS or the President of the U.S. pursuant
to the Defense Production Act, provided that any right to terminate is not
triggered due to any new legislation or other new regulation coming into force
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after the date of this Combination Agreement, and that is not principally due to
Amer Sports having failed to provide any information available to Amer Sports as
requested or required by CFIUS.

Amer Sports has agreed to reimburse expenses incurred by the Offeror up to EURIS
million in the event of the Combination Agreement is terminated due to certain reasons
specified in the Combination Agreement.

The Directors are of the view that having liquidated damages in the Combination
Agreement is generally consistent with terms of other similar cross-border acquisitions
conducted by public companies in the market. The liquidated damages were determined as a
result of commercial negotiations between the Consortium and Amer Sports, and the three
tiers of liquidated damages payable by the Offeror were negotiated with reference to an
assessment on the level of risks associated with each relevant triggering event.

Such liquidated damages will be satisfied out of the funds placed in the escrow account
(see the section headed “Escrow Arrangement” below). In the event that the Combination
Agreement is terminated due to any of the abovementioned circumstances and prior to the
JVCo becoming jointly controlled by Anta SPV, FV Fund and Anamered Investments, such
funds placed in the escrow account by the Offeror would remain ultimately the sole
contribution of the Company, unless otherwise related to regulatory issues primarily arising
from facts, circumstances or activities relating to Anamered Investments or its ultimate
beneficial owner.

MANDATORY REDEMPTION PROCEEDINGS

Under the Finnish Companies Act, if, as a result of the completion of the Tender Offer,
the Offeror holds more than 90% (but not all) of the outstanding shares and voting rights of
Amer Sports, the Offeror has the statutory right to commence the Mandatory Redemption
Proceedings to acquire the remaining shares not owned by the Offeror at a fair price.

If, as a result of the completion of the Tender Offer, the Offeror holds more than 90% (but
not all) of the outstanding shares and voting rights of Amer Sports, any of the remaining
minority shareholders of Amer Sports has the right to require the Offeror to redeem the shares
held by such minority shareholder at a price to be determined in the Mandatory Redemption
Proceedings which the Offeror expects to be equal to the Offer Price.

INTENTION OF THE OFFEROR WITH REGARD TO AMER SPORTS

If, as a result of the completion of the Tender Offer, the Offeror holds more than 90%
(but not all) of the outstanding shares and voting rights of Amer Sports, the Offeror intends
to commence the Mandatory Redemption Proceedings under the Finnish Companies Act to
redeem all of the remaining outstanding shares of Amer Sports not purchased pursuant to the
Tender Offer at a price to be determined in the Mandatory Redemption Proceedings which
the Offeror expects to be equal to the Offer Price. Upon completion of the Mandatory
Redemption Proceedings, Amer Sports would become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Offeror and the Offeror intends to cause the shares of Amer Sports to be delisted from the
Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange as soon as permissible and reasonably practicable under
applicable laws and regulations.
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After the completion of the Acquisition, the Investor Consortium plans for Amer Sports
to be operated independently from the Company, with a separate board of directors. The
Investor Consortium has invited Mr. Heikki Takala (the president and chief executive officer
of Amer Sports) and his key executives to continue leading the business. Under the new
ownership, Amer Sports’ management team would have the autonomy to execute on its
business plan under the strategic direction of the board of directors of Amer Sports. The
Investor Consortium intends to invest significant time, resources and effort in helping Amer
Sports to accelerate several important ongoing and new strategic initiatives, including
expanding Amer Sports’ businesses in the Chinese market.

The completion of the Tender Offer is not expected to have an immediate material
effect on the operations, assets, the position of the management, or employees or the
business locations of Amer Sports. The Investor Consortium currently expects to retain Amer
Sports’ corporate head office in Helsinki after the completion of the Tender Offer. The
Offeror, however, intends to change the composition of the board of directors of Amer
Sports after the completion of the Tender Offer.

ARRANGEMENT ABOUT THE JVCO

The JVCo was incorporated to be the holding company in the acquisition structure and
is currently wholly-owned by Anta SPV, a special purpose vehicle directly wholly-owned by
the Company.

It is expected that, on the third Business Day before the Closing Date, (i) the Company
will indirectly through Anta SPV own 57.95%, (ii) FV Fund will own 21.40% (and
FountainVest SPV will indirectly, and Tencent will indirectly through Tencent SPV, in each
case as a limited partner in FV Fund, respectively own 15.77% and 5.63%), and (iii)
Anamered Investments will own 20.65% of the shares in the JVCo by way of equity
contribution to the share capital of JVCo as further described in the paragraph headed
“Funding Contributions and Financing of the Acquisition” in this circular.

The sole director of JVCo is currently appointed by the Company. It is intended that,
pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement, with effect on the third Business Day before the
Closing Date, the board of directors of JVCo will comprise of seven members with four
directors appointed by the Company, one director appointed by FountainVest SPV, one
director appointed by Anamered Investments and one director appointed by Tencent SPV.

The right of each shareholder (other than Tencent SPV, provided that it has not
transferred more than such number of shares that would result in Tencent SPV and its
affiliates together holding less than 5% of the total issued shares of JVCo as at completion
of the Tender Offer) to appoint a director to the board of the JVCo is subject to such
shareholder holding not less than 10% of the total issued shares of the JVCo.

Accordingly, assuming there is no change in the aforesaid shareholding percentages, the
Company will indirectly through Anta SPV own 57.95% of the JVCo immediately following
completion of the Tender Offer, as such the JVCo and Offeror would be defined as
subsidiaries of the Company under the Hong Kong Listing Rules. However, the JVCo and
Offeror will be classified as jointly controlled entities of the Company, FV Fund and
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Anamered Investments under the relevant financial reporting standards and will not be
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements of the Group, because decisions about
certain relevant activities of the JVCo (and in turn, the Offeror) require the consent of
directors nominated by other shareholders of the JVCo.

It is intended that, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement,

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

©

FountainVest SPV has the right to effect a Trade Sale in the event of the
Company’s failure to provide a loan to FountainVest SPV for the purpose of
contributing capital to the JVCo to repay the outstanding principal under Facility
A;

FountainVest SPV has the right to effect a Trade Sale if a qualified IPO (an PO
of the JVCo at a pre-IPO valuation which would result in FountainVest SPV
obtaining at least 200% of its original aggregate equity contributions to JVCo,
excluding any equity contributions attributable to such shares distributed by FV
Fund to its limited partners as at the completion of the Tender Offer) does not
occur within five years of the completion of the Tender Offer under which
circumstance the Company shall have a right of first offer to acquire all issued
share capital of the JVCo;

certain shareholders of the JVCo (including the Group) and their affiliates shall
not, without the prior written consent of each other shareholder of the JVCo,
carry on or invest or be concerned in or assist in business that directly compete
with the business of JVCo and, once such shareholders or their affiliates identify
or become aware of any business or investment or corporate opportunity of any
nature or potential transaction related to the business of international sporting
goods brands (but excluding any corporate opportunity relating to apparel not
primarily intended for athletic or sports), such shareholder shall refer such
corporate opportunity to the JVCo;

all related party transactions shall be disclosed to the board of the JVCo and shall
adhere to certain general principles, amongst others, related party transactions
shall not confer benefits to any shareholder of JVCo or its affiliates at the
expense of the other shareholders of JVCo. Related party transactions that do not
adhere with such principles shall not be entered into by any JVCo or any of its
group companies unless approved by all the directors of the board of the JVCo
after the Acquisition;

certain reserved matters, among other things, (i) declaration or payment of
dividends or other distributions, (ii) entry by JVCo into any partnership, joint
venture or alliance with other persons and (iii) entry of certain material contracts
shall not take place without the approval of five directors including the director
appointed by FountainVest SPV; and
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(f) certain reserved matters, among other things, the major acquisitions and disposals
of businesses, shares, assets, intellectual property rights or properties and
modifying, varying or abrogating any rights attaching to any shares in JVCo shall
not take place without a 95% approval of the shareholders of the JVCo.

FUNDING CONTRIBUTIONS AND FINANCING OF THE ACQUISITION

Details of the proposed funding contributions and financing of the Acquisition are set
forth below:

Percentage of shareholding in
JVCo with effect on the third

Equity contribution to the Business Day before the Closing
share capital of JVCo EUR millions Date
The Company 1,543 57.95%
FV Fund 570 21.40%
— Tencent 150 5.63%
— FountainVest SPV 420 15.77%
Anamered Investments 550 20.65%
Total: 2,663 100 %

Debt Financing

Facility A under Resource 1,300
Senior Facilities Agreement
(where JVCo is borrower)

Non-Recourse Term Loan 1,700
(where Offeror is borrower)

Total: 3,000

Total sources of financing 5,663

Assuming (i) an offer price of EUR40.00 per share,
(i1) estimated shares outstanding as at the Closing
Date of approximately 116 million, (iii) repayment of
Amer Sports’ existing debt of EUR950 million, (iv)
financing fees, and (v) other transaction fees.

The Offeror has, and will have on the Closing Date, access to debt and equity funding
in sufficient amounts, as evidenced in equity commitment letters executed by Investor
Consortium members and/or their affiliates, to finance the payment of the aggregate Offer
Price for all the shares in connection with the Acquisition. The Offeror’s obligation to
complete the Tender Offer is not conditional upon availability of financing (assuming that all
the Offer Conditions are otherwise fulfilled or waived by the Offeror).

Under the Tender Offer, the Offeror also undertakes to purchase 1,679,936 shares of
Amer Sports currently held by the Group, corresponding to approximately 1.4% of the
issued shares in Amer Sports. Upon completion of such disposal, the Group expects the net
movement in fair value reserve in respect of the investment amounting to approximately
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EUR27 million, being the difference between the original acquisition costs of such shares of
Amer Sports of approximately EUR40 million and the consideration for the disposal payable
by the Offeror to the Group, would be transferred to the retained earnings of the Group.

The fund to be contributed by the Group for the Acquisition will be financed by (a)
external bank financing, including the financing facilities under the Non-Recourse Senior
Facilities Agreement and the Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement, (b) internal resources of
the Group, and (c) if applicable, gains of EUR27 million in respect of the disposal of shares
of Amer Sports currently held by the Group under the Tender Offer.

ESCROW ARRANGEMENT

In connection with liquidated damages arrangements under the Combination Agreement,
the Offeror has in place an escrow arrangement. As at the date of this circular, the Offeror,
which is currently indirectly wholly-owned by the Company, has deposited US$216,882,750,
representing the amount of liquidated damages of EUR175 million with a buffer agreed with
Amer Sports, in an escrow account with an independent third party escrow bank. Such
escrow amount was advanced by the Company to the Offeror pursuant to a loan agreement
and security agreements executed by the Company and the Offeror. If the Combination
Agreement is terminated due to certain events as described above, the Offeror and Amer
Sports will jointly instruct the third party escrow bank to release the applicable amount of
liquidated damages to Amer Sports, subject to the terms of the Combination Agreement and
the escrow agreement between the Offeror, Amer Sports and the third party escrow bank.

RECOURSE SENIOR FACILITIES AGREEMENT

In connection with the financing arrangement in connection with the Combination
Agreement, on 6 December 2018, the Company (as guarantor), the JVCo (as Facility A
Borrower) and Anta SPV (as Facility B Borrower) entered into the Recourse Senior
Facilities Agreement with independent third party banks which act as the Arrangers, the
Lenders and the Agent.

Subject to the terms of the Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement, the Lenders shall
make available:

(a) a 5-year EUR1,300 million term loan facility (“Facility A”) to the Facility A
Borrower for the purpose of, amongst other things, (i) funding the settlement of
the Tender Offer and the purchase of the shares of Amer Sports; and/or (ii) any
refinancing of any indebtedness of Amer Sports Group in connection with the
acquisition of shares of Amer Sports; and

(b) a S-year EUR900 million term loan facility (“Facility B”) to the Facility B
Borrower for the purpose of, amongst other things, general corporate purposes
including acquiring or subscribing for equity or other ownership interests in the
Facility A Borrower and advancing or refinancing loans made to the Facility A
Borrower.
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The interest rate is 2.0% per annum subject to a ratchet. The Company has guaranteed
the full and punctual performance of any and all obligations and undertakings of Facility A
Borrower and Facility B Borrower to the Arrangers, the Lenders and the Agent in connection
with, and for all amounts which may become due and payable under, the aforesaid loan
facilities. Such guarantee will be provided notwithstanding any future change in the
shareholding of Anta SPV in the JVCo.

For any disposal resulting in the Facility A Borrower ceasing to hold beneficially
(directly or indirectly) at least 50.1% of the issued share capital of Amer Sports, the
Company and the Facility A Borrower shall ensure that the lower of (i) an amount equal to
the net cash proceeds received by the Group and the JVCo (other than any subsidiary of the
JVCo) from the disposal; and (ii) an amount equal to the outstanding loans and accrued
interest under the Facility A, is applied in prepayment of Facility A.

A Lender may require that its participation in the loans is repaid (and a corresponding
Commitment cancelled in the amount of participation repaid) if:

(a) Mr. Ding Shizhong, Mr. Ding Shijia, Mr. Lai Shixian and Mr. Wang Wenmo, all
being Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company and/or their
respective associates, their controlled entities and related trusts (when taken
together) cease to be the ultimate single largest group of shareholders of the
Company;

(b) the shares of the Company cease to be listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange;

(c) the Company ceases to hold beneficially at least 80% of the issued shares of the
Facility B Borrower or ceases to have the power to (A) cast, or control the
casting of, at least 80% of voting power at a general meeting of the Facility B
Borrower; or (B) appoint or remove all, or the majority, of the directors of the
Facility B Borrower;

(d) the Company ceases to hold beneficially (directly or indirectly) at least 30% of
the issued shares of the Facility A Borrower or ceases to have the power (directly
or indirectly) to cast, or control the casting of, at least 30% of the maximum
number of votes that might be cast at a general meeting of the Facility A
Borrower; or

(e) current holders of the Facility A Borrower and their respective affiliates (when
taken together) cease to hold beneficially 50.1% of the issued share capital of the
Facility A Borrower or cease to have the power to (A) cast, or control the casting
of, more than 50.1% of the voting power at a general meeting of the Facility A
Borrower; or (B) appoint or remove all, or the majority, of the directors of the
Facility A Borrower.

Considering that FountainVest Partners is a private equity firm without any substantial
assets, other than those assets under its management for its clients, and Anamered
Investments is an investment vehicle owned by a private individual, whose credit profiles
are not publicly available nor as strong as the Company, the lender banks under the
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Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement require the Company, which has a proven track record
of financial results and have substantive assets, to be the guarantor for the recourse senior
facilities, and the Company accepted such guarantee arrangement after evaluating all
relevant commercial factors, including but not limited to the timing for securing sufficient
financing and balancing the overall status of negotiations with parties to the Combination
Agreement in relation to other transaction terms as well when taken together as a whole.

It is agreed that Anta SPV shall (i) execute the recourse facility on or prior to the date
of the Combination Agreement and (ii) deliver certain utilization requests on the third
Business Days prior to the completion of the Tender Offer. The Company unconditionally
and irrevocably guarantees to, amongst others, the shareholders of JVCo that Anta SPV will
comply properly and punctually with its aforementioned obligations and undertakes to
indemnify, amongst others, the shareholders of JVCo against any costs or losses suffered or
incurred by any of them as a result of Anta SPV’s failure to comply properly and punctually
with its aforementioned obligations.

COMMITMENT LETTER AND INTERIM FACILITIES AGREEMENT

In relation to the financing arrangement in connection with the Combination
Agreement, on 6 December 2018, the Offeror and the Commitment Parties entered into the
Commitment Letter, pursuant to which the Commitment Parties shall arrange and underwrite
the following non-recourse senior facilities (“Non-Recourse Senior Facilities”), subject to
the terms of the Commitment Letter:

(a) a 7-year EURI1,700 million secured term loan facility (“Non-Recourse Term
Loan”) for the purpose of financing or refinancing, amongst other things, (i) the
acquisition of shares of Amer Sports, including those to be acquired after the
Closing Date pursuant to the Mandatory Redemption Proceedings; and/or (ii)
repayment or refinancing of certain existing indebtedness of the Amer Sports
Group; and

(b) a 6.5-year EUR315 million secured revolving loan facility for the purpose of,
amongst other things, general corporate and working capital purposes of Midco,
the Offeror and (following the Closing Date), the Amer Sports Group.

On 6 December 2018, the Offeror (as borrower) and Midco (as guarantor) entered into
the Interim Facilities Agreement with, amongst others, independent third party banks which
act as the Interim Arrangers, the Interim Lenders and the Interim Agent.

Subject to the terms of the Interim Facilities Agreement, the Interim Lenders shall
make available the following interim facilities (the “Interim Facilities”) to the Offeror:

(a) a 90-day EURI1,700 million term loan facility for the purpose of financing or
refinancing, amongst other things, (i) the acquisition of shares of Amer Sports,
including those to be acquired after the Closing Date pursuant to the Mandatory
Redemption Proceedings; and/or (ii) repayment or refinancing of certain existing
indebtedness of the Amer Sports Group; and
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(b) a 90-day EUR315 million revolving loan facility for the purpose of, amongst
other things, the general corporate and working capital purposes of Midco, the
Offeror and (following the Closing Date), the Amer Sports Group.

The interest rate is 3.75% per annum for the term loan facility and 3.25% per annum
for the revolving loan facility. Midco has guaranteed the full and punctual performance of
any and all obligations and undertakings of the Offeror under or in connection with the
Interim Facilities Agreement. The guarantee provided by Midco will be secured by (i) the
shares owned by Midco in the Offeror, material loan receivables owed to Midco by the
Offeror (if any), and material bank accounts of Midco (if any); and (ii) material loan
receivables owed to the Offeror by Midco (if any), material bank accounts of the Offeror (if
any) and the Offeror’s book-entry account(s) to be used for the purposes of acquiring the
shares of Amer Sports.

The Non-Recourse Senior Facilities will be subject to the terms set out in the
Non-Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement. Pursuant to terms of the Commitment Letter and
subject to the Non-Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement, (i) each party that accedes to the
Non-Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement as a borrower and/or a guarantor shall, to the
extent applicable, grant transaction security over material intra-group receivables and its
material bank accounts (and, in respect of any English company, grant an English law
floating charge); and (ii) a share pledge shall be granted over the shares in any such
acceding borrower or guarantor.

Upon execution of the Non-Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement, the Interim Facilities
Agreement will be terminated and superseded by the Non-Recourse Senior Facilities
Agreement. If the Interim Facilities are utilised, then the intention is that they will be
refinanced and replaced by the Non-Recourse Senior Facilities.

REASONS FOR AND THE BENEFITS OF THE ACQUISITION

Amer Sports is a sporting goods company with internationally recognized brands

including Salomon, Wilson, Atomic, Arc’teryx, Mavic, Suunto and Precor. Such brands

occupy leading positions in their respective segments in the sports industry as set out below:

e Salomon - footwear, apparel and equipment for mountaineering, hiking, trail
running and other sports

° Arc’teryx — technical high-performance outerwear and equipment
° Atomic — skiing equipment

e  Mavic — bike systems and rider’s equipment

° Suunto — dive computers and instruments and sports watches

e  Wilson — ball sports equipment

° Precor — fitness equipment
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The Group considers that Amer Sports operates a successful platform of internationally
recognized sportswear and equipment brands and demonstrates strengths in brand
management, distribution channel diversification, research & development, product quality
and financial performance. The diversified brand portfolio of Amer Sports also presents a
good match to the Group’s multi-branded strategy. The Acquisition represents an attractive
opportunity for the Group to further invest in premium international sportswear brands,
certain of which the Group believes have great potential for development both on a global
scale and in China. With assistance from the other members of the Investor Consortium, the
Group believes there is significant room for growth in value of Amer Sports through
unlocking the full potential of its brands.

The Acquisition will further enhance the Group’s ability to expand both locally in the
PRC market and abroad as a world leading sports products company.

The Directors are of the view that the terms of the Acquisition, including disposal of
shares of Amer Sports by the Company to the Offeror under the Tender Offer, and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are fair and reasonable, taking into account the related
agreements, including but not limited to the escrow arrangement and the provision of
guarantee given by the Company under the Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement, and in the
interest of the Shareholders as a whole. In assessing whether the Acquisition is fair and
reasonable, the Directors considered that the terms of the Acquisition are in the normal
course of business and that there are potential synergies between Amer Sports and the Group
due to their respective experience in the sports industry and their respective portfolios of
internationally established sportswear and equipment brands, presenting attractive
opportunities for the Group’s growth. Having compared with other cross-border acquisitions
of a similar nature and value, the Directors are of the view that the escrow arrangement is a
common practice and the provision of the guarantee may lower the overall financing cost for
the Acquisition, balancing all relevant commercial factors, and shall not negatively affect
their assessment on the fairness and reasonableness of the terms of the Acquisition as a
whole.

FINANCIAL EFFECTS OF THE ACQUISITION

Following completion of the Acquisition, the Group will hold 57.95% equity interest in
JVCo and account for JVCo as an interest in a joint venture using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The unaudited pro forma financial
information of the Enlarged Group illustrating the financial impact of the Acquisition on the
results, assets and liabilities of the Group is set out in Appendix III to this circular.

Assets and liabilities

The unaudited consolidated total assets and total liabilities of the Group as at 30 June
2018, as extracted from the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 30 June
2018, were approximately RMB20,641.6 million and RMBS5,506.5 million respectively.
Based on the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group set out in
Appendix III to this circular, assuming completion of the Acquisition had taken place on 30
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June 2018, the pro forma total assets and total liabilities of the Enlarged Group would have
been increased to approximately RMB27,694.5 million and RMB12,524.3 million
respectively.

Earnings

Following completion of the Acquisition, the JVCo Group will be accounted for as
interest in a joint venture using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. There will be no immediate impact on earnings upon completion of the
Acquisition. The net profit after tax of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2017, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2017, was approximately RMB3,158.9 million. According to the
unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group as set out in Appendix III
to this circular, assuming the Acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2017, the pro
forma profit after tax of the Enlarged Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 would
amount to approximately RMB3,022.9 million.

Further details are set out in “Appendix III — Unaudited Pro Forma Financial
Information of the Enlarged Group” to this circular.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

ANTA brand was established in 1991, and the Company, a leading sportswear company
in the PRC, was listed on the Main Board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange in 2007. For many
years, the Company has been principally engaged in the design, development, manufacturing
and marketing of ANTA sportswear series to provide the mass market in the PRC with
professional sporting products including footwear, apparel and accessories. In recent years,
the Company has accelerated its strategy of “Single-Focus, Multi-Brand, and Omni-Channel”
to deepen its footprint in the sportswear market in the PRC. The Company aims to unlock
the potential of both the mass and high-end sportswear markets in the PRC by embracing an
all-round brand portfolio including ANTA, FILA, DESCENTE, SPRANDI, KINGKOW and
KOLON SPORT, and by seizing new opportunities arising in various important retail
channels.

INFORMATION ABOUT FV FUND

FV Fund is a limited partnership established under the laws of the Cayman Islands
offering limited partnership interests for the purposes of the Acquisition and whose principal
business is investment holding. The general partner of FV Fund is FV Babylon Partners GP
Ltd which is ultimately controlled by FountainVest Partners.

INFORMATION ABOUT FOUNTAINVEST SPV

FountainVest SPV is an investment holding company owned by funds advised/managed
by FountainVest Partners. Founded in 2007, FountainVest Partners is one of the most
established independent private equity firms in Asia. FountainVest Partners focuses on
long-term oriented investments in industry leaders, partnering closely with management
teams to drive growth and create value in diversified areas including in strategy, operations,
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finance, and industry consolidation. FountainVest Partners has completed a number of
successful landmark investments in Asia, Europe, and the U.S.. Sectors of focus include
consumer, media & technology, healthcare, industrials, and financial services. FountainVest
Partners is backed by some of the largest sovereign wealth funds and public pensions plans
around the world, with assets under management of close to US$5.0 billion.

INFORMATION ABOUT ANAMERED INVESTMENTS

Anamered Investments is an investment vehicle owned by Mr. Chip Wilson, chairman
of Hold It All Inc., who is a pioneer in vertical retailing and technical apparel. As the
founder of lululemon athletica inc., Mr. Wilson is an expert in designing technical
fabrications and bringing technical apparel to global markets. Mr. Wilson retains a
significant interest in lululemon athletica inc., as well as a well-diversified portfolio of
investments in private equity, private companies, public securities, and real estate. Each of
the business Mr. Wilson has invested in privately are nurtured and supported by long-term
capital and are held to a high standard of performance, governance, financial return and
accountability.

INFORMATION ABOUT TENCENT SPV

Tencent SPV is a special purpose vehicle directly owned by Tencent, who was founded
in Shenzhen in 1998 and went public on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
in 2004. Tencent uses technology to enrich the lives of Internet users. Its social products
WeChat/Weixin and QQ link users to a rich digital content catalogue including games, video,
music and books. Its proprietary targeting technology helps advertisers reach out to hundreds
of millions of consumers in China. Its infrastructure services including payment, security,
cloud and artificial intelligence create differentiated offerings and support its partners’
business growth. Tencent seeks to evolve with the Internet by investing in people and
innovation.

INFORMATION ABOUT AMER SPORTS

Amer Sports is a sporting goods company with internationally recognized brands
including Salomon, Arc’teryx, Peak Performance, Atomic, Mavic, Suunto, Wilson and
Precor. Its technically advanced sports equipment, footwear, apparel and accessories aim to
improve performance and increase the enjoyment of sports and outdoor activities. The Amer
Sports Group’s business is balanced by its broad portfolio of sports and products and a
presence in all major markets. Shares of Amer Sports are listed on the Nasdaq Helsinki
Stock Exchange (stock code: AMEANS).

Amer Sports’ business is balanced through its broad portfolio of sports and products.
Amer Sports develops new and better sporting goods through continuous research and
development and sells its products to trade customers (including sporting goods chains,
specialty retailers, mass merchants, fitness clubs and distributors) and directly to consumers
through brand stores, factory outlets and e-commerce. Its major assets included (i)
inventories and work in progress of EURG611.5 million and (ii) other receivables of
EUR791.3 million as at 30 September 2018.
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As at December 2017, Amer Sports owned sales organizations covered 34 countries and
employed approximately 8,600 people. Amer Sports global operations encompass business
functions from product development to product sourcing, manufacturing and outbound
logistics. The majority of Amer Sports’ production value is in China and elsewhere in Asia
Pacific. Amer Sports owned production facilities in Bulgaria, Austria, France, Finland,
Canada and the United States. In addition, Amer Sports has major factories in Eastern
Europe, which are owned by subcontractors. The most important distribution centers are
located in Germany, Austria, the United States and France. Amer Sports manufactures its
own products, but the majority of its total production value is outsourced. In general, quality
control is handled by Amer Sports’ own quality control personnel who carry out testing and
inspection procedures.

Set out below are certain consolidated financial information of Amer Sports for the
years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017 and the nine months ended 30 September 2018.

For the nine

For the year ended months ended 30

31 December September

2016 2017 2018

(in EUR million) (in EUR million) (in EUR million)

(audited) (audited) (unaudited)

Earnings before taxes 173.0 142.0 99.1
Net result 126.9 93.3 69.3
As at 31 As at 30

December 2017 September 2018
(in EUR million) (in EUR million)

(audited) (unaudited)
Total assets 2,604.2 2,958.0
Net assets 888.0 921.5

HONG KONG LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios calculated in accordance with the
Hong Kong Listing Rules in respect of the Acquisition exceed 100%, the Acquisition
constitutes a very substantial acquisition of the Company which is subject to the reporting,
announcement and shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14 of the Hong Kong
Listing Rules.

WAIVER FROM STRICT COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 14.69(4)(a)(i) OF THE HONG
KONG LISTING RULES

It is a requirement under Rule 14.69(4)(a)(i) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules to
include in the Circular in relation to a very substantial acquisition an accountant’s report on
the company being acquired which is prepared in accordance with Chapter 4 of the Hong
Kong Listing Rules. The accounts on which the report is based must relate to a financial
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period ended six months or less before a circular is issued and the financial information on a
company being acquired as contained in the accountants’ report must be prepared using
accounting policies which should be materially consistent with those of the listed issuer.

The Company has applied to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for a waiver from strict
compliance with Rule 14.69(4)(a)(i) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules on the following
grounds:

i.  Although Ernst & Young Oy is not registered under the Professional Accountants
Ordinance (Chapter 50 of the Laws of Hong Kong), it is a firm with an
international name and reputation and registered with the Finnish Patent and
Register Office (PRH) Auditor Oversight Unit (the “Auditor Oversight Unit”).
The Auditor Oversight Unit keeps a register of auditors of those who have taken
the auditor’s and specialisation examinations and the aptitude test pursuant to the
relevant applicable laws in Finland. Ernst & Young Oy is registered with a
recognised body of accountants, namely “Suomen Tilintarkastajat ry”. Suomen
Tilintarkastajat ry is a member of the International Federation of Accountants,
which is the global organisation for the accountancy profession and is comprised
of over 175 members and associates in more than 130 countries and jurisdictions
including Hong Kong, China and Finland. Ernst & Young Oy is also a full
member firm of the reputable international accounting practice of Ernst & Young
Global Limited, one of the big four international professional services firms;

ii. The Company believes that there are no material differences between the Target
Group’s financial statements and those required by an accountants’ report under
Chapter 4 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Nonetheless, the Company has
disclosed supplemental financial information of the Target Group in this circular
relating to any such differences in order to assist in providing further information
to its Shareholders and potential investors;

iii. The Target Group is a company whose shares are listed on the official list of the
Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange. The securities laws of Finland and the listing
rules of the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange to which the Target Group is subject
prohibits the Target Group from disclosing unpublished information which would
be likely to have a significant effect on the price of the Target’s securities to
selected potential investors only. As a result, the Company has not been able to
collect the necessary information relating to the Target Group in strict compliance
with Rule 14.69(4)(a)(i) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules relating to a very
substantial acquisition;

iv. The Directors, to the best of their knowledge, confirmed that there is no material
difference between the accounting standards adopted by the Company and the
Target Group. The Directors have compared the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Target Group as disclosed in the published financial statements
with the accounting policies adopted by the Company and are not aware of any
material differences between them. The Directors are of the view that the
historical financial information of the Target Group has been prepared on a basis
materially consistent with the accounting policies normally adopted by the
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vi.

Vii.

Company and therefore, a reconciliation statement is not required. The Directors
also discussed with KPMG, the Company’s auditors, who concur with the
Directors’ approach in this regard;

The Target Company is a listed company on the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange.
The financial information of the Target Group is already publicly available and is
audited by Ernst & Young Oy, and is prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
(“IFRS-EU”). The Company understands that there are no material differences
between IFRS-EU and the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
and the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Stardards (“HKFRS”);

There would be considerable time, resources and costs expected to be incurred to
prepare the accountants’ report on the Target Group which is likely to cause
undue delay to the Acquisition. In assessing the foregoing, the Company estimates
that it would cost over EUR6 million to prepare an accountants’ report in
compliance with Rule 14.69(4)(a)(i) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules for the
financial years ended 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017, excluding the cost of
preparing the accountants’ report in relation to the nine months ended 30
September 2018. This estimate was based on the audit fee of the Target Company
for the financial year ended 31 December 2017, which was EUR2.1 million. In
terms of the time involved in preparing such an accountants’ report in compliance
with Rule 14.69(4)(a)(i) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, it is difficult for the
Directors to accurately provide an estimate as:

a. it will depend on the time required to liaise and obtain the financial records,
documentation and other materials from the Target Group;

b. the Target Group consists of several brands and operates in over 30
countries;

c. the operation of the Target Group’s individual brands is relatively
independent and would require the joint efforts of several member firms of
the Company’s auditors to undertake and complete the audit work; and

d. the Target Group has over 120 subsidiaries in various countries, some of
which use languages other than English to prepare their financial statements.
The translation of the financial statements in itself would add significant
delays and costs over and above the substantive work on preparing the
accountants’ report.

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with both the
HKFRS and the IFRS. Having reviewed the published financial statements of the
Target Group, the Company understands that the historical financial information
of the Target Group for the financial years ended 31 December 2015, 2016 and
2017 and the nine months ended 30 September 2018 has been prepared in
accordance with IFRS-EU, which to the best knowledge of the Directors and after
discussion with KPMG, the Company’s auditor, is materially consistent with IFRS
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viii.

iX.

and HKFRS adopted by the Company. Hence, there will not be a material impact
on the financial statements of the Target Group if they were prepared under
IFRS-EU only;

The Company believes that the inclusion of an accountants’ report of the Target
Group based also on HKFRS in this circular is unduly burdensome for the
Company and would create practical difficulties while such accountants’ report
would not provide additional valuable information to the Shareholders. The
Company has encountered practical difficulties in obtaining sufficient access to
the underlying books and records of the Target Group, which is also a listed entity
with its financial statements audited according to applicable rules and which
information is also subject to unpublished price sensitive restrictions under the
listing rules of the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange. Nonetheless, such
information is essential for the Company’s auditor to conduct an audit or a review
on the relevant financial information and analysis of other information of the
Target Group for the purpose of complying with Rule 14.69(4)(a)(i) of the Hong
Kong Listing Rules;

The Directors are of the view that the Company has taken reasonable steps to
ensure sufficient information is provided to its Shareholders to make a properly
informed assessment of the Target Group under Rule 14.69 of the Hong Kong
Listing Rules. The granting of the waiver from strict compliance with Rule
14.69(4)(a)(i) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules would not result in an omission of
material information in this Circular and would not result in undue risks to its
Shareholders; and

The Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange is a regulated market in the European Union
under the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2004/39/EC, more
commonly known as “MiFID”. Other regulated markets under MiFID in the
European Union include the London Stock Exchange, Deutsche Borse AG, and the
Stockholm Stock Exchange (operating as “Nasdaq Stockholm™) and securities
listed on such regulated markets must adhere to the stringent regulatory standards
imposed by the laws and regulations of the European Union.

The Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange is supervised by the Finnish Financial
Supervisory Authority (“FIN-FSA”), which is the financial regulatory authority of
the Finnish government and is responsible for the supervision of Finland’s
financial and insurance sectors. In the same capacity as the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong, the FIN-FSA is a signatory to the International
Organization of  Securities Commissions Multilateral Memorandum of
Understanding, which is the first global information-sharing arrangement for
securities regulators. The supervision of FIN-FSA includes, amongst others,
monitoring disclosure obligations of listed companies, managing inside
information of listed companies and notifying managers’ transactions, trading in
the financial markets, and investigating potential market abuse as well as
approving prospectuses, listing particulars and offer documents prepared on
securities issues and initial public offerings. In Finland, only members of the
Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange and entities acting on their behalf or in their
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name can trade directly on the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange. Upon
application, the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange may grant trading member rights
to Finnish investment service providers and to investment service providers
correspondingly authorised in another state of the European Economic Area which
fulfills the requirement set out under Finnish law. Trading members must also
fulfill the rules of the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange and comply with the
conditions for membership set out in the Nasdaq Nordic Member Rules. Examples
of trading members of the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange include Goldman
Sachs International, J.P. Morgan AG, Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Ltd,
Merrill Lynch International, Morgan Stanley & Co. International Plc, and
Deutsche Bank AG.

Based on publicly available information published by Nasdaq, Inc., as at 31
December 2018, there were a total number of 135 companies listed on the Nasdaq
Helsinki Stock Exchange with an aggregate market capitalisation of EUR236.2
billion and a daily average turnover value of EURS547.5 million. The disclosure
obligations of listed companies on the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange include
periodic disclosure by issuers to provide information regularly on its financial
position and result and an ongoing disclosure obligation to provide certain
information to the markets in a timely manner and on a continuous basis,
referring above all to the disclosure of inside information and other ongoing
information as required by the regulators, including the FIN-FSA.

The Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange is the largest securities market in Finland
and the largest trading venue for Finnish securities by number of securities traded
and trading volume. Equity and equity derivatives trading days comprise all
weekdays (Monday through Friday, inclusive) in the calendar year, save for public
holidays in Finland. For the year ended 31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018, there
were 253, 251 and 250 trading days respectively.

The Company proposes to include the following information on the Target Group to
provide meaningful and comprehensive information to the Shareholders to evaluate the
Acquisition and make an informed voting decision with respect to the Acquisition:

ii.

An extract from the 2018 interim report prepared by the Target Company relating
to the unaudited financial statements of the Target Group for the nine months
ended 30 September 2018 in accordance with the requirements of IFRS-EU,
including the International Accounting Standards and IFRS standards and the
Standards Interpretations Committee, and IFRS Interpretations Committee
interpretations in force in the respective year in accordance with the requirements
of the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange;

Extracts from the published audited financial information for the three years
ended 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017 prepared by the Target relating to the
Target Group, which have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of
IFRS-EU, including the International Accounting Standards and IFRS standards
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and the Standards Interpretations Committee, and IFRS Interpretations Committee
interpretations in force in each respective year in accordance with the
requirements of the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange; and

(iii) the supplemental financial information of the Target Group, which was not
included in the Target Group’s financial statements showing the relevant financial
information relating to the three years ended 31 December 2015, 2016, 2017 and
the nine months ended 30 September 2018, in the section entitled “Appendix IV —
Financial Information of the Target Group — Supplemental Financial Information
of the Target Group.”

As of the date of this circular, waiver from strict compliance with Rule 14.69(4)(a)(i)
of the Hong Kong Listing Rules has been granted by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

EGM

The notice convening the EGM to be held at Regus Business Centre, 35/F, Central
Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong at 10:00 a.m. on Friday, 22 February 2019
is set out on pages EGM-1 to EGM-3 of this circular.

As at the date of this circular and to the best of the Director’s knowledge, information
and belief, the Board is not aware that any Shareholder has a material interest in the
Acquisition and the transactions contemplated thereunder, therefore no Shareholder is
required to abstain from voting on the proposed resolution to approve the Acquisition and
the transactions contemplated thereunder at the EGM.

A form of proxy for use at the EGM is enclosed with this circular. Whether or not you
are able to attend the EGM, you are requested to complete and return the form of proxy in
accordance with the instructions printed thereon as soon as possible and in any event not
later than 48 hours before the time of the EGM or any adjournment thereof. Completion and
return of the form of proxy will not preclude you from attending and voting in person at the
EGM any adjournment thereof should you so wish.

RECOMMENDATION

The Directors consider that the Acquisition and the transactions contemplated under,
incidental to, ancillary to, in connection with or for the ultimate purpose of the Acquisition
and the related agreements entered and/or to be entered into by the Group, including the
escrow arrangement in connection with the Combination Agreement, the financing
arrangement and the provision of guarantee given by the Company under the Recourse
Senior Facilities Agreement, and the financing arrangement, the provision of guarantee and
other securities given by Midco and/or its subsidiaries under the Commitment Letter and the
Interim Facilities Agreement and the Non-Recourse Senior Facilities Agreement are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, the Directors
recommend all Shareholders to vote in favour of the resolution to be proposed at the EGM
to approve the Acquisition and the transactions contemplated thereunder.
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VOTING BY WAY OF POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, all votes of the Shareholders
at the general meetings must be taken by poll. The chairman of the EGM will therefore
demand a poll for every resolution put to the vote of the EGM pursuant to Article 66 of the
Company’s articles of association.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The transfer books and register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 19 February
2019 to Friday, 22 February 2019, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
Shares will be effected. In order to qualify for attending the EGM, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 18 February 2019.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Your attention is drawn to the additional information set out in the appendices to this
circular.

WARNING

AS COMPLETION OF THE TENDER OFFER IS SUBJECT TO THE
FULFILLMENT (OR WAIVER) OF THE OFFER CONDITIONS, THE ACQUISITION
MAY OR MAY NOT PROCEED. SHAREHOLDERS AND POTENTIAL INVESTORS
SHOULD EXERCISE CAUTION WHEN DEALING IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY.

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of the Board of
ANTA Sports Products Limited
Ding Shizhong
Chairman
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HISTORICAL TRACK RECORD PERIOD ACCOUNTS

A. UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE TARGET GROUP FOR
THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

The following is an extract of the unaudited financial statements of the Target
Group for the nine months ended 30 September 2018, which were prepared in accordance
with TFRS, from the Target Group’s interim report January to September 2018 (pages
10 — 32).

Specific page/section references mentioned in the unaudited financial statements
of the Target Group for the nine months ended 30 September 2018 are referred to in
the Target Group’s interim report January to September 2018 which is available free of
charge, in read-only, printable format on the Target Group’s website at https://www.
amersports.com/investors/.

Based on the unaudited financial statements of the Target Group for the nine
months ended 30 September 2018, the Company calculated that the gearing ratio of the
Target Group for the nine months ended 30 September 2018 is approximately 103%.

Unaudited

On 5th September, as part of the strategy update, Amer Sports announced a
decision to place its Cycling business under strategic review. Following the
decision, the company is assessing market interest for its Cycling asset and
has started a formal process to actively find a potential buyer for the asset. As
required by the reporting standards, all income and expenses of the Cycling
business are reported as discontinued operations for 2018 and comparative
figures for 2017 are adjusted accordingly. Balance sheet items related to
Cycling business are reported under assets and liabilities held-for-sale as of
September 2018 onwards.

The comparative figures for 2017 have been restated in accordance with IFRS
15 Revenue from contracts with customers and IFRS 9 Financial instruments.
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EUR million
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

79/ 7-9/ Change 1-9/ 1-9/ Change
2018 2017 % 2018 2017 % 2017

NET SALES 7572 6979 8 1,804.0 1,788.6 1 2574.6
Cost of goods sold 4074 -380.2 972.5  -984.2 -1,422.2
License income 1.4 1.5 3.5 3.9 55
Other operating income 1.8 2.1 34 3.5 6.2
Research and development expenses 2219 382 -064  -86.1 -111.4
Selling and marketing expenses -173.9  -170.1 SI1L9 0 -5228 -710.5
Administrative and other expenses 455 -39.0 -1350  -126.1 -172.7

EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST

AND TAXES 111.7 69.8 125.1 76.8 169.5
% of net sales 14.8 10.0 6.9 43 6.6
Financing income and expenses 9.7 -6.3 260 -203 -26.6
EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES 102.0 63.5 99.1 56.5 142.9
Taxes 255 -165 252 -144 -49.1

NET RESULT FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS 76.5 47.0 739 421 93.8
Losses from discontinued operations 2.9 0.0 -4.6 -0.1 -0.9
NET RESULT 73.6 470 69.3 42.0 92.9
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent company 73.6 47.0 09.3 4.0 929

Earnings per share from continuing

operations, EUR 0.66 0.40 0.64 0.36 0.80
Earnings per share from continuing

operations, diluted, EUR 0.66 0.40 0.64 0.36 0.80
Earnings per share from continuing and

discontinued operations, EUR 0.64 0.40 0.60 0.36 0.80
Earnings per share from continuing and

discontinued operations, diluted, EUR 0.63 0.40 0.60 0.36 0.79

Adjusted average number of shares in issue

less own shares, million 1152 1169 116.7
Adjusted average number of shares in
issue less own shares, diluted, million 1160 1174 117.2

i



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

7-9/ 7-9/ Change 1-9/ 1-9/ Change
2018 2017 % 2018 2017 % 2017

Equity per share, EUR 8.00 7.38 7.70
ROCE, % *) 13.7 10.0 11.6
ROE from continuing operations, % 10.9 6.0 9.9
ROE from continuing and discontinued

operations, % 10.2 6.0 9.8
Average rates used: EUR 1.00 = USD 1.1626  1.1732 1.1952  1.1124 1.1286

*) 12 months’ rolling average

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

79/ 7-9/ 1-9/ 1-9/
2018 2017 2018 2017 2017
Net result 73.6 47.0 69.3 42.0 92.9
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be
reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurement effects of
postemployment benefit plans -1.4 -1.7 3.0 -6.3 2.2
Income tax related to
remeasurement effects 0.3 0.6 -0.5 22 -0.5
Items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss
Translation differences 2.7 -11.0 10.8 -29.5 -28.0
Cash flow hedges 4.4 -14.9 443 -68.1 -68.4
Income tax related to cash flow
hedges -0.9 3.0 -8.8 13.6 13.6
Other comprehensive income,
net of tax 5.1 -24.0 48.8 -88.1 -81.1
Total comprehensive income 78.7 23.0 118.1 -46.1 11.8
Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
company 78.7 23.0 118.1 -46.1 11.8
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NET SALES BY OPERATING SEGMENT (continuing operations)

7-9/ 7-9/ Change 1-9/ 1-9/ Change

2018 2017 % 2018 2017 % 2017
Outdoor 522.0 4689 11 1,087.3 1,035.9 5 1,540.0
Ball Sports 147.2 141.2 4 4704  496.0 -5 659.0
Fitness 88.0 87.8 0 2463 256.7 -4 375.6
Total 757.2 697.9 8 1,804.0 1,788.6 1 2,574.6

GEOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN OF NET SALES (continuing operations)

7-9/ 7-9/ Change 1-9/ 1-9/ Change

2018 2017 % 2018 2017 % 2017
EMEA 3513 312.4 12 766.3 727.4 5 1,087.6
Americas 302.8 294.5 3 764.0 807.5 -5 1,122.2
Asia Pacific 103.1 91.0 13 27377 2537 8 364.8
Total 757.2 697.9 8 1,804.0 1,788.6 1 2,574.6

EBIT EXCLUDING ITEMS AFFECTING COMPARABILITY (IAC) BY
OPERATING SEGMENT (continuing operations)

7-9/ 7-9/ Change 1-9/ 1-9/ Change

2018 2017 % 2018 2017 % 2017
Outdoor 113.1 99.8 13 118.8 97.0 22 178.4
Ball Sports 7.7 6.3 22 33.6 31.4 7 452
Fitness 1.2 4.5 -73 1.3 7.7 -83 20.1
Headquarters *) -5.1 -6.8 -19.2 -19.8 -29.3
EBIT excluding IAC ~ 116.9 103.8 13 134.5 116.3 16 2144
IAC -5.2 -34.0 -9.4 -39.5 -44.9
EBIT 111.7 69.8 60  125.1 76.8 63 169.5

*) The Headquarters consists of Group digital service development, administration, shared
services, other non-operational income and expenses, and fair valuation of share-based
compensations.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

7-9/ 7-9/ 1-9/ 1-9/
Note 2018 2017 2018 2017 2017

Earnings before interest

and taxes from continuing

operations 111.7 69.8 125.1 76.8 169.5
Earnings before interest and

taxes from discontinued

operations -3.5 0.0 -6.1 0.0 -1.7
Adjustments to cash flow

from operating activities

and depreciation 19.4 35.8 59.7 68.1 84.5
Change in working capital -210.8  -119.1 -222.1 -46.7 46.6

Cash flow from operating
activities before financing

items and taxes -83.2 -13.5 -43.4 98.2 298.9
Interest paid and received -12.1 -9.9 -27.0 -20.5 -28.0
Income taxes paid and

received -11.4 -7.5 -27.3 -21.0 -29.9

Net cash flow from operating

activities -106.7 -30.9 -97.7 56.7 241.0
Acquired operations — - 2414 2.3 2.3
Capital expenditure on non-

current tangible and

intangible assets -22.4 -16.6 -54.1 -49.7 -83.6
Proceeds from sale of tangible

non-current assets - 0.1 0.3 0.9 0.8

Net cash flow from investing
activities -22.4 -16.5 -295.2 -51.1 -85.1
Repurchase of own shares - -4.3 -23.5 -53.1

Capital repayment 3 — — -80.7 -72.7 -72.7
Change in debt and other
financing items 177.1 32.1 319.8 -38.8 -30.3
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7-9/ 7-9/ 1-9/ 1-9/
Note 2018 2017 2018 2017 2017

Net cash flow from financing

activities 177.1 32.1 2348  -135.0  -156.1
Cash and cash equivalents on

July 1/January 1 152.9 246.4 358.4 364.0 364.0
Translation differences -1.5 -1.8 -0.9 -5.3 -5.4
Change in cash and cash

equivalents 48.0 -15.3 -158.1 -129.4 -0.2

Cash and cash equivalents

on September 30/
December 31 199.4 2293 199.4 2293 358.4
Free cash flow *) -132.2 -55.8  -152.8 5.1 161.3

*) Cash flow from operating activities - net capital expenditures - change in restricted cash
Net capital expenditure = total capital expenditure less proceeds from sale of assets

16—



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

September 30, September 30, December 31,

Note 2018 2017 2017

Assets
Goodwill 4134 344.9 3443
Other intangible non-current assets 465.3 301.7 304.9
Tangible non-current assets 2325 2133 228.0
Other non-current assets 106.6 118.9 112.5
Inventories and work in progress 611.5 562.6 481.3
Current tax receivables 18.6 13.1 18.5
Other receivables 791.3 710.2 754.2
Cash and cash equivalents 198.1 2293 358.4
Assets held for sale 120.7 - -
Total assets 2 2,958.0 2,494.0 2,602.1
Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity 921.5 860.1 885.4
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 742.7 792.0 632.8
Other long-term liabilities 170.0 130.6 1353
Current interest-bearing liabilities 403.5 454 186.3
Current tax liabilities 40.6 25.8 48.0
Other current liabilities 616.1 597.0 668.3
Provisions 45.1 43.1 46.0
Liabilities held for sale 18.5 - -
Total shareholders’ equity and

liabilities 2,958.0 2,494.0 2,602.1
EUR 1.00=USD 1.1576 1.1806 1.1993

i



APPENDIX I FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY
Fair Tnvested
Fund vale — Other Re- unresfricted
Share  Premium  forown Translation  and other OCl  measure-  equity ~ Retained

Note  capital find  shares differences veserves  ifems  ments  reserve earmingg  Total
Balance at January 1, 018 9.2 L ol S 95 45 04 654 B4
Other comprehensive income:
Translation differences 108 108
Cash flow and fair value hedges 87 06 M3
Income tax related o OCL 47 {1 {3 93
Remeastrement effects of
postermployment benefitplans 30 0
Netresul 693 93
Total comprehensive income 108 30 05 15 03 18l
Transactions with owners:
Repurchased own shares 43 43
Cancellation ofshares 03 33 00
Share-based incentive program 4l 1 30
Capitalrepayment ] 07 $07
Balance at September 30, 2018 192 nram 159 80 0 40 97 43 LS
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Restated Restated
Tnvested
Fund Fairvale — Other Re- unresfricted
Share  Premium  forown Translation  and other OCl  measure-  equity ~ Retained
Note  capital find ~ shares differences veserves  ifems  ments  reserve earmingg  Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 92 s 5l 18 00 412 1 B8 Ll
(Change in accounting prnciples

(FRS9) 08 08 00
(Change in accounting principles

(IFRS 1) 2 2
Other comprehensive income:
Translation differences SN 05
Cash flow and fair value hedges X 08 {8 XA
Income tax related o OCL 136 {2 12 02 158
Remeasurement effects of

postermployment benefitplans 43 43
Net esult, estated with IFRS 15 420 420
Total comprehensive income N5 M3 06 41 {4 Al
Transactions with owners:
Repurchased own shares B B3
Share-based incentive program 20 {3 13
Capial epayment 3 1 NIl
Balance at September 30, 2017 9.2 3 NI 0113 04 0 B0L

19—



APPENDIX 1

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

Balance at January 1, 2017

(Change in accounting prnciples
(IFRS )

(Change in accounting princples
(IFRS 1)

(Other comprehensive income:

Translation diffeences

Cash flow and fair value hedges

Income tax related o OCL

Remeasurement effects of
postermployment benefitplans

Net result,retated with IFRS 13 impct

Total comprehensive income
Transactions with owners:
Repurchased own shares
Share-based incentive program
Capital repayment

Other

Balance at December 31, 2017

Note

Share
capital

)

)

Premium
fid  shares

Fund
for own

121 SRN

121 468

—-I-10 -

Translation
differences

Bl

Fair value

and other
Teserves

18

484
136

-8

210

Restated
Other
0CI
items

00

08

04
{1

=
T

measure-
ments

412

Restated
Tnvested
Re- nrestricted
equity  Retained
reserve  eamings
163.1 5315
0§
2
{4
0l
99
926
03
Sl
38
904 6254

.
=
T

Total

L3I

00

Sl
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QUARTERLY BREAKDOWN OF NET SALES AND EBIT EXCLUDING
IAC (continuing operations)

Q3/ Q2/ Qr/ Q4 Q3/ Q2/ Q1/ Q4/
NET SALES 2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016%)
Outdoor 5220 2162  349.1 504.1 4689  210.1 3569 4524
Ball Sports 147.2 159.0 164.2 163.0 141.2 169.8 185.0 171.9
Fitness 88.0 79.9 78.4 118.9 87.8 84.4 84.5 109.8
Total 7572 455.1 591.7  786.0 6979 = 4643 6264  734.1
Q3/ Q2/ Qr/ Q4 Q3/ Q2/ Q1/ Q4/
EBIT 2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016%)
Outdoor 113.1 -27.9 33.6 81.4 99.8 -28.5 25.7 70.7
Ball Sports 7.7 11.0 14.9 13.8 6.3 9.3 15.8 12.8
Fitness 1.2 0.0 0.1 12.4 4.5 25 0.7 6.8
Headquarters -5.1 -5.8 -8.3 -9.5 -6.8 -5.2 -71.8 -8.0
EBIT excluding
IAC 116.9 -22.7 40.3 98.1 103.8 -21.9 344 82.3
IAC 5.2 -4.0 -0.2 -6.7 -34.0 1.1 -6.6 -6.0
EBIT 111.7 -26.7 40.1 91.4 69.8 -20.8 27.8 76.3

*)  Not restated in accordance with IFRS 15
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THE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The interim financial information has been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting and in compliance with IFRS standards and interpretations in force as at January 1,
2018 as adopted by the EU. The IFRS recognition and measurement principles as described in
the annual financial statements for 2017 have also been applied in the preparation of the interim
financial information.

From January 1, 2018 Amer Sports has adopted the new standards IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’
and IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’.

The new standard IFRS 9 Financial instruments gives guidance on the classification,
measurement and impairment of the financial assets as well as general hedge accounting and
derecognition of financial instruments. IFRS 9 replaces the standard IAS 39. Amer Sports has
adopted the new standard by applying it retrospectively from January 1, 2018. The key impacts
arising from the adoption of the new standard are:

(I) Changes in the classification of financial assets and liabilities

Amer Sports has reclassified its non-current and current financial assets under IFRS 9. The non-
current financial assets, which have been previously classified as ‘Available-for-sale financial
assets’, have been reclassified to ‘Financial assets at fair value through OCI’. The other non-
current financial assets have been reclassified as ‘Financial assets measured at amortised cost’
replacing the previous classification ‘Loans and other receivables’. The hold-to-collect accounts
receivables, other non-interest yielding receivables, cash and cash equivalents, commercial
papers and deposits have been classified as ‘Financial assets measured at amortised cost’ instead
of the previous classification of ‘Loans and other receivables’. The available-for-sale factoring
receivables, promissory notes and investments on money market funds have been classified as
‘Financial assets at fair value through OCI’, previously classified as ‘Loans and other receivables’.
The changes in the classification did not have any impact on the recognition or measurements of
Amer Sports financial assets.

IFRS 9 did not bring any changes to Amer Sports previous classification and measurement of
financial liabilities.

The table of the classifications under IFRS 9 versus IAS 39 is disclosed in the Note 11 in this
interim report.

(IT) Impairment of financial assets

The new impairment model under IFRS 9 requires the recognition of the impairment provisions
based on ECls (Expected Credit losses) instead of on the incurred credit losses under IAS 39.
Amer Sports has applied the provision matrix as a practical expedient for measuring ECls on trade
receivables, contract assets and lease receivables with no significant financing component. The
credit loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. The
ECI model is forward-looking and the expected default rates are based on the realized credit losses
in the past. The lifetime ECIl allowances are calculated using the gross carrying amounts of the
outstanding trade receivables and the expected default rates. The change in the impairment model
under IFRS 9 did not have any impact on Amer Sports financial statements.
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(IIT) Hedge accounting

A new hedge accounting model to simplify the hedge accounting and align the hedge accounting
more closely with the risk management strategy and objectives has been introduced in IFRS 9.
IFRS 9 allows derivatives that hedge non-financial components of a price risk and are separately
identifiable and measurable to be designated in a hedge relationship for that risk component only.
Under IAS 39 non-financial components were prohibited from being designated as hedged items.
Amer Sports has not used these options. IFRS 9 allows the time value of options to be excluded
from the designation of a hedging instrument and accounted for as a cost of hedging. The fair
value changes in the time value of options are recognized in Other comprehensive income. They
are reclassified from equity to profit and loss in the same period or periods during which the
expected future cash flows impact the profit and loss. This reduces the volatility in the income
statements compared to IAS 39. As a result of this reclassification, the opening balance of retained
earnings 1.1.2017 increased by EUR 0.8 million being fully offset by the adjustment of the new
equity class ‘Other OCI items’ leaving no impact on the total sharcholders’ equity. Under IFRS 9
the retrospective effectiveness testing under [AS 39 is removed. The ineffectiveness of the hedges
previously used by Amer Sports was very minor or non-existent.

The impact from the reclassification of the time value of options from the profit and loss to the
Other OCI items is included in the restated 2017 figures in this interim report.

The new standard IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers outlines the accounting
requirements for when and how much to recognize revenue from the sale of goods and rendering
of services based on a new five-step framework. Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised
goods or services to a customer when the control transfers to the customer either over time or at
a point in time. IFRS 15 replaces the existing revenue standards and interpretations including e.g.
IAS 11 Construction contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programs. Amer
Sports has adopted the standard using the full retrospective approach. The accumulated effect
of the retrospective application is recognized by adjusting the opening balance of the retained
earnings for the earliest comparative period presented, which for Amer Sports is the financial
period beginning on January 1, 2017. The key impacts arising from the adoption of the new
standard are:

(I)  Principal vs. agent consideration

Amer Sports provides freight services in all its operating segments and installation services in its
Fitness segment. Previously the revenue from both the freight and installation services have been
netted against the related expenses. As Amer Sports has the primary responsibility of providing the
freight and/or installation service towards the customer, choosing the pricing of the service, and
using third party service providers only to deliver the services, Amer Sports acts as a principal.
As a result, both freight and installation revenue as well as the related expenses are recognized
as gross amounts. This leads to increased net sales fully offset by increased cost of goods sold
leaving no impact on EBIT.

(II) Transfer of control
As a result of more detailed requirements from IFRS 15 with respect to the transfer of control,

Amer Sports has harmonized and sharpened its accounting principles and practices. The impact of
this harmonization in the consolidated financial statements is not material.
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(III) Other IFRS 15 areas

The other identified IFRS 15 areas that are applicable to Amer Sports business are trade discounts,
customer sales with right of return, customer loyalty campaigns, gift card breakage and extended
payment terms. The impact of these adjustments on the consolidated income statement is not
material.

Amer Sports has restated the 2017 figures and disclosed them in a separate transition document
(stock exchange release dated April 13, 2018), which is available on www.amersports.com. The
restated figures for the financial year 2017 are used in this interim report.

The new standard IFRS 16 Leases will have significant implications on the recognition of the
lease expenses, non-current assets, interest-bearing liabilities as well as on the key financial
ratios. Due to the great volume of the lease contracts and related liabilities Amer Sports expects to
report significant increases in leasing assets and leasing liabilities. The off-balance sheet operating
lease commitments as of September 30, 2018 were EUR 238.1 million (EUR 231.9 million as
of December 31, 2017). The number of agreements recognized in the balance sheet under IFRS
16 may differ from the number of agreements recognized as operating lease commitments as the
concept of agreements disclosed as lease commitments is somewhat different from the concept
used in IFRS 16. In 2017 Amer Sports started to collect data of the existing lease contracts,
evaluated potential tools for creating the journal entries according to IFRS 16 and created account
structures in the ERP systems and continues the development work in 2018. Amer Sports will
adopt the new standard from the annual period beginning on January 1, 2019 using the modified
retrospective method.

Other new and revised IFRS and IAS standards, amendments and interpretations that are issued but
not yet effective are not expected to have any material impact in the Group’s financial statements.

2. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuing operations)

Amer Sports has three operating segments: Outdoor, Ball Sports and Fitness.

The accounting policies for segment reporting do not differ from the Group’s accounting policies.
However, the decisions concerning assessing the performance of segments and allocation of
resources to the segments are based on segments’ net sales and earnings before interest and taxes

excluding items affecting comparability (EBIT excluding TAC). The chief operating decision
maker of Amer Sports is President and CEO, who is assisted by the Executive Board.
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There were no inter segment business operations during the reported periods.

Financing
income Earnings
and before

Net sales EBIT expenses taxes Assets
1-9/2018
Outdoor 1,087.3 118.8 1,574.3
Ball Sports 470.4 33.6 513.1
Fitness 246.3 1.3 354.5
Segments, total 1,804.0 153.7 2,441.9
IAC -9.4
Headquarters -19.2 -26.0 395.4
Total 2,837.3
Assets held for sale 120.7
Group total 1,804.0 125.1 -26.0 99.1 2,958.0
1-9/2017
Outdoor 1,035.9 97.0 1,263.5
Ball Sports 496.0 31.4 449.5
Fitness 256.7 7.7 337.2
Segments, total 1,788.6 136.1 2,050.2
IAC -39.5
Headquarters -19.8 -20.3 443.8
Group total 1,788.6 76.8 -20.3 56.5 2,494.0
1-12/2017
Outdoor 1,540.0 178.4 1,193.9
Ball Sports 659.0 45.2 489.8
Fitness 375.6 20.1 351.1
Segments, total 2,574.6 243.7 2,034.8
IAC -44.9
Headquarters -29.3 -26.6 567.3
Group total 2,574.6 169.5 -26.6 142.9 2,602.1
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NET SALES (continuing operations)

1-9/2018 1-9/2017 2017

Footwear 376.0 401.2 500.8
Apparel 379.7 338.2 482.3
Winter Sports Equipment 218.5 200.6 415.2
Sports Instruments 113.1 95.9 141.7
Outdoor 1,087.3 1,035.9 1,540.0
Individual Ball Sports 218.9 234.4 296.9
Team Sports 251.5 261.6 362.1
Ball Sports 470.4 496.0 659.0
Fitness 246.3 256.7 375.6
Total 1,804.0 1,788.6 2,574.6

GEOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN OF NET SALES (continuing operations)

1-9/2018 1-9/2017 2017
EMEA 766.3 727.4 1,087.6
Americas 764.0 807.5 1,122.2
Asia Pacific 273.7 253.7 364.8
Total 1,804.0 1,788.6 2,574.6
REVENUE STREAMS (continuing operations)

1-9/2018 1-9/2017 2017
Sale of products and services 1,804.0 1,788.6 2,574.6
Licence income 3.5 3.9 5.5
Other operating income 3.4 2.9 5.6
Total 1,810.9 1,795.4 2,585.7

3. CAPITAL REPAYMENT

Relating to the year ending on December 31, 2017, the capital repayment distributed to the
shareholders of Amer Sports Corporation was EUR 0.70 per share and amounted in total to EUR
80.7 million (2017: capital repayment 0.62 per share, in total 72.7 million). The capital repayment
was paid out in March 2018.
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4. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND SECURED ASSETS

September 30, September 30, December 31,

2018 2017 2017

Guarantees 45.4 35.9 35.8
Liabilities for leasing and

rental agreements 238.1 226.2 231.9

Other liabilities 63.1 76.8 72.5

There are no guarantees or contingencies given for the management of the company, the
shareholders or the associated companies.

5. ONGOING LITIGATIONS

The Group has extensive international operations and is involved in a number of legal proceedings,
including product liability suits. The Group does not expect the outcome of any legal proceedings
currently pending to have materially adverse effect upon its consolidated results or financial
position.

6. SEASONALITY

Although Amer Sports operates in a number of sporting goods segments during all four seasons,
its business is subject to seasonal fluctuations. Historically, the third and fourth quarters of a
financial year have been the strongest quarters for Amer Sports in terms of both net sales and
profitability, mainly because sales of winter sports equipment ahead of the winter season typically
take place during the third and fourth quarters. The summer season for ball sports balances
seasonality to a certain extent, as the strongest quarters for the Ball Sports segment are the first
and second quarters. Usually the net cash flow from operating activities is very strong in the first
quarter when the cash inflows from the sales of winter sports equipment realize. Especially during
the third quarter, the net cash flow from operating activities is tied up in working capital.

7. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OCI MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities whose fair value is recognized through income
statement and derivative financial instruments used in hedge accounting are presented in
the following table. All derivatives are classified as Level 2 instruments whose fair value is
determined by using valuation techniques from observable market data. Financial assets at fair
value through OCI are classified as Level 3 instruments and valued by using valuation techniques
without any observable market data.

The company’s derivative financial instruments may include foreign exchange forward contracts
and options, interest rate swaps and interest rate options and cross-currency swaps. Foreign
exchange forward contracts and options are used to hedge against changes in the value of
receivables, liabilities and future cash flows denominated in a foreign currency and interest rate
swaps and interest rate options to hedge against the interest rate risk. Cross-currency swaps are
used to hedge against changes in value of foreign currency denominated receivables and liabilities
and against the interest rate risk.

-1-17 -



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

Derivative financial instruments are initially and subsequently recognized at fair value. Fair
values of foreign currency denominated derivatives are measured by recognizing the exchange
rate difference by using the closing rates quoted by the European Central Bank on the reporting
date. The future cash flows related to forward contract’s interest rate differential are discounted
with the relevant market interest rate yield curves on the reporting date and compared with initial
interest rate differential. The time value of foreign exchange options is measured using commonly
known option pricing models. The expected future cash flows of the interest rate swaps and cross
currency swaps are discounted with the market interest yield curves of the currencies concerned.
Interest rate options are valued by using commonly known option pricing models. The accrued
interest of forward contracts, interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps are periodized over the
duration of the instruments on a net basis.

The counter party risk of the company hasn’t materially changed and hence has no material effect
on the valuation of the company’s derivative instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through OCI are Level 3 instruments whose exact fair values can’t
be reliably measured. The fair values of financial assets at fair value through OCI are presented at
bookkeeping value or a lower value if they are impaired. The fair values do not materially deviate
from the bookkeeping value.

Financial
assets/ Derivative
liabilities at financial Financial
fair value instruments assets at fair
through profit used in hedge  value through
September 30, 2018 and loss accounting OCI
Non-current financial assets
Other non-current financial assets 1.3
Foreign exchange derivatives 1.3
Interest rate derivatives and
Cross currency swaps 7.9 0.1
Current financial assets
Foreign exchange derivatives 3.4 17.6
Interest rate derivatives and
Cross currency swaps 2.8 0.0
Long-term financial liabilities
Foreign exchange derivatives 0.7
Interest rate derivatives and
Cross currency swaps 6.0 0.0
Current financial liabilities
Foreign exchange derivatives 9.5 8.4
Interest rate derivatives and
Cross currency swaps 16.8
Nominal value of foreign
exchange derivatives 662.9 1,222.3
Nominal value of interest rate derivatives 156.6 579.3
Nominal value of cross
currency swaps 72.8
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September 30, 2017

Non-current financial assets

Other non-current

financial assets

Foreign exchange derivatives

Interest rate derivatives and
Cross currency swaps

Current financial assets
Foreign exchange derivatives

Long-term financial liabilities

Foreign exchange derivatives

Interest rate derivatives and
Cross currency swaps

Current financial liabilities

Foreign exchange derivatives

Interest rate derivatives and
Cross currency swaps

Nominal value of foreign exchange
derivatives

Nominal value of interest rate
derivatives

Nominal value of cross currency swaps

Financial
assets/
liabilities at
fair value
through profit
and loss

10.5

20.6

1.6

602.1

135.0
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Financial
assets/ Derivative
liabilities at financial Financial
fair value instruments assets at fair
through profit used in hedge  value through
December 31, 2017 and loss accounting OCI
Non-current financial assets
Other non-current financial assets 0.4
Foreign exchange derivatives 1.6
Interest rate derivatives and
Cross currency swaps 10.1
Current financial assets
Foreign exchange derivatives 11.0 14.4
Interest rate derivatives and
Cross currency swaps 2.2

Long-term financial liabilities
Foreign exchange derivatives 3.8
Interest rate derivatives and

Cross currency swaps 9.6 1.6
Current financial liabilities
Foreign exchange derivatives 2.3 44.3
Interest rate derivatives and

Cross currency swaps 13.5 0.7
Nominal value of foreign

exchange derivatives 764.8 1,358.1
Nominal value of interest rate derivatives 185.0 226.7
Nominal value of cross currency swaps 76.2

8. ACQUIRED BUSINESSES
2018

In April 2018, Amer Sports Corporation announced the acquisition of all the shares and related
businesses of Peak Performance AB from the Danish fashion company IC Group. The acquisition
was completed on June 29, 2018. Based in Stockholm, Sweden, Peak Performance is a leading
premium sports fashion brand with net sales of approximately EUR 145 million and EBIT of
approx. EUR 16.5 million in the last 12 months. The preliminary acquisition price was DKK 1,804
million (approx. EUR 242.1 million), which was paid in June. The acquisition will have a minor
positive impact on Amer Sports’ 2018 financial results.

Peak Performance has a strong presence in the North and Central European markets, and the brand
is also highly recognized outside of Europe. The acquisition accelerates Amer Sports’ Softgoods
business and enables faster growth and scale & synergy across the apparel brands Arc’teryx,
Salomon and Peak Performance.

The fair value of the acquired net assets of Peak Performance was EUR 242.1 million. EUR 191.9
million of the fair value was allocated to the non-current intangible assets including customer
relationships and marketing related intangibles. EUR 80.1 million of the fair value was allocated
to goodwill.
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The following fair values of the assets and liabilities of Peak Performance have been consolidated
into Amer Sports balance sheet from the acquisition date. The calculation of the purchase price
allocation is preliminary and will be finalized during 2018.

EUR million Fair value
Intangible non-current assets 191.9
Goodwill 80.1
Other non-current assets 9.6
Inventories 15.4
Accounts receivables and other current assets 22.5
Cash 0.7
TOTAL ASSETS 320.2

Interest-free liabilities 78.1

NET ASSETS 242.1

Purchase price 242.1

Analysis of the cash flows on the acquisition

EUR million Fair value
Purchase price 242.1
Peak Performance cash -0.7
Transaction costs 2.4
Net cash flow on acquisition 243.8

2017

On March 29, 2017 Amer Sports acquired the iconic US ski brand Armada with annual net sales
of approximately USD 10 million. The acquisition included the Armada brand, Armada-branded
products, as well as intellectual property and distribution rights. The transaction value was USD
4.1 million, of which USD 2.5 million was settled with cash. Armada has been integrated into
Amer Sports Winter Sports Equipment business unit. According to the purchase price allocation
the fair value of acquired net assets was EUR 4.4 million resulting in a gain of EUR 0.6 million.
EUR 2.2 million of the fair value was allocated to Armada trademark, which is amortized in 10
years.

The acquisition had no material impact on Amer Sports 2017 financial results.
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9. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE

On 5th September, as part of the strategy update, Amer Sports announced a decision to place its
Cycling business under strategic review. Following the decision, the company is assessing market
interest for its Cycling asset and has started a formal process to actively find a potential buyer for
the asset. As required by the reporting standards, all income and expenses of the Cycling business
are reported as discontinued operations for 2018 and comparative figures for 2017 are adjusted
accordingly. Balance sheet items related to Cycling business are reported under assets and
liabilities held-for-sale as of September 2018 onwards. The result of the Cycling business is shown
as discontinued operations in the consolidated income statement:

7-9/ 7-9/ 1-9/ 1-9/
2018 2017 2018 2017 2017
Net sales 26.9 31.6 86.8 100.9 134.6
Cost of goods sold -17.9 -19.1 -54.5 -59.5 -80.3
License income 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2
Other operating income 0.3 0.2 0.4 0.5 0.8
Operating and other expenses -12.8 -12.7 -38.8 -42.0 -57.1
Earnings before interest and taxes -3.5 0.0 -6.1 0.0 -1.8
Financing income and expenses -0.1 0.1 -0.3 0.3 0.4
Earnings before taxes -3.6 0.1 -6.4 0.3 -1.4
Taxes 0.7 -0.1 1.8 -0.4 0.5
Net result -2.9 0.0 -4.6 -0.1 -0.9
Earnings per share from discontinued
operations, EUR -0.03 0.00 -0.04 0.00 -0.01
Earnings per share from discontinued
operations, diluted, EUR -0.03 0.00 -0.04 0.00 -0.01

The following assets and liabilities were reported as assets and liabilities held for sale:

September 30,

2018
Goodwill 18.2
Other intangible non-current assets 38.1
Tangible non-current assets 7.1
Other non-current assets 1.9
Inventories 36.3
Other receivables 17.8
Cash 1.3
Total assets held for sale 120.7
Long-term interest-free liabilities 4.8
Current interest-free liabilities 13.7
Total liabilities held for sale 18.5
Net assets held for sale 102.2

-1-22 -



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

10. FORMULAS AND BRIDGE CALCULATIONS OF KEY INDICATORS

Amer Sports uses Alternative Performance Measures (APMs) in accordance with the guidelines
issued by the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA). APMs are reported in addition
to, but not substituting, the performance measures reported in accordance with I[FRS. APMs are
derived from the performance measures reported in accordance with IFRS by adjusting them
by Items Affecting Comparability (IAC). Amer Sports presents APMs to reflect the underlying
business performance and to enhance comparability between financial periods.

For Amer Sports the key financial ratios to monitor and manage capital structure of the company
are Net debt/LTM EBITDA excl. IAC and Net debt/Equity. These will be reported on quarterly
basis and reporting of Equity ratio and Gearing will be discontinued.

As required by the reporting standards, all income and expenses of the Cycling business are
reported as discontinued operations for 2018 and comparative figures for 2017 are adjusted
accordingly. Balance sheet items related to Cycling business are reported under assets and
liabilities held-for-sale as of September 2018 onwards.

EBIT EXCLUDING IAC (continuing operations):

EBIT + IAC

7-9/ 7-9/ 1-9/ 1-9/

2018 2017 2018 2017 2017
EBIT 111.7 69.8 125.1 76.8 169.5
IAC 5.2 34.0 9.4 39.5 44.9
EBIT excluding IAC 116.9 103.8 134.5 116.3 214.4

EBIT % excluding IAC (continuing operations):

EBIT + IAC
Net Sales

100 x

ITEMS AFFECTING COMPARABILITY (IAC) are material items or transactions, which are
relevant for understanding the underlying operational financial performance of Amer Sports when
comparing profit of the current period with previous periods. These items can include, but are not
limited to, capital gains and losses on business disposals, acquisition and disposal related costs,
significant write-downs, provisions for planned restructuring and other items that are not related to
normal business operations from Amer Sports’ management view.

7-9/ 7-9/ 1-9/ 1-9/
2018 2017 2018 2017 2017
Restructuring program 2016 - - - 8.5 8.5
Restructuring program 2016 expansion
and write-downs - 31.0 4.2 31.0 35.5
Acquisition related accounting
adjustments - 3.0 - - 0.9
Advisory cost related to M&A activities 5.2 - 5.2 - -
Items affecting comparability total 5.2 34.0 9.4 39.5 449

—1-23 -



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

EARNINGS PER SHARE excluding IAC (continuing operations):

Net result excluding IAC attributable to equity holders of the parent company/Average number of
shares adjusted for the bonus element of share issues

7-9/ 7-9/ 1-9/ 1-9/

2018 2017 2018 2017 2017
Net result 76.5 47.0 73.9 42.1 93.8
1AC 5.2 34.0 9.4 39.5 44.9
Tax effect of IAC -1.3 -8.9 -2.4 -10.3 -12.2
Write-down of deferred tax assets due to

US federal tax rate reduction - - - - 10.4

Net result excluding IAC 80.4 72.1 80.9 71.3 136.9
EBITDA (continuing operations):
EBIT + Depreciations and amortizations

7-9/ 7-9/ 1-9/ 1-9/

2018 2017 2018 2017 2017
EBIT 111.7 69.8 125.1 76.8 169.5
Depreciations and amortizations 18.9 14.7 52.3 49.6 65.3
EBITDA 130.6 84.5 177.4 126.4 234.8

EBITDA excluding IAC (continuing operations):

EBIT excluding IAC + Depreciations and amortizations

7-9/ 7-9/ 1-9/ 1-9/

2018 2017 2018 2017 2017
EBIT 111.7 69.8 125.1 76.8 169.5
IAC 5.2 34.0 9.4 39.5 44.9
Depreciations and amortization 18.9 14.7 52.3 49.6 65.3
EBITDA excl. IAC 135.8 118.5 186.8 165.9 279.7

NET DEBT (continuing operations):
Long-term and current Interest-bearing liabilities — cash and cash equivalents

September 30, September 30, December 31,

2018 2017 2017
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 742.7 792.0 632.8
Current interest-bearing liabilities 403.5 45.4 186.3
Cash and cash equivalents®) -199.4 -229.3 -358.4
NET DEBT 946.8 608.1 460.7

*) 2018 cash and cash equivalents include both continuing and discontinued operations
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NET DEBT/LTM EBITDA excl. IAC (continuing operations):

Net Debt

12 months’ rolling EBIT excl. IAC + 12 months’ rolling depreciations and amortizations

100 x

NET DEBT/EQUITY (continuing operations):

Long-term and current Interest-bearing liabilities - cash and cash equivalents

Shareholders’ equity

FREE CASH FLOW:

Cash flow from operating activities - net capital expenditures - change in restricted cash

7-9/ 7-9/ 1-9/ 1-9/

2018 2017 2018 2017 2017
Cash flow from operating activities -106.7 -30.9 -97.7 56.7 241.0
Net capital expenditures -22.4 -16.5 -53.8 -48.8 -82.8
Restricted cash -3.1 -8.4 -1.3 -2.8 3.1
FREE CASH FLOW -132.2 -55.8 -152.8 5.1 161.3

NET CAPITAL EXPENDITURE:

Total capital expenditure on non-current tangible and intangible assets - proceeds from sale of

assets
7-9/ 7-9/ 1-9/ 1-9/
2018 2017 2018 2017 2017
Total capital expenditure on non-
current tangible and intangible
assets -22.4 -16.6 -54.1 -49.7 -83.6
Proceeds from sale of assets - 0.1 0.3 0.9 0.8
NET CAPITAL EXPENDITURE -22.4 -16.5 -53.8 -48.8 -82.8
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11. CLASSIFICATIONS UNDER IAS 39 AND IFRS 9

EUR million

NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL
ASSETS
Other non-current financial assets

Other non-current financial assets

Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange derivatives

Foreign exchange derivatives

Interest rate derivatives and
CroSs currency swaps

Interest rate derivatives and
Cross currency swaps

CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable - hold to
collect and sell

Other non-interest yielding
receivables

Other non-interest yielding
receivables

Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange derivatives

Foreign exchange derivatives

Interest rate derivatives and
CrOSS currency swaps
Interest rate derivatives and
CroSs currency swaps
Cash in hand and short term
deposits
Money market funds

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

Long-term interest-bearing
liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange derivatives

Classification under IAS 39

Loans and other receivables

Available for sale financial assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments
used in hedge accounting
Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments
used in hedge accounting

Loans and other receivables
Loans and other receivables
Loans and other receivables

Loans and other receivables

Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments
used in hedge accounting
Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments
used in hedge accounting
Loans and other receivables

Loans and other receivables

Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost

Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit and loss
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Classification under IFRS 9

Financial assets measured
at amortized cost
Financial assets at fair value
through OCI

Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments
used in hedge accounting
Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments
used in hedge accounting

Financial assets measured at
amortized cost

Financial assets at fair value
through OCI

Financial assets measured at
amortized cost

Financial assets at fair
value through OCI

Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss

Derivative financial instruments
used in hedge accounting

Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss

Derivative financial instruments
used in hedge accounting

Financial assets measured at
amortized cost

Financial assets at fair value
through OCI

Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost

Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit and loss

Carrying
amount by
category at
1.1.2018
under IAS 39

4.5

0.4

557.8
317
93.5

4.2

11.0
14.4

2.2

328.4

30.0

632.8

28.6

Carrying
amount

by category
at 1.1.2018
under IFRS 9

4.5

0.4

557.8
317
93.5

4.2

11.0
14.4

2.2

328.4

30.0

632.8

28.6



Cross currency swaps

used in hedge accounting

used in hedge accounting

APPENDIX I FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP
Carrying Carrying
amount by amount
category at by category
1.1.2018  at1.1.2018
EUR million Classification under IAS 39 Classification under IFRS 9 under IAS 39 under IFRS 9
Foreign exchange derivatives ~ Derivative financial instruments ~ Derivative financial instruments 3.8 3.8
used in hedge accounting used in hedge accounting
Interest rate derivatives and Financial liabilities at fair value  Financial liabilities at fair value 9.6 9.6
Cross currency swaps through profit and loss through profit and loss
Interest rate derivatives and Derivative financial instruments  Derivative financial instruments 1.6 1.6
CrOSS currency swaps used in hedge accounting used in hedge accounting
CURRENT FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES
Current interest-bearing liabilities Financial liabilities measured at ~ Financial liabilities measured at 186.3 186.3
amortized cost amortized cost
Accounts payable Financial liabilities measured at ~ Financial liabilities measured at 315.0 315.0
amortized cost amortized cost
Other current liabilities Financial liabilities measured at ~ Financial liabilities measured at 244.6 244.6
amortized cost amortized cost
Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange derivatives  Financial liabilities at fair value  Financial liabilities at fair value 23 23
through profit and loss through profit and loss
Foreign exchange derivatives ~ Derivative financial instruments ~ Derivative financial instruments 44.3 44.3
used in hedge accounting used in hedge accounting
Interest rate derivatives and Financial liabilities at fair value  Financial liabilities at fair value 13.5 13.5
CrosS currency swaps through profit and loss through profit and loss
Interest rate derivatives and Derivative financial instruments  Derivative financial instruments 0.7 0.7

All forecasts and estimates presented in this report are based on the management’s current
judgment of the economic environment. The actual results may differ significantly.

AMER SPORTS CORPORATION

Board of Directors
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B. AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2017

The following is an extract of the audited financial statements of the Target Group
for the year ended 31 December 2017, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS,
from the Target Group’s financial review 2017 (pages 19 — 60).

Specific page/section references mentioned in the audited financial statements of
the Target Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are referred to in the Target
Group’s financial review 2017 which is available free of charge, in read-only, printable
format on the Target Group’s website at https://www.amersports.com/investors/.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

EUR million Notes 2017 2016
NET SALES 2 2,685.2 2,622.1
Cost of goods sold 7 -1,478.3 -1,409.7
License income 5.7 6.8
Other operating income 4 7.0 8.8
Research and development expenses 7 -120.2 -97.5
Selling and marketing expenses 7 -744.2 -731.1
Administrative and other expenses 7,8, 9 -186.9 -194.6
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST

AND TAXES 168.3 204.8
% of net sales 6.3 7.8
Financing income 10 6.1 1.1
Financing expenses 10 -32.4 -32.9
Financing income and expenses, net -26.3 -31.8
EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES 142.0 173.0
Income taxes 11 -48.7 -46.1
NET RESULT 93.3 126.9
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent company 93.3 126.9

Earnings per share of the net result
attributable to equity holders of the

parent company, EUR 12
Undiluted 0.80 1.08
Diluted 0.80 1.07
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EUR million

Net result

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or
loss
Remeasurement effects of postemployment
benefit plans
Income tax related to remeasurement effects
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Translation differences
Cash flow hedges
Income tax related to cash flow hedges
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent company
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Notes 2017 2016
933 126.9

2.2 -8.9

-0.5 -3.2

-28.0 16.1

26 -68.4 -20.0
26 13.6 4.0
-81.1 -12.0

12.2 114.9

12.2 114.9
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR million Notes 2017 2016

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES
Earnings before interest and taxes 168.3 204.8
Depreciation 69.4 60.0
Adjustments to cash flow from
operating activities 22 15.1 3.2
Cash flow from operating activities before
change in working capital 252.8 268.0
Increase (-) or decrease (+) in inventories 6.0 -12.5
Increase (-) or decrease (+) in trade and
other current receivables -46.1 -37.8
Increase (+) or decrease (-) in interest-free
current liabilities 86.2 -71.2
Change in working capital 46.1 -57.5

Cash flow from operating activities before

financing items and taxes 298.9 210.5
Interest paid -29.9 -28.4
Interest received 1.9 1.1
Income taxes paid and received -29.9 -32.9
Financing items and taxes -57.9 -60.2
Total net cash flow from operating activities 241.0 150.3
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EUR million Notes 2017 2016

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES
Acquired operations 2.3 -56.8
Capital expenditure on non-current

tangible assets -65.2 -58.6
Capital expenditure on non-current

intangible assets -18.4 -33.1
Proceeds from sale of tangible non-current

assets 0.8 0.6

Net cash flow from investing activities -85.1 -147.9

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Repurchase of own shares -53.1 —
Change in short-term borrowings -51.6 50.9
Withdrawals of long-term borrowings - 210.0
Repayments of long-term borrowings -2.4 -156.1
Capital repayment/dividends paid -72.7 -64.7
Other financing items 23.7 -12.0

Net cash flow from financing activities -156.1 28.1

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS -0.2 30.5

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at year end 14 358.4 364.0
Translation differences -5.4 2.1
Cash and cash equivalents at year beginning 364.0 331.4
Change in cash and cash equivalents -0.2 30.5

“ Including, for example, cash flow from hedging intercompany balance sheet items

FREE CASH FLOW *¥) 161.3 64.4

" Cash flow from operating activities — net capital expenditure — change in restricted cash

Net capital expenditure = total capital expenditure less proceeds from sale of assets

The above figures cannot be directly traced from the balance sheet due to
acquisitions/divestments of subsidiaries and changes in rates of exchange.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
EUR million

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible rights

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Land and water

Buildings and constructions

Machinery and equipment

Advances paid and construction in progress
Available-for-sale financial assets
Deferred tax assets

Other non-current receivables

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

INVENTORIES, NET
Raw materials and consumables
Work in progress
Finished goods

RECEIVABLES
Accounts receivable, net
Current tax assets
Prepaid expenses and other receivables

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS
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Notes

13
13
13
13
13
13
13
14
15

16

16

17

14

2017 2016
247.8 265.5
3443 373.4

57.1 66.8
14.1 15.0
73.9 62.6
116.2 127.8
23.8 20.6
0.4 0.4
106.0 110.1
6.1 9.3
989.7 1,051.5
44.0 47.5
10.5 10.7
4234 455.4
477.9 513.6
595.5 607.3
17.6 17.4
165.1 161.3
778.2 786.0
358.4 364.0
1,614.5 1,663.6
2,604.2 2,715.1
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES
EUR million Notes 2017 2016

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT COMPANY
Share capital 18 292.2 292.2
Premium fund 18 12.1 12.1
Fund for own shares 18 -66.8 -15.5
Translation differences 18 5.1 33.1
Fair value and other reserves 18, 26 -27.0 27.8
Remeasurements -45.5 -47.2
Invested unrestricted equity reserve 18 90.4 163.1
Retained earnings 534.2 410.6
Net result 933 126.9
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 888.0 1,003.1
LIABILITIES

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Bonds 19 516.8 697.5
Loans from financial institutions 19 100.7 131.0
Other interest-bearing liabilities 19 15.3 17.7
Deferred tax liabilities 15 31.3 36.3
Defined benefit pension liabilities 6 70.1 78.0
Other interest-free liabilities 33.9 22.4
Provisions 21 7.4 5.1
775.5 988.0

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing liabilities 19 186.3 53.7
Accounts payable 315.0 256.3
Accrued liabilities 20 352.8 3473
Current tax liabilities 48.0 32.1
Provisions 21 38.6 34.6
940.7 724.0
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,716.2 1,712.0

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AND LIABILITIES 2,604.2 2,715.1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY
Tnvested
Fund Fair value unrestricted
Share  Premium  forown Translation ~ andother ~ Remea- equity  Retained
EUR million capital fund shares differences  reserves  suremenfs  reserve  earnings Total
Balance at January 1, 2016 1922 121 181 170 $3 S5l 103.1 4746 9496
Other comprehensive income;
Translation differences 161 161
Remeasurement effects of
postemployment benefit plans 49 49
Cash flow and fair value
hedges 200 200
[ncome tax related to OCI 40 32 08
Net result 1269 1269
Total comprehensive income 16.] -160 121 1269 1149
Transactions with owners:
Share-based incentive program 26 07 33
Dividend distrbution BT N
Balance at December 31, 2016 9.2 121 35 3l 718 412 163.1 5375 10031
Other comprehensive income;
Translation differences 280 280
Remeasurement effects of
postemployment benefit plans Iy) 22
Cash flow and fair value hedges 684 684
[ncome tax related to OCI 136 N 131
Net result 93 93
Total comprehensive income 280 548 17 93 122
Transactions with owners:
Repurchase of own shares S5l
Share-based incentive progtam A 03 23
Captal repayment 18 -7 -7
Other 38 38
Balance at December 31, 2017 92 121 0.8 5l 210 455 904 615 8880

Note 18 provides additional information on shareholders’ equity and note 26 on

the fair value and other reserves.

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General
Amer Sports Corporation is a Finnish public listed company that has its domicile in Helsinki.

Amer Sports Corporation and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) manufacture, sell and market sports
equipment, apparel and footwear to the sports equipment trade and direct to consumer. The
Group’s business is founded on its globally recognized brands — the major brands are Salomon,
Wilson, Atomic, Arc’teryx, Mavic, Suunto and Precor.

The Group shared sales network covers 34 countries. The Group’s main market areas are the
United States and Europe.

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 8,
2018.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards approved for use in the EU (IFRS), observing the IAS and IFRS
standards and SIC and IFRIC interpretations in force as of December 31, 2017. In the Finnish
Accounting Act and the provisions issued under it, International Financial Reporting Standards
refer to standards approved for use in the EU in accordance with the procedure laid down in the
EU regulation (EC) No 1606/2002, and their interpretations.

The Group has applied the following new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations
as of January 1, 2017, which did not have material impact on the Group’s financial statements:

. IFRS 10 (amendment): Consolidated financial statements

. IFRS 12 (amendment): Disclosures of interests in other entities

. IAS 7 (amendment): Statement of cash flows

. IAS 12 (amendment): Income taxes

. Small changes to various standards or interpretations as part of the annual improvements to

IFRS project.

The following new and revised standards will be adopted in 2018 (subject to EU endorsement):

IFRS 2 (amendment): Share-based payment — no material impact

. IFRS 9: Financial instruments
. IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with customers
. Small changes to various standards or interpretations as part of the annual improvements to

IFRS project — no material impact
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The following standards that are issued but not yet effective and will be adopted in 2019 or later
(subject to EU endorsement):

. IFRS 16: Leases

. IFRS 17: Insurance contracts — no material impact

. IFRS 10 (amendment): Consolidated financial statements — no material impact

. IAS 28 (amendment): Investments in associates — no material impact

. Small changes to various standards or interpretations as part of the annual improvements to

IFRS project — no material impact

The new standard IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers outlines the accounting
requirements for when and how much to recognize revenue from the sale of goods and rendering
of services based on a new five-step framework. Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised
goods or services to a customer when the control transfers to the customer either over time or at
a point in time. IFRS 15 replaces the existing revenue standards and interpretations including e.g.
IAS 11 Construction contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programs.

Amer Sports will adopt the new standard IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers from
the annual period beginning on January 1, 2018 using the full retrospective method.

Amer Sports has during 2016 and 2017 analysed and evaluated the impact of IFRS 15 to its
financial statements. The areas with the biggest income statement impacts of the identified
applicable IFRS 15 areas in Amer Sports are principal vs. agent considerations and transfer of
control. Together with the analyzes of the IFRS 15 impacts, Amer Sports has harmonized and
sharpened its accounting principles and practices especially related to transfer of control.

Amer Sports provides freight services in all of its operating segments and installation services in
its Fitness segment. Currently the revenue from both the freight and installation services have been
netted against the related expenses. As Amer Sports acts as the principal in rendering the freight
and installation services, netting of the revenue and expenses is no longer applicable according to
IFRS 15.

The other identified IFRS 15 areas that are applicable to Amer Sports business were trade
discounts, customer sales with right of return, customer loyalty campaigns, gift card breakage
and extended payment terms. The calculated impact in the income statement from all of the afore
mentioned areas would not have been material or there would not have been any impact in the
income statement in 2017. The calculated impact in the retained earnings from IFRS 15 and the
harmonization of the accounting principles on 1.1.2017 was immaterial.

The new standard IFRS 9 Financial instruments gives guidance on the classification, measurement
and impairment of the financial instruments as well as general hedge accounting and derecognition
of financial instruments. IFRS 9 replaces the current standard TAS 39. Amer Sports will adopt the
new standard from the annual period beginning on January 1, 2018.

Amer Sports has evaluated the application of the provision matrix as a practical expedient for
measuring ECLs (Expected Credit Losses) on accounts receivables. Giving the nature of the
financial assets, Amer Sports does not expect a significant impact to the valuation of the accounts
receivables due to impairments from this change. The adoption of IFRS 9 will require certain
changes in the classification of the financial instruments and the disclosures thereof. Amer
Sports will classify its other non-current financial assets, currently classified as Loans and other
receivables, as Financial assets measured at amortised cost. The non-current financial assets,
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currently classified as Available-for-sale financial assets, will be classified as Financial assets
at fair value through OCI. The hold-to-collect accounts receivables, other non-interest yielding
receivables, cash in hand and short-term deposits will be classified as Financial assets measured at
amortised cost instead of the current classification of Loans and other receivables. The available-
for-sale factoring receivables, promissory notes and investments on money market funds, currently
classified as Loans and other receivables, will be classified as Financial assets at fair value
through OCI.

The new standard IFRS 16 Leases will have significant implications on the recognition of the lease
expenses, noncurrent assets, interest-bearing liabilities as well as on the key financial ratios. Due
to the great volume of the lease contracts and related liabilities Amer Sports expects to report
significant increases in leasing assets and leasing liabilities. The off-balance sheet operating
lease commitments as of December 31, 2017 were EUR 231.9 million (EUR 239.4 million as of
December 31, 2016). The number of agreements recognized in the balance sheet under IFRS 16
may differ from the number of agreements recognized as operating lease commitments as the
concept of agreements disclosed as lease commitments is somewhat different from the concept
used in IFRS 16. In 2017 Amer Sports has collected data of the existing lease contracts, evaluated
potential tools for creating the journal entries according to IFRS 16 and created account structures
in the ERP systems. Amer Sports will adopt the new standard from the annual period beginning on
January 1, 2019.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of euros and have been prepared
under the historical cost convention with the exception of available-for-sale financial assets, share
based payments, financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss as
well as derivative financial instruments at fair value.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include all subsidiaries in which the parent company holds
directly or indirectly more than half of the votes or otherwise controls the subsidiary. Companies
acquired during the financial year have been included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date when control was obtained. Similarly, divested subsidiaries are included up to the
date when control has been relinquished.

The ownership of the subsidiary shares within the group has been eliminated using the acquisition
method. The transferred consideration and all the identifiable assets and liabilities of an acquired
company are measured at fair values at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recognized as the
amount by which the total transferred consideration exceeds the fair value of the acquired net
assets. The potential additional purchase price is measured at fair value on the balance sheet
date and the related profit or loss is booked in the income statement. Goodwill is not amortized,
but its value is tested for impairment at least once a year by means of a cash flow analysis (see
impairment of assets below). Impairment losses are booked in the income statement. Intercompany
transactions as well as intercompany receivables and liabilities are eliminated.

Foreign currencies

The transactions in subsidiaries’ financial statements are valued in the currency of the country
where the subsidiary operates (“functional currency”). The Group financial statements are
presented in euros, which is the functional currency of the parent company and the presentation
currency of the Group. The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into euros
at the closing exchange rates confirmed by the European Central Bank on the balance sheet date.
The income statement is translated into euros by consolidating each calendar month separately
using the actual daily average rate for the month, whereby the sum of the twelve calendar
months represents the whole year. Translation differences arising from the translation of the net
investment in foreign operations are booked to translation differences in other comprehensive
income. Intercompany long-term capital loans that are not expected to be repaid are considered as
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a part of the company’s net investment in the foreign operation and are treated similarly.

The following exchange rates have been used in the consolidated accounts:

Income statement” Balance sheet
2017 2016 12/17 12/16
USD 1.13 1.11 1.20 1.05
CAD 1.46 1.47 1.50 1.42
JPY 126.61 120.26 135.01 123.40
GBP 0.88 0.82 0.89 0.86
" Calculated average of the monthly average rates

Group companies record transactions in foreign currencies at the rate on the transaction date or
at an estimated rate sufficiently close to the rate on the transaction date. Assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are outstanding at the end of the financial year are
translated at the closing rate of exchange in effect on the balance sheet date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses related to operational transactions are presented in EBIT
(Earnings before Interest and Taxes). Exchange rate gains and losses on foreign currency-
denominated loans and other receivables and liabilities connected with financing transactions are
recorded at their net values as financing income and expenses.

Derivatives and hedge accounting

The company’s derivative instruments may include foreign exchange forward contracts and
options, interest rate swaps and interest rate options and cross-currency swaps. Foreign exchange
forward contracts and options are used to hedge against changes in the value of receivables and
liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and interest rate swaps and interest rate options to
hedge against the interest rate risk.

Cross-currency swaps are used to hedge against changes in value of foreign currency denominated
receivables and liabilities and against the interest rate risk.

Foreign exchange forward contracts and options, interest rate swaps and options and cross
currency swaps are measured at fair value on the day that the Group becomes a party to the
contract. Subsequent measurement is also at fair value. Foreign exchange derivatives are measured
at fair value using the closing rates quoted by the European Central Bank on the reporting date
together with common pricing models that are used for valuation of foreign exchange forward
contracts and options. The fair values of interest rate and cross currency swaps are calculated as
the current value of future cash flows. Interest rate options are valued with year-end interest rates
together with common option pricing models.

Gains and losses from fair value measurement are treated in accordance with the purpose of
the derivative financial instrument. For maturities below 12 months after the balance sheet
date, the fair value of the derivatives is presented in prepaid expenses and other receivables or
accrued liabilities. For maturities over 12 months, the fair value is presented in other non-current
receivables or other interest-free liabilities.

Changes in the value of derivative instruments, which do not qualify for hedge accounting are
recorded as financing income and expenses, except for when they are associated with hedging the
cash flow from operating activities, in which case they are recorded in other operating income and
expenses.
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The Group applies cash flow and fair value hedge accounting to foreign exchange derivatives that
hedge material cash flows from operating activities and to interest rate swaps and cross currency
swaps hedging against the interest risks and fair value changes associated with floating rate loans
denominated in foreign currency. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, in accordance with IAS 39, is recognized in
the fair value and other reserves under shareholders’ equity. Any ineffective component, however,
will be immediately recognized in the income statement. The cumulative change in gains or losses
for the effective hedges is transferred to the income statement for the period when the hedged item
is recorded in the income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires, is sold, or if the hedge does not meet the requirements set
for hedge accounting under IAS 39, any cumulative gain or loss recorded in equity remains in
equity until the forecasted transaction is recorded in the income statement. When the forecasted
cash flow is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity
is immediately recorded in financing income and expenses in the income statement in the case of
an interest rate hedge and in other operating income and expenses in the case of an operating cash
flow hedge.

When initiating hedge accounting, the Group documents the correlation between the hedged
item and the hedging instruments, as well as the Group’s risk management objective and hedge
initiation strategy. The Group documents and evaluates the effectiveness of hedges when initiating
hedging and on a quarterly basis by examining the degree to which the hedging instrument offsets
changes in the fair value and cash flow of the hedged item.

The Group does not hedge the net investment in foreign subsidiary operations with derivatives.
Measurement of financial assets

In accordance with IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, financial assets
are categorized as:

I. financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
II.  held-to-maturity investments

III.  loans and receivables

IV. available-for-sale financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. Changes
in fair value are booked as a credit or charge to earnings in financing income and expenses.
Derivatives are also categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets
in this category are classified as current assets, except for maturities over 12 months after the
balance sheet date.

Held-to-maturity investments and loans granted by the company are carried at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method. Held-to-maturity investments are valued at cost and are included
in current assets, except for maturities over 12 months after the balance sheet date. At the end of
the financial year, the Group did not possess any held-to-maturity investments.

Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. Accounts receivable are carried at the original invoiced
amount less impairment losses and credits for returns. Impairment losses are recognized case by
case when there is evidence that the receivable cannot be recovered in full, such as due to the
payment difficulties or impending bankruptcy of the debtor. From time to time certain accounts
receivables are sold through sale-of-receivable programs for working capital management

~1-39—



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

purposes. Transactions through these programs are recognized as non-recourse. Any promissory
and discounted notes receivables, on the other hand, are recorded in the balance sheet.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at their fair value by applying the market prices
at the balance sheet date or some other determination of value used by the company. The change
in fair value is presented in fair value and other reserves under shareholders’ equity. Fair value
changes are transferred from shareholders’ equity to the income statement when the asset is sold
or its value has been impaired such that an impairment loss must be recognized. Available-for-sale
financial assets whose fair value cannot be determined reliably are measured at cost or a lower
value if they are impaired. Available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current assets
unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within 12 months after the
balance sheet date.

Financial assets are recognized on the settlement date. Financial assets carried at fair value
through the income statement are initially recognized at fair value and transaction costs are
expensed in the income statement. Financial assets not carried at fair value through the income
statement are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial assets are
derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

On each closing date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence for the impairment
of a financial asset item or class. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a financial
asset below its cost is seen as evidence that the assets are impaired. The impairment loss is
recorded as a charge to earnings in financing items. Impairment losses are not reversed through
financing items.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, investments on
money market funds as well as readily realizable marketable securities.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially carried at fair value. Transaction costs are included in the
original carrying amount of financial liabilities. All financial liabilities are subsequently carried
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Financial liabilities are classified as
current liabilities, except for maturities over 12 months after the balance sheet date, in which case
they are classified as long-term liabilities.

Current financial liabilities include current interest bearing liabilities, accounts payable and
other current liabilities. Accounts payable correspond primarily trade payables. They also include
payables that have been transferred to vendor financing program, as there is no material difference
in the nature or terms of the liabilities compared to other trade payables.

Long-term financial liabilities include long-term interest bearing liabilities and other interest free
liabilities.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards connected with
ownership of the goods have been transferred to the purchaser. Net sales represent the invoiced

value of goods, less value added taxes as well as discounts, incentives and rebates earned by
customers and adding or subtracting foreign exchange differences.
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Revenue obtained from other companies is booked to license income when these companies
manufacture or sell products bearing Amer Sports trademarks. In addition, license income includes
royalty payments obtained from other companies when they utilize manufacturing technology
patents owned by Amer Sports. License income based on fixed license agreements is recognized
evenly throughout the financial year. License income determined by sales volumes is recognized
during the financial year as the licensee generates sales revenue.

Other operating income comprises rental income, gains on the sale of non-current assets as well as
other non-recurring income, such as patent settlements.

Cost of goods sold

The cost of goods sold includes all the salaries and wages, materials, procurement and other costs
connected with the manufacture and purchase of products.

Research and development

Research expenses are recognized as expenses when they are incurred. Product development
expenses are capitalized when they meet the recognition criteria according to IAS 38 Intangible
Assets.

Selling and marketing expenses

Expenses related to the sales, distribution, marketing and advertising of products are booked to
selling and marketing expenses. These include sales inventory, customer service, marketing and
sales, media advertising expenses and athlete endorsements.

Administrative and other expenses

Administrative and other expenses encompass Group Headquarter’s expenses, general
administration expenses, as well as minor one-off losses such as losses on disposals of non-current
assets.

Pension plans

The Group’s pension arrangements comply with the local rules and practices of the countries
where Amer Sports operates. The Group’s pension arrangements are either defined contribution
or defined benefit plans. Under defined contribution based plans, such as the Finnish TyEL
employment pension system, the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and
will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions. In defined contribution
plans, the Group’s contributions are recorded as an expense in the period to which they relate.

Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans.
In defined benefit plans, the pension expenses recognized in the income statement are determined
using the projected unit credit method which calculates the present value of the obligation and
the related service costs. The pension liability is measured by calculating the present value of
future pension obligations, discounted using the market yield on high quality corporate bonds or
government bonds in countries where there is no deep market for such bonds. Fair value of plan
assets is deducted from present value of obligation and net liability (asset) is presented in balance
sheet. All actuarial gains and losses (“remeasurements”) relating to post-employment benefits
are recognized in full in other comprehensive income. For other long-term employee benefits, the
Group recognizes actuarial gains and losses immediately in profit or loss. All past service costs
are recognized immediately in the income statement. Net interest expense (income) is determined
based on the net defined benefit liability (asset) and the discount rate at the beginning of the year.
Expenses related to defined benefit postemployment plans are reported as follows:
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. service cost: above EBIT
. net interest expense: in financing expenses
. remeasurement components: under other comprehensive income

Share-based payment

The Group’s key employees have been granted several share-based incentive schemes where the
rewards are settled as equity instruments. The rewards are measured at fair value at the time of
granting using generally accepted valuation models and recognized as expenses in the income
statement in even installments over the vesting period of the rights. The income effect of the
arrangements is presented as employee benefits in the income statement.

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

Earnings before interest and taxes is a net amount which is derived from net sales by deducting the
cost of goods sold and the research and development, selling, marketing, administrative and other
expenses and adding license income and other operating income. Foreign exchange differences
related to operational transactions are presented in EBIT whilst other foreign exchange differences
are recorded as financing income and expenses.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

A non-current asset or a disposal group of assets and liabilities is categorized as held for sale
when the economic benefits gained from it will be accrued primarily from its sale rather than from
continuous use. Non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale are measured at the lower of
carrying amount or fair value less selling costs and disclosed as a separate line item in the balance
sheet. These assets are not depreciated.

Discontinued operations refer to a significant part of the company (such as a segment) that it has
decided to discontinue. The net result of discontinued operations is disclosed on its own line in the
income statement, separately from continuing operations.

Income taxes

Taxes include the taxes for the financial year calculated on the basis of the result for the period
and in accordance with the tax legislation of each company’s local domicile as well as assessed or
returned taxes for previous financial periods and the change in deferred taxes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on all temporary differences between the book
and tax base of assets in accordance with the tax rate at the balance sheet date or with the
substantially enacted future tax rate. Temporary differences arise from factors such as unused tax
losses, depreciation differences, provisions, defined benefit pension plans, the fair valuation of
derivative financial instruments, the internal inventory margin as well as measurements to fair
value of assets in connection with business acquisitions. The tax effect of undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries is recorded as a deferred tax liability if a dividend payout is probable and it will
result in tax consequences. A deferred tax asset is recognized as a result of unused tax losses and
other temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that these can be utilized in future
financial periods. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same tax authority.
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Earnings per share

The undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net result for the financial year
less interest on the hybrid bond (net of tax) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding
during the financial year. The dilutive effect of warrants and shares granted on the basis of share-
based incentive plans is taken into account in calculating diluted earnings per share.

The effect of share issues on previous years’ earnings per share is taken into account by using a
share issue ratio.

Government grants

Government grants are recorded as adjustments to expenses in the financial period they are
received, except when they relate to investments, in which case they are deducted from the cost.

Intangible rights and other intangible non-current assets

Intangible rights comprise trademarks and patents. Other intangible assets include for example
software licenses. Patents and software licenses are recognized in the balance sheet at cost
and amortized on a straight-line basis during a useful life of three to fifteen years. Trademarks
with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but tested for impairment on an annual basis (see
impairment of assets below). Capitalised development expenses are capitalized when they meet the
recognition criteria in IAS 38 and amortized during their useful lives.

Tangible non-current assets

Tangible non-current assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses (see impairment of assets below).

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis in order to write down the cost of the tangible
assets to their residual values over their expected useful lives, adjusting for any impairment. The
depreciation periods are:

Buildings and constructions 25-40 years
Machinery and equipment 3-10 years

Land and water are not depreciated.
Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of non-current tangible and intangible assets are assessed by means of
impairment tests whenever there is an indication of impairment. Any impairment of goodwill and
other intangible rights having an indefinite useful life are nevertheless assessed at least once a
year.

Impairment tests involve measuring the recoverable amount of said asset. The recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s net selling price or cash flow-based value in use. An impairment loss
is recognized in the income statement when the carrying amount of an asset is greater than the
recoverable amount. Impairment recognized on assets other than goodwill is reversed if a change
occurs in the estimates leading to the impairment charge. An impairment loss is reversed to a
maximum amount that does not exceed the carrying amount of the asset if impairment would not
have been originally recognized.

The recoverable amount of goodwill and other intangible rights with indefinite useful lives is

determined via fair value less cost of selling or higher cash flow-based value-in-use (impairment
tests of these items are more closely explained in note 7).
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In the cash flow-based impairment calculations for other intangible rights and property, plant
and equipment, cash flows are recognized so that the first three years are based on the budgets
and strategic plans for the next three years as approved by the Group’s Board of Directors. In the
calculations, later years are estimated conservatively according to the growth assumptions made in
the three-year plans. The residual values used in the calculations are estimates of the probable net
selling prices of the asset items.

The discount rate in the calculations is based on the long term risk-free market interest rates and
on generally used standard risk premiums (the key assumptions of the discount rate are presented
more closely in the note 7).

Lease agreements

Lease agreements relating to tangible assets, in which the Group retains a significant part of the
ownership risks and rewards, are classified as finance lease agreements. A finance lease agreement
is recorded on the balance sheet at the lower of the asset’s fair value or the present value of
minimum lease payments, and it is depreciated. Lease obligations are included in interest-bearing
liabilities. Other leasing payments are treated as rental expenses.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost calculated according to the FIFO principle or the net
realizable value. For self-manufactured products, the cost includes direct wage and raw material
costs for the manufacture of the products as well as a portion of the indirect costs of manufacture.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Shareholders’ equity

An equity instrument is recorded in the shareholders’ equity if the instrument includes no
contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity or to exchange
financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially
unfavorable to the issuer. The subscription proceeds from share issues are booked to invested
unrestricted equity reserve to the extent that they are not, in accordance with a shareholders’
resolution, booked to the share capital. The transaction costs of the share issues are charged to
retained earnings net of tax.

The acquisition cost of repurchased own shares is charged to equity until the shares are cancelled
or reissued.

Any dividend or repayment of capital proposed by the Board of the Directors is not deducted from
distributable shareholders’ equity until approved at the Annual General Meeting.

Provisions

Obligations arising as the consequence of a past event, which are legal or which the company
has an actual obligation to settle and are considered certain or likely to occur, are booked in the
income statement under an appropriate expense heading. They are presented in the balance sheet
as provisions when it is probable that the resources will be transferred out of the Group but the
precise amount or timing is not known. In other cases they are presented as accrued liabilities.
The most important regular provisions are due to the repair or replacement of products during
the warranty period. These provisions are determined on the basis of historical experience. A
provision for reorganization is made when the Group has drawn up a detailed reorganization plan
and announced the reorganization. Long-term provisions are discounted.
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Use of estimates in the financial statements

When preparing the financial statements, the Group’s management has to make estimates and
assumptions influencing the content of the financial statements and it must exercise its judgment
regarding the application of accounting policies. The most important of these estimates and
assumptions are related to impairment of goodwill and other asset items, such as trademarks,
property, plant and equipment, inventories and accounts receivable; provisions for reorganization,
warranty and legal proceedings; evaluation of pension liabilities and share-based payments
schemes as well as the future utilization of deferred tax assets. Actual results may differ from
these estimates. Any changes in the estimates and assumptions are recognized in the period in
which the estimate or assumption is revised.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Pension plans

The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined
on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net
cost (or income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will
impact the carrying amount of pension obligations.

Amer Sports determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest
rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected
to be required to settle the pension obligations. Other key assumptions for pension obligations are
based in part on current market conditions (see note 6).

Net liability recognized for defined benefit pension plans was EUR 70.1 million as of December
31,2017.

Share-based payment

The Group key employees have been granted several share-based incentive schemes where the
rewards are settled as equity instruments. The rewards are measured at fair value at the time of
granting using generally accepted valuation models and periodized as expenses in the income
statement in even installments over the vesting period of the rights. The income effect of the
arrangements is presented as employee benefits in the income statement.

Expenses recognized for the share-based incentive schemes for the year ended December 31, 2017
amounted to EUR 5.0 million.

Income taxes

Management judgment is required in determining provisions for income taxes, deferred tax assets
and liabilities and the extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognized. As of December
31, 2017, the company has recognized net deferred tax assets of EUR 74.7 million on tax loss
carry forwards and other temporary differences. The Group is also subject to income taxes in
various jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the Group’s provision for income taxes.
There may be transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group anticipates questions arising in tax audits and
recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is made.
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Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of non-current tangible and intangible assets are assessed by means of
impairment tests whenever there is an indication of impairment.

Any impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets having an indefinite useful life are
nevertheless assessed at least once a year. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates. As of December 31, 2017, the amount of goodwill and other non-current intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives tested for impairment amounted to EUR 344.3 million and EUR
221.7 million, respectively. No impairment losses were recognised in these assets in 2017 or 2016.
Management estimates, used assumptions as well as sensitivity analyses are presented in note 7.

Impairment losses related to the capitalised R&D expenses and other intangible non-current assets
were EUR 16.7 million in 2017 (0.0).

Inventories

The Group periodically reviews its inventories for excess amounts, obsolescence and declines
in market value below cost and records an allowance against the inventory balance for any such
declines. These reviews require management to estimate future demand for products. If the future
demand for Group’s products was weaker than anticipated or the market conditions deteriorated,
the value of inventories would likely have to be written down. As of December 31, 2017, the
amount of inventories on the balance sheet amounted to EUR 477.9 million. Value of inventories
has been decreased by EUR 23.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 to correspond to
its net realizable value.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are carried at the original invoiced amount less impairment losses and
credits for returns. Impairment losses are recognized case by case and on the basis of historical
experience when there is evidence that the receivable cannot be recovered in full, such as due
to the payment difficulties or impending bankruptcy of the debtor. The estimates are based on
a systematic, on-going review and evaluation performed as part of the credit-risk evaluation
process. As part of this evaluation, the Group takes into account the history of collections, the
size and composition of the receivable balances and current economic events and conditions.
If the financial conditions of customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional impairment losses may be recognized in future periods. As of
December 31, 2017, the amount of accounts receivable on balance sheet amounted to EUR 595.5
million and impairment losses of accounts receivable amounted to EUR 8.3 million.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized on the balance sheet when there is a legal or actual obligation for the
company to settle an obligation arising as the consequence of a past event that is considered
certain or likely to occur. The most important regular provisions are due to the repair or
replacement of products during the warranty period. These provisions are determined on the basis
of historical experience. The provisions recognized represents management’s best estimate of
the present value of the future costs assumed to be incurred. The actual costs may differ from the
estimated. As of December 31, 2017, the amount of provisions on balance sheet was EUR 46.0
million.
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2. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Amer Sports operates primarily in one industry — the design, manufacturing, distribution, selling
and marketing of sporting goods, apparel and footwear.

The company is managed through its global operating segments, business areas, regional sales
organizations and company wide platforms such as global operations, which encompass business
functions from product development to product sourcing, manufacturing and outbound logistics.
The chief operating decision maker of the Group is the President and CEO, who is assisted by the
Executive Board. The Chairman of the Board of Directors continuously monitors Amer Sports’
operations and development through contact with the President and CEO. The President and CEO
is also the President of Outdoor operating segment. Ball Sports and Fitness operating segments
have their own Presidents.

Amer Sports has three reportable operating segments:

. Outdoor: manufacturer and supplier of footwear, apparel, winter sports equipment, cycling
components and sports instruments

. Ball Sports: manufacturer and supplier of racquet and team sports equipment and golf
equipment
. Fitness: manufacturer and supplier of fitness equipment

The operating segments are based on the Group’s global organizational structure and management
reporting. The decisions concerning assessing the performance of segments and allocation of
resources to the segments are mainly based on segments’ net sales and earnings before interest
and taxes excluding items affecting comparability (EBIT excluding IAC). The operating segments
are not fully independent as they operate in cooperation with Amer Sports’ regional sales
organizations and company wide support functions.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.

The operating segments have been divided into the following business areas:

Outdoor

. Footwear: Salomon, Arc’teryx

. Apparel: Salomon, Arc’teryx

. Winter Sports Equipment: Salomon winter sports equipment, Atomic and Armada

. Cycling: Mavic, ENVE

. Sports Instruments: Suunto

Ball Sports

. Individual Ball Sports: Wilson, Racquet Sports and Golf

. Team Sports: Wilson, DeMarini, Louisville Slugger and EvoShield
Fitness

. Fitness Equipment: Precor, Queenax
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The accounting policies for segment reporting do not differ from the Group’s accounting policies.

There were no intersegment business operations in 2017 and 2016. In the income statement, line
items below EBIT have not been allocated to the segments.

The assets and liabilities of the operating segments include only items directly connected to the
business as well as the goodwill and non-current intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
related to them. Tax assets and liabilities, prepaid and accrued interest, receivables and payables
related to derivative financial instruments, cash and cash equivalents, and interest-bearing
liabilities are not allocated to the operating segments.

Unallocated items relating to EBIT include income and expenses of corporate headquarters.
Geographic net sales are presented according to customers’ location and assets according to where
the assets are located. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not allocated

to the geographical areas.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating

2017 segments Unallocated
EUR million Outdoor Ball Sports Fitness total items Total
Net sales 1,670.9 653.2 361.1 2,685.2 - 2,685.2
EBIT excl. IAC 179.3 44.9 20.1 2443 -29.3 215.0

% of net sales 10.7 6.9 5.6 9.1 - 8.0
IAC -46.7 -46.7
EBIT 168.3 168.3

% of net sales 6.3
Financing income and expenses -26.3 -26.3
Earnings before taxes 142.0 142.0
Goodwill and intangible assets

with indefinite useful lives 240.9 163.5 161.6 566.0 - 566.0
Other assets 955.9 326.4 189.5 1,471.8 566.4 2,038.2
Liabilities 380.7 262.8 72.1 715.6 1,000.6 1,716.2
Capital expenditure 53.3 18.9 10.0 82.2 1.4 83.6
Depreciation 49.9 5.7 12.6 68.2 1.2 69.4
Cash flow from operating activities

before financing items and taxes 247.9 64.6 17.2 329.7 -30.8 298.9
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Operating

2016 segments Unallocated
EUR million Outdoor Ball Sports Fitness total items Total
Net sales 1,601.80 671.1 349.2 2,622.1 - 2,622.1
EBIT excl. IAC 196.9 44.8 17.0 258.7 -37.0 221.7

% of net sales 12.3 6.7 4.9 9.9 - 8.5
IAC -16.9 -16.9
EBIT 204.8 204.8

% of net sales 7.8
Financing income and expenses -31.8 318
Earnings before taxes 173.0 173.0
Goodwill and intangible assets

with indefinite useful lives 266.9 182.4 174.2 623.5 - 623.5
Other assets 957.5 342.2 203.2 1,502.9 588.7 2,091.6
Liabilities 345.6 261.4 72.6 679.6 1,032.4 1,712.0
Capital expenditure 56.8 13.8 19.9 90.5 1.2 91.7
Depreciation 41.0 7.3 9.7 58.0 2.0 60.0
Cash flow from operating activities

before financing items and taxes 182.5 52.4 12.9 247.8 -37.3 210.5
OTHER ASSETS
EUR million 2017 2016
Other non-current assets, accounts and other receivables

and inventories of operating segments 1,471.8 1,502.9
Deferred tax assets 106.0 110.1
Unallocated other non-current assets, accounts

and other receivables 28.4 26.8
Derivative financial instruments 38.8 56.0
Prepaid interest 17.2 14.4
Current tax assets 17.6 17.4
Cash and cash equivalents 358.4 364.0
Unallocated other assets 566.4 588.7
LIABILITIES
EUR million 2017 2016
Other interest-free long-term liabilities, accounts payable,

non-tax and non-financing related accrued liabilities

and provisions of operating segments 715.6 679.6
Interest-bearing long-term liabilities 632.8 846.2
Deferred tax liabilities 31.3 36.3
Interest-bearing current liabilities 186.3 53.7
Unallocated accounts payable and accrued liabilities 4.9 6.7
Derivative financial instruments 75.8 39.4
Accrued interests 21.5 18.0
Current tax liabilities 48.0 32.1
Unallocated liabilities 1,000.6 1,032.4
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GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

2017

Asia Unallocated
EUR million EMEA Americas Pacific Elimination items Total
External net sales 1,173.5 1,122.2 389.5 - - 2,685.2
Assets 830.3 1,014.0 151.0 -109.5 718.4 2,604.2
Capital expenditure 44.0 32.1 7.5 - - 83.6
2016

Asia Unallocated
EUR million EMEA Americas Pacific Elimination items Total
External net sales 1,133.7 1,116.0 372.4 - - 2,622.1
Assets 845.2 1,003.3 165.4 -95.7 796.9 2,715.1
Capital expenditure 41.0 42.7 8.0 - - 91.7

3. ACQUIRED AND DIVESTED BUSINESSES
2017

On March 29, 2017 Amer Sports acquired the iconic US ski brand Armada with annual net sales
of approximately USD 10 million. The acquisition included the Armada brand, Armada branded
products, as well as intellectual property and distribution rights. The transaction value was USD
4.1 million, of which USD 2.5 million was settled with cash. Armada has been integrated into
Amer Sports Winter Sports Equipment business unit. According to the purchase price allocation
the fair value of acquired net assets was EUR 4.4 million resulting in a gain of EUR 0.6 million.
EUR 2.2 million of the fair value was allocated to Armada trademark, which is amortized in 10
years.

The acquisition had no material impact on Amer Sports 2017 financial results.
2016

On March 8, 2016 Amer Sports acquired 100% of the shares in the company ENVE Composites
LLC. ENVE is a fast-growing brand in high-end carbon wheels, components, and accessories for
road and mountain biking with annual sales of approximately USD 30 million. The acquisition
accelerates Amer Sports Cycling business especially in the United States and provides further
expansion opportunities internationally. ENVE brings capabilities in carbon technology, and it
offers operational scale and synergy benefits complementing Amer Sports’ cycling category.

The net cash acquisition price was USD 50 million in an all-cash transaction and was paid in
March 2016. According to the purchase price allocation, the fair value of the acquired net assets
was EUR 48.0 million. EUR 18.9 million of the fair value was allocated to the ENVE intangible
assets including trademarks, customer relationships and technology. These assets are amortized
over 10-15 years. EUR 18.5 million of the fair value was allocated to goodwill. Purchase of ENVE
was treated as asset purchase in taxation and no deferred taxes were recognized.

The following fair values of the assets and liabilities of ENVE Composites LLC have been

consolidated into Amer Sports’ result from the acquisition date. Transaction costs of EUR 0.3
million are included in the administrative expenses of the consolidated income statement.
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EUR million Fair value
Intangible non-current assets 18.9
Goodwill 18.5
Other non-current assets 1.2
Inventories 5.7
Accounts receivables and

other current assets 2.9
Cash 3.3
Total assets 50.5

Interest-free liabilities 2.5
Net assets 48.0
Purchase price 48.0

Analysis of the cash flows on the acquisition

Purchase price 48.0
ENVE cash -3.3
Transaction costs 0.3
Net cash flow on acquisition 45.0

Fair value of accounts receivables was equal to book value at the date of transaction.

The ENVE sales in 2016 from the date of acquisition were EUR 20 million. The ENVE transaction
including one time integration costs and amortization of intangible assets had slightly negative
impact on Amer Sports’ 2016 financial results. On November 17, 2016 Amer Sports acquired
EvoShield, the leading protective gear brand for baseball and softball.

EvoShield is the leading brand of protective gear for baseball and softball athletes and teams in
the US, and the Official Protective Gear of Major League Baseball® (MLB). The annual net sales
of EvoShield are approximately EUR 10 million.

The price of this selective asset acquisition was USD 9.3 million and it included the EvoShield
brand, all EvoShield branded products as well as intellectual property and distribution rights. The
fair value of EvoShield tradename was USD 2.5 million and it is amortized in 10 years. USD 3.9
million of the fair value was allocated to goodwill.

EvoShield has been integrated into Amer Sports Ball Sports business segment, which already

includes the brands Wilson, Louisville Slugger, DeMarini and ATEC. The EvoShield acquisition
had no material impact on Amer Sports 2016 financial results.
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4. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

EUR million 2017 2016
Acquisition related accounting adjustment 0.6 -
Gain on sale of non-current assets 0.3 0.2
Government subsidies 0.8 1.8
Credits for research and competitiveness taxes 2.4 2.0
Compensation for discontinued distribution 0.0 2.8
Other 2.9 2.0
Total 7.0 8.8

S. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

EUR million 2017 2016
Wages and salaries 412.6 405.9
Social expenditure
Pensions-defined contribution plans 14.1 14.7
Pensions-defined benefit plans 4.7 3.7
Other social security 89.1 83.3
Total 520.5 507.6

In countries where social expenditure paid to the government cannot be divided between pensions
and other social security, the expenses are presented under the heading Other social security.

Salaries and other compensation of the management are presented in note 27.
6. PENSIONS

Pension security for Group companies is based on each country’s local regulations and practices.
The Group’s most significant defined benefit pension plan is for Wilson Sporting Goods Co.
(USA), whose present value of funded obligations is 37% (38) of the Group’s total value. In
addition to the USA, the Group has defined benefit pension plans in France, Switzerland, the UK,
Germany, Japan and Austria. These are handled via pension funds or pension companies whose
assets are not included in Group’s assets. Contributions to the funds are made in accordance
with local regulations. In the USA and the UK pension funds are closed, and new members are
no longer admitted to them. The Group’s other pension arrangements, such as the Finnish TyEL
statutory employment pension, are mainly defined contribution plans.

The net liability recognized in the balance sheet relating to defined benefit pension plans is
defined as follows:

EUR million 2017 2016
Present value of funded obligations 187.7 196.6
Fair value of plan assets -117.6 -118.6

Net liability in the balance
sheet at December 31 70.1 78.0
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The movement in the defined benefit obligation is as follows:

Present Fair
value value of
EUR million of obligation plan asset Total
At January 1, 2016 187.9 -117.8 70.1
Current service cost 3.5 0.0 3.5
Past service cost and gains
and losses on settlements 0.1 0.0 0.1
Administration cost paid
from plan assets -0.9 1.0 0.1
Interest expense/(income) 7.4 -4.9 2.5
Cost recognized in income statement 10.1 -3.9 6.2
Remeasurements:
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts
included in interest expenses/(income) 0.0 -2.4 -2.4
(Gain)/loss from change in demographic
assumptions -1.3 0.0 -1.3
(Gain)/loss from change in financial
assumptions 12.0 0.0 12.0
Experience (gains)/losses 0.8 0.0 0.8
Other changes 0.0 0.0 0.0
Remeasurements effects recognized in OCI 11.5 -2.4 9.1
Contributions:
Employers -0.4 -6.8 -7.2
Employees 1.6 -1.6 0.0
Benefits paid from plan assets -13.2 13.2 0.0
Exchange rate differences -0.9 0.7 -0.2
At December 31, 2016 196.6 -118.6 78.0
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EUR million

At January 1, 2017

Current service cost

Past service cost and gains

and losses on settlements
Administration cost paid

from plan assets

Interest expense/(income)

Cost recognized in income statement

Remeasurements:

Return on plan assets, excluding amounts
included in interest expenses/(income)
(Gain)/loss from change in demographic

assumptions

(Gain)/loss from change in financial

assumptions
Experience (gains)/losses

Remeasurements effects recognized in OCI

Contributions:
Employers
Employees
Benefits paid from plan assets

Exchange rate differences
At December 31, 2017

Principal actuarial assumptions:

% USA
Discount rate 3.50-3.70
Inflation 2.25
Future salary increases 2.50
Future pension increases 0.00

Sensitivity analysis:

%

Discount rate
Inflation rate

Mortality rate

Present Fair

value value of
of obligation plan asset Total
196.6 -118.6 78.0
4.5 0.0 4.5
0.1 0.0 0.1
-0.7 0.8 0.1
5.7 -3.9 1.8
9.6 -3.1 6.5
0.0 -8.1 -8.1
-0.8 0.0 -0.8
10.6 0.0 10.6
-3.9 0.0 -3.9
5.9 -8.1 -2.2
-0.9 -6.0 -6.9
0.7 -0.7 0.0
-7.1 6.6 -0.5
-17.1 12.3 -4.8
187.7 -117.6 70.1

2017 2016

Europe Japan USA Europe Japan
0.70-2.50 0.50 4.20-4.40 0.30-2.65 0.50
1.00-3.40 0.00 2.25 0.00-3.50 0.00
0.00-3.00 1.80 2.50 0.00-3.00 1.70
0.00-2.10 0.00 0.00 0.00-2.10 0.00
Impact on
Change in defined
assumption obligation
0.25% decrease 6.10
0.25% increase 1.00

1 year increase
in life expectancy 4.30
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Major categories of plan assets:

EUR million 2017 2016
US equities 21.8 22.8
UK equities 4.8 4.5
Other equities 19.4 19.2
Corporate bonds 48.4 27.4
Government bonds 18.1 39.7
Other including cash 5.1 5.0

Through its defined pension plans Amer Sports is exposed to actuarial risks such as investment
risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk and mortality risk.

The main risk is that additional contributions are required if investment returns are not sufficient
to pay for the benefits. The level of equity returns is a key determinant of overall investment
return; the investment portfolio is also subject to range of other risks typical to asset classes held.
A decrease in corporate bond yields, a rise in inflation or an increase in life expectancy would
result in an increase in plan liabilities. This would detrimentally impact the balance sheet position
and may give rise to increased cost in income statement. This effect would be partially offset by
an increase in the value of the plan’s bond holdings. Additionally, caps on inflationary increases
are in place to protect the plan against extreme inflation.

The estimated contributions to the pension plans during 2018 are EUR 7.4 million.

The weighted average of the duration of the defined benefit obligations is 13.0.

7. DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Depreciation and amortization by asset type

EUR million 2017 2016
Intangible rights 8.5 4.0
Other intangible assets 13.5 10.3
Buildings and constructions 12.1 11.2
Machinery and equipment 35.3 34.5
Total 69.4 60.0

Impairment losses by asset type

EUR million 2017 2016
Intangible rights 4.3 -
Other intangible assets 12.0 -
CIP 0.4 _
Total 16.7 -
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Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses by function

EUR million 2017 2016
Cost of goods sold 21.8 20.3
Research and development 30.8 8.8
Selling and marketing 18.8 16.8
Administration and other expenses 14.7 14.1
Total 86.1 60.0

Amer Sports brands are well known and established in their respective markets. Products sold
under these brands have been available to customers for a long period of time and they have been
used by top athletes for decades. Amer Sports focuses on brand awareness and on the quality and
performance of the products sold under those brands. The brands will continue to generate positive
cash flow, hence they are not subject to amortization.

Impairment tests of goodwill and other intangible rights with indefinite useful lives, such as
trademarks, are performed when the management has identified indications of impairment or once
a year when business areas’ plans for the next three years are approved by the management in the
last quarter. The Group management uses assumptions in respect of future market and economic
conditions, such as economic growth, expected inflation rates, expected market share, revenue and
margin developments.

Goodwill is monitored by management at Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) level, the level at which
it and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for impairment. The CGUs in Amer
Sports are the following: Winter Sports Equipment, Salomon Apparel and Footwear, Arc’teryx
Apparel and Gear, Cycling, Sports Instruments, Individual Ball Sports, Team Sports, Golf, and
Fitness.

The impairment tests were calculated during the fourth quarter of 2017 on budgeted 2018 opening
balances by comparing the carrying amount of the asset being tested to its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value-in-use (“VIU”) and fair value less cost of selling. If
the VIU indicates impairment, the fair value less cost to sell is calculated in order to determine
recoverable amount. The VIU has been calculated using a discounted cash flow model method for
each CGU based on the following assumptions:

. A five-year future period was used after which a perpetuity value was defined.

. First year is based on the approved budget and the next two years on the business areas’
detailed business plans. The expected growth for the fourth and fifth year is zero in real
terms.

. The perpetuity value is derived from a combination of estimate period and actual results

using the Gordon model. The default perpetuity growth is 2% which is in line with the
management’s view on long-term inflation which is no growth in real terms. In some cases
where management expects well above average growth after the estimate period, the growth
rate may rise to 5%.

. Current cost structure is to remain unchanged.
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. Discount rate is determined separately for the North American and European businesses and
it has varied on the range of 7.92%-11.88% pre-tax (7.84%-9.71%); equal to 6.29%-7.79%
post-tax (6.15%-6.18%). The main components of the discount rate were:

2017 2016
Risk Free Interest Rate Debt 0.34%-2.31% 0.42%
Risk Free Interest Rate Equity 1.18%-2.77% 1.24%
Equity Market Risk Premium 5.69% 4.25%
Asset Beta (Unlevered Beta) 0.89 0.92
Debt Risk Premium 1.56% 1.55%
Tax Rate 27%-36% 27%-36%

The main change to discount rate arose from a rise in the equity market risk premium and higher
risk free interest rate in the North American businesses.

Goodwill and other intangible rights with indefinite useful lives have been allocated to CGUs as
described in the table below. The table also sets out the discount rates used per CGU:

Intangible rights

Pre-tax with indefinite
discount rate, % Goodwill useful lives

EUR million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Outdoor

Winter Sports

Equipment 8.1 7.9 11.7 11.7 86.1 88.3

Salomon Apparel and Footwear 8.0 7.8 - - 65.0 66.6

Arc’teryx Apparel and Gear 10.2 7.9 - - 8.0 8.4

Cycling 8.1 7.9 17.7 19.6 233 233

Sports Instruments 8.1 7.8 29.1 30.3 - -
Ball Sports

Individual Ball Sports 11.2 8.6 72.4 80.3 - -

Team Sports 11.2 8.7 54.2 60.1 36.9 42.0
Fitness

Fitness 11.4 8.7 159.2 171.4 2.4 2.8
Total 9.1 8.4 344.3 373.4 221.7 231.4

9 2016 Cycling value updated due to reclassification of ENVE intangible rights.

In 2017 and 2016, the value-in-use of goodwill and other intangible rights with indefinite useful
lives of all CGUs exceeded their carrying amounts. The table below summarizes how a +/-
1-2%-point change in discount rate and/or in perpetuity growth would impact on the result of the
impairment test in 2017:

-2% -1% Growth 1% 2%
-2% 0 0 0 0 0
-1% 0 0 0 0 0
Rate 0 0 0 0 0
1% 0 0 0 0 0
2% 60 51 40 31 19
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Based on the changes in the key variables used in the sensitivity analysis, the management
estimates that it is unlikely that there is sensitivity on impairment.

The table below summarizes how a +/- 1-2%-point change in growth rate and/or in profitability in
the 5 year estimate period would impact on the result of the impairment test in 2017:

-2% -1% Growth 1% 2%
2% 0 0 0 0 0
1% 0 0 0 0 0
EBIT-% 0 0 0 0 0
-1% 0 0 0 0 0
-2% 0 0 0 0 0

Based on the changes in the key variables used in the sensitivity analysis, the management
estimates that it is unlikely that there is significant sensitivity on impairment.

The results of the value-in-use calculations have been analyzed against the valuation reports
prepared by industry analysts in various investment banks. The analysis shows that the results are

in-line with the analysts’ average estimates.

8. COMPENSATION OF AUDITORS

EUR million 2017 2016
Statutory audit 2.1 1.9
Tax consulting 0.1 0.1
Other services 0.1 0.0
Total 2.3 2.0

9. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

In 2017, the Group had several share-based incentive arrangements which are targeted to Group
key personnel. These have been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2. According to the terms
of the arrangements, the Group key employees are granted shares and a cash payment covering
taxes and tax-related costs arising from the reward.

Amer Sports Corporation Annual General Meeting held on March 12, 2015 elected Authorised
Public Accountants Ernst & Young Oy to act as auditor of the Company. The financial year 2014
was audited by Authorised Public Accountants PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy.

Performance share plans 2013 and 2016

The performance share plan 2013 includes six earning periods: the calendar years 2013, 2014 and
2015 and calendar years 2013-2015, 2014-2016 and 2015-2017. The Board of Directors decided
on the earnings criteria and the targets to be established for them for each earning period at the
beginning of each earning period. Rewards from the plan for the earning period 2013 were based
on the Group’s EBIT and net sales and the rewards for the earning period 2013-2015 were based
on the Group’s total sharcholder return. Rewards from the plan for the earning period 2014 were
based on Group’s EBIT and net sales and the rewards for the earning period 2014-2016 were based
on the Group’s total shareholder return. The rewards from the plan for the earning period 2015
were based on Group’s EBIT and net sales. Potential rewards for the earning period 2015-2017
will be based on the Group’s total shareholder return. For the six earning periods, Group’s EBIT
constituted 80% of and total shareholder return 20% of the earnings criteria.
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The performance share plan 2016 includes five earning periods: the calendar years 2016 and 2017
and calendar years 2016-2018, 2017-2019 and 2018-2020. The Board of Directors decided on the
earnings criteria and the targets to be established for them for each earning period at the beginning
of each earning period. The reward from the plan for the earning period 2016 was based on the
Group’s EBIT and net sales, and so will the potential reward for the earning period 2017. The
potential rewards for the earning periods 2016-2018 and 2017-2019 will be based on the Group’s
total shareholder return. The potential reward for the earning period 2018-2020 will be based on
the Group’s net sales growth and EBIT margin. For the ongoing earning periods, the weighting for
the Group’s EBIT and net sales totals 80% and total shareholder return 20%.

A prerequisite for participation by key personnel in the plans and for receiving rewards on the
basis of the plans is that they must acquire company shares. In 2017, as a reward for meeting this
condition, 58,000 shares were transferred to new key personnel participating in the performance
share plan (2016: 7,276).

Potential rewards from the earning periods will be paid partly in company’s shares and partly in
cash. Cash payments will equal to taxes and tax-related costs which arise from the reward to key
personnel. The amount of net rewards to be paid on the basis of the performance share plan 2013
will be a maximum total of 1,400,000 Amer Sports Corporation shares. The amount of net rewards
to be paid on the basis of the performance share plan 2016 will be a maximum total of 1,383,333
Amer Sports Corporation shares. In 2016, 111,264 shares were transferred to key personnel in
relation to the earning period 2015, and 53,490 shares in relation to the earning period 2013-2015.
In 2017, 64,430 shares were transferred to key personnel in relation to the earning period 2014-
2016 but no shares in relation to the earning period 2016. Shares awarded in connection with the
earning periods 2015 and 2016 may not be transferred during the restriction periods ending on
December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2018 respectively.

In 2017, 24,436 shares granted as share-based incentives based on the performance share plan
were returned to Amer Sports Corporation in accordance with the terms of the incentive plan as
employment ended (2016: 21,769).

At the end of 2017, 287 people were covered by the performance share plan 2016 for earning
period 2017, 183 people for 2015-2017, 244 for 2016-2018 and 287 people for 2017-2019.

Members of the Group Executive Board must hold 50% of the shares they receive on the basis of
incentive plans as long as the value of the shares held by the member of the Executive Board in
total corresponds to the person’s annual gross salary.

Performance share plan has been measured at fair value at grant date. The cash payment intended
to cover the tax consequences has been calculated using the share market price on the date of
conveying the shares. The cash payment accrued relating to shares not yet conveyed has been
revalued at the share market price prevailing on the closing date.

Restricted stock plans 2013 and 2016
In restricted stock plans, potential rewards will be based on continuation of employment. Potential
rewards from the earning periods will be paid partly as the company’s shares and partly in cash.

Cash payments will equal to taxes and tax related costs incurring by a result of receiving a reward.

The restricted stock plan 2013 included three earning periods: calendar years 2013, 2014 and
2015. In 2016 and in relation to earning period 2015, 80,000 shares were transferred.
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The restricted stock plan 2016 includes three earning periods as well: calendar years 2016,
2017 and 2018. Shares may not be transferred during the restriction periods, which will end on
December 31, 2018, December 31, 2019, and December 31, 2020 respectively. The amount of
net rewards to be paid on the basis of the restricted stock plan 2016 will be a maximum total of
200,000 Amer Sports Corporation shares. In 2017 and in relation to earning period 2016, 52,800
shares were transferred. At the end of 2017, 80 people were covered by the restricted stock plan
2016 for earning period 2017.

In 2017, 10,600 shares granted as share-based incentives in the restricted stock plan were returned
to Amer Sports Corporation in accordance with the terms of the incentive plan as employment
ended (2016: 19,733).

The members of the Group Executive Board must hold 50% of the shares they receive on the basis
of incentive plans as long as the value of the shares held by the member of the Executive Board in
total corresponds to the person’s annual gross salary.

Restricted stock plan has been measured at fair value at grant date. The cash payment intended
to cover the tax consequences has been calculated using the share market price on the date of
conveying the shares. The cash payment accrued relating to shares not yet conveyed has been
revalued at the share market price prevailing on the closing date.

The key conditions and assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of the
arrangements are presented in the table below:

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Grant date Feb 9,2017 Feb 3,2016 Feb2,2015 Jan 28,2014 Jan 31, 2013
Number of instruments

granted 394,478 426,645 528,247 530,715 475,532
Fair value at grant date,

EUR 22.86 25.03 18.13 14.62 11.64
Vesting period, years 3 3 3 3 3
Adjustment made to the

number of instruments

granted in previous

years -342,294 -273,643 -257,419 -112,116 -224,866
Returned shares -35,036 -41,502 -49,840 -28,197 -29,198
EUR million 2017 2016

Expense of share-based incentive schemes recognized

in earnings 5.0 9.2
Accrual of cash component of share-based incentive schemes 2.1 3.7
Expense of deferred cash long-term incentive plans

recognized in earnings - -0.6
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10. FINANCING INCOME AND EXPENSES

EUR million 2017 2016
Interest income 1.9 1.1
Interest expenses
Interest expenses on interest bearing debt -15.6 -15.4
Interest expenses related to derivative instruments -12.2 -9.1
Interest expenses related to pension liabilities -1.9 -2.5
Other interest expenses -3.8 -3.0
Total interest expenses -33.5 -30.0
Change in fair value of derivative instruments not used in
hedge accounting 4.2 -1.4
Exchange rate gains or losses 2.0 -1.1
Other financing expenses -0.9 -0.4
Total, net -26.3 -31.8
11. INCOME TAXES
EUR million 2017 2016
Current taxes 43.6 39.2
Deferred taxes 5.1 6.9
Total 48.7 46.1
Thereof for prior periods 5.7 7.7
EUR million 2017 2016
Current taxes:
EMEA 26.1 20.5
Americas 1.5 6.9
Asia Pacific 16.0 11.8
Total 43.6 39.2
Deferred taxes 5.1 6.9
Total 48.7 46.1

Reconciliation between income taxes at local tax rates in different countries
expense in the income statement:

EUR million 2017

Taxes at local rates applicable to earnings in countries

concerned 34.9
Permanent differences -0.2
Realisability of deferred tax assets -0.1
Changes in tax rates and tax laws ™ 10.2
Taxes for prior periods 5.7
Tax credits -3.0
Other 1.2
Taxes recognized in the income statement 48.7
Effective tax rate, % 34.3

and the total tax

2016"

44.7
-2.5
0.5
1.0
7.7
-8.0
2.7
46.1

26.6
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» The comparison figures have been reclassified to comply with the classification of 2017

figures.

)

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Net result attributable to equity holders of the parent
company, EUR million

Net result for the calculation of earnings per share,
EUR million

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during
the period (1,000 pcs)
Earnings per share, EUR

Weighted average number of shares outstanding
during the period, diluted (1,000 pcs)

Earnings per share, diluted, EUR

The 2017 figure relates mainly to the US federal tax rate reduction from 35% to 21%.

13. INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Other
Intangible intangible
EUR million rights Goodwill assets
Initial cost, January 1, 2017 3143 478.5 1383
Additions 35 - 14.9
Company acquisitions 22 - -
Company divestments and disposals - - -
Transfers, scrapping and impairment -5.5 23 -12.5
Translation differences -15.3 -40.4 47
Balance, December 31, 2017 299.2 4404 136.0
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, January 1, 2017 488 105.1 1.5
Depreciation during the period 8.5 - 13.5
Company divestments and disposals - - -
Transfers, scrapping and impairment -43 - -33
Translation differences -1.6 9.0 -2.8
Balance, December 31, 2017 514 96.1 78.9
Balance sheet value,
December 31,2017 2478 3443 571

Carrying amount of finance
leases included - -

Accumulated impairment losses of goodwill at January 1, 2017 totaled EUR 19.0 million.
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2017 2016

93.3 126.9

93.3 126.9

116,708 117,521

0.80 1.08

117,181 118,052

0.80 1.07

Advances paid

Buildings ~ Machinery and

Land and and and  construction
water constructions  equipment  in progress
15.0 160.6 4245 20.6
0.3 8.2 214 353
-0.6 -0.2 0.7 -
- 16.2 -0.2 -30.3
-0.6 -84 -16.5 -1.8
14.1 176.4 425 38
0.0 98.0 296.7 0.0
- 12.1 353 -

- -0.2 0.7 -

- -14 -12.8 -

- -6.0 -12.2 -
0.0 102.5 306.3 0.0
14.1 739 116.2 238
- - 17.7 -



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

Additions in other intangible assets and advances paid and construction in progress include EUR
15.6 million of capitalized product development expenses including investments in the new
platforms for connected devices and digital services.

Advances paid

Other Buildings ~ Machinery and
Intangible intangible Land and and and  construction
EUR million rights Goodwill assets water constructions  equipment  in progress
Initial cost, January 1, 2016 288.0 449.0 1027 148 148.2 4180 10.3
Additions 1.5 - 17.6 - 112 255 359
Company acquisitions 26.0 18.5 - - - 24 -
Company divestments and disposals - - - - -0.6 -2.1 -
Transfers and scrapping -0.0 - 17.6 - 0.7 -23.8 -20.2
Translation differences 48 11.0 0.4 0.2 1.1 42 0.6
Balance, December 31, 2016 3143 478.5 1383 15.0 160.6 4242 20.6
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, January 1, 2016 415 102.8 01.1 0.0 9.3 294.6 0.0
Depreciation during the period 40 - 10.3 - 11.2 345 -
Company acquisitions - - - - - 12 -
Company divestments and disposals - - - - -03 -2.0 -
Transfers and scrapping 33 - 0.5 - -4 -354 -
Translation differences 0.6 23 0.6 - 1.0 3.8 -
Balance, December 31, 2016 488 105.1 1.5 0.0 98.0 296.7 0.0
Balance sheet value, December 31, 2016 265.5 3734 66.8 15.0 62.6 127.5 20.6
Carrying amount of finance leases included - - - - - 18.9 -

Accumulated impairment losses of goodwill at January 1, 2016 totaled EUR 18.4 million.

Additions in other intangible assets include EUR 26.0 million of capitalized product development
expenses including investments in the new platforms for connected devices and digital services.

14. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Available-for-sale financial assets, EUR 0.4 million (0.4), consist in their entirety of shares
in unlisted companies and real estate shares. They are measured at fair value. Cash and cash
equivalents, EUR 358.4 million (364.0), include cash in hand EUR 319.6 million, short-term
deposits and money market funds EUR 34.1 million, and restricted cash EUR 4.7 million.
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15. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
EUR million Jan 1, 2017 Dec 31, 2017

Deferred tax assets:

Provisions 26.3 28.1
Carryforward of unused tax losses 20.4 15.9
Employee benefits 25.1 11.6
Impairment 4.3 2.3
Fair value adjustments -2.8 9.6
Tax credits 7.5 14.2
Other temporary differences 29.8 24.3
Total 110.6 106.0

Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation differences -36.8 -26.0
Other temporary differences 0.0 -5.3
Total -36.8 -31.3
Net deferred tax assets 73.8 74.7
Charge

Jan 1, in income Translation Charged Dec 31,

EUR million 2017 statement  differences to OCI 2017
Carryforward of unused tax losses 20.4 -3.3 -1.2 - 15.9
Other temporary differences 53.4 -1.8 -5.9 13.1 58.8
Total 73.8 5.1 -7.1 13.1 74.7

Deferred taxes recognized in the
balance sheet at December 31,

2017:
Deferred tax assets 106.0
Deferred tax liabilities 31.3
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At December 31, 2017 there were unused tax losses carried forward of EUR 19.7 million (34.6)
and other temporary differences of EUR 5.1 million (1.5) for which no deferred tax assets
were recognized. The unrecognized deferred tax assets at December 31, 2017 totaled EUR 11.3
million (11.4). No deferred tax asset has been recognized since the utilization of losses and other
temporary differences in full in the near future is not probable or the losses have been created in
countries where the possibilities for their utilization are limited. For the assessment of probability,
in addition to past performance and the respective prospects for the foreseeable future, appropriate
tax structuring measures are also taken into consideration.

Amer Sports does not recognize deferred tax liabilities for unremitted earnings of non-Finnish
subsidiaries to the extent that they are expected to be permanently invested in international
operations. These earnings, the amount of which cannot be practicably computed, could become
subject to additional tax if they were remitted as dividends or if the company were to sell the
shareholdings in the subsidiaries.

16. VALUATION PROVISIONS OF INVENTORIES AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

EUR million 2017 2016
Impairment losses of accounts receivable 8.3 11.2
Net realizable value valuation provision 23.8 25.1

Aging analysis of accounts receivable and amounts recognized as impairment losses

Impairment Net Impairment Net
EUR million 2017 losses 2017 2016 losses 2016
Undue accounts receivable 501.1 - 501.1 506.7 - 506.7
Accounts receivable 1-30 days overdue 50.0 - 50.0 58.6 - 58.6
Accounts receivable 31-60 days overdue 19.2 - 19.2 254 - 254
Accounts receivable 61-90 days overdue 15.0 - 15.0 8.0 - 8.0
Accounts receivable 91-120 days overdue 7.4 - 7.4 6.1 - 6.1
Accounts receivable more than 120 days
overdue 11.1 -8.3 2.8 13.7 -11.2 2.5
Total 603.8 -8.3 595.5 618.5 -11.2 607.3
Gross and net inventories
EUR million 2017 2016
Gross inventories 501.7 538.7
Net realizable value valuation provision -23.8 -25.1
Net inventories 477.9 513.6
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17. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

EUR million 2017 2016
Prepaid interest 17.2 14.4
Prepaid advertising and promotion 4.9 5.6
Other tax receivables 30.2 17.3
Accrued employee benefits 18.8 14.3
Derivative instruments 37.2 51.4
Other receivables 56.8 58.3
Total 165.1 161.3

18. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Invested

unrestricted

Number Share Premium equity

EUR million of shares capital fund reserve
January 1, 2016 118,517,285 292.2 12.1 163.1
December 31, 2016 118,517,285 292.2 12.1 163.1
Capital repayment - - — -72.7
December 31, 2017 118,517,285 292.2 12.1 90.4

The articles of association of Amer Sports Corporation does not restrict the number of shares that
can be issued.

Premium fund

The premium fund is used for recognizing the payments for share subscriptions received in excess
of the par value (EUR 4.00 per share) before the 2009 share issue.

Fund for own shares

Fund for own shares includes the cost of own shares held by Amer Sports Corporation (Dec 31,
2017: EUR 66.8 million or 3,294,524 shares; Dec 31, 2016: EUR 15.5 million or 971,718 shares).

Translation differences

Translation differences comprise the differences arising from the elimination of net investments in
non-euro entities.

Fair value and other reserves

Fair value and other reserves include changes in the fair values of available-for-sale financial
assets and derivative financial instruments used for hedging interest and foreign currency cash
flows.

Invested unrestricted equity reserve

Invested unrestricted equity reserve contains the subscription proceeds from a share issue to the

extent that it is not, in accordance with an explicit decision of the shareholders, booked to the
share capital.
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Amount of capital repayment proposed
A capital repayment proposed by the Board of Directors for the financial year is EUR 0.70 (0.62)
per share. Total capital repayment amounts to EUR 83.0 million (72.7) and is proposed to be

distributed from the invested unrestricted equity reserve.

19. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Outstanding Repayments
2023 and
EUR million Dec 31,2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 after  Fair value
Bonds 670.5 153.7 - 200.1 87.9 1333 95.5 662.3
Loans from financial institutions 1311 304 50.5 0.2 - 50.0 - 131.1
Other interest-bearing liabilities 175 22 22 23 24 25 5.9 175
Total 819.1 186.3 527 202.6 9.3 185.8 101.4 810.9
Outstanding Repayments
2022 and
EUR million Dec 31,2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 021 after  Fair value
Bonds 697.5 - 164.7 - 218 91.0 230.0 091.1
Loans from financial institutions 1312 0.2 304 504 0.1 50.1 - 1312
Commercial papers 499 49.9 - - - - - 499
Other interest-bearing liabilities 213 3.6 22 25 24 23 8.3 213
Total 899.9 §3.7 197.3 529 2143 143.4 2383 893.5

Fair values have been calculated by discounting future cash flows at market-determined interest
rates at the end of the financial period.

FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES
EUR million 2017 2016

Finance lease liabilities are due as follows:

Not later than one year 4.2 2.9
Later than one year but not later than five years 14.4 9.6
Later than five years 3.2 6.4
Total minimum lease payments 21.8 18.9

Present value of minimum lease payments is not materially different from their carrying amount.
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20. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

EUR million 2017 2016
Accrued personnel costs 95.4 99.3
Accrued discounts and rebates 28.0 23.3
Accrued interest 21.5 18.0
Accrued advertising and promotion 14.5 13.4
Value added tax 35.8 29.0
Payables related to derivatives 70.4 35.5
Other accrued liabilities 87.2 128.8
Total 352.8 347.3

21. PROVISIONS

Product Restruc- Environ-
EUR million warranty turing mental Other Total
Balance at January 1, 2017 28.2 3.8 0.5 7.2 39.7
Translation differences -1.9 -0.1 -0.1 -0.4 -2.5
Provisions made during the year 16.0 8.8 - 4.3 29.1
Provisions used during the year -9.4 -7.0 -0.1 -2.2 -18.7
Provisions reversed during the year -1.0 - - -0.6 -1.6
Balance at December 31, 2017 31.9 5.5 0.3 8.3 46.0
Current provisions 38.6
Long-term provisions 7.4
Total 46.0

The most important regular provisions are due to the repair or replacement of products during
their warranty period. In material terms warranty provisions are realized in the following year. In
Fitness business some extended warranty periods are granted to customers. Extended warranties
expected to realise after one year are presented under long-term provisions and they were EUR 2.0
million at the 2017 period end.

The Group has long-term environmental provisions in USA.

Other provisions include e.g. buyback provisions of Fitness business and asset retirement
obligations of some leased premises.
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22. ADJUSTMENTS TO CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

EUR million 2017 2016
Impairment losses 16.7 -
Share-based incentive schemes 2.3 3.2
Gains and losses on sale of non-current assets 0.2 -0.1
Other non-cash valuation gains and losses -4.1 0.1
Total 15.1 3.2

Change in liabilities arising from financing activities (excluding changes in derivatives) included
cash flows of EUR -51.7 million, effects of changes in foreign exchange rates EUR -27.0 million
and other changes EUR -2.1 million.

23. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

EUR million 2017 2016

The future minimum payments of non-cancellable
operating leases:

Not later than one year 53.0 55.4
Later than one year but not later than five years 125.7 134.7
Later than five years 53.2 49.3
Total 231.9 239.4

Total rent expense of non-cancellable operating leases
recognized in the income statement 60.4 48.7

Non-cancellable rental agreements are primarily related to the office, shop and production
premises rented by the Group.

24. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

EUR million 2017 2016
Guarantees 35.8 30.2
Other contingent liabilities 72.5 74.2

Other contingent liabilities are primarily due to long-term endorsement contracts with several
professional and other leagues, particularly in the United States, and athlete contracts.

There are no guarantees or contingencies given for the management of the Group, for the
shareholders, or for the associated companies.

Ongoing litigations
The Group has extensive international operations and is involved in a number of legal proceedings,
including product liability suits. The Group does not expect the outcome of any legal proceedings

currently pending to have materially adverse effect upon its consolidated results or financial
position.

~1-69 —



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

25. PRINCIPAL GROUP COMPANIES AT DECEMBER 31, 2017

Group
holding, %

Amer Sports Austria GmbH, Bergheim bei Salzburg, Austria 100
Amer Sports Canada Inc., British Columbia, Canada 100
Amer Sports Corporation, Helsinki, Finland

Amer Sports Deutschland GmbH, Garching, Germany 100
Amer Sports Europe Services GmbH, Garching, Germany 100
Amer Sports European Center AG, Cham, Switzerland 100
Amer Sports France S.A.S., Villefontaine, France 100
Amer Sports Japan, Inc., Tokyo, Japan 100
Amer Sports Shanghai Trading Ltd, Shanghai, China 100
Amer Sports Sourcing Ltd, Hong Kong, China 100
Amer Sports UK Limited, Camberley, UK 100
Amer Sports Winter & Outdoor Company, Ogden, USA 100
Atomic Austria GmbH, Altenmarkt, Austria 100
Mavic S.A.S., Annecy, France 100
Precor Incorporated, Woodinville, USA 100
Salomon S.A.S., Annecy, France 100
Suunto Oy, Vantaa, Finland 100
Wilson Sporting Goods Co., Chicago, USA 100

Principal group companies in the above list are the most important companies of the Group from
the operational perspective. In addition to the parent company they include key brand companies,
biggest sales companies and major logistics and sourcing companies.

A complete list of Amer Sports’ subsidiaries is included in statutory accounts of Amer Sports
Corporation. Group had no associated companies at December 31, 2017.

26. FAIR VALUE AND OTHER RESERVES

EUR million

Balance at January 1, 2017 27.8
Gains and losses deferred to sharcholders’ equity

Hedging of operating cash flows -23.6

Hedging of interest cash flows 5.4
Gains and losses recognized in the income statement

Hedging of operating cash flows -46.7

Hedging of interest cash flows -3.5
Total of changes during the year -68.4
Deferred taxes 13.6
Balance at December 31, 2017 -27.0
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EUR million

Balance at January 1, 2016 43.8
Gains and losses deferred to shareholders’ equity

Hedging of operating cash flows 22.5

Hedging of interest cash flows 8.1
Gains and losses recognized in the income statement

Hedging of operating cash flows -44.8

Hedging of interest cash flows -5.8
Total of changes during the year -20.0
Deferred taxes 4.0
Balance at December 31, 2016 27.8

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties include the parent company, subsidiaries (note 25), the Board of Directors and the
Executive Board.

Key management includes the Board of Directors and the Executive Board. Salaries and
remuneration paid to key management is shown below:

EUR million 2017 2016
Salaries and remuneration of the Board of Directors 0.5 0.5
Salaries and remuneration of the Executive

Board (excluding President and CEO) 5.9 9.7
Annual Salary of the President and CEO 0.7 0.7
Annual and long-term incentives of the President and CEO 0.5 0.6
Total 7.6 11.5
Cumulative expenses, President and CEO 0.4 0.4
Total 8.0 11.9

Compensation recognized in earnings:

EUR million 2017 2016
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 6.7 7.5
Post-employment benefits 0.3 0.3
Share-based payments 1.9 2.2
Total 8.9 10.0

40% of the annual remuneration to the Board of Directors is paid in shares and 60% in cash.

Members of the Board of Directors do not have contractual retirement benefits with the company.
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The terms and conditions of the President and CEO’s employment are defined in a written
executive agreement that has been approved by the Board of Directors. Both the company and
the President and CEO must provide six months’ notice to terminate the President and CEO’s
employment contract. Should the company give the President and CEO notice of termination, the
company must pay severance payment equal to twelve months of total annual gross salary. The
President and CEO participates in the standard local statutory pension system and may retire at the
age of 65. In 2017, the expense for post-employment benefits was EUR 0.1 million (0.1).

In 2017 EUR 0.3 million (0.5) of the salaries and remuneration paid to the President and CEO was
paid in shares.

No loans have been granted to the Group’s management.
Shares held by management
Amer Sports Board of Directors held a total of 2,807,352 Amer Sports Corporation shares as of

December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016: 2,794,899), or 2.4% (2.4) of the outstanding shares and
votes.

Amer Sports Executive Board (including the President and CEO) owned a total of 571,569 Amer
Sports Corporation shares on December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016: 614,074), representing
0.5% (0.5) of the shares and votes.

Incentive plans are described in note 9. The members of the company’s Board of Directors are not
included in the Group’s incentive plans.

28. BALANCE SHEET VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY
MEASUREMENT CATEGORIES

Derivative
Financial assets/ financial Financial Carrying
liabilities at fair instruments Loans and  Available-for- liabilities amount by
value through — used in hedge other  salefinancial ~ measuredat  balance sheet
017 profit and loss accounting receivables assets  amortized cost item Fair value
EUR million
NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
Other non-current financial assets 45 04 49 49
Derivative financial instruments ™
Foreign exchange derivatives 1.6 1.6 1.6
Interest rate derivatives and cross currency swaps 10.1 10.1 10.1
CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
Accounts receivable 595.5 595.5 595.5
Other non-interest yielding receivables ” 917 911 917
Derivative financial instruments ™
Foreign exchange derivatives 110 144 154 254
Interest rate derivatives and cross currency swaps 12 11 12
Cash and cash equivalents 3584 3584 3584
Balance sheet values by category at Dec 31, 2017 N3 16.0 1,056.1 04 1,095.8 1,095.8
LONG-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 0328 6328 6249
Other long-term liabilities 86 86 8.6
Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange derivatives 38 38 38
Interest rate derivatives and cross currency swaps 9.6 1.6 11 11.2
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017
EUR million

CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Current interest-bearing liabilities
Accounts payable
Other current liabilities ™)
Derivative financial ingtruments
Foreign exchange derivatives
Interest rate derivatives and cross currency swaps

Balance sheet values by category at Dec 31, 2017

Financial assets/
liabilities at fair
value through
profit and loss

Derivative
financial
instruments
used in hedge
accounting

13 43
135 07

154 504

Loans and
other
receivables

Available-for-
sale financial
assets

Financial
liabilities
measured at
amortized cost

186.3
3150
1446

14073

Carrying
amount by
balance sheet
item

186.3
3150
1446

46.6
142

14831

Fair value

186.0
3150
2446

40.6
142

14749

The balance sheet values of the derivatives have been recorded as they are disclosed in the

Group’s balance sheet and Fair value reserve, and therefore cannot be reconciled with their

.
actual fair values.

2016

EUR million

NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
Other non-current financial assets
Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange derivatives
Interest rate derivatives and cross currency swaps

CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

Accounts receivable

Other non-interest yielding receivables ”

Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange derivatives

Cash and cash equivalents

Balance sheet values by category at Dec 31, 2016

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Long-term interest-bearing liabilties

Other long-term liabilities

Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange derivatives

#5)

Financial assets/
liabilities at fair
value through
profit and loss

Derivative
financial
instruments
used in hedge
accounting

45
8.6 01

128 4.2
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Loans and
other
receivables

46

607.3
92.5

3640

1,068.4

Available-for-
sale financial
assets

0.4

0.4

Financial
liabilities
measured at
amortized cost

§46.2
16.5

Carrying
amount by
balance sheet
item

30
45
8.7
607.3

92.5

38
3640

11248
§46.2
16.5

04

Fair value

45
8.7

607.3

925

48
364.0

1,148

§39.8

16.5

0.4
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Derivative
Financial assets/ financial Financial Carrying
liabilities at fair instruments Loansand  Available-for- liabilities amount by
value through —— used in hedge other  salefinancial ~ measured at  balance sheet
2016 profit and loss accounting receivables assets  amortized cost item Fair value
EUR million
Interest rate derivatives and cross currency swaps 214 35 U9 19
CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Current interest-bearing liabilities 537 537 537
Accounts payable 1563 2563 2563
Other current labilities ™) m7 m7 m1
Derivative financial instruments ™
Foreign exchange derivatives 104 45 149 149
Interest rate derivatives and cross currency swaps 10 10 10
Balance sheet values by category at Dec 31, 2016 318 94 14524 1,493.6 14872

)

The balance sheet values of the derivatives have been recorded as they are disclosed in the
Group’s balance sheet and Fair value reserve, and therefore cannot be reconciled with their
actual fair values.

"9 Reclassification of liability in Fitness segment.

EUR million 2017 2016

“ Other non-interest yielding receivables

Prepaid expenses and other receivables 165.1 161.3
./. Other tax receivables 30.2 17.4
./. Derivative financial instruments 37.2 51.4

97.7 92.5

" Other current liabilities

Accrued liabilities 352.8 347.3
./. Other tax liabilities 37.8 32.1
./. Derivative financial instruments 70.4 35.5

244.6 279.7

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair
value at December 31, 2017:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 23.3 23.3
Derivatives used for hedging 16.0 16.0
Available-for-sale financial assets 0.4 0.4
Total 39.3 0.4 39.7
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 25.4 25.4
Derivatives used for hedging 50.4 50.4
Total 75.8 75.8
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Level 1 instruments are traded in active markets with quoted prices. Level 2 instruments are,
for example, over-the-counter derivatives and the fair value is determined by using valuation
techniques from observable market data. Level 3 instruments are valued by using valuation
techniques without any observable market data.

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair
value at December 31, 2016:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 12.8 12.8
Derivatives used for hedging 43.2 43.2
Available-for-sale financial assets 0.4 0.4
Total 56.0 0.4 56.4
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 31.8 31.8
Derivatives used for hedging 9.4 9.4
Total 41.2 41.2

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Amer Sports is exposed to customary financial risks relating to its global businesses such as
funding and liquidity risks, foreign exchange and interest rate risks, counterparty and credit risks.
Financial risk management is centralized within Amer Sports Treasury, which is acting as an in-
house bank providing financial services for subsidiaries within the Group. Risk management
is governed by the Treasury Policy approved by the Board of Directors. The Policy includes
principles and risk limits relating to debt structure, counterparties, bank relations and interest rate
and foreign exchange risk management. Written guidelines have been set to manage operational
risks. Amer Sports Treasury follows and monitors risks constantly and does not allow any material
deviations from the Treasury Policy. The Board of Directors reviews the financial risks annually.

Funding risk

Amer Sports aims to use different sources of funding. The focus has been in debt transactions
taken directly from domestic and/or international debt capital markets. During year 2016 and 2017
Amer Sports finalized the following financial transactions:

In November 2017, Amer Sports signed a five-year EUR 200 million amendment and restatement
agreement to the Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) of EUR 150 million from 2014. The facility of
EUR 200 million replacing the previous RCF is meant for general corporate purposes. The facility
has an extension option of 1+1 years.

In March 2016, Amer Sports issued Schuldschein (certificate of indebtedness) loan agreements
with a total value of EUR 100 million. The loans have both fixed and floating rate tranches and
the loan periods are five (5) and seven (7) years. In April 2016, Amer Sports issued a term loan
with a value of EUR 50 million. The floating rate loan has a maturity of five (5) years, but it has
an extension option. In September 2016, Amer Sports issued Schuldschein agreements with a total
value of EUR 60 million. The loan period is seven (7) years and the loans have a fixed interest
rate. The proceeds of the Schuldschein loans and the term loan have been used for repayment of
debt and general corporate purposes.
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Liquidity risk

Amer Sports has a cyclical need for working capital that also defines the level of liquidity for the
Group. Typically, the highest level of working capital has been reached in the third quarter when
the short-term debt is tied up in inventories and accounts receivable.

Amer Sports Treasury has established several cash pooling structures with Group’s relationship
banks in order to control the liquidity of the Group. Treasury Policy sets guidelines for the
management of the liquidity that is outside cash pooling structures.

Short term shortages of liquidity are covered by issuance of corporate papers through Finnish
commercial paper program with total size of EUR 500 million.

Amer Sports uses sale of receivables and vendor financing with purpose to balance liquidity
swings of the Group. In December 2017, EUR 62.5 (87.2) million receivables in total were sold
within two different receivable sale programs that are in place for certain approved US and Europe
based obligors. Other discounting programs are used within the group, but the volumes are less
significant. The value of payables transferred to Asian vendor finance program was EUR 73.4
(23.8) million at year end 2017.

Depending on the projections of short term and long term liquidity forecasts, excess liquidity is
placed on the money market within limits and instruments defined in the Treasury Policy.

Amer Sports’ EUR 200 million syndicated committed revolving credit facility is a back-up for
exceptional liquidity needs. At the end of 2017, Amer Sports had no drawings from the facility.

The below table is a breakdown of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and net-settled
derivatives in their contractual maturities.

MATURITY ANALYSIS FOR FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BASED ON THEIR
CONTRACTUAL MATURITY

Dec 31,2017
Nominal 2022 and

EUR million value  Available Total 2018 2019 2020 2021 after
Loans from financial institutions

Repayments 1311 1311 304 50.5 0.2 0.0 50.0

Interest 4.1 4.1 1.5 0.9 0.6 0.6 0.5
Bonds

Repayments 670.5 670.5 153.7 200.1 879 288

Interest 415 415 15.0 114 9.4 5.6 6.1
Other interest-bearing liabilities

Repayments 17.5 17.5 22 22 23 24 8.4

Interest 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1
Accounts payable

Repayments 315.0 3150 315.0
Other interest-free liabilities

Repayments 28.6 28.6 28.6
Total

Repayments 1,162.7 1,162.7 529.9 527 202.6 90.3 287.2
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Dec 31,2017
Nominal 2022 and
EUR million value  Available Total 2018 2019 2020 2021 after
Interest 517 517 16.5 123 10.0 6.2 6.7
Financial guarantee contracts 48 48 48
Committed revolving credit facility 200.0 200.0 200.0
Derivative liabilities
Foreign exchange derivatives under
hedge accounting 1,378.1 1,378.1 1,046.3 3318
Other foreign exchange derivatives 760.1 760.1 7123 418
Interest rate swaps under hedge
accounting, fair value 14 14 1.0 0.4
Cross currency swaps, fair value 9.2 9.2 9.2
Other interest rate derivatives,
fair value” 38 38 0.2 3.6
Derivative assets
Foreign exchange derivatives under
hedge accounting 1,358.2 1,358.2 1,023.7 3345
Other foreign exchange derivatives 764.7 764.7 717.2 415
Interest rate swaps under hedge
accounting, fair value 0.7 0.7 0.1 04 0.2
Cross currency swaps, fair value - -
Other interest rate derivatives,
fair value? 0.1 0.1 0.1
9 The fair value of the Other interest rate derivatives has partly been recorded in the Fair value

reserve in the shareholder’s equity, and therefore the disclosed fair value amounts cannot be

reconciled with the Group’s balance sheet values.

EUR million

Loans from financial institutions
Repayments
Interest

Bonds
Repayments
Interest

Commercial papers
Repayments
Interest

Other interest-bearing liabilities
Repayments
Interest

Dec 31, 2016
Nominal

value  Available Total
131.2 131.2
42 42
697.5 697.5
63.4 63.4
49.9 49.9
0.1 0.1
23 23
0.3 0.3
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2017

0.2

149

499
0.1

2021 and

2018 2019 2020 after
304 504 0.1 50.1
1.3 0.8 0.5 0.2
164.7 2118 3210
15.0 11.8 9.9 11.8
22 25 24 10.6
0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2
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Dec 31, 2016
Nominal 2021 and
EUR million value  Available Total 2017 2018 2019 2020 after
Accounts payable
Repayments 256.3 256.3 256.3
Other interest-free liabilities
Repayments 16.5 16.5 16.5
Total
Repayments 1,172.7 1,172.7 326.5 1973 529 2143 3817
Interest 68.0 68.0 16.5 16.3 12.6 10.4 122
Financial guarantee contracts 5.0 5.0 5.0
Committed revolving credit facility 150.0 150.0 150.0
Derivative liabilities
Foreign exchange derivatives under
hedge accounting 1,109 11019 935.7 166.2
Other foreign exchange derivatives 551.8 551.8 528.6 232
Interest rate swaps under hedge
accounting, fair value 33 33 23 1.0
Cross currency swaps, fair value 6.8 6.8 6.8
Other interest rate derivatives,
fair value 58 58 0.7 5.1
Derivative assets
Foreign exchange derivatives under
hedge accounting 1,145.5 1,145.5 972.9 1726
Other foreign exchange derivatives 549.6 549.6 526.1 35
Interest rate swaps under hedge
accounting, fair value 0.3 03 0.2 0.1
Cross currency swaps, fair value - -
Other interest rate derivatives,
fair value " - -
" The fair value of the Other interest rate derivatives has partly been recorded in the Fair value

reserve in the shareholder’s equity, and therefore the disclosed fair value amounts cannot be

reconciled with the Group’s balance sheet values.
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Currency risk

Transaction risk arises from foreign currency denominated receivables and liabilities, cash flow
estimates in foreign currencies and derivatives. Translation risk relates to the foreign currency
denominated earnings when they are translated into euro. Amer Sports has operations in most of
the major currency areas, and its sales are diversified in 20 currencies at least. On the business
unit level, transaction risk arises when the unit sells in its home currency but the cost base is in
foreign currencies or sells or buys goods in foreign currencies. Amer Sports’ risk management is
aiming to eliminate material uncertainties relating to foreign exchange rates.

At the end of the year, Amer Sports’ currency position, in accordance with IFRS 7, consisted of
inter-company and external interest-free and interest-bearing currency denominated receivables
and liabilities and foreign exchange derivatives. Foreign exchange derivatives include both
balance sheet and cash flow hedges.

The geography of Amer Sports businesses has led to the most significant currencies being US
dollar, Canadian dollar, British pound, Swiss franc and Japanese yen. The significance of US
dollar is emphasized by its dominant role in the global procurement and the growth in Apparel
and Footwear. In funding, Amer Sports has diversified its funding sources, which is reflected in
diverse currency denomination of the external debt.

Balance sheet risks have been managed by financing subsidiaries in their home currencies. The
risks have been concentrated on the centralized distribution and purchasing units that invoice the
subsidiaries in their respective home currencies. The parent company’s balance sheet risk arises
from internal and external liabilities in foreign currencies.

The following table sets out the IFRS 7-compliant foreign exchange position at the balance sheet

date:
Dec 31,2017 Dec 31, 2016

EUR million USD CAD  SEK GBP CHF JPY USD CAD SEK  GBP  CHF  JPY
Interest-bearing external

receivables - - 76.2 - - - - - 8.5 - - -
Interest-bearing inter-company

receivables 2834 63.4 - - -0.2 54 4558 67.0 - - 0.4 210
External receivables 160 -14.0 0.7 -6.4 11 0.0 358 -39 0.7 5.8 1.8 -
[nter-company receivables 610 -539 23 12.1 6.8 29 6.4 22 27 9.7 43 33
Interest-bearing external

liabilities -179.3 - 762 - - - 2040 - IS - - -
Interest-bearing inter-company

liabilities - - 15 11 - - - - 42 37 - -
External payables -123.4 34.6 0.0 0.2 -0.1 00797 0.8 0.0 0.2 0.4 0.0
Inter-company payables -S4 394 0.0 0.4 -03 0.6 <200 41 0.0 22 -03 -0.2

Foreign exchange derivatives 0219 210 449 -1125 811 676 5075 1558 -STL -1014 867 -66.7

Total 0282 -1415 494 -1141 738 609 7018 1156 579 988 809 426
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The table below presents the sensitivity of shareholders’ equity and the income statement at
the balance sheet date to the strengthening of the euro by 10%, provided other factors remain
unchanged. The weakening of the euro by 10% would cause a similar change in the opposite

direction:

Shareholders’ Income
EUR million equity statement
USD -71.2 8.4
CAD 13.1 1.1
SEK 4.5 0.4
GBP 11.1 0.3
CHF 6.0 1.4
JPY 3.2 2.9

The following table presents the corresponding sensitivities at the balance sheet date in 2016:

Shareholders’ Income
EUR million equity statement
USD -61.8 -8.4
CAD 5.2 6.4
SEK 5.0 0.8
GBP 10.1 -0.2
CHF 6.3 1.8
JPY 2.4 1.8

Earnings sensitivity before taxes is influenced by changes in the fair value of derivative
instruments not used in hedge accounting and on-balance sheet hedging derivative instruments
as well as changes in the value of on-balance sheet currency-denominated loans and receivables.
Shareholders’ equity is affected by changes in the fair value of derivative instruments used in
hedge accounting recognized under the hedge reserve.

The following table sets out Amer Sports’ cash flows that are under hedging policy for the next 24
months (EUR million):

usb CAD GBP CHF NOK JPY SEK CZK OTHER

1,062 -220 -149 -107 -91 -79 -78 -50 -142

The following table sets out the hedging of Amer Sports’ cash flows as at December 31, 2017
(EUR million):

USD CAD GBP CHF NOK JPY SEK CZK OTHER

-803 135 114 76 61 56 49 37 106
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The strengthening of the euro against the USD typically improves Amer Sports’ result of
operations. The strengthening of the euro against the other foreign currencies typically weakens
Amer Sports’ result of operations. A significant share of the US dollar denominated procurement
cost risk is eliminated against the US dollar denominated operating result. Due to the growth of
the business that is dependent on sourcing from Asia, the US dollar procurement exceeded the US
dollar denominated operating result significantly.

According to the hedging policy, the transaction risk arising from subsidiaries’ business operations
is hedged up to 12-24 months. In practice, the hedge ratios are higher for closer months than
for later months. The hedge ratio is maintained between 55% and 95% of 24 months cash flow,
except in currencies with high interest rate where the hedge horizon is 12-18 months. The hedged
cash flow is expected to be realized during the following 12-24 months. Amer Sports hedges only
annual cash flows or other exposures with a value of over EUR 3.0 million.

The company applies hedge accounting for annual cash flows with a counter value of over EUR
10 million per currency pair in the entity. It monitors hedge ratios daily and tests effectiveness
at three-month intervals. Foreign exchange differences of foreign exchange derivatives are
recognized as hedging reserve while interest rate differentials related to the foreign exchange
derivates are recorded through financial profit and loss.

According to its Treasury Policy, Amer Sports may hedge 0 to 50% of subsidiaries’ equity. At the
end of 2017, there were no outstanding equity hedges or net investment hedges.

Interest risk

Amer Sports is exposed to interest rate risk when it funds its operations with euro or currency
denominated debt. The risk arises from the repricing of floating rate debt and with the raising of
new floating rate debt. A fixed rate debt is subject to “fair value risk”. The purpose of interest
rate risk management is to bring predictability for interest expenses by keeping the duration
within the agreed limits with an optimal mix of fixed and floating rate debt. Treasury is constantly
hedging current outstanding interest rate position of the Group and from time to time may hedge
forthcoming position of the Group, up to 7 years. The interest rate derivatives that can be used in
the risk management are defined in the Treasury Policy.

The neutral target for duration of interest rate position is 12 months, but it is allowed to vary
between 6 and 18 months. As of December 31, 2017, the duration was 14 months. 80% of the debt
portfolio was at fixed rate as of December, 2017. The company has set EUR 3.0 million sensitivity
limits to 1% raise in the market rate for the following 12 months interest expenses and negative
mark-to-market valuation of non-hedge accounting transactions.

Cash and cash equivalents are excluded from the interest rate risk portfolio of the company due to
their short term nature.

The sensitivity of the income statement contains changes in interest expenses for the next 12
months due to an increase/decrease of 1% in market interest rates, provided that other factors

remain unchanged.

Shareholders’ equity is effected by a change in the market value of the hedge accounting interest
rate swaps. The change is booked to the hedge reserve.
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The below table illustrates the sensitivity of shareholders’ equity and income statement to an
increase of 1% in interest rates, provided that other factors remain unchanged. The sensitivity is
calculated to interest bearing liabilities.

EUR million Position 2017
Shareholders’ equity 226.7 4.3
Income statement 159.0 -1.2

Income statement due to ineffective
Other interest rate derivatives 185.0 4.4

In 2016, the sensitivity of the shareholders’ equity and income statement to an increase of 1%
interest rates, provided that other factors remain unchanged, was:

EUR million Position 2016
Shareholders’ equity 242.8 4.9
Income statement 214.0 -1.2

Income statement due to ineffective
Other interest rate derivatives 135.0 2.3

The effective interest rate of the total debt including interest rate hedges was 2.8%. The interest
rate was 2.1% on bonds and 1.1% on bank loans.

The average interest rate of the Group’s interest bearing debt including interest rate derivatives
and facility fees was 2.5% (Dec 31, 2016: 2.0). After foreign exchange derivatives that hedge the
inter-company debt, the average interest rate was 3.2% (Dec 31, 2016: 2.5).

Amer Sports applies hedge accounting to interest rate derivatives whenever it is applicable.
Non-hedge accounting derivatives are measured at fair value and the result is recognized in the
financing items.

Credit risk

The company is exposed to customary credit risk through its accounts receivable. The Group has a
global customer base, and there are no significant risk concentrations. The largest single customer
accounts for 5% of total accounts receivable and the largest 20 combined total about 26%. At the
end of year 2017 the actual payment time for the outstanding sales was 73 days.

Amer Sports uses a global credit insurance program to support sales activities. Major part of
European and Asian customers risks are covered by the credit insurance.

The company assumes limited repurchase obligations through its fitness related financial leasing
agreements.

Excess liquidity is placed either in bank deposits within banks that Amer Sports has outstanding
debt or committed facilities, or on money market instruments of funds that are selected according
to Treasury Policy’s criteria and limits.

The credit risk arising from derivatives is negligible. The risk is minimized by limiting the number

of counterparties, their shares of the total portfolio and by monitoring the credit standings and
their outstanding liability to Amer Sports.
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The following table sets out the balance sheet values or fair values of financial assets which

represent the maximum amount of the credit risk at balance sheet dates:

Balance sheet

value or fair

value Dec 31,

Balance sheet
value or fair
value Dec 31,

EUR million 2017 2016
Long-term financial assets
Other long-term financial assets 4.9 5.0
Derivative contracts
Foreign exchange derivatives 1.6 4.5
Interest rate and cross currency swap derivatives 10.1 8.7
Short-term financial assets
Accounts receivable 595.5 607.3
Other interest-free receivables 97.7 92.5
Derivative contracts
Foreign exchange derivatives 25.4 42.8
Interest rate and cross currency swap derivatives 2.2 0.0
Cash and cash equivalents 358.4 364.0
(+ = Assets, - = Debt)
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Dec 31,2017 Dec 31,2016
Nominal Fair 2020 and Nominal Fair
EUR million value value 2018 2019 after value value
Hedge accounting-related
Foreign exchange derivatives hedging cash flows
from operations 1,358.2 -26.8 1,023.7 3345 1,145.5 403
Interest rate swaps hedging interest cash flow 26.7 0.7 126.7 100.0 2428 -3.0
Interest cash flow of cross currency swaps 76.2 0.0 76.2 8.5 0.0
Other derivative contracts
Foreign exchange derivatives 764.7 6.6 717.2 415 549.6 -0.9
Interest rate swaps * 185.0 -3 100.0 85.0 135.0 -5.8
Foreign exchange difference of cross currency swaps 0.0 9.2 0.0 -6.8
" The fair value of the Other interest rate derivatives has partly been recorded in the Fair value

reserve in the shareholder’s equity, and therefore the disclosed fair value amounts cannot be

reconciled with the Group’s balance sheet values.
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Capital management

The Group’s capital management aims at the optimal capital structure that ensures the normal
short-term and long-term operational requirements of business.

Amer Sports financial targets are mid-single digit organic, currency-neutral annual growth of net
sales, annual EBIT growth (excl. Items affecting comparability) ahead of net sales growth and in
cash flow conversion free cash flow to net profit at least 80%. The balance sheet target is to have a
year-end Net Debt/EBITDA ratio 3 in maximum.

Net Debt/EBITDA illustrates how Amer Sports can generate operational cash flow to serve its
debt. Also, it shows required profitability level against the outstanding debt and therefore makes
it possible to link business specific targets to Group’s balance sheet structure. It creates a dynamic
key performance indicator combining balance sheet structure and profitability target setting.

Amer Sports’ bank facilities include a financial covenant where Amer Sports’ consolidated gearing
cannot exceed 100 percent, excluding the impact of any goodwill or intangible rights impairment.
The bank facilities include also typical representations and warranties and events of default. Amer
Sports does not foresee any risks to a breach in the financial covenant in the next financial year
given the current business environment.

EUR million Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016
Interest-bearing liabilities 819.1 899.9
Cash and cash equivalents 358.4 364.0
Net debt 460.7 535.9
Total shareholders’ equity 888.0 1,003.1
Gearing, % 52 53
EBITDA 237.7 264.8
Net debt/EBITDA 1.9 2.0

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements as at December 31, 2017:

Related amounts not set off
Gross amount

of derivative Financial
EUR million financial assets instruments Net amount
Derivative financial instruments 6.1 4.6 1.5
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Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements as at December 31, 2017:

Related amounts not set off
Gross amount
of derivative

financial Financial
EUR million liabilities instruments Net amount
Derivative financial instruments 39.9 14.8 25.1

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements as at December 31, 2016:

Related amounts not set off
Gross amount

of derivative Financial
EUR million financial assets instruments Net amount
Derivative financial instruments 27.9 16.6 11.3

Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements as at December 31, 2016:

Related amounts not set off
Gross amount
of derivative

financial Financial
EUR million liabilities instruments Net amount
Derivative financial instruments 4.2 6.8 -2.6

Other financial assets and liabilities than derivative financial assets and liabilities are not subject
to material offsetting, enforceable master netting or similar agreements. Financial assets and
liabilities that are not set off in the balance sheet, but may be set off are under enforceable master
netting arrangements (such as International Swaps and Derivatives Association Inc, ISDA, Master
Agreement and Schedules governing terms, obligations and other provision related to trading and
settlement of derivative trades) that allow the Group and the counterparty for net settlement of
the relevant financial assets and liabilities when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence
of such an election, financial assets and liabilities will be settled on a gross basis, however, each
party to the master netting arrangement or similar agreement will have the option to settle all such
amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.
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PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

EUR million 2017 2016
Other operating income 24.6 27.1
EXPENSES

Personnel expenses 8.9 10.1
Depreciation 1.0 0.9
Other expenses 15.9 16.0
Total expenses 25.8 27.0
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES -1.2 0.1
Financing income 276.7 85.5
Financing expenses -129.2 -67.9
Financing income and expenses 147.5 17.6

EARNINGS BEFORE APPROPRIATIONS AND

TAXES 146.3 17.7
Appropriations 3.9 0.0
Income taxes -0.1 -0.7
NET RESULT 150.1 17.0
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PARENT COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR million 2017 2016
NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
EBIT -1.2 0.1
Depreciation 1.0 0.9
Adjustments to cash flow from operating activities 0.1 -0.2
Cash flow from operating activities before change in
working capital -0.1 0.8
Increase (-) or decrease (+) in trade and other current
receivables 20.4 4.1
Increase (+) or decrease (-) in interest-free current
liabilities 0.8 0.1
Change in working capital 21.2 4.2
Cash flow from operating activities before financing
items and taxes 21.1 5.0
Interest paid -27.1 -25.0
Interest received 0.2 0.3
Financing items and taxes -26.9 -24.7
Total net cash flow from operating activities -5.8 -19.7

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investments in subsidiaries -15.0 -39.7
Capital expenditure -1.4 -1.2
Proceeds from sale of tangible non-current assets 0.0 0.4
Dividends received 175.0 15.0
Net cash flow from investing activities 158.6 -25.5
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EUR million 2017 2016
NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Repurchase of own shares -53.9 -0.8
Transfer of own shares 33 4.8
Change in short-term borrowings -114.5 -268.3
Withdrawals of long-term borrowings - 160.0
Repayments of long-term borrowings - -104.4
Change in current receivables 117.3 327.2
Capital repayment/dividends paid -72.7 -64.7
Group contributions received - 3.6
Other financing items " -38.3 7.9
Net cash flow from financing activities -158.8 65.3
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -6.0 20.1
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at year end 264.5 270.5
Cash and cash equivalents at year beginning 270.5 250.4
Change in cash and cash equivalents -6.0 20.1
9 Including, for example, cash flow from hedging intercompany balance sheet items
PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
ASSETS
EUR million 2017 2016
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible rights 2.4 1.5
TANGIBLE ASSETS
Land and water 0.8 0.8
Buildings and constructions 0.7 0.8
Machinery and equipment 1.0 1.1
Other tangible assets 0.3 0.3
Construction in progress 0.0 0.4
2.8 3.4
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ASSETS
EUR million 2017 2016

OTHER NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS

Investments in subsidiaries 747.2 762.1
Other bonds and shares 0.1 0.1
747.3 762.2
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 752.5 767.1
CURRENT ASSETS
RECEIVABLES
Long-term
Receivables from subsidiaries 607.3 556.0
Deferred tax assets 3.1 2.0
Short-term
Receivables from subsidiaries 216.5 332.1
Prepaid expenses 55.9 72.2
882.8 962.3

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Other securities 30.0 52.5
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 234.5 218.0
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,147.3 1,232.8
TOTAL ASSETS 1,899.8 1,999.9
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EUR million 2017 2016

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 292.2 292.2
Premium fund 12.1 12.1
Invested unrestricted equity reserve 106.4 177.8
Retained earnings 273 62.1
Net result 150.1 17.0
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 588.1 561.2

ACCUMULATED APPROPRIATIONS
Accumulated depreciation in excess of plan 0.0 0.1

LIABILITIES

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Bonds 516.7 697.5
Loans from financial institutions 100.0 130.0
616.7 827.5
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Bonds 153.7 —
Loans from financial institutions 30.0 -
Other interest-bearing liabilities - 49.9
Accounts payable 0.6 0.3
Payables to subsidiaries 410.2 503.8
Other current liabilities 0.2 1.7
Accrued liabilities 100.3 554
695.0 611.1

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,311.7 1,438.6

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES 1,899.8 1,999.9
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PARENT COMPANY ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The parent company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with
the Finnish law. The results are reported in euros using the historical cost
convention. The financial statements are presented excluding the notes to the
financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

The parent company records foreign currency transactions at the rates of
exchange on the transaction date. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the closing rate of exchange confirmed by the
European Central Bank in effect at the balance sheet date.

Exchange rate gains and losses related to financing operations are reported at
their net values as financing income and expenses.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The company’s derivative instruments may include foreign exchange forward
contracts and options, interest rate swaps and interest rate options and cross-
currency swaps. Foreign exchange forward contracts and options are used to
hedge against changes in the value of receivables and liabilities denominated
in a foreign currency and interest rate swaps and interest rate options to hedge
against the interest rate risk. Cross-currency swaps are used to hedge against
changes in value of foreign currency denominated receivables and liabilities
and against the interest rate risk.

Foreign exchange forward contracts and options, interest rate swaps and
options and cross currency swaps are measured at fair value on the day that
the parent company becomes a party to the contract. Subsequent measurement
is also at fair value. The changes of fair values are recorded to earnings.
Foreign exchange derivatives are measured at fair value using the closing
rates quoted by the European Central Bank on the reporting date together with
common pricing models that are used for valuation of foreign exchange forward
contracts and options. The fair values of interest rate and cross currency swaps
are calculated as the current value of future cash flows. Interest rate options
are valued with year end interest rates together with common option pricing
models.

The interest rate differential on foreign exchange derivatives, interest rate
derivatives and cross currency swaps is allocated over the duration of the
derivative on a net basis in interest expenses. The exchange rate differences are
recognized in the income statement.
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INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Non-current assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis in order to write down the

cost or revalued amounts of assets to their residual values over their expected
useful lives which are as follows:

Intangible rights and other capitalized expenditure 5-10 years
Buildings 40 years
Machinery and equipment 3-10 years

Land and water are not depreciated.
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

An equity instrument is recorded in the shareholders’ equity if the instrument
includes no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset
to another entity or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with
another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the issuer.

The subscription proceeds from share issues are booked to invested unrestricted
equity reserve to the extent that they are not, in accordance with a shareholders’
resolution, booked to the share capital. The transaction costs of the share issues
are charged to financing expenses

The acquisition cost of repurchased own shares is charged to equity until the
shares are cancelled or reissued.

Any dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is not deducted from
distributable shareholders’ equity until approved at the Annual General
Meeting.

PROVISION FOR CONTINGENT LOSSES

Future costs and losses which the company has an obligation to settle and
which are certain or likely to occur are disclosed in the income statement
under an appropriate expense heading. They are presented in the balance sheet
as provisions for contingent losses when the precise amount or timing is not
known. In other cases they are presented as accrued liabilities.
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LEASING
Leasing payments are treated as rental expenses.
PENSION PLANS

The pension and related fringe benefit arrangements of the parent company’s
employees are administered by a pension insurance company and recorded as
determined by actuarial calculations and payments to the insurance company.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The tax compensation of share-based incentive schemes granted to key
employees of the parent company are posted as personnel expenses in the
income statement over the vesting period of the schemes. The acquisition price
of the shares has been booked to equity on the date of acquisition.

TAXES

Taxes include taxes for the period calculated on the basis of the net result for
the period, assessed or returned taxes for prior periods as well as deferred taxes
calculated on temporary differences between the book and tax base of assets.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Deferred tax assets or liabilities are calculated on temporary differences
between the book and tax base of assets in accordance with the future tax rate
that is substantially enacted at the end of the financial period. A deferred tax
asset is recognized to the estimated probable amount. It is presented under the
long-term receivables.

~1-93 -



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT’S AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS’
SIGNATURES

Helsinki, Finland, February 8, 2018

Bruno Silzer Ilkka Brotherus Manel Adell
Christian Fischer Tamara Minick-Scokalo Hannu Ry6pponen
Heikki Takala Lisbeth Valther

TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF AMER SPORTS
CORPORATION

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Amer Sports Corporation (business
identity code 0131505-5) for the year ended 31 December 2017. The financial
statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet, income statement,
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement
of cash flows and notes, including a summary of significant accounting
policies, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income statement,
statement of cash flows and notes.

In our opinion

. the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
group’s financial position as well as its financial performance and its cash
flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU. The financial statements give a true and fair
view of the parent company’s financial performance and financial position
in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of
financial statements in Finland and comply with statutory requirements.

Our opinion is consistent with the additional report submitted to the Audit
Committee.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland.
Our responsibilities under good auditing practice are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements section of our
report.

We are independent of the parent company and of the group companies in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are applicable in Finland and are
relevant to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

In our best knowledge and understanding, the non-audit services that we have
provided to the parent company and group companies are in compliance with
laws and regulations applicable in Finland regarding these services, and we
have not provided any prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5(1)
of regulation (EU) 537/2014. The non-audit services that we have provided
have been disclosed in note 8§ to the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

We have also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls.

This includes consideration of whether there was evidence of management bias
that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
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Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition
We refer to the group’s accounting policies
and the note 2.

Revenue is measured taking into account
discounts, incentives and rebates earned by
customers, and is recognised when the risks
and rewards of the underlying products
and services have been transferred to the
purchaser. The group focuses on revenue
as a key performance measure which
could create the incentive for revenue to
be recognised before the risks and rewards
have been transferred. Due to the multitude
and variety of contractual terms across the
group’s markets management judgment

is needed to account for the revenue, and
therefore, revenue could be subject to
misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. Based on above revenue recognition
was a key audit matter.

This matter was also a significant risk of
material misstatement referred to in EU
Regulation No 537/2014, point (c) of
Article 10(2).
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

To address the risk of material
misstatement relating to revenue
recognition we performed, among others,
the following audit procedures:

. We assessed the compliance of the

group’s accounting policies over

revenue recognition, including those
relating to discounts, incentives and
rebates, with applicable accounting
standards.

We tested the group’s controls over

timing of revenue recognition and

over the calculation of discounts,
incentives and rebates. These
controls comprised a combination
of transaction level prevent controls
and detect controls.

. We tested the cutoff of revenue with
substantive analytical procedures
supplemented with test of details on
a transaction level either side of the
balance sheet date as well as credit
notes prepared after the balance
sheet date.

. We considered the appropriateness
of the group’s disclosures in respect
of revenues.
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Key Audit Matter

Valuation goodwill and intangible rights
We refer to the group’s accounting policies
and the notes 7 and 13.

At the balance sheet date, the value of
tested goodwill and intangible rights
amounted to 566 M€ representing 22% of
the total assets and 64 % of the total equity.
Valuation of goodwill and intangible
rights was a key audit matter because the
impairment testing imposes estimates and
judgment. The group management use
assumptions in respect of determining
weighted average cost of capital as well

as future market and economic conditions
such as economic growth, expected
inflation rates, expected market share and
revenue and margin developments.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

We performed, among others, the

following audit procedures:

. We involved our valuation
specialists to assist us in evaluating
the assumptions and methodologies
used by the group, in particular those
relating to the forecasted revenue
growth, profit margins and weighted
average cost of capital.

. We focused on analysing the
sensitivity in the available headroom
by cash generating unit and whether
any reasonably possible change in
assumptions could cause the carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable
amount.

. We assessed the historical accuracy
of the management’s estimates.

. We considered the appropriateness
of the group’s disclosures in respect
of impairment testing.
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Key Audit Matter

Valuation of product development costs
We refer to the group’s accounting policies
and the notes 7 and 13.

Product development costs are capitalized
when they meet the recognition criteria

of IAS 38 Intangible Assets. Capitalised
product development costs are amortized
during their useful lives. An impairment

is recognised if the carrying amount

of an asset exceeds its recoverable

amount. Additions to capitalised product
development costs amounted to 16 M€ in
2017 and 26 M€ in 2016. The group wrote
down capitalized product development
costs as impairment charges 12 M€ in
2017. Valuation of product development
costs was a key audit matter because the
impairment assessment imposes significant
management judgment.

Income taxes
We refer to the group’s accounting policies
and the notes 11 and 15.

The group has extensive international
operations and in the normal cause

of business the management makes
assumptions and judgments in relation to
tax issues and exposures. Income taxes
was a key audit matter due to the inherent
uncertainty of complying with evolving
tax regulations in multiple different tax
jurisdictions and the recovery of deferred
tax assets recognised with respect to tax
loss carryforwards.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

We performed, among others, the

following audit procedures:

. We assessed the compliance of the
group’s accounting policies over the
recording of product development
costs with applicable accounting
standards.

. We evaluated the analyses made
by management with respect to
capitalized and impaired product
development costs.

. We considered the appropriateness
of the group’s disclosures about the
product development costs.

We performed, among others, the

following audit procedures:

. We assessed the group’s process
around the recording and assessment
of tax provisions.

. We involved our tax specialists to
assist us in performing an assessment
of the group’s correspondence with
relevant tax authorities, to evaluate
the recorded tax provisions for
relevant risks.

. We assessed the assumptions used
with our tax specialists.

. We assessed relevant tax opinions
from third parties obtained by the
management.

. We also considered the
appropriateness of the group’s
disclosures in respect of income
taxes.
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Key Audit Matter

Inventory valuation
We refer to the group’s accounting policies
and the note 16.

At the balance sheet date the total value of
inventory and related excess and obsolete
provision amounted to 502 M€ and 24
M€, respectively (net 478 €). Inventory
valuation was a key audit matter, because
the gross inventory and related provision
are material to the financial statements,
involve management judgment and

are subject to uncertainty due to rapid
technological, fashion and consumer

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

We performed, among others, the

following audit procedures:

. We assessed the compliance of the
group’s accounting policies over
the recording of inventory with
applicable accounting standards.

. We evaluated the analyses and
calculations made by management
with respect to slow moving and
obsolete stock and the expected

demand and market value related
to the inventoried items. We also
assessed the historical accuracy of
management’s estimates.

. We considered the appropriateness
of the group’s disclosures about the
accounting policies for the valuation
of inventory and the related balances.

demand changes.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for
the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
adopted by the EU, and of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of financial
statements in Finland and comply with statutory requirements. The Board of
Directors and the Managing Director are also responsible for such internal
control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors and the Managing
Director are responsible for assessing the parent company’s and the group’s
ability to continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The financial
statements are prepared using the going concern basis of accounting unless
there is an intention to liquidate the parent company or the group or cease
operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with good auditing practice will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing practice, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the parent
company’s or the group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the
Managing Director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
parent company’s or the group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
parent company or the group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events so that the financial
statements give a true and fair view.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

OTHER REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
Information on our audit engagement
We were first appointed as auditors by the Annual General Meeting on 12

March 2015, and our appointment represents a total period of uninterrupted
engagement of three years.

—1-101 -



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

Other information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the report of the Board
of Directors and the information included in the Annual Report, but does not
include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We have
obtained the report of the Board of Directors prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, and the Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after that
date.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. With respect to report of the Board of Directors, our responsibility
also includes considering whether the report of the Board of Directors has been
prepared in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

In our opinion, the information in the report of the Board of Directors is
consistent with the information in the financial statements and the report of the
Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Helsinki, 8 February 2018

Ernst & Young Oy
Authorized Public Accountant Firm

Mikko Jirventausta
Authorized Public Accountant
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C. AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2016

The following is an extract of the audited financial statements of the Target Group
for the year ended 31 December 2016, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS,
from the Target Group’s financial review 2016 (pages 18 — 60).

Specific page/section references mentioned in the audited financial statements of
the Target Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 are referred to in the Target
Group’s financial review 2016 which is available free of charge, in read-only, printable
format on the Target Group’s website at https://www.amersports.com/investors/.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

EUR million Notes 2016 2015
NET SALES 2 2,622.1 2,534.4
Cost of goods sold 7, 30 -1,409.7 -1,388.5
License income 6.8 7.3
Other operating income 4 8.8 4.8
Research and development expenses 7 -97.5 -77.7
Selling and marketing expenses 7, 30 -731.1 -677.5
Administrative and other expenses 7.8, 9, 30 -194.6 -198.7

EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND

TAXES 30 204.8 204.1
% of net sales 7.8 8.1
Financing income 10 1.1 1.1
Financing expenses 10 -32.9 -37.2
Financing income and expenses, net -31.8 -36.1
EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES 173.0 168.0
Income taxes 11 -46.1 -46.4
NET RESULT 126.9 121.6
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent company 126.9 121.6

Earnings per share of the net result attributable

to equity holders of the parent company, EUR /2
Undiluted 1.08 1.04
Diluted 1.07 1.03
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EUR million

Net result

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit

or loss

Remeasurement effects of postemployment

benefit plans

Income tax related to remeasurement effects
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Translation differences

Cash flow hedges

Income tax related to cash flow hedges
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent company

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.
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Notes

26
26

2016 2015
126.9 121.6
-8.9 2.9
-3.2 -1.4
16.1 31.9
-20.0 2.7
4.0 -0.5
-12.0 35.6
114.9 157.2
114.9 157.2
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR million Notes 2016 2015

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES
Earnings before interest and taxes 204.8 204.1
Depreciation 60.0 51.1
Adjustments to cash flow from operating
activities 22 3.2 0.4
Cash flow from operating activities before
change in working capital 268.0 255.6
Increase (-) or decrease (+) in inventories -12.5 -51.3
Increase (-) or decrease (+) in trade and
other current receivables -37.8 2.8
Increase (+) or decrease (-) in interest-free
current liabilities -7.2 54.6
Change in working capital -57.5 6.1
Cash flow from operating activities before
financing items and taxes 210.5 261.7
Interest paid -28.4 -29.3
Interest received 1.1 1.1
Income taxes paid and received -32.9 -22.0
Financing items and taxes -60.2 -50.2
Total net cash flow from operating activities 150.3 211.5

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES
Acquired operations -56.8 -76.3
Divested operations - 1.0
Capital expenditure on non-current tangible

assets -58.6 -48.3
Capital expenditure on non-current intangible

assets -33.1 -29.0
Proceeds from sale of tangible non-current

assets 0.6 0.6

Net cash flow from investing activities -147.9 -152.0

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

Change in short-term borrowings 50.9 -115.4

Withdrawals of long-term borrowings 210.0 368.0

Repayments of long-term borrowings -156.1 -153.8

Dividends paid -64.7 -52.8

Other financing items *) -12.0 -15.9
Net cash flow from financing activities 28.1 30.1

—1-105 -



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

EUR million Notes 2016 2015
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 30.5 89.6
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at year end 14 364.0 3314
Translation differences 2.1 1.6
Cash and cash equivalents at year beginning 331.4 240.2
Change in cash and cash equivalents 30.5 89.6
*)  Including, for example, cash flow from hedging intercompany balance sheet items
FREE CASH FLOW *¥*) 64.4 121.7

**) Cash flow from operating activities — net capital expenditure — change in restricted cash

Net capital expenditure = total capital expenditure less proceeds from sale of assets

The above figures cannot be directly traced from the balance sheet due to

acquisitions/divestments of subsidiaries and changes in rates of exchange.

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
EUR million Notes 2016 2015

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible rights 13 265.5 240.5
Goodwill 13 373.4 346.2
Other intangible assets 13 66.8 41.6
Land and water 13 15.0 14.8
Buildings and constructions 13 62.6 57.9
Machinery and equipment 13 127.5 123.4
Other tangible assets 13 0.3 0.3
Advances paid and construction in progress 13 20.6 10.3
Available-for-sale financial assets 14 0.4 0.4
Deferred tax assets 15 110.1 116.2
Other non-current receivables 9.3 11.6
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 16 1,051.5 963.2
CURRENT ASSETS
INVENTORIES
Raw materials and consumables 47.5 41.9
Work in progress 10.7 6.8
Finished goods 455.4 4333
513.6 482.0
RECEIVABLES
Accounts receivable 16 607.3 563.9
Current tax assets 17.4 12.1
Prepaid expenses and other receivables 17 161.3 203.1
786.0 779.1

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Other securities 52.5 -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 14 311.5 331.4
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,663.6 1,592.5
TOTAL ASSETS 2,715.1 2,555.7

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.

—1-107 —



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EUR million Notes 2016 2015

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
COMPANY 18
Share capital 292.2 292.2
Premium fund 12.1 12.1
Fund for own shares -15.5 -18.1
Translation differences 33.1 17.0
Fair value and other reserves 26 27.8 43.8
Remeasurements -47.2 -35.1
Invested unrestricted equity reserve 163.1 163.1
Retained earnings 410.6 353.0
Net result 126.9 121.6
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 1,003.1 949.6
LIABILITIES

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Bonds 19 697.5 534.1
Loans from financial institutions 19 131.0 81.4
Other interest-bearing liabilities 19 17.7 19.0
Deferred tax liabilities 15 36.3 40.6
Defined benefit pension liabilities 6 78.0 70.1
Other interest-free liabilities 22.4 259
Provisions 21 5.1 2.5
988.0 773.6

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing liabilities 19 53.7 157.2
Accounts payable 256.3 275.7
Accrued liabilities 20 347.3 337.3
Current tax liabilities 32.1 27.9
Provisions 21 34.6 34.4
724.0 832.5
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,712.0 1,606.1

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AND LIABILITIES 2,715.1 2,555.7

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY
Invested
Fund for Fair value unrestricted
Share  Premium own Translation ~ andother ~ Remea- equity  Retained
capital fund shares  differences  reserves  surements  reserve  earnings Total
Balance at January 1, 2015 2922 121 0.2 -149 416 -36.6 163.1 4055 §42.8
Other comprehensive income:
Translation differences 319 319
Remeasurement effects of postemployment
benefit plans 29 29
Cash flow and fair value hedges 21 21
Income tax related to OCI 05 -14 -19
Net result 121.6 121.6
Total comprehensive income 319 ) 15 1216 1572
Transactions with owners:
Repurchase of own shares -1l -1l
Share-based incentive program 32 03 35
Dividend distribution 518 518
Balance at December 31,2015 2922 121 181 170 48 351 163.1 4746 949.6
Other comprehensive income:
Translation differences l6.1 lo.1
Remeasurement effects of postemployment
benefit plans 49 49
Cash flow and fair value hedges 200 00
Income tax related to OCI 40 32 08
Net result 1269 1269
Total comprehensive income 16.1 -160 121 1269 1149
Transactions with owners:
Repurchase of own shares -
Share-based incentive program 26 07 33
Dividend distribution -04.7 -04.7
Balance at December 31,2016 2922 121 -155 31 218 412 163.1 5315 1,003.1

Note 18 provides additional information on shareholders’ equity and note 26 on the fair value and
other reserves.

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General

Amer Sports Corporation is a Finnish public listed company that is domiciled in Helsinki.

Amer Sports Corporation and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) manufacture, sell and market sports
equipment, apparel and footwear to the sports equipment trade and direct to consumer. The
Group’s business is founded on its globally recognized brands — the major brands are Salomon,
Wilson, Atomic, Arc’teryx, Mavic, Suunto and Precor.

The Group shared sales network covers 34 countries. The Group’s main market areas are the
United States and Europe.

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 9,
2017.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards approved for use in the EU (IFRS), observing the IAS and IFRS
standards and SIC and IFRIC interpretations in force as of December 31, 2016. In the Finnish
Accounting Act and the provisions issued under it, International Financial Reporting Standards
refer to standards approved for use in the EU in accordance with the procedure laid down in the
EU regulation (EC) No 1606/2002, and their interpretations.

The Group has applied the following new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations
as of January 1, 2016, which did not have material impact on the Group’s financial statements:

. IAS 38 (amendment): Intangible assets

. Small changes to various standards or interpretations as part of the annual improvements to
IFRS project.

The following standards and amendments that will come into force in 2017 are expected not to
have any material effect on the consolidated financial statements, as currently estimated by the

Group:

. IFRS 10 (amendment): Consolidated financial statements

. IFRS 12 (amendment): Disclosures of interests in other entities

. IAS 7 (amendment): Statement of cash flows

. IAS 12 (amendment): Income taxes

. IAS 28 (amendment): Investments in associates and joint ventures

. Changes to various standards or interpretations as part of the annual improvements to IFRS
project
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The following new and revised standards will be adopted in 2018 or later (subject to EU
endorsement):

. IFRS 2 (amendment): Share-based payment

. IFRS 9: Financial instruments

. IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with customers
. IFRS 16: Leases

Amer Sports plans to adopt the new standard IFRS 9 Financial instruments from the annual
period beginning on January 1, 2018. In 2017 Amer Sports plans to assess the effect of IFRS 9
on its consolidated financial statements and expects at this point that changes will arise from the
expected credit loss model under IFRS 9.

Amer Sports plans to adopt the new standard IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
from the annual period beginning on January 1, 2018 using the full retrospective method. During
2016 Amer Sports performed a preliminary assessment of the implications of IFRS 15, which is
subject to changes arising from a more detailed ongoing analysis. Amer Sports continues to assess
individual contracts to determine IFRS 15 related changes.

In preparing for the adoption of IFRS 15 Amer Sports has identified the following areas with
impact from the new standard:

. Variable consideration: some contracts with customers provide a right of return and trade
discounts. The current provisions for deferred revenue give rise to variable consideration
under IFRS 15, and will be required to be estimated at contract inception. Amer Sports
expects more revenue being deferred under IFRS15 than is under current IFRS.

. Customer loyalty programmes: the loyalty programmes offered within Amer Sports B2C
business are expected to give rise to a separate performance obligation as they generally
provide a material right to the consumer. Amer Sports will allocate a portion of the
transaction price to the loyalty programme points based on relative stand-alone selling
price instead of the allocation using the fair value of points issued. Consistent with current
requirements in [FRIC 13, Amer Sports expects that the revenue will be recognized when the
loyalty points are redeemed or expire. At the current level of activity of the customer loyalty
programmes, no material change is expected on the revenue recognition.

. Rendering of services: Amer Sports provides installation services in its Fitness segment.
Currently the revenue from the installation services has been netted against the related
expenses. As Amer Sports acts as the principal in rendering the installation services, netting
of the revenue and expenses is no longer applicable according to IFRS 15. Amer Sports has
preliminarily assessed that the services are satisfied over time and will continue to recognize
revenue for these service contracts over time rather than at a point of time. Amer Sports
expects to report more service related revenue and expenses under IFRS 15, whereas no
impact is expected on the EBIT.

. Presentation and disclosure: The presentation requirements in IFRS 15 represent a
significant change from current practice and increases the volume of disclosures required in
Amer Sports’ financial statements. In 2016 Amer Sports has developed account structures,
accounting policies and procedures and planned ERP changes to collect and disclose the
required information.
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The new standard IFRS 16 Leases will have significant implications on the recognition of the lease
expenses, non-current assets, interest-bearing liabilities as well as on the key financial ratios. Due
to the great number of the lease contracts and related liabilities Amer Sports expects to report
significant increases in leasing assets and leasing liabilities. The operating lease commitments as
of December 31, 2016 were 239.4 EUR million. In 2017 Amer Sports plans to assess the effect of
IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial statements on a more detailed level.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of euros and have been prepared
under the historical cost convention with the exception of available-for-sale financial assets, share
based payments, financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss as
well as derivative financial instruments at fair value.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include all subsidiaries in which the parent company holds
directly or indirectly more than half of the votes or otherwise controls the subsidiary. Companies
acquired during the financial year have been included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date when control was obtained. Similarly, divested subsidiaries are included up to the
date when control has been relinquished.

The ownership of the subsidiary shares within the group has been eliminated using the acquisition
method. The transferred consideration and all the identifiable assets and liabilities of an acquired
company are measured at fair values at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recognized as the
amount by which the total transferred consideration exceeds the fair value of the acquired net
assets. The potential additional purchase price is measured at fair value on the balance sheet
date and the related profit or loss is booked in the income statement. Goodwill is not amortized,
but its value is tested for impairment at least once a year by means of a cash flow analysis (see
impairment of assets below). Impairment losses are booked in the income statement.

Intercompany transactions as well as intercompany receivables and liabilities are eliminated.
Foreign currencies

The transactions in subsidiaries’ financial statements are valued in the currency of the country
where the subsidiary operates (“functional currency”). The Group financial statements are
presented in euros, which is the functional currency of the parent company and the presentation
currency of the Group. The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into euros
at the closing exchange rates confirmed by the European Central Bank on the balance sheet date.
The income statement is translated into euros by consolidating each calendar month separately
using the actual daily average rate for the month, whereby the sum of the twelve calendar
months represents the whole year. Translation differences arising from the translation of the net
investment in foreign operations are booked to translation differences in other comprehensive
income. Intercompany long-term capital loans that are not expected to be repaid are considered as
a part of the company’s net investment in the foreign operation and are treated similarly.

The following exchange rates have been used in the consolidated accounts:

Income statement” Balance sheet
2016 2015 12/16 12/15
UsD 1.11 1.11 1.05 1.09
CAD 1.47 1.42 1.42 1.51
JPY 120.26 134.38 123.40 131.07
GBP 0.82 0.73 0.86 0.73
) Calculated average of the monthly average rates

—I-112 -



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

Group companies record transactions in foreign currencies at the rate on the transaction date or
at an estimated rate sufficiently close to the rate on the transaction date. Assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are outstanding at the end of the financial year are
translated at the closing rate of exchange in effect on the balance sheet date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses related to operational transactions are presented in EBIT.
Exchange rate gains and losses on foreign currency-denominated loans and other receivables
and liabilities connected with financing transactions are recorded at their net values as financing
income and expenses.

Derivatives and hedge accounting

The company’s derivative instruments may include foreign exchange forward contracts and
options, interest rate swaps and interest rate options and cross-currency swaps. Foreign exchange
forward contracts and options are used to hedge against changes in the value of receivables and
liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and interest rate swaps and interest rate options to
hedge against the interest rate risk. Cross-currency swaps are used to hedge against changes in
value of foreign currency denominated receivables and liabilities and against the interest rate risk.

Foreign exchange forward contracts and options, interest rate swaps and options and cross
currency swaps are measured at fair value on the day that the Group becomes a party to the
contract. Subsequent measurement is also at fair value. Foreign exchange derivatives are measured
at fair value using the closing rates quoted by the European Central Bank on the reporting date
together with common pricing models that are used for valuation of foreign exchange forward
contracts and options. The fair values of interest rate and cross currency swaps are calculated as
the current value of future cash flows. Interest rate options are valued with year-end interest rates
together with common option pricing models.

Gains and losses from fair value measurement are treated in accordance with the purpose of
the derivative financial instrument. For maturities below 12 months after the balance sheet
date, the fair value of the derivatives is presented in prepaid expenses and other receivables or
accrued liabilities. For maturities over 12 months, the fair value is presented in other non-current
receivables or other interest-free liabilities.

Changes in the value of derivative instruments, which do not qualify for hedge accounting are
recorded as financing income and expenses, except for when they are associated with hedging the
cash flow from operating activities, in which case they are recorded in other operating income and
expenses.

The Group applies cash flow and fair value hedge accounting to foreign exchange derivatives that
hedge material cash flows from operating activities and to interest rate swaps and cross currency
swaps hedging against the interest risks and fair value changes associated with floating rate loans
denominated in foreign currency. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, in accordance with IAS 39, is recognized in
the fair value and other reserves under shareholders’ equity. Any ineffective component, however,
will be immediately recognized in the income statement. The cumulative change in gains or losses
for the effective hedges is transferred to the income statement for the period when the hedged item
is recorded in the income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires, is sold, or if the hedge does not meet the requirements set
for hedge accounting under IAS 39, any cumulative gain or loss recorded in equity remains in
equity until the forecasted transaction is recorded in the income statement. When the forecasted
cash flow is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity
is immediately recorded in financing income and expenses in the income statement in the case of
an interest rate hedge and in other operating income and expenses in the case of an operating cash
flow hedge.
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When initiating hedge accounting, the Group documents the correlation between the hedged
item and the hedging instruments, as well as the Group’s risk management objective and hedge
initiation strategy. The Group documents and evaluates the effectiveness of hedges when initiating
hedging and on a quarterly basis by examining the degree to which the hedging instrument offsets
changes in the fair value and cash flow of the hedged item.

The Group does not hedge the net investment in foreign subsidiary operations with derivatives.
Measurement of financial assets

In accordance with IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, financial assets
are categorized as:

I. financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
II.  held-to-maturity investments

III.  loans and receivables

IV. available-for-sale financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. Changes
in fair value are booked as a credit or charge to earnings in financing income and expenses.
Derivatives are also categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets
in this category are classified as current assets, except for maturities over 12 months after the
balance sheet date.

Held-to-maturity investments and loans granted by the company are carried at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method. Held-to-maturity investments are valued at cost and are included
in current assets, except for maturities over 12 months after the balance sheet date. At the end of
the financial year, the Group did not possess any held-to-maturity investments.

Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Accounts receivable are carried at the original invoiced amount
less impairment losses and credits for returns. Impairment losses are recognized case by case
when there is evidence that the receivable cannot be recovered in full, such as due to the payment
difficulties or impending bankruptcy of the debtor.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at their fair value by applying the market prices
at the balance sheet date or some other determination of value used by the company. The change
in fair value is presented in fair value and other reserves under shareholders’ equity. Fair value
changes are transferred from shareholders’ equity to the income statement when the asset is sold
or its value has been impaired such that an impairment loss must be recognized. Available-for-sale
financial assets whose fair value cannot be determined reliably are measured at cost or a lower
value if they are impaired. Available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current assets
unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within 12 months after the
balance sheet date.

Financial assets are recognized on the settlement date. Financial assets carried at fair value
through the income statement are initially recognized at fair value and transaction costs are
expensed in the income statement. Financial assets not carried at fair value through the income
statement are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial assets are
derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
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On each closing date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence for the impairment
of a financial asset item or class. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a financial
asset below its cost is seen as evidence that the assets are impaired. The impairment loss is
recorded as a charge to earnings in financing items. Impairment losses are not reversed through
financing items.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, investments on
money market funds as well as readily realizable marketable securities.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially carried at fair value. Transaction costs are included in the
original carrying amount of financial liabilities. All financial liabilities are subsequently carried
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Financial liabilities are classified as
current liabilities unless they mature over 12 months after the balance sheet date, in which case
they are included in long-term liabilities. The amounts drawn under the revolving credit facility
are included in loans from financial institutions.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards connected with
ownership of the goods have been transferred to the purchaser. Net sales represent the invoiced
value of goods, less value added taxes as well as discounts, incentives and rebates earned by
customers and adding or subtracting foreign exchange differences. Net sales is one of the key
performance measures in Amer Sports.

Revenue obtained from other companies is booked to license income when these companies
manufacture or sell products bearing Amer Sports trademarks. In addition, license income includes
royalty payments obtained from other companies when they utilize manufacturing technology
patents owned by Amer Sports. License income based on fixed license agreements is recognized
evenly throughout the financial year. License income determined by sales volumes is recognized
during the financial year as the licensee generates sales revenue.

Other operating income comprises rental income, gains on the sale of non-current assets as well as
other non-recurring income, such as patent settlements.

Cost of goods sold

The cost of goods sold includes all the salaries and wages, materials, procurement and other costs
connected with the manufacture and purchase of products.

Research and development

Research expenses are recognized as expenses when they are incurred. Product development
expenses are capitalized when they meet the recognition criteria according to IAS 38 Intangible
Assets.

Sales and marketing expenses

Expenses related to the sales, distribution, marketing and advertising of products are booked to

sales and marketing expenses. These include sales inventory, customer service, marketing and
sales, media advertising expenses and athlete endorsements.
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Administrative and other expenses

Administrative and other expenses encompass Group Headquarter’s expenses, general
administration expenses, as well as minor one-off losses such as losses on disposals of non-current
assets.

Pension plans

The Group’s pension arrangements comply with the local rules and practices of the countries
where Amer Sports operates. The Group’s pension arrangements are either defined contribution
or defined benefit plans. Under defined contribution based plans, such as the Finnish TyEL
employment pension system, the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and
will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions. In defined contribution
plans, the Group’s contributions are recorded as an expense in the period to which they relate.

Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans.
In defined benefit plans, the pension expenses recognized in the income statement are determined
using the projected unit credit method which calculates the present value of the obligation and
the related service costs. The pension liability is measured by calculating the present value of
future pension obligations, discounted using the market yield on high quality corporate bonds or
government bonds in countries where there is no deep market for such bonds. Fair value of plan
assets is deducted from present value of obligation and net liability (asset) is presented in balance
sheet. All actuarial gains and losses (“remeasurements”) relating to post-employment benefits
are recognized in full in other comprehensive income. For other long-term employee benefits, the
Group recognizes actuarial gains and losses immediately in profit or loss. All past service costs
are recognized immediately in the income statement.

Net interest expense (income) is determined based on the net defined benefit liability (asset) and
the discount rate at the beginning of the year. Expenses related to defined benefit post-employment
plans are reported as follows:

. service cost: above EBIT
. net interest expense: in financing expenses
. remeasurement components: under other comprehensive income

Share-based payment

The Group’s key employees have been granted several share-based incentive schemes where the
rewards are settled either as equity instruments or in cash. The rewards are measured at fair value
at the time of granting using generally accepted valuation models and recognized as expenses
in the income statement in even installments over the vesting period of the rights. Cash-settled
share-based payment transactions and the change in fair value are recognized as expenses over the
vesting period. The income effect of the arrangements is presented as employee benefits in the
income statement.

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

Earnings before interest and taxes is a net amount which is derived from net sales by deducting the
cost of goods sold and the research and development, selling, marketing, administrative and other
expenses and adding license income and other operating income. Foreign exchange differences
related to operational transactions are presented in EBIT whilst other foreign exchange differences
are recorded as financing income and expenses.
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Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

A non-current asset or a disposal group of assets and liabilities is categorized as held for sale
when the economic benefits gained from it will be accrued primarily from its sale rather than from
continuous use. Non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale are measured at the lower of
carrying amount or fair value less selling costs and disclosed as a separate line item in the balance
sheet. These assets are not depreciated.

Discontinued operations refer to a significant part of the company (such as a segment) that it has
decided to discontinue. The net result of discontinued operations is disclosed on its own line in the
income statement, separately from continuing operations.

Income taxes

Taxes include the taxes for the financial year calculated on the basis of the result for the period
and in accordance with the tax legislation of each company’s local domicile as well as assessed or
returned taxes for previous financial periods and the change in deferred taxes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on all temporary differences between the book
and tax base of assets in accordance with the tax rate at the balance sheet date or with the
substantively enacted future tax rates. Temporary differences arise from factors such as unused
tax losses, depreciation differences, provisions, defined benefit pension plans, the fair valuation
of derivative financial instruments, the internal inventory margin as well as measurements to fair
value of assets in connection with business acquisitions. The tax effect of undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries is recorded as a deferred tax liability if a dividend payout is probable and it will
result in tax consequences. A deferred tax asset is recognized as a result of unused tax losses and
other temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that these can be utilized in future
financial periods. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same tax authority.

Earnings per share

The undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net result for the financial year
less interest on the hybrid bond (net of tax) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding
during the financial year. The dilutive effect of warrants and shares granted on the basis of share-
based incentive plans is taken into account in calculating diluted earnings per share.

The effect of share issues on previous years’ earnings per share is taken into account by using a
share issue ratio.

Government grants

Government grants are recorded as adjustments to expenses in the financial period they are
received, except when they relate to investments, in which case they are deducted from the cost.

Intangible rights and other intangible non-current assets

Intangible rights comprise trademarks and patents. Other intangible assets include for example
software licenses. Patents and software licenses are recognized in the balance sheet at cost
and amortized on a straight-line basis during a useful life of three to fifteen years. Trademarks
with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but tested for impairment on an annual basis (see
impairment of assets below). Capitalised development expenses are amortized during their useful
lives.
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Tangible non-current assets

Tangible non-current assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses (see impairment of assets below).

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis in order to write down the cost of the tangible
assets to their residual values over their expected useful lives, adjusting for any impairment. The
depreciation periods are:

Buildings and constructions 25-40 years
Machinery and equipment 3-10 years

Land and water are not depreciated.
Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of non-current tangible and intangible assets are assessed by means of
impairment tests whenever there is an indication of impairment. Any impairment of goodwill and
other intangible rights having an indefinite useful life are nevertheless assessed at least once a
year.

Impairment tests involve measuring the recoverable amount of said asset. The recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s net selling price or cash flow-based value in use. An impairment loss
is recognized in the income statement when the carrying amount of an asset is greater than the
recoverable amount. Impairment recognized on assets other than goodwill is reversed if a change
occurs in the estimates leading to the impairment charge. An impairment loss is reversed to a
maximum amount that does not exceed the carrying amount of the asset if impairment would not
have been originally recognized.

The recoverable amount of goodwill and other intangible rights with indefinite useful lives is
determined via fair value less cost of selling or higher cash flow-based value-in-use (impairment
tests of these items are more closely explained in note 7).

In the cash flow-based impairment calculations for other intangible rights and property, plant
and equipment, cash flows are recognized so that the first three years are based on the budgets
and strategic plans for the next three years as approved by the Group’s Board of Directors. In the
calculations, later years are estimated conservatively according to the growth assumptions made in
the three-year plans. The residual values used in the calculations are estimates of the probable net
selling prices of the asset items.

The discount rate in the calculations is based on the long-term risk-free market interest rates and
on generally used standard risk premiums (the key assumptions of the discount rate are presented
more closely in note 7).

Lease agreements

Lease agreements relating to tangible assets, in which the Group retains a significant part of the
ownership risks and rewards, are classified as finance lease agreements. A finance lease agreement
is recorded on the balance sheet at the lower of the asset’s fair value or the present value of
minimum lease payments, and it is depreciated. Lease obligations are included in interest-bearing
liabilities. Other leasing payments are treated as rental expenses.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost calculated according to the FIFO principle or the net
realizable value. For self-manufactured products, the cost includes direct wage and raw material
costs for the manufacture of the products as well as a portion of the indirect costs of manufacture.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Shareholders’ equity

An equity instrument is recorded in the sharcholders’ equity if the instrument includes no
contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity or to exchange
financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially
unfavorable to the issuer.

The subscription proceeds from share issues are booked to invested unrestricted equity reserve
to the extent that they are not, in accordance with a shareholders’ resolution, booked to the share
capital. The transaction costs of the share issues are charged to retained earnings net of tax.

The acquisition cost of repurchased own shares is charged to equity until the shares are cancelled
or reissued.

Any dividend or repayment of capital proposed by the Board of the Directors is not deducted from
distributable shareholders’ equity until approved at the Annual General Meeting.

Provisions

Obligations arising as the consequence of a past event, which are legal or which the company
has an actual obligation to settle and are considered certain or likely to occur, are booked in the
income statement under an appropriate expense heading. They are presented in the balance sheet
as provisions when it is probable that the resources will be transferred out of the Group but the
precise amount or timing is not known. In other cases they are presented as accrued liabilities.
The most important regular provisions are due to the repair or replacement of products during
the warranty period. These provisions are determined on the basis of historical experience. A
provision for reorganization is made when the Group has drawn up a detailed reorganization plan
and announced the reorganization. Long-term provisions are discounted.

Use of estimates in the financial statements

When preparing the financial statements, the Group’s management has to make estimates and
assumptions influencing the content of the financial statements and it must exercise its judgment
regarding the application of accounting policies. The most important of these estimates and
assumptions are related to impairment of goodwill and other asset items, such as trademarks,
property, plant and equipment, inventories and accounts receivable; provisions for reorganization,
warranty and legal proceedings; evaluation of pension liabilities and share-based payments
schemes as well as the future utilization of deferred tax assets. Actual results may differ from
these estimates. Any changes in the estimates and assumptions are recognized in the period in
which the estimate or assumption is revised.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Pension plans

The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined
on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net
cost (or income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will
impact the carrying amount of pension obligations.

Amer Sports determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest
rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected
to be required to settle the pension obligations. Other key assumptions for pension obligations are
based in part on current market conditions (see note 6).

Net liability recognized for defined benefit pension plans was EUR 78.0 million as of December
31, 2016.
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Share-based payment

The Group key employees have been granted several share-based incentive schemes where the
rewards are settled either as equity instruments or in cash. The rewards are measured at fair value
at the time of granting using generally accepted valuation models and periodized as expenses
in the income statement in even installments over the vesting period of the rights. Cash-settled
share-based payment transactions and the change in fair value are periodized as expenses over the
vesting period. The income effect of the arrangements is presented as employee benefits in the
income statement.

Expenses recognized for the share-based incentive schemes for the year ended December 31, 2016
amounted to EUR 9.2 million and for the deferred cash long-term incentive programs EUR -0.6
million.

Income taxes

Management judgment is required in determining provisions for income taxes, deferred tax assets
and liabilities and the extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognized. As of December
31, 2016, the company has recognized net deferred tax assets of EUR 73.8 million on tax loss
carry forwards and other temporary differences. The Group is also subject to income taxes in
various jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the Group’s provision for income taxes.
There may be transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group anticipates questions arising in tax audits and
recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is made.

Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of non-current tangible and intangible assets are assessed by means of
impairment tests whenever there is an indication of impairment. Any impairment of goodwill and
other intangible assets having an indefinite useful life are nevertheless assessed at least once a
year. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-
use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates. As of December 31, 2016, the
amount of goodwill and other non-current intangible assets with indefinite useful lives tested for
impairment amounted to EUR 373.4 million and EUR 250.1 million, respectively. No impairment
losses were recognised in 2016 or 2015. Management estimates, used assumptions as well as
sensitivity analyses are presented in note 7.

Inventories

The Group periodically reviews its inventories for excess amounts, obsolescence and declines
in market value below cost and records an allowance against the inventory balance for any such
declines. These reviews require management to estimate future demand for products. If the future
demand for Group’s products was weaker than anticipated or the market conditions deteriorated,
the value of inventories would likely have to be written down. As of December 31, 2016, the
amount of inventories on balance sheet amounted to EUR 513.6 million. Value of inventories has
been decreased by EUR 25.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to correspond to its net
realizable value.
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Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are carried at the original invoiced amount less impairment losses and
credits for returns. Impairment losses are recognized case by case and on the basis of historical
experience when there is evidence that the receivable cannot be recovered in full, such as due
to the payment difficulties or impending bankruptcy of the debtor. The estimates are based on
a systematic, on-going review and evaluation performed as part of the credit-risk evaluation
process. As part of this evaluation, the Group takes into account the history of collections, the
size and composition of the receivable balances and current economic events and conditions.
If the financial conditions of customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional impairment losses may be recognized in future periods. As of
December 31, 2016, the amount of accounts receivable on balance sheet amounted to EUR 607.3
million and impairment losses of accounts receivable amounted to EUR 11.2 million.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized on the balance sheet when there is a legal or actual obligation for the
company to settle an obligation arising as the consequence of a past event that is considered
certain or likely to occur. The most important regular provisions are due to the repair or
replacement of products during the warranty period. These provisions are determined on the basis
of historical experience. The provisions recognized represents management’s best estimate of
the present value of the future costs assumed to be incurred. The actual costs may differ from the
estimated. As of December 31, 2016, the amount of provisions on balance sheet was EUR 39.7
million.

2. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Amer Sports operates primarily in one industry — the design, manufacturing, distribution, selling
and marketing of sporting goods, apparel and footwear.

The company is managed through its global operating segments, business areas, regional sales
organizations and company wide platforms such as global operations, which encompass business
functions from product development to product sourcing, manufacturing and outbound logistics.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group is the President and CEO, who is assisted by the
Executive Board. The Chairman of the Board of Directors continuously monitors Amer Sports’
operations and development through contact with the President and CEO. The President and CEO
is also the President of Outdoor operating segment. Ball Sports and Fitness operating segments
have their own Presidents.

Amer Sports has three reportable operating segments:

. Outdoor: manufacturer and supplier of footwear, apparel, winter sports equipment, cycling
components and sports instruments

. Ball Sports: manufacturer and supplier of racquet and team sports equipment and golf
equipment
. Fitness: manufacturer and supplier of fitness equipment

The operating segments are based on the Group’s global organizational structure and management
reporting. The decisions concerning assessing the performance of segments and allocation of
resources to the segments are mainly based on segments’ net sales and earnings before interest
and taxes excluding items affecting comparability (EBIT excluding IAC). The operating segments
are not fully independent as they operate in cooperation with Amer Sports’ regional sales
organizations and company wide support functions.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.
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The operating segments have been divided into the following business areas:

Outdoor

. Footwear: Salomon, Arc’teryx

. Apparel: Salomon, Arc’teryx

. Winter Sports Equipment: Salomon winter sports equipment and Atomic

. Cycling: Mavic, ENVE

. Sports Instruments: Suunto

Ball Sports

. Individual Ball Sports: Wilson, Racquet Sports and Golf

. Team Sports: Wilson, DeMarini, Louisville Slugger and EvoShield

Fitness

. Fitness Equipment: Precor, Queenax

The accounting policies for segment reporting do not differ from the Group’s accounting policies.

There were no intersegment business operations in 2016 and 2015. In the income statement, line
items below EBIT have not been allocated to the segments.

The assets and liabilities of the operating segments include only items directly connected to the
business as well as the goodwill and non-current intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
related to them. Tax assets and liabilities, prepaid and accrued interest, receivables and payables
related to derivative financial instruments, cash and cash equivalents, and interest-bearing
liabilities are not allocated to the operating segments.

Unallocated items relating to EBIT include income and expenses of corporate headquarters.

Geographic net sales are presented according to customers’ location and assets according to where
the assets are located.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not allocated to the geographical
areas.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS

2016
Operating EBIT
segments Unallocated excl.
EUR million Outdoor  Ball Sports Fitness total items 1AC IAC Total
Net sales 1,601.8 671.1 349.2 2,622.1 - - - 2,622.1
EBIT 196.9 44.8 17.0 258.7 -37.0 nL7 -16.9 204.8
% of net sales 123 6.7 49 9.9 - - - 78
Financing income and expenses -31.8 - - 318
Earnings before taxes 173.0 - - 173.0
Goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives 266.9 1824 1742 623.5 - - - 623.5
Other assets 957.5 342.2 203.2 1,502.9 588.7 - - 2,091.6
Liabilities 345.6 2614 72.6 679.6 1,032.4 - - 1,712.0
Capital expenditure 56.8 13.8 19.9 90.5 1.2 - - 91.7
Depreciation 41.0 13 9.7 58.0 20 - - 60.0
Cash flow from operating
activities before financing
items and taxes 182.5 52.4 12.9 2478 -373 - - 210.5
2015
Operating EBIT
segments Unallocated excl.
EUR million Outdoor  Ball Sports Fitness total items 1AC 1AC Total
Net sales 1,530.1 047.0 3573 2,5344 - - - 12,5344
EBIT 161.2 46.6 312 239.0 -26.9 212.1 -8.0 204.1
% of net sales 10.5 72 8.7 9.4 - - - 8.1
Financing income and expenses -36.1 - - -36.1
Earnings before taxes 168.0 - - 168.0
Goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives 211 176.6 171.0 5747 - - - 5747
Other assets 855.2 3411 180.6 1,376.9 604.1 - - 1,981.0
Liabilities 3213 259.3 3.7 6543 951.8 - - 1,606.1
Capital expenditure 43.1 9.2 18.6 75.9 1.4 - - 713
Depreciation 334 8.4 7.6 494 1.7 - - 511
Cash flow from operating
activities before financing
items and taxes 186.4 04.4 38.5 289.3 -27.6 - - 201.7
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OTHER ASSETS

EUR million 2016 2015

Other non-current assets, accounts and other receivables

and inventories of operating segments 1,502.9 1,376.9
Deferred tax assets 110.1 116.2
Unallocated other non-current assets, accounts and other

receivables 26.8 24.1
Derivative financial instruments 56.0 108.3
Prepaid interest 14.4 12.0
Current tax assets 17.4 12.1
Cash and cash equivalents 364.0 331.4
Unallocated other assets 588.7 604.1
LIABILITIES
EUR million 2016 2015

Other interest-free long-term liabilities, accounts payable,
non-tax and non-financing related accrued liabilities

and provisions of operating segments 679.6 654.3
Interest-bearing long-term liabilities 846.2 634.5
Deferred tax liabilities 36.3 40.6
Interest-bearing current liabilities 53.7 157.2
Unallocated accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6.7 11.9
Derivative financial instruments 39.4 63.2
Accrued interests 18.0 16.5
Current tax liabilities 32.1 27.9
Unallocated liabilities 1,032.4 951.8

GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

2016

Asia Unallocated
EUR million EMEA Americas Pacific Elimination items Total
External net sales 1,133.7 1,116.0 3724 - - 2,622.1
Assets 845.2 1,003.3 165.4 -95.7 796.9 2,715.1
Capital expenditure 41.0 42.7 8.0 - - 91.7
2015

Asia Unallocated
EUR million EMEA Americas Pacific Elimination items Total
External net sales 1,114.7 1,070.1 349.6 - - 2,534.4
Assets 744.5 937.5 161.6 -108.9 821.0 2,555.7
Capital expenditure 43.4 27.1 6.8 - - 71.3
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3. ACQUIRED AND DIVESTED BUSINESSES
2016:

On March 8, 2016 Amer Sports acquired 100% of the shares in the company ENVE Composites
LLC. ENVE is a fast-growing brand in high-end carbon wheels, components, and accessories for
road and mountain biking with annual sales of approximately USD 30 million. The acquisition
accelerates Amer Sports Cycling business especially in the United States and provides further
expansion opportunities internationally. ENVE brings capabilities in carbon technology, and it
offers operational scale and synergy benefits complementing Amer Sports’ cycling category.

The net cash acquisition price was USD 50 million in an all-cash transaction and was paid in
March 2016. According to the purchase price allocation, the fair value of the acquired net assets
was EUR 48.0 million. EUR 18.9 million of the fair value was allocated to the ENVE intangible
assets including trademarks, customer relationships and technology. These assets are amortized
over 10-15 years. EUR 18.5 million of the fair value was allocated to goodwill. Purchase of ENVE
was treated as asset purchase in taxation and no deferred taxes were recognized.

The following fair values of the assets and liabilities of ENVE Composites LLC have been
consolidated into Amer Sports’ result from the acquisition date. Transaction costs of EUR 0.3
million are included in the administrative expenses of the consolidated income statement.

EUR million Fair value
Intangible non-current assets 18.9
Goodwill 18.5
Other non-current assets 1.2
Inventories 5.7
Accounts receivables and

other current assets 2.9
Cash 33
TOTAL ASSETS 50.5
Interest-free liabilities 2.5
NET ASSETS 48.0
Purchase price 48.0

Analysis of the cash flows on the acquisition

Purchase price 48.0
ENVE cash -3.3
Transaction costs 0.3
Net cash flow on acquisition 45.0

Fair value of accounts receivables was equal to book value at the date of transaction.
The ENVE sales in 2016 from the date of acquisition were EUR 20 million. The ENVE transaction
including one time integration costs and amortization of intangible assets had slightly negative

impact on Amer Sports’ 2016 financial results.

On November 17, 2016 Amer Sports acquired EvoShield, the leading protective gear brand for
baseball and softball.
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EvoShield is the leading brand of protective gear for baseball and softball athletes and teams in
the U.S., and the Official Protective Gear of Major League Baseball® (MLB). The annual net sales
of EvoShield are approximately EUR 10 million.

The price of this selective asset acquisition was USD 9.3 million and it included the EvoShield
brand, all EvoShield branded products as well as intellectual property and distribution rights.
Based on preliminary purchase price allocation the fair value of acquired intangible assets such
as EvoShield trademark was USD 7.3 million. The purchase accounting will be completed during
2017.

EvoShield has been integrated into Amer Sports Ball Sports business segment, which already
includes the brands Wilson, Louisville Slugger, DeMarini and ATEC.

The EvoShield acquisition had no material impact on Amer Sports 2016 financial results.
2015:

Amer Sports strengthened its Ball Sports business by acquiring the global brand, sales and
innovation rights to the American baseball brand Louisville Slugger on April 22, 2015 from
Hillerich & Bradsby Co. Louisville Slugger is an iconic American baseball brand, the official bat
of Major League Baseball and the market leading wood bat. Louisville Slugger reported annual
sales of USD 75 million in 2014. Louisville Slugger sales in 2015 from the date of acquisition
were USD 32 million. The final acquisition price was USD 72.3 million, which was mainly paid
in cash in April 2015. The transaction and other acquisition related one-time costs had a slightly
negative impact on Amer Sports 2015 financial results.

The fair value of the acquired net assets of Louisville Slugger was EUR 66.4 million. EUR 40.6
million of the fair value was allocated to the non-current intangible assets of which EUR 38.7
million to the Louisville Slugger trademark.

The Louisville Slugger trademark is not amortized. EUR 12.1 million of the fair value was
allocated to goodwill. Baseball is one of Amer Sports’ chosen strategic growth areas, which
already includes two leading brands, Wilson and DeMarini. The acquisition enhances Ball Sports’
product portfolio and provides Amer Sports with a strong position and opportunity for gaining
substantial synergies by combining Louisville Slugger’s operations to Wilson and DeMarini. The
goodwill is tax deductible.

The following fair values of the assets and liabilities of Louisville Slugger business have been

consolidated into Amer Sports’ results from the acquisition date. Transaction costs of EUR 1.4
million are included in the operating expenses of the consolidated income statement.
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EUR million Fair value
Intangible non-current assets 40.6
Goodwill 12.1
Inventories 6.2
Accounts receivables 11.8
TOTAL ASSETS 70.7
Interest-free liabilities 4.3
NET ASSETS 66.4
Purchase price 66.4

Analysis of the cash flows on the acquisition

Purchase price 66.4
Transaction costs 1.4
Net cash flow on acquisition 67.8

Fair value of accounts receivables was EUR 2.6 million lower than book value at the date of
acquisition due to impairment of doubtful receivables.

On May 12, 2015 Amer Sports acquired 100% of the shares in the company Sports Tracking
Technologies Oy to strengthen its digital connectivity services and capabilities. Sports Tracker is
a digital sports application and online service. It has a strong technology platform and capability,
and it is a recognized digital service which is used globally. The purchase price was EUR 5.0
million. The fair value of the acquired net assets was EUR 4.0 million, which mainly comprised of
the intangible assets, such as the customer register and technical know-how. In addition goodwill
of EUR 1.0 million was recognized. The acquisition had no material impact on Amer Sports’ 2015
financial results.

On July 21, 2015 Amer Sports strengthened its fitness product and service offering through the
acquisition of Queenax. Queenax is a leading functional training systems provider. Queenax
was integrated into Precor, which is Amer Sports’ Fitness business segment. The acquisition
includes the Queenax brand as well as intellectual property and distribution rights, among others.
Functional strength training is one of the fastest growing segments in the commercial fitness
industry. The acquisition will enable Precor to offer its customers a complete functional training
system and will further solidify Precor as a leading player in the global fitness equipment and
services market. The purchase price was EUR 5.0 million, out of which EUR 4.5 million was paid
in 2015. The fair value of acquired net assets was EUR 5.0 million, which was also the value
allocated to goodwill. The acquisition had no material impact on Amer Sports 2015 financial
results.

In March 2015, Amer Sports sold Nikita and Bonfire brands to CRN Pte Ltd. The sale price was
EUR 1.0 million and received fully in cash. The combined net sales of Nikita and Bonfire in 2014
was EUR 9.8 million. The divestments had no material impact on Amer Sports’ 2015 financial
results.
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4. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

EUR million 2016 2015
Rental income on real estate 0.0 0.0
Gain on sale of non-current assets 0.2 0.1
Government subsidies 1.8 1.2
Credits for research and competitiveness taxes 2.0 1.8
Compensation for discontinued distribution 2.8 -
Other 2.0 1.7
Total 8.8 4.8

S. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

EUR million 2016 2015
Wages and salaries 405.9 386.6
Social expenditure
Pensions-defined contribution plans 14.7 12.4
Pensions-defined benefit plans 3.7 4.5
Other social security 83.3 78.7
Total 507.6 482.2

In countries where social expenditure paid to the government cannot be divided between pensions
and other social security, the expenses are presented under the heading Other social security.

Salaries and other compensation of the management are presented in note 27.
6. PENSIONS

Pension security for Group companies is based on each country’s local regulations and practices.
The Group’s most significant defined benefit pension plan is for Wilson Sporting Goods Co.
(USA), whose present value of funded obligations is 38% (61%) of the Group’s total value. In
addition to the USA, the Group has defined benefit pension plans in France, Switzerland, the UK,
Germany, Japan and Austria. These are handled via pension funds or pension companies whose
assets are not included in Group’s assets. Contributions to the funds are made in accordance
with local regulations. In the USA and the UK pension funds are closed, and new members are
no longer admitted to them. The Group’s other pension arrangements, such as the Finnish TyEL
statutory employment pension, are mainly defined contribution plans.

In the current year the company has reclassified obligations arising in Austria previously disclosed

as accrued liabilities as part of defined pension obligations. Therefore the disclosed numbers in
2015 have been restated.
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The net liability recognized in the balance sheet relating to defined benefit pension plans is

defined as follows:

EUR million 2016 2015
Present value of funded obligations 196.6 187.9
Fair value of plan assets -118.6 -117.8
Deficit 78.0 70.1
Impact of minimum funding requirement/asset ceiling - -
Net liability in the balance sheet at December 31 78.0 70.1
The movement in the defined benefit obligation is as follows:
Present Fair
value value of
EUR million of obligation plan asset Total
At January 1, 2015 176.6 -107.3 69.3
Current service cost 4.7 - 4.7
Past service cost and gains and
losses on settlements -0.2 - -0.2
Administration cost paid from plan assets -0.8 0.8 0.0
Interest expense/(income) 6.7 -4.6 2.1
Cost recognized in income statement 10.4 -3.8 6.6
Remeasurements:
Return on plan assets, excluding
amounts included in
interest expenses/(income) - 4.7 4.7
(Gain)/loss from change in demographic
assumptions 0.3 - 0.3
(Gain)/loss from change in financial
assumptions -7.4 - -7.4
Experience (gains)/losses -1.0 - -1.0
Other changes 0.4 0.1 0.5
Remeasurements effects recognized in OCI -7.7 4.8 -2.9
Contributions:
Employers -0.6 -6.7 -7.3
Employees 0.8 -0.8 0.0
Benefits paid from plan assets -6.9 6.9 0.0
Other changes - - 0.0
Exchange rate differences 15.3 -10.9 4.4
At December 31, 2015 187.9 -117.8 70.1
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Present Fair
value value of
EUR million of obligation plan asset Total
At January 1, 2016 187.9 -117.8 70.1
Current service cost 3.5 0.0 3.5
Past service cost and gains and
losses on settlements 0.1 0.0 0.1
Administration cost paid from plan assets -0.9 1.0 0.1
Interest expense (income) 7.4 -4.9 2.5
Cost recognized in income statement 10.1 -3.9 6.2
Remeasurements:
Return on plan assets, excluding
amounts included in
interest expenses/(income) 0.0 -2.4 -2.4
(Gain)/loss from change in demographic
assumptions -1.3 0.0 -1.3
(Gain)/loss from change in financial
assumptions 12.0 0.0 12.0
Experience (gains)/losses 0.8 0.0 0.8
Other changes 0.0 0.0 0.0
Remeasurements effects recognized in OCI 11.5 -2.4 9.1
Contributions:
Employers -0.4 -6.8 -7.2
Employees 1.6 -1.6 0.0
Benefits paid from plan assets -13.2 13.2 0.0
Exchange rate differences -0.9 0.7 -0.2
At December 31, 2016 196.6 -118.6 78.0
Principal actuarial assumptions:
2016 2015
% USA Europe Japan USA Europe Japan
Discount rate 4.20-4.40  0.30-2.65 0.50 4.70-4.85  0.90-3.80 0.80
Inflation 225 0.00-3.50 0.00 2.25 1.00-3.20 0.00
Future salary increases 2,50 0.00-3.00 1.70 2.50 1.00 - 3.10 1.70
Future pension increases 0.00  0.00-2.10 0.00 0.00 0.00 -2.20 0.00
Sensitivity analysis:
Impact on
Change in defined
% assumption obligation
Discount rate 0.25% decrease 3.22
Inflation rate 0.25% increase 1.18
Mortality rate 1 year increase in 2.02

life expectancy
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Major categories of plan assets:

EUR million 2016 2015
US equities 22.8 12.1
UK equities 4.5 6.0
Other equities 19.2 11.4
Corporate bonds 27.4 17.1
Government bonds 39.7 65.9
Commodities 0.0 0.6
Other including cash 5.0 4.7

Through its defined pension plans Amer Sports is exposed to actuarial risks such as investment
risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk and mortality risk.

The main risk is that additional contributions are required if investment returns are not sufficient
to pay for the benefits. The level of equity returns is a key determinant of overall investment
return; the investment portfolio is also subject to range of other risks typical to asset classes held.
A decrease in corporate bond yields, a rise in inflation or an increase in life expectancy would
result in an increase in plan liabilities. This would detrimentally impact the balance sheet position
and may give rise to increased cost in income statement. This effect would be partially offset by
an increase in the value of the plan’s bond holdings. Additionally, caps on inflationary increases
are in place to protect the plan against extreme inflation.

The estimated contributions to the pension plans during 2017 are EUR 8.4 million.

The weighted average of the duration of the defined benefit obligations is 13.3.

7. DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Depreciation and amortization by asset type

EUR million 2016 2015
Intangible rights 4.0 3.2
Other intangible assets 10.3 6.0
Buildings and constructions 11.2 9.6
Machinery and equipment 34.5 32.3
Total 60.0 51.1

Impairment losses by asset type

No impairment losses were recognized in 2016 and 2015.
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Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses by function

EUR million 2016 2015
Cost of goods sold 20.3 19.5
Research and development 8.8 3.1
Selling and marketing 16.8 12.8
Administration and other expenses 14.1 15.7
Total 60.0 51.1

Amer Sports brands are well known and established in their respective markets. Products sold
under these brands have been available to customers for a long period of time and they have been
used by top athletes for decades. Amer Sports focuses on brand awareness and on the quality and
performance of the products sold under those brands. The brands will continue to generate positive
cash flow, hence they are not subject to amortization.

Impairment tests of goodwill and other intangible rights with indefinite useful lives, such as
trademarks, are performed when the management has identified indications of impairment or once
a year when business areas’ plans for the next three years are approved by the management in the
last quarter. The Group management uses assumptions in respect of future market and economic
conditions, such as economic growth, expected inflation rates, expected market share, revenue and
margin developments.

Goodwill is monitored by management at Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) level, the level at which
it and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for impairment. The CGUs in Amer
Sports are the following: Winter Sports Equipment, Salomon Apparel and Footwear, Arc’teryx
Apparel and Gear, Cycling, Sports Instruments, Individual Ball Sports, Team Sports, Golf, and
Fitness.

The impairment tests were calculated during the fourth quarter of 2016 on budgeted 2017 opening
balances by comparing the carrying amount of the asset being tested to its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value-in-use (“VIU”) and fair value less cost of selling. If
the VIU indicates impairment, the fair value less cost to sell is calculated in order to determine
recoverable amount. The VIU has been calculated using a discounted cash flow model method for
each CGU based on the following assumptions:

. A five-year future period was used after which a perpetuity value was defined.

. First year is based on the approved budget and the next two years on the business areas’
detailed business plans. The expected growth for the fourth and fifth year is zero.

. The perpetuity value is derived from a combination of esti-mate period and actual results
using the Gordon model. The default perpetuity growth is 2% which is in line with the
management’s view on long-term inflation which is no growth in real terms. In some cases
where management expects well above average growth after the estimate period, the growth
rate may rise to 5%.

. Current cost structure is to remain unchanged.
. Discount rate is determined separately for the North American and European businesses and

it has varied on the range of 7.84%-10.83% pre-tax (6.90%-9.07%); equal to 6.15%-6.18%
post-tax (5.92%-5.96%). The main components of the discount rate were:
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Risk Free Interest Rate Debt
Risk Free Interest Rate Equity
Equity Market Risk Premium
Asset Beta (Unlevered Beta)
Debt Risk Premium

Tax Rate

2016

0.42%
1.24%
4.25%

0.92
1.55%

27%°-36%

2015

0.73%
1.32%
5.11%
0.89
1.82%
27%-36%

The main change to discount rate arose from a drop in the equity market risk premium and lower

debt risk premium.

Goodwill and other intangible rights with indefinite useful lives have been allocated to CGUs as
described in the table below. The table also sets out the discount rates used per CGU:

EUR million

Outdoor
Winter Sports
Equipment
Salomon Apparel
and Footwear
Arc’teryx Apparel
and Gear
Cycling
Sports Instruments
Ball Sports
Individual Ball Sports
Team Sports
Fitness
Fitness

Pre-tax
discount rate, %
2016 2015
7.9 7.5
7.8 7.7
10.8 6.9
7.9 7.7
7.8 8.0
8.6 9.1
8.7 8.5
8.7 8.5
8.4 7.8

Total

Goodwill

2016 2015
11.7 11.7
19.6 -
30.3 30.2
80.3 77.7
60.1 58.2

171.4 168.4

373.4 346.2

Intangible
rights with
indefinite
useful lives
2016 2015
88.3 87.8
66.6 66.2
8.4 7.9
42.0 23.3
42.0 40.7
2.8 2.6
250.1 228.5

In 2016 and 2015, the value-in-use of goodwill and other intangible rights with indefinite useful
lives of all CGUs exceeded their carrying amounts. The table below summarizes how a +/-
1-2%-point change in discount rate and/or in perpetuity growth would impact on the result of the

impairment test in 2016:

-2%
-1%
Rate
1%
2%

-2%

S oo oo
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Based on the changes in the key variables used in the sensitivity analysis, the management
estimates that it is unlikely that there is sensitivity on impairment.

The table below summarizes how a +/- 1-2%-point change in growth rate and/or in profitability in
the 5 year estimate period would impact on the result of the impairment test in 2016:

-2% -1% Growth 1% 2%
2% 0 0 0 0 0
1% 0 0 0 0 0
Rate 0 0 0 0 0
-1% 0 0 0 0 0
-2% 0 0 0 0 0

Based on the changes in the key variables used in the sensitivity analysis, the management
estimates that it is unlikely that there is significant sensitivity on impairment.

The results of the value-in-use calculations have been analyzed against the valuation reports
prepared by industry analysts in various investment banks. The analysis shows that the results are

in-line with the analysts’ average estimates.

8. COMPENSATION OF AUDITORS

EUR million 2016 2015
Statutory audit 1.9 1.9
Tax consulting 0.1 0.5
Other services 0.0 0.1
Total 2.0 2.5

Amer Sports Corporation Annual General Meeting held on March 8, 2016 elected Authorised
Public Accountant Firm Ernst & Young Oy to act as auditor of the Company.

9. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

In 2016, the Group had several share-based incentive arrangements which are targeted to Group
key personnel. These have been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2. According to the terms
of the arrangements, the Group key employees are granted shares and a cash payment covering
taxes and tax-related costs arising from the reward.

Performance share plans 2013 and 2016

The performance share plan 2013 includes six earning periods: the calendar years 2013, 2014 and
2015 and calendar years 2013-2015, 2014-2016 and 2015-2017. The Board of Directors decided
on the earnings criteria and the targets to be established for them for each earning period at the
beginning of each earning period. Rewards from the plan for the earning period 2013 were based
on the Group’s EBIT and net sales and the rewards for the earning period 2013-2015 were based
on the Group’s total shareholder return. Rewards from the plan for the earning period 2014 were
based on Group’s EBIT and net sales. Potential rewards for the earning period 2014-2016 will be
based on the Group’s total shareholder return. The rewards from the plan for the earning period
2015 were based on Group’s EBIT and net sales. Potential rewards for the earning period 2015-
2017 will be based on the Group’s total shareholder return. For the six earning periods, Group’s
EBIT constituted 80% of and total shareholder return 20% of the earnings criteria.
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The performance share plan 2016 includes six earning periods as well: the calendar years 2016,
2017 and 2018 and calendar years 2016-2018, 2017-2019 and 2018-2020. The Board of Directors
will decide on the earnings criteria and the targets to be established for them for each earning
period at the beginning of each earning period. The potential rewards from the plan for the earning
periods 2016, 2017 and 2018 will be based on the Group’s EBIT and net sales and the potential
rewards for the earning periods 2016-2018, 2017-2019 and 2018-2020 will be based on the
Group’s total shareholder return. For the ongoing earning periods, the weighting for the Group’s
EBIT and net sales totals 80% and total shareholder return 20%.

A prerequisite for participation by key personnel in the plans and for receiving rewards on the
basis of the plans is that they must acquire company shares. In 2016, as a reward for meeting this
condition, 7,276 shares were transferred to new key personnel participating in the performance
share plan (2015: 31,649).

Potential rewards from the earning periods will be paid partly in company’s shares and partly in
cash. Cash payments will equal to taxes and tax-related costs which arise from the reward to key
personnel. The amount of net rewards to be paid on the basis of the performance share plan 2013
will be a maximum total of 1,400,000 Amer Sports Corporation shares. The amount of net rewards
to be paid on the basis of the performance share plan 2016 will be a maximum total of 1,100,000
Amer Sports Corporation shares. In 2015, 134,126 shares were transferred to key personnel in
relation to the earning period 2014, and 72,870 shares in relation to the earning period 2012-2014.
In 2016, 111,264 shares were transferred to key personnel in relation to the earning period 2015,
and 53,490 shares in relation to the earning period 2013-2015. Shares awarded in connection with
the earning periods 2014 and 2015 may not be transferred during the restriction periods ending on
December 31, 2016, and December 31, 2017 respectively.

In 2016, 21,769 shares granted as share-based incentives based on the performance share plan
were returned to Amer Sports Corporation in accordance with the terms of the incentive plan as
employment ended (2015: 35,540).

At the end of 2016, 176 people were covered by the performance share plan 2013 for earning
period 2014-2016 and 209 people for the earning period 2015-2017. 269 people participated in the
performance share plan 2016 for the earning periods 2016 and 2016-2018.

Members of the Group Executive Board must hold 50% of the shares they receive on the basis of
incentive plans as long as the value of the shares held by the member of the Executive Board in
total corresponds to the person’s annual gross salary.

Performance share plan has been measured at fair value at grant date. The cash payment intended
to cover the tax consequences has been calculated using the share market price on the date of
conveying the shares. The cash payment accrued relating to shares not yet conveyed has been
revalued at the share market price prevailing on the closing date.

Restricted stock plans 2013 and 2016

In restricted stock plans, potential rewards will be based on continuation of employment. Potential
rewards from the earning periods will be paid partly as the company’s shares and partly in cash.
Cash payments will equal to taxes and tax-related costs incurring by a result of receiving a reward.

The restricted stock plan 2013 included three earning periods: calendar years 2013, 2014 and
2015. Shares may not be transferred during the restriction periods, which will end on December
31, 2016 and December 31, 2017 respectively. In 2015 and in relation to earning period 2014,
83,600 shares were transferred to key employees participating in this plan. In 2016 and in relation
to earning period 2015, 80,000 shares were transferred.
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The restricted stock plan 2016 includes three earning periods as well: calendar years 2016,
2017 and 2018. Shares may not be transferred during the restriction periods, which will end on
December 31, 2018, December 31, 2019, and December 31, 2020 respectively. The amount of
net rewards to be paid on the basis of the restricted stock plan 2016 will be a maximum total of
200,000 Amer Sports Corporation shares. At the end of 2016, 63 people were covered by the
restricted stock plan 2016 for earning period 2016.

In 2016, 19,733 shares granted as share-based incentives in the restricted stock plan were returned
to Amer Sports Corporation in accordance with the terms of the incentive plan as employment
ended (2015: 14,300).

The members of the Group Executive Board must hold 50% of the shares they receive on the basis
of incentive plans as long as the value of the shares held by the member of the Executive Board in
total corresponds to the person’s annual gross salary.

Restricted stock plan has been measured at fair value at grant date. The cash payment intended
to cover the tax consequences has been calculated using the share market price on the date of
conveying the shares. The cash payment accrued relating to shares not yet conveyed has been
revalued at the share market price prevailing on the closing date.

Deferred cash long-term incentive plans

Deferred cash long-term incentive programs seeked to elicit commitment from key executives. The
programs encouraged the achievement of the annual targets and long-term shareholder value. The
results were tied to the three-year trend in shareholder value. The rewards were payable in cash in
the same currency as the salary. The last program ended in 2015.

The key conditions and assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of the
arrangements are presented in the table below:

Performance
share plans
and restricted Performance share plans and
stock plans 2016 restricted stock plans 2013
2016 2015 2014 2013
Grant date Feb 3/March 9,  Feb 2/March 12,  Jan 28/March 7,  Jan 31/March 8,
2016 2015 2014 2013
Number of instruments granted” 426,645/-273,643  528,247/-257,419  530,715/-112,116  475,532/-224,866
Fair value at grant date, EUR 25.03 18.13 14.62 11.64
Vesting period, years 3 3 3 3
Returned shares 41,502 49,840 28,197 29,198
Fair value per instrument at
grant date, EUR 25.03 18.13 14.62 11.64
" The negative value refers to an adjustment made to the number of instruments granted in
previous years.
EUR million 2016 2015

Expense of share-based incentive schemes recognized

in earnings 9.2 10.1
Accrual of cash component of share-based incentive schemes 3.7 4.0
Expense of deferred cash long-term incentive plans recognized

in earnings -0.6 3.5
Accrual of deferred cash long-term incentive plans - 6.0
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10. FINANCING INCOME AND EXPENSES
EUR million

Interest income
Interest expenses
Interest expenses on bonds
Interest expenses on commercial papers
Interest expenses on loans from financial institutions
Other interest expenses
Total interest expenses

Change in fair value of derivative instruments not used
in hedge accounting

Exchange rate losses

Other financing expenses

Uneffectiveness of cash flow hedges

Total, net

11. INCOME TAXES
EUR million

Current taxes
Taxes for prior periods
Deferred taxes

Total

EUR million

Current taxes:

EMEA

Americas

Asia Pacific
Total

Thereof for prior periods
Deferred taxes

Total
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2016 2015

1.1 1.1
-13.9 -17.3
-0.2 -0.1
-1.3 -1.1
-14.6 -11.2
-30.0 -29.7
-1.4 -1.0
-1.1 -5.4
-0.4 -1.1

0.0 0.0
-31.8 -36.1
2016 2015
34.8 36.3

4.4 1.5

6.9 8.6
46.1 46.4
2016 2015
20.5 18.0

6.9 3.8
11.8 16.0
39.2 37.8

4.4 1.5

6.9 8.6
46.1 46.4
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Reconciliation between income taxes at local tax rates in different countries and the total tax
expense in the income statement:

EUR million 2016 2015

Taxes at local rates applicable to earnings

in countries concerned 46.8 45.6
Permanent differences -2.5 -1.3
Realisability of deferred tax assets -3.4 3.3
Changes in tax rates and tax laws 1.0 0.4
Taxes for prior periods 4.4 1.5
Tax credits -0.2 -3.1
Taxes recognized in the income statement 46.1 46.4
Effective tax rate, % 26.6 27.6

Certain of the Group companies’ income tax returns for prior periods are under examination by
tax authorities. Even 2015 though the Group does not expect that any significant additional taxes
in excess of those already provided for will arise as a result of the examinations, it cannot be
excluded that final resolutions of open items may differ from the amounts initially recorded.

The Group classifies interest on tax claims as interest expense and income tax penalties as
provision for income taxes.

The reconciliation of deferred tax assets and liabilities is presented in note 15.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

2016 2015

Net result attributable to equity holders

of the parent company, EUR million 126.9 121.6
Net result for the calculation of

earnings per share, EUR million 126.9 121.6
Weighted average number of shares

outstanding during the period (1,000 pcs) 117,521 117,314
Earnings per share, EUR 1.08 1.04
Earnings per share, excluding items

affecting comparability, EUR 1.18 1.09
Weighted average number of

shares outstanding during the

period, diluted (1,000 pcs) 118,052 117,913
Earnings per share, diluted, EUR 1.07 1.03
Earnings per share, diluted, excluding

items affecting comparability, EUR 1.18 1.08
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13. INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Advances
Other Machinery Other paid and
Intangible intangible ~ Land and Buildings and and tangible construction
EUR million rights Goodwill assets water constructions  equipment assets  in progress
Initial cost, January 1, 2016 288.0 449.0 102.7 14.8 148.2 418.0 03 10.3
Additions 15 - 17.6 - 11.2 255 - 359
Company acquisitions 26.0 18.5 - - - 24 - -
Company divestments and disposals - - - - -0.6 2.1 - -
Transfers and scrapping -6.0 - 17.6 - 0.7 238 - -26.2
Translation differences 48 11.0 0.4 0.2 Il 42 - 0.6
Balance, December 31, 2016 3143 478.5 1383 15.0 160.6 4242 0.3 20.6
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, January 1, 2016 415 102.8 6.1 0.0 9.3 294.6 0.0 0.0
Depreciation during the period 40 - 103 - 112 345 - -
Company acquisitions - - - - - 12 - -
Company divestments and disposals - - - - 03 -20 - -
Transfers and scrapping 33 - -0.5 - -42 -354 - -
Translation differences 0.6 23 0.6 - 1.0 3.8 - -
Balance, December 31, 2016 488 105.1 7.5 0.0 98.0 296.7 0.0 0.0
Balance sheet value, December 31, 2016 265.5 3734 66.8 15.0 62.6 1275 03 20.6

Carrying amount of finance
leases included - - - - - 18.9 - -

Accumulated impairment losses of goodwill at January 1, 2016 totaled EUR 18.4 million.

Additions in other intangible assets and advances paid and construction in progress include EUR
26.0 million of capitalized product development expenses including investments in the new
platforms for connected devices and digital services.

Advances
Other Machinery Other paid and
Intangible intangible ~ Land and  Buildings and and tangible  construction
EUR million rights Goodwill assets water constructions  equipment assets  in progress
Initial cost, January 1, 2015 2329 400.3 09.0 145 136.7 360.0 04 0.6
Additions 32 - 258 - 6.7 26.1 - 15.5
Company acquisitions 46.2 18.5 20 - - - - -
Company divestments and disposals - - - - -0.3 -39 - -
Transfers and scrapping 15 - 37 -0.1 03 20.1 0.1 -12.1
Translation differences 42 302 22 0.4 54 9.7 - 0.3
Balance, December 31, 2015 288.0 449.0 102.7 14.8 148.2 418.0 0.3 10.3
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, January 1, 2015 439 95.3 33 0.0 80.9 269.3 0.0 0.0
Depreciation during the period 32 - 6.0 - 9.6 323 - -
Company divestments and disposals - - - - 0.1 34 - -
Transfers and scrapping -0.5 - -0.2 - 3.8 -10.7 - -
Translation differences 0.9 1.5 20 - 37 7.1 - -
Balance, December 31, 2015 415 102.8 61.1 0.0 90.3 294.6 0.0 0.0
Balance sheet value, December 31, 2015 240.5 346.2 416 14.8 57.9 1234 03 10.3
Carrying amount of finance
leases included - - - - - 215 - -
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Accumulated impairment losses of goodwill at January 1, 2015 totaled EUR 16.5 million.

Additions in other intangible assets include EUR 21.9 million of capitalized product development
expenses including investments in the new platforms for connected devices and digital services.

14. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Available-for-sale financial assets, EUR 0.4 million (0.4), consist in their entirety of shares in
unlisted companies and real estate shares. They are measured at fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents, EUR 364.0 million (331.4), include cash in hand EUR 303.6 million,
short-term deposits EUR 52.5 million and restricted cash EUR 7.9 million.

15. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Charge Acquired
Jan 1, in income Translation Charged and sold Dec 31,
EUR million 2016  statement differences to OCI  operations 2016
Deferred tax assets:
Provisions 24.5 0.8 1.0 - - 26.3
Carryforward of unused
tax losses 30.0 -10.8 1.2 - - 20.4
Employee benefits 28.6 -0.5 0.2 -3.2 - 25.1
Impairment 4.2 -0.1 0.2 - - 43
Other temporary
differences 25.2 10.1 1.2 - - 36.5
Total 112.5 -0.5 3.8 -3.2 - 112.6
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fair value adjustments 3.1 -4.7 1.0 4.0 - 2.8
Depreciation differences -31.4 -4.7 -0.7 - - -36.8
Other temporary
differences 2.4 3.0 0.2 - - 0.8
Total -36.9 -6.4 0.5 4.0 - -38.8
Net deferred tax assets 75.6 -6.9 43 0.8 - 73.8

Deferred taxes recognized in the balance sheet at December 31, 2016:

Deferred tax assets 110.1
Deferred tax liabilities 36.3
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Charge Acquired
Jan 1, in income Translation Charged and sold Dec 31,
EUR million 2015  statement differences to OCI  operations 2015
Deferred tax assets:
Provisions 242 0.1 0.2 - - 24.5
Carryforward of unused
tax losses 422 -12.3 0.1 - - 30.0
Employee benefits 23.1 2.8 4.1 -1.4 - 28.6
Impairment 3.8 0.2 0.2 - - 4.2
Other temporary
differences 29.8 -4.5 -0.1 - - 25.2
Total 123.1 -13.7 4.5 -1.4 - 112.5
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fair value adjustments -11.6 8.5 0.5 -0.5 - 3.1
Depreciation differences -26.8 -4.0 0.1 - -0.7 -31.4
Other temporary
differences -3.2 0.6 0.2 - - 2.4
Total -41.6 5.1 0.8 -0.5 -0.7 -36.9
Net deferred tax assets 81.5 -8.6 5.3 -1.9 -0.7 75.6

Deferred taxes recognized in the balance sheet at December 31, 2015:

Deferred tax assets 116.2
Deferred tax liabilities 40.6

At December 31, 2016 there were unused tax losses carried forward and other temporary
differences of EUR 34.6 million (33.1) for which no deferred tax assets were recognized. The
unrecognized deferred tax assets at December 31, 2016 totaled EUR 10.8 million (10.0). No
deferred tax asset has been recognized since the utilization of losses in full in the near future
is not probable or the losses have been created in countries where the possibilities for their
utilization are limited.

Deferred tax liabilities on the retained earnings of foreign subsidiaries have not been recognized,
since the distributions of dividend from the subsidiaries are under control of the Group.
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16. VALUATION PROVISIONS OF INVENTORIES AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

EUR million 2016 2015
Impairment losses of accounts receivable 11.2 15.7
Net realizable value valuation provision 25.1 27.2

Aging analysis of accounts receivable and amounts recognized as impairment losses

Impairment Impairment

EUR million 2016 losses Net 2016 2015 losses Net 2015
Undue accounts

receivable 506.7 - 506.7 4734 - 473 .4
Accounts receivable

1-30 days overdue 58.6 - 58.6 49.6 - 49.6
Accounts receivable

31-60 days overdue 25.4 - 25.4 19.3 - 19.3
Accounts receivable

61-90 days overdue 8.0 - 8.0 10.1 - 10.1
Accounts receivable

91-120 days overdue 6.1 - 6.1 7.3 - 7.3
Accounts receivable

more than 120 days

overdue 13.7 -11.2 2.5 19.9 -15.7 4.2
Total 618.5 -11.2 607.3 579.6 -15.7 563.9
Gross and net inventories
EUR million 2016 2015
Gross inventories 538.7 509.2
Net realizable value valuation provision 25.1 27.2
Net inventories 513.6 482.0

17. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

EUR million 2016 2015
Prepaid interest 14.4 12.0
Prepaid advertising and promotion 5.6 5.1
Other tax receivables 17.3 18.0
Accrued employee benefits 14.3 10.3
Derivative instruments 51.4 101.7
Other receivables 58.3 56.0
Total 161.3 203.1
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18. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Invested

Number Share Premium unrestricted

EUR million of shares capital fund equity reserve
January 1, 2015 118,517,285 292.2 12.1 163.1
December 31, 2015 118,517,285 292.2 12.1 163.1
December 31, 2016 118,517,285 292.2 12.1 163.1

The articles of association of Amer Sports Corporation does not restrict the number of shares that
can be issued.

Premium fund

The premium fund is used for recognizing the payments for share subscriptions received in excess
of the par value (EUR 4.00 per share) before the 2009 share issue.

Fund for own shares

Fund for own shares includes the cost of own shares held by Amer Sports Corporation (Dec 31,
2016: EUR 15.5 million or 971,718 shares; Dec 31, 2015: EUR 18.1 million or 1,176,673 shares).

Translation differences

Translation differences comprise the differences arising from the elimination of net investments in
non-euro entities.

Fair value and other reserves

Fair value and other reserves include changes in the fair values of available-for-sale financial
assets and derivative financial instruments used for hedging interest and foreign currency cash
flows.

Invested unrestricted equity reserve

Invested unrestricted equity reserve contains the subscription proceeds from a share issue to the
extent that it is not, in accordance with an explicit decision of the shareholders, booked to the
share capital.

Amount of capital repayment proposed

A capital repayment proposed by the Board of Directors for the financial year is EUR 0.62

(dividend 0.55) per share. Total capital repayment amounts to EUR 73.5 million (dividend 64.7)
and is proposed to be distributed from the invested unrestricted equity reserve.
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19. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Outstanding Repayments
Dec 31, 2022 and
EUR million 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 after  Fair value
Bonds 697.5 - 164.7 - 2018 91.0 230.0 691.1
Loans from financial institutions 1312 02 30.4 50.4 0.1 50.1 - 1312
Commercial papers 49.9 49.9 - - - - - 499
Other interest-bearing liabilities 213 3.6 22 25 24 23 8.3 213
Total 899.9 53.7 197.3 52.9 2143 143.4 2383 893.5
Outstanding Repayments
Dec 31, 2021 and
EUR million 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 after  Fair value
Bonds 688.5 154.4 - 165.5 - 208.7 159.9 680.6
Loans from financial institutions 81.4 - 0.0 30.4 50.4 0.4 0.2 81.4
Commercial papers - - - - - - - -
Other interest-bearing liabilities 21.8 2.8 2.6 25 24 23 9.2 218
Total 791.7 1572 2.6 198.4 52.8 2014 169.3 783.8

Fair values have been calculated by discounting future cash flows at market-determined interest
rates at the end of the financial period.

FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES
EUR million 2016 2015

Finance lease liabilities are due as follows:

Not later than one year 2.9 2.9
Later than one year but not
later than five years 9.6 10.0
Later than five years 6.4 8.6
Total minimum lease payments 18.9 21.5

Present value of minimum lease payments is not materially different from their carrying amount.

20. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

EUR million 2016 2015
Accrued personnel costs 99.3 106.1
Accrued discounts and rebates 23.3 19.2
Accrued interest 18.0 16.5
Accrued advertising and promotion 13.4 10.9
Value added tax 29.0 23.7
Payables related to derivatives 35.5 56.8
Other accrued liabilities 128.8 104.1
Total 347.3 337.3
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21. PROVISIONS

Product Restruc- Environ-

EUR million warranty turing mental Other Total
Balance at January 1, 2016 25.2 4.2 0.5 7.0 36.9
Translation differences 0.6 0.1 0.7
Provisions made during the year 13.7 1.1 5.2 20.0
Company acquisitions 0.7 0.7
Provisions used during the year -10.9 -1.3 -3.8 -16.0
Provisions reversed during the year -1.1 -0.3 -1.2 -2.6
Balance at December 31, 2016 28.2 3.8 0.5 7.2 39.7
Current provisions 34.6
Long-term provisions 5.1
Total 39.7

The most important regular provisions are due to the repair or as marked previously replacement
of products during their warranty period. In material terms warranty provisions are realized in
the following year. In Fitness business some extended warranty periods are granted to customers.
Extended warranties expected to realise after one year are presented under long-term provisions
and they were EUR 1.5 million at the 2016 period end.

The Group has long-term environmental provisions in USA.

Other provisions include e.g. buyback provisions of Fitness business and asset retirement
obligations of some leased premises.

22. ADJUSTMENTS TO CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

EUR million 2016 2015
Share-based incentive schemes 32 0.2
One-time costs 0.1 0.3
Gains and losses on sale of

non-current assets -0.1 -0.1
Total 3.2 0.4

23. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
EUR million 2016 2015

The future minimum payments of
non-cancellable operating leases:

Not later than one year 55.4 45.4
Later than one year but not later than five years 134.7 101.6
Later than five years 49.3 41.2
Total 239.4 188.2

Total rent expense of non-cancellable operating
leases recognized in the income statement 48.7 47.9

Non-cancellable rental agreements are primarily related to the office, shop and production
premises rented by the Group.
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24. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

EUR million 2016 2015
Guarantees 30.2 33.8
Other contingent liabilities 74.2 69.4

Other contingent liabilities are primarily due to long-term endorsement contracts with several
professional and other leagues, particularly in the United States, and athlete contracts.

There are no guarantees or contingencies given for the management of the Group, for the
shareholders, or for the associated companies.

Ongoing litigations

The Group has extensive international operations and is involved in a number of legal proceedings,
including product liability suits. The Group does not expect the outcome of any legal proceedings
currently pending to have materially adverse effect upon its consolidated results or financial
position.

25. PRINCIPAL GROUP COMPANIES AT DECEMBER 31, 2016

Group
holding, %

Amer Sports Austria GmbH, Bergheim bei Salzburg, Austria 100
Amer Sports Canada Inc., British Columbia, Canada 100
Amer Sports Corporation, Helsinki, Finland

Amer Sports Deutschland GmbH, Garching, Germany 100
Amer Sports Europe Services GmbH, Garching, Germany 100
Amer Sports European Center AG, Geneva, Switzerland 100
Amer Sports France S.A.S., Villefontaine, France 100
Amer Sports Japan, Inc., Tokyo, Japan 100
Amer Sports Shanghai Trading Ltd, Shanghai, China 100
Amer Sports Sourcing Ltd, Hong Kong, China 100
Amer Sports UK Limited, Irvine, UK 100
Amer Sports Winter & Outdoor Company, Ogden, USA 100
Atomic Austria GmbH, Altenmarkt, Austria 100
Mavic S.A.S., Annecy, France 100
Precor Incorporated, Woodinville, USA 100
Salomon S.A.S., Annecy, France 100
Suunto Oy, Vantaa, Finland 100
Wilson Sporting Goods Co., Chicago, USA 100

Principal group companies in the above list are the most important companies of the Group from
the operational perspective. In addition to the parent company they include key brand companies,
biggest sales companies and major logistics and sourcing companies.

A complete list of Amer Sports’ subsidiaries is included in statutory accounts of Amer Sports
Corporation. Group had no associated companies at December 31, 2016.
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26. FAIR VALUE AND OTHER RESERVES
EUR million

Balance at January 1, 2016

Gains and losses deferred to shareholders’ equity
Hedging of operating cash flows
Hedging of interest cash flows

Gains and losses recognized in the income statement
Hedging of operating cash flows
Hedging of interest cash flows

Deferred taxes

Balance at December 31, 2016

Balance at January 1, 2015

Gains and losses deferred to sharcholders’ equity
Hedging of operating cash flows
Hedging of interest cash flows

Gains and losses recognized in the income statement
Hedging of operating cash flows
Hedging of interest cash flows

Deferred taxes

Balance at December 31, 2015

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

22.5
8.1

448
-5.8
4.0
27.8
41.6

-27.9
5.0

31.0
-5.4
-0.5
43.8

Related parties include the parent company, subsidiaries (note 25), the Board of Directors and the

Executive Board.

Key management includes the Board of Directors and the Executive Board. Salaries and

remuneration paid to key management is shown below:
EUR million

Salaries and remuneration of
the Board of Directors
Salaries and remuneration of the Executive
Board (excluding President and CEO)
Annual Salary of the President and CEO
Annual and long-term incentives of the President and CEO
Total
Cumulative expenses, President and CEO

Total
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Compensation recognized in earnings:

EUR million 2016 2015
Salaries and other short—term employee benefits 7.5 5.9
Post-employment benefits 0.3 0.3
Share-based payments 2.2 3.3
Total 10.0 9.5

40% of the annual remuneration to the Board of Directors is paid in shares and 60% in cash.
Members of the Board of Directors do not have contractual retirement benefits with the company.

The terms and conditions of the President and CEO’s employment are defined in a written
executive agreement that has been approved by the Board of Directors. Both the company and
the President and CEO must provide six months’ notice to terminate the President and CEO’s
employment contract. Should the company give the President and CEO notice of termination, the
company must pay severance payment equal to twelve months of total annual gross salary. The
President and CEO participates in the standard local statutory pension system and may retire at the
age of 65. In 2016, the expense for post-employment benefits was EUR 0.1 million (0.1).

In 2016 EUR 0.5 million (0.4) of the salaries and remuneration paid to the President and CEO was
paid in shares.

No loans have been granted to the Group’s management.

Shares held by management

Amer Sports Board of Directors held a total of 2,794,899 Amer Sports Corporation shares as of
December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015: 2,786,567), or 2.4% (2.4) of the outstanding shares and
votes.

Amer Sports Executive Board (including the President and CEO) owned a total of 614,074 Amer
Sports Corporation shares on December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015: 790,776), representing
0.5% (0.7) of the shares and votes.

Incentive plans are described in note 9. The members of the company’s Board of Directors are not
included in the Group’s incentive plans.
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28. BALANCE SHEET VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY
MEASUREMENT CATEGORIES

Financial
assets/  Derivative
liabilities at financial Financial
fair value instruments Available-  liabilities ~ Carrying
through used in  Loans and for-sale measured at amount by

2016 income hedge other  financial  amortized balance
EUR million statement  accounting receivables assets cost  sheetitem  Fair value
NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL

ASSETS
Other non-current financial assets 4.6 0.4 5.0 5.0
Derivative financial instruments ***

Foreign exchange derivatives 4.5 4.5 4.5

Interest rate derivatives and

Cross currency swaps 8.6 0.1 8.7 8.7
CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
Accounts receivable 607.3 607.3 607.3
Other non-interest yielding

receivables 92.5 92.5 92.5
Derivative financial instruments )

Foreign exchange derivatives 42 38.6 4.8 42.8
Cash and cash equivalents 364.0 364.0 364.0
Balance sheet values by

category at Dec 31,2016 12.8 432 1,068.4 0.4 1,124.8 1,124.8
LONG-TERM FINANCIAL

LIABILITIES
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 846.2 846.2 839.8
Other long-term liabilities 16.5 16.5 16.5
Derivative financial instruments

Foreign exchange derivatives 0.4 0.4 0.4

Interest rate derivatives and

CroSS Currency swaps 214 35 24.9 24.9
CURRENT FINANCIAL

LIABILITIES
Current interest-bearing liabilities 53.7 53.7 53.7
Accounts payable 256.3 256.3 256.3
Other current liabilities ™ 279.7 279.7 279.7
Derivative financial instruments )

Foreign exchange derivatives 10.4 4.5 14.9 14.9

Interest rate derivatives and

CroSs currency swaps 1.0 1.0 1.0
Balance sheet values by
category at Dec 31,2016 31.8 9.4 1,452.4 1,493.6 1,487.2

k)

The balance sheet values of the derivatives have been recorded as they are disclosed in the

Group’s balance sheet and Fair value reserve, and therefore cannot be reconciled with their

actual fair values.

~1-149 —



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

Financial
assets/  Derivative
liabilities at financial Financial
fair value instruments Available-  liabilities ~ Carrying
through used in  Loans and for-sale measured at amount by
2015 income hedge other  financial  amortized balance
EUR million statement accounting receivables assets cost  sheetitem  Fair value
NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL
ASSETS
Other non-current financial assets 4.9 0.4 53 5.3
Derivative financial instruments ***)
Foreign exchange derivatives 6.4 6.4 6.4
Interest rate derivatives and
Cross currency swaps 44 0.2 4.6 4.6
CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
Accounts receivable 563.9 563.9 563.9
Other non-interest yielding receivables ” 83.4 83.4 83.4
Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange derivatives 35.9 61.4 973 97.3
Cash and cash equivalents 3314 3314 331.4
Balance sheet values by
category at Dec 31, 2015 40.3 68.0 983.6 0.4 1,092.3 1,092.3
LONG-TERM FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 634.5 634.5 630.4
Other long-term liabilities ") 19.2 19.2 19.2
Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange derivatives 0.5 0.5 0.5
Interest rate derivatives and
CrOSS Currency swaps 8.9 53 14.2 14.2
CURRENT FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES
Current interest-bearing liabilities 157.2 157.2 153.4
Accounts payable 275.7 2757 2157
Other current liabilities ™ 262.5 262.5 2602.5
Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange derivatives 342 6.9 41.1 41.1
Interest rate derivatives and
CroSS currency swaps 5.1 2.5 7.6 7.6
Balance sheet values by
category at Dec 31, 2015 48.2 15.2 1,349.1 1,412.5 1,404.6

k)

The balance sheet values of the derivatives have been recorded as they are disclosed in the
Group’s balance sheet and Fair value reserve, and therefore cannot be reconciled with their
actual fair values.

)

Reclassification of liability in Fitness segment
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EUR million

Y Other non-interest yielding receivables
Prepaid expenses and other receivables
./. Other tax receivables

./. Derivative financial instruments

*) Other current liabilities
Accrued liabilities

./. Other tax liabilities

./. Derivative financial instruments

2016

161.3
17.4
51.4

92.5
347.3
32.1

35.5

279.7

2015

203.1
18.0
101.7

83.4
347.2
27.9

56.8

262.5

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair

value at December 31, 2016:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 12.8 12.8
Derivatives used for hedging 43.2 43.2
Available-for-sale financial
assets 0.4 0.4
Total 56.0 0.4 56.4
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 31.8 31.8
Derivatives used for hedging 9.4 9.4
Total 41.2 41.2

Level 1 instruments are traded in active markets with quoted prices. Level 2 instruments are,
for example, over-the-counter derivatives and the fair value is determined by using valuation
techniques from observable market data. Level 3 instruments are valued by using valuation
techniques without any observable market data. The following table presents the Group’s financial

assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at December 31, 2015:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 40.3 40.3
Derivatives used for hedging 68.0 68.0
Available-for-sale financial
assets 0.4 0.4
Total 108.3 0.4 108.7
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 48.2 48.2
Derivatives used for hedging 15.2 15.2
Total 63.4 63.4
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Amer Sports is exposed to customary financial risks relating to its global businesses such as
funding and liquidity risks, foreign exchange and interest rate risks, counterparty and credit risks.
Financial risk management is centralized within Amer Sports Treasury, which is acting as an in-
house bank providing financial services for subsidiaries within the Group. Risk management
is governed by the Treasury Policy approved by the Board of Directors. The Policy includes
principles and risk limits relating to debt structure, counterparties, bank relations and interest rate
and foreign exchange risk management. Written guidelines have been set to manage operational
risks. Amer Sports Treasury follows and monitors risks constantly and does not allow any material
deviations from the Treasury Policy. The Board of Directors reviews the financial risks annually.

Funding risk

Amer Sports aims to use different sources of funding. The focus has been in debt transactions
taken directly from domestic and/or international debt capital markets. With its core relationship
banks Amer Sports is upholding long and trustworthy relations by acquiring advisory and other
services from those banks. During year 2015 and 2016 Amer Sports finalized the following
financial transactions:

In March, 2016 Amer Sports issued Schuldschein (certificate of indebtedness) loan agreements
with a total value of EUR 100 million. The loans have both fixed and floating rate tranches and the
loan periods are five (5) and seven (7) years. In April, Amer Sports issued a term loan with a value
of EUR 50 million. The floating rate loan has a maturity of five (5) years, but it has an extension
option. In September, Amer Sports issued Schuldschein agreements with a total value of EUR 60
million. The loan period is seven (7) years and the loans have a fixed interest rate.

In January, 2015 Amer Sports issued Schuldschein (certificate of indebtedness) loan agreements
with a total value of EUR 100 million. The loan period is five (5) years and the loans have both
fixed (EUR 15 million) and floating (EUR 85 million) rate tranches. In April, 2015 Amer Sports
issued Schuldschein agreements with a total value of EUR 40 million and USD 85 million. The
loan periods are five (5) and seven (7) years and the loans have both fixed and floating rate
tranches. In August, 2015 Amer Sports issued Schuldschein agreements with a total value of USD
55 million. The loan periods are five (5) and five and half (5.5) years and the loans have floating
rate tranches. In September, 2015 Amer Sports issued a private placement bond with a total value
of EUR 100 million. The fixed rate bond has a maturity of seven years.

The proceeds of the Schuldschein loans, the term loan and the private placement bond have been
used for repayment of debt and general corporate purposes.

Liquidity risk

Amer Sports has a cyclical need for working capital that also defines the level of liquidity for the
Group. Typically, the highest level of working capital has been reached in the third quarter when
the short-term debt is tied up in inventories and accounts receivable.

Amer Sports Treasury has established several cash pooling structures with Group’s relationship
banks in order to control the liquidity of the Group. Treasury Policy sets guidelines for the
management of the liquidity that is outside cash pooling structures.

Short term shortages of liquidity are covered by issuance of corporate papers through Finnish
commercial paper program with total size of EUR 500 million.

Amer Sports uses sale of receivables with purpose to balance liquidity swings of the Group.
In December 2016 EUR 87.2 (77.8) million receivables in total were sold within two different
receivable sale programs that are in place for certain approved US and Europe based obligors.
Other discounting programs are used within the group, but the volumes are less significant.
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Depending on the projections of short term and long term liquidity forecasts, excess liquidity is
placed on the money market within limits and instruments defined in the Treasury Policy.

Amer Sport’s EUR 150 million syndicated committed revolving credit facility is a back-up
for exceptional liquidity needs. The credit facility follows LMA’s (Loan Market Association)
documentation, including typical representations and warranties, general undertakings, events of
default and covenants. At the end of 2016 Amer Sports had no drawings from the facility.

The below table is a breakdown of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and net-settled
derivatives in their contractual maturities.

MATURITY ANALYSIS FOR FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BASED ON THEIR
CONTRACTUAL MATURITY

Dec 31,2016
Nominal 2021 and

EUR million value Available Total 2017 2018 2019 2020 after
Loans from financial institutions

Repayments 131.2 131.2 0.2 30.4 50.4 0.1 50.1

Interest 4.2 4.2 1.4 13 0.8 0.5 0.2
Bonds

Repayments 697.5 697.5 164.7 211.8 321.0

Interest 63.4 63.4 14.9 15.0 11.8 9.9 11.8
Commercial papers

Repayments 49.9 49.9 49.9

Interest 0.1 0.1 0.1
Other interest-bearing liabilities

Repayments 213 213 3.6 22 2.5 24 10.6

Interest 0.3 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2
Accounts payable

Repayments 256.3 256.3 256.3
Other interest-free liabilities

Repayments 16.5 16.5 16.5
Total

Repayments 1,172.7 1,172.7 326.5 197.3 529 2143 381.7

Interest 68.0 68.0 16.5 163 12.6 10.4 12.2
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Dec 31,2016
Nominal 2021 and
EUR million value Available Total 2017 2018 2019 2020 after
Financial guarantee contracts 5.0 5.0 5.0
Committed revolving credit facility 150.0 150.0 150.0
Derivative liabilities
Foreign exchange derivatives
under hedge accounting 1,101.9 1,101.9 935.7 166.2
Other foreign exchange derivatives 551.8 551.8 528.6 23.2
Interest rate swaps under hedge
accounting, fair value 33 33 23 1.0
Cross currency swaps, fair value 6.8 6.8 6.8
Other interest rate derivatives,
fair value 5.8 5.8 0.7 5.1
Derivative assets
Foreign exchange derivatives
under hedge accounting 1,145.5 1,145.5 972.9 172.6
Other foreign exchange derivatives 549.6 549.6 526.1 235
Interest rate swaps under hedge
accounting, fair value 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.1
Cross currency swaps, fair value - -
Other interest rate derivatives,
fair value - -
9 The fair value of the Other interest rate derivatives has partly been recorded in the Fair value

reserve in the shareholder’s equity, and therefore the disclosed fair value amounts cannot be
reconciled with the Group’s balance sheet values.
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Dec 31,2015
Nominal 2020 and

EUR million value Available Total 2016 2017 2018 2019 after
Loans from financial institutions

Repayments 81.4 81.4 - 0.0 30.4 50.4 0.6

Interest 3.4 34 0.8 0.8 1.3 0.5 0.0
Bonds

Repayments 688.5 688.5 154.4 165.5 368.6

Interest 59.7 59.7 14.5 10.4 1.5 9.4 13.9
Commercial papers

Repayments 0.0 0.0

Interest 0.0 0.0
Other interest-bearing liabilities

Repayments 21.8 21.8 2.8 2.6 2.5 24 11.5

Interest 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2
Accounts payable

Repayments 275.7 215.7 275.7
Other interest-free liabilities

Repayments 19.2 19.2 19.2
Total

Repayments 1,086.6 1,086.6 452.1 2.6 198.4 52.8 380.7

Interest 63.3 63.3 153 11.2 12.8 9.9 14.1
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Dec 31,2015
Nominal 2020 and
EUR million value Available Total 2016 2017 2018 2019 after
Financial guarantee contracts 10.2 10.2 10.2
Committed revolving credit facility 150.0 150.0 150.0
Derivative liabilities
Foreign exchange derivatives
under hedge accounting 991.7 991.7 743.2 248.5
Other foreign exchange derivatives 486.5 486.5 486.5
Interest rate swaps under hedge
accounting, fair value 9.0 9.0 0.5 3.9 4.6
Cross currency swaps, fair value 4.4 44 0.9 3.5
Derivative assets
Foreign exchange derivatives
under hedge accounting 1,055.6 1,055.6 799.2 256.4
Other foreign exchange derivatives 494.1 494.1 494.1

Interest rate swaps under hedge
accounting, fair value
Cross currency swaps, fair value

0.0

0.0

Currency risk

Transaction risk arises from foreign currency denominated receivables and liabilities, cash flow
estimates in foreign currencies and derivatives. Translation risk relates to the foreign currency
denominated earnings when they are translated into euro. Amer Sports has operations in most of
the major currency areas, and its sales are diversified in 20 currencies at least. On the business
unit level, transaction risk arises when the unit sells in its home currency but the cost base is in
foreign currencies or sells or buys goods in foreign currencies. Amer Sports’ risk management is
aiming to eliminate material uncertainties relating to foreign exchange rates.

At the end of the year, Amer Sports’ currency position, in accordance with IFRS 7, consisted of
inter-company and external interest-free and interest-bearing currency denominated receivables
and liabilities and foreign exchange derivatives. Foreign exchange derivatives include both
balance sheet and cash flow hedges.

The geography of Amer Sports businesses has led to the most significant currencies being US
dollar, Canadian dollar, British pound, Swiss franc and Japanese yen. The significance of US
dollar is emphasized by its dominant role in the global procurement and the growth in Apparel
and Footwear. In funding, Amer Sports has diversified its funding sources, which is reflected in
diverse currency denomination of the external debt.

Balance sheet risks have been managed by financing subsidiaries in their home currencies. The
risks have been concentrated on the centralized distribution and purchasing units that invoice the
subsidiaries in their respective home currencies. The parent company’s balance sheet risk arises
from internal and external liabilities in foreign currencies.
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The following table sets out the IFRS 7-compliant foreign exchange position at the balance sheet

date:
Dec 31,2016 Dec 31, 2015

EUR million USD CAD SEK GBP CHF JPY USD CAD SEK GBP CHF JPY
Interest-bearing external

receivables - - 185 - - - - - 136.0 - - -
Interest-bearing intercompany

receivables 4558 67.0 - - 04 210 2440 673 - - 0.5 254
External receivables 358 -33.9 0.7 5.8 1.8 - 716 -352 0.7 -1.1 2.2 0.0
Inter-company receivables 6.4 2.2 2.7 9.7 4.3 33 2.8 4.0 2.1 9.5 4.4 4.1
Interest-bearing external

liabilities -204.0 - 785 - - - -1975 - -136.0 - - -
Interest-bearing

inter-company liabilities - - 42 37 - - - - 42 -175 - -
External payables -19.7 0.8 0.0 02 04 0.0 -78.4 2.7 0.0 02 03 0.0
Inter-company payables -20.0 4.1 0.0 2.2 -0.3 0.2 226 1.0 -0.1 1.7 -0.4 03

Foreign exchange derivatives  507.5 -155.8  -57.1 -101.4  -86.7 -66.7 640.8 -172.2 486 -130.8 -76.2  -62.5

Total 7018 -115.6  -57.9  -98.8  -80.9 -42.6 666.7 -1324 -50.1 -144.0 -69.8 -333

The table below presents the sensitivity of shareholders’ equity and the income statement at
the balance sheet date to the strengthening of the euro by 10%, provided other factors remain
unchanged. The weakening of the euro by 10% would cause a similar change in the opposite

direction:

Shareholders’ Income
EUR million equity statement
USD -61.8 -8.4
CAD 5.2 6.4
SEK 5.0 0.8
GBP 10.1 -0.2
CHF 6.3 1.8
JPY 2.4 1.8

The following table presents the corresponding sensitivities at the balance sheet date in 2015:

Shareholders’ Income
EUR million equity statement
USD -60.8 -6.0
CAD 8.0 5.2
SEK 3.9 1.1
GBP 9.8 4.6
CHF 5.7 1.3
JPY 3.0 0.4
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Earnings sensitivity before taxes is influenced by changes in the fair value of derivative
instruments not used in hedge accounting and on-balance sheet hedging derivative instruments
as well as changes in the value of on-balance sheet currency-denominated loans and receivables.
Shareholders’ equity is affected by changes in the fair value of derivative instruments used in
hedge accounting recognized under the hedge reserve.

The following table sets out Amer Sports’ cash flows that are under hedging policy for the next 24
months (EUR million):

USD GBP CHF CAD CNH NOK SEK JPY OTHER
1,061 -154 -120 -115 -93 -93 -84 -61 -169

The following table sets out the hedging of Amer Sports’ cash flows as at December 31, 2016
(EUR million):

USD GBP CHF CAD CNH NOK SEK JPY OTHER

-697 95 83 82 58 59 57 46 109

The strengthening of the euro against the USD typically improves Amer Sports’ result of
operations. The strengthening of the euro against the other foreign currencies typically weakens
Amer Sports’ result of operations. A significant share of the US dollar denominated procurement
cost risk is eliminated against the US dollar denominated operating result. Due to the growth of
the business that is dependent on sourcing from Asia, the US dollar procurement exceeded the US
dollar denominated operating result significantly.

According to the hedging policy, the transaction risk arising from subsidiaries’ business operations
is hedged up to 12-24 months. In practice, the hedge ratios are higher for closer months than
for later months. The hedge ratio is maintained between 55% and 95% of 24 months cash flow,
except in currencies with high interest rate where the hedge horizon is 12-18 months. The hedged
cash flow is expected to be realized during the following 12-24 months. Amer Sports hedges only
annual cash flows or other exposures with a value of over EUR 3.0 million.

The company applies hedge accounting for annual cash flows with a counter value of over EUR
10 million per currency pair in the entity. It monitors hedge ratios daily and tests effectiveness
at three-month intervals. Foreign exchange differences of foreign exchange derivatives are
recognized as hedging reserve while interest rate differentials related to the foreign exchange
derivates are recorded through financial profit and loss.

According to its Treasury Policy, Amer Sports may hedge 0 to 50% of subsidiaries’ equity. At the
end of 2016, there were no outstanding equity hedges or net investment hedges.

Interest risk

Amer Sports is exposed to interest rate risk when it funds its operations with euro or currency
denominated debt. The risk arises from the repricing of floating rate debt and with the raising of
new floating rate debt. A fixed rate debt is subject to “fair value risk”. The purpose of interest
rate risk management is to bring predictability for interest expenses by keeping the duration
within the agreed limits with an optimal mix of fixed and floating rate debt. Treasury is constantly
hedging current outstanding interest rate position of the Group and from time to time may hedge
forthcoming position of the Group, up to 7 years. The interest rate derivatives that can be used in
the risk management are defined in the Treasury Policy.
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The neutral target for duration of interest rate position is 12 months, but it is allowed to vary
between 6 and 18 months. As of December 31, 2016, the duration was 17 months. 79% of the debt
portfolio was at fixed rate as of December, 2016. The company has set EUR 3.0 million sensitivity
limits to 1% raise in the market rate for the following 12 months interest expenses and negative
mark-to-market valuation of non-hedge accounting transactions.

Cash and cash equivalents are excluded from the interest rate risk portfolio of the company due to
their short term nature.

The sensitivity of the income statement contains changes in interest expenses for the next 12
months due to an increase/decrease of 1% in market interest rates, provided that other factors
remain unchanged.

Shareholders’ equity is effected by a change in the market value of the hedge accounting interest
rate swaps. The change is booked to the hedge reserve.

The below table illustrates the sensitivity of shareholders’ equity and income statement to an
increase of 1% in interest rates, provided that other factors remain unchanged. The sensitivity is
calculated to interest bearing liabilities.

EUR million Position 2016
Shareholders’ equity 242.8 4.9
Income statement 214.0 1.2
Income statement due to ineffective other

interest rate derivatives 135.0 -2.3

In 2015, the sensitivity of the shareholders’ equity and income statement to an increase of 1%
interest rates, provided that other factors remain unchanged, was:

EUR million Position 2015
Shareholders’ equity 423.6 10.5
Income statement 94.0 -0.4

The effective interest rate of the total debt including interest rate hedges was 2.7%. The interest
rate was 2.3% on bonds, 1.1% on bank loans and 0.4% on commercial papers.

The average interest rate of the Group’s interest bearing debt including interest rate derivatives
and facility fees was 2.0% (Dec 31, 2015: 2.7). After foreign exchange derivatives that hedge the
inter-company debt, the average interest rate was 2.5% (Dec 31, 2015: 3.0).

Amer Sports applies hedge accounting to interest rate derivatives whenever it is applicable.
Non-hedge accounting derivatives are measured at fair value and the result is recognized in the
financing items.

Credit risk

The company is exposed to customary credit risk through its accounts receivable. The Group has a
global customer base, and there are no significant risk concentrations. The largest single customer
accounts for 3% of total accounts receivable and the largest 20 combined total about 21%. At the

end of year 2016 the actual payment time for the outstanding sales was 76 days.

Amer Sports uses a global credit insurance program to support sales activities. Major part of
European and Asian customers risks are covered by the credit insurance.

The company assumes limited repurchase obligations through its fitness related financial leasing
agreements.
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Excess liquidity is placed either in bank deposits within banks that Amer Sports has outstanding
debt or committed facilities, or on money market instruments or funds that are selected according

to Treasury Policy’s criteria and limits.

The credit risk arising from derivatives is negligible. The risk is minimized by limiting the number
of counterparties, their shares of the total portfolio and by monitoring the credit standings and
their outstanding liability to Amer Sports.

The following table sets out the balance sheet values or fair values of financial assets which
represent the maximum amount of the credit risk at balance sheet dates:

EUR million

Long-term financial assets

Long-term interest-bearing receivables

Balance
sheet value
or fair value
Dec 31, 2016

Balance
sheet value
or fair value
Dec 31, 2015

Other long-term financial assets
Derivative contracts

Foreign exchange derivatives 4.5 6.4

Interest rate and cross

currency swap derivatives 8.7 4.6
Short-term financial assets
Accounts receivable 607.3 563.9
Loans receivable - -
Other interest-free receivables 92.5 83.4
Derivative contracts

Foreign exchange derivatives 42.8 97.3

Interest rate and cross

currency swap derivatives 0.0 -
Cash and cash equivalents 364.0 331.4
(+ = Assets, — = Debt)
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Nominal 2019 Nominal

EUR million value Fair value 2017 2018  and after value Fair value
Hedge accounting-related
Foreign exchange derivatives hedging

cash flows from operations 1,145.5 40.3 972.9 172.6 1,055.6 60.1
Interest rate swaps hedging interest cash flow 242.8 -3.0 129.0 113.8 423.6 -9.0
Interest cash flow of cross currency swaps 78.5 0.0 78.5 136.0 0.3
Other derivative contracts
Foreign exchange derivatives 549.6 -0.9 526.1 23.5 494.1 6.5
Interest rate swaps ” 135.0 5.8 50.0 85.0
Foreign exchange difference of cross

currency swaps 0.0 -6.8 -4.7
) The fair value of the Other interest rate derivatives has partly been recorded in the Fair value

reserve in the shareholder’s equity, and therefore the disclosed fair value amounts cannot be

reconciled with the Group’s balance sheet values.
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Capital management

The Group’s capital management aims at the optimal capital structure that ensures the normal
short-term and long-term operational requirements of business.

Amer Sports financial targets are net sales at least EUR 3.5 billion with minimum mid-single digit
organic currency neutral annual growth, annual EBIT growth (excl. items affecting comparability)
ahead of net sales growth and in cash flow conversion free cash flow to net profit at least 80%.
The balance sheet target is to have a year-end Net Debt/EBITDA ratio 3 in maximum.

Net Debt/EBITDA illustrates how Amer Sports can generate operational cash flow to serve its
debt. Also, it shows required profitability level against the outstanding debt and therefore makes
it possible to link business specific targets to Group’s balance sheet structure. It creates a dynamic
key performance indicator combining balance sheet structure and profitability target setting.

Amer Sports’ bank facilities include a financial covenant where Amer Sports’ consolidated gearing
cannot exceed 100 percent, excluding the impact of any goodwill or intangible rights impairment.
The bank facilities include also typical representations and warranties and events of default.

Amer Sports does not foresee any risks to a breach in the financial covenant in the next financial
year given the current business environment.

EUR million Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Interest-bearing liabilities 899.9 791.7
Cash and cash equivalents 364.0 331.4
Net debt 535.9 460.3
Total shareholders' equity 1,003.1 949.6
Gearing, % 53 48
EBITDA 264.8 255.2
Net debt/EBITDA™ 1.9 1.7
R Excluding items affecting comparability

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements as at December 31, 2016:

Related amounts not set off

Gross amount

of derivative Financial
EUR million financial assets instruments Net amount
Derivative financial instruments 27.9 16.6 11.3
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Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements as at December 31, 2016:

Related amounts not set off

Gross amount
of derivative

financial Financial
EUR million liabilities instruments Net amount
Derivative financial instruments 4.2 6.8 -2.6

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements as at December 31, 2015:

Related amounts not set off

Gross amount

of derivative Financial
EUR million financial assets instruments Net amount
Derivative financial instruments 53.7 17.2 36.5

Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements as at December 31, 2015:

Related amounts not set off

Gross amount
of derivative

financial Financial
EUR million liabilities instruments Net amount
Derivative financial instruments 0.6 4.7 -4.1

Other financial assets and liabilities than derivative financial assets and liabilities are not subject
to material offsetting, enforceable master netting or similar agreements. Financial assets and
liabilities that are not set off in the balance sheet, but may be set off are under enforceable master
netting arrangements (such as International Swaps and Derivatives Association Inc, ISDA, Master
Agreement and Schedules governing terms, obligations and other provision related to trading and
settlement of derivative trades) that allow the Group and the counterparty for net settlement of
the relevant financial assets and liabilities when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence
of such an election, financial assets and liabilities will be settled on a gross basis, however, each
party to the master netting arrangement or similar agreement will have the option to settle all such
amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.
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30. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN REPORTED EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST
AND TAXES (EBIT) UNDER IFRS AND EBIT EXCLUDING ITEMS AFFECTING

COMPARABILITY COMMENTED IN THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The income statement under IFRS has been adjusted by the following items affecting
comparability (IAC) when reporting and commenting earnings before interest and taxes excluding

items affecting comparability in the Board of Directors’ Report:

Income Income

Items statement Items statement

IFRS affecting excl. IAC IFRS affecting excl. IAC

EUR million 2016  comparability 2016 2015 comparability 2015
NET SALES 2,622.1 - 2,622.1 2,5344 - 2,534.4
Cost of goods sold -1,409.7 1.1 -1,408.6 -1,388.5 - -1,388.5
License income 6.8 - 6.8 7.3 - 73
Other operating income 8.8 - 8.8 4.8 - 4.8
Research and development expenses -97.5 2.3 -95.2 -11.1 - -11.7
Selling and marketing expenses 73101 13.1 -718.0 -671.5 6.7 -670.8
Administrative and other expenses -194.6 0.4 -194.2 -198.7 1.3 -197.4
EBIT 204.8 16.9 217 204.1 8.0 212.1

Items affecting comparability are material items or transactions, which are relevant for
understanding the financial performance of Amer Sports when comparing profit of the current
period with previous periods. These items can include, but are not limited to, capital gains and
losses, significant write-downs, provisions for planned restructuring and other items that are
not related to normal business operations from Amer Sports’ management view. A single item
affecting comparability has to represent more than one cent per share on annual basis.
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CALCULATION OF KEY INDICATORS

EARNINGS PER SHARE:

Net result attributable to equity holders of the parent company

Average number of shares adjusted for the bonus element of share issues

EQUITY PER SHARE:

Shareholders’ equity "

Number of shares at year end adjusted for the bonus element of share issues

DIVIDEND (CAPITAL REPAYMENT) PER SHARE:

Total dividend (capital repayment)

Number of shares at year end adjusted for the bonus element of share issues

DIVIDEND (CAPITAL REPAYMENT) % OF EARNINGS:

Adjusted dividend (capital repayment)
Net result

100 x

EFFECTIVE YIELD, %:

Adjusted dividend (capital repayment)
100 x

Adjusted share price at closing date

P/E RATIO:

Adjusted share price at closing date

Earnings per share
MARKET CAPITALIZATION:
Number of shares at year end multiplied by share price at closing date

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED (ROCE), %:

EBIT
Capital employed ?

100 x
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RETURN ON INVESTMENT (ROI), %:

Earnings before taxes + interest and
100 x other financing expenses

Balance sheet total less interest-free liabilities ¥

RETURN ON SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (ROE),%:

Earnings before taxes - taxes
Shareholders’ equity ¥

100 x

EQUITY RATIO, %:

Shareholders’ equity

100 x
Balance sheet total less advances received

DEBT TO EQUITY RATIO:

Interest-bearing liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

GEARING, %:

100 Interest-bearing liabilities - cash and cash equivalents
X

Shareholders’ equity

FREE CASH FLOW/NET PROFIT:

Free cash flow
Net result

NET DEBT/EBITDA:

Interest-bearing liabilities - cash and cash equivalents
EBIT + depreciation

b Excluding non-controlling interests

2 Non-current assets + working capital excluding receivables and payables relating to interest
and taxes, monthly average of the financial period

» Monthly average of the financial period
4 Average of the financial period

The calculation of key indicators excludes the company’s own shares.
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PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

EUR million 2016 2015
Other operating income 27.1 29.1
EXPENSES

Personnel expenses 10.1 8.7
Depreciation 0.9 0.6
Other expenses 16.0 17.2
Total expenses 27.0 26.5
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES 0.1 2.6
Financing income 85.5 145.1
Financing expenses -67.9 -27.1
Financing income and expenses 17.6 118.0

EARNINGS BEFORE APPROPRIATIONS

AND TAXES 17.7 120.6
Appropriations 0.0 3.6
Income taxes -0.7 -34
NET RESULT 17.0 120.8
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PARENT COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR million 2016 2015

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES

EBIT 0.1 2.6

Depreciation 0.9 0.6

Adjustments to cash flow from operating activities -0.2 0.4
Cash flow from operating activities before change

in working capital 0.8 3.6

Increase (—) or decrease (+) in trade and other

current receivables 4.1 13.4
Increase (+) or decrease (—) in interest-free

current liabilities 0.1 -0.7

Change in working capital 4.2 12.7

Cash flow from operating activities before financing

items and taxes 5.0 16.3
Interest paid -25.0 -29.5
Interest received 0.3 0.3
Income taxes paid and received - 0.4
Financing items and taxes -24.7 -28.8
Total net cash flow from operating activities -19.7 -12.5

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investments in subsidiaries -39.7 -12.2
Capital expenditure -1.2 -1.4
Proceeds from sale of tangible non-current assets 0.4 0.4
Dividends received 15.0 105.6
Net cash flow from investing activities -25.5 92.4

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Repurchase of own shares -0.8 -1.2
Transfer of own shares 4.8 4.9
Change in short-term borrowings -268.3 -123.7
Withdrawals of long-term borrowings 160.0 368.0
Repayments of long-term borrowings -104.4 -152.9
Change in current receivables 327.2 -73.4
Dividends paid -64.7 -52.8
Group contributions received 3.6 7.0
Other financing items " 7.9 8.0
Net cash flow from financing activities 65.3 -16.1
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EUR million 2016 2015
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20.1 63.8
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at year end 270.5 250.4
Cash and cash equivalents at year beginning 250.4 186.6
Change in cash and cash equivalents 20.1 63.8

*)

Including, for example, cash flow from hedging intercompany balance sheet items
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
EUR million 2016 2015

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible rights 1.5 1.1
TANGIBLE ASSETS
Land and water 0.8 0.8
Buildings and constructions 0.8 0.8
Machinery and equipment 1.1 1.3
Other tangible assets 0.3 0.3
Construction in progress 0.4 0.2
34 34
OTHER NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS
Investments in subsidiaries 762.1 722.4
Other bonds and shares 0.1 0.4
762.2 722.8
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 767.1 727.3
CURRENT ASSETS
RECEIVABLES
Long-term
Receivables from subsidiaries 556.0 472.1
Deferred tax assets 2.0 2.0
Short-term
Receivables from subsidiaries 332.1 728.0
Prepaid expenses 72.2 94.5
962.3 1,296.6
MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Other securities 52.5 -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 218.0 250.4
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,232.8 1,547.0
TOTAL ASSETS 1,999.9 2,274.3
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EUR million 2016 2015

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 292.2 292.2
Premium fund 12.1 12.1
Invested unrestricted equity reserve 177.8 175.6
Retained earnings 62.1 4.2
Net result 17.0 120.8
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 561.2 604.9

ACCUMULATED APPROPRIATIONS
Accumulated depreciation in excess of plan 0.1 0.1

LIABILITIES

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Bonds 697.5 534.1
Loans from financial institutions 130.0 80.0
827.5 614.1

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bonds - 154.4
Other interest-bearing liabilities 49.9 —
Accounts payable 0.3 0.1
Payables to subsidiaries 503.8 855.2
Other current liabilities 1.7 0.6
Accrued liabilities 55.4 449
611.1 1,055.2
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,438.6 1,669.3

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES 1,999.9 2,274.3
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PARENT COMPANY ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The parent company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with
the Finnish law. The results are reported in euros using the historical cost
convention. The financial statements are presented excluding the notes to the
financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

The parent company records foreign currency transactions at the rates of
exchange on the transaction date. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the closing rate of exchange confirmed by the
European Central Bank in effect at the balance sheet date.

Exchange rate gains and losses related to financing operations are reported at
their net values as financing income and expenses.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The company’s derivative instruments may include foreign exchange forward
contracts and options, interest rate swaps and interest rate options and cross-
currency swaps. Foreign exchange forward contracts and options are used to
hedge against changes in the value of receivables and liabilities denominated
in a foreign currency and interest rate swaps and interest rate options to hedge
against the interest rate risk. Cross-currency swaps are used to hedge against
changes in value of foreign currency denominated receivables and liabilities
and against the interest rate risk.

Foreign exchange forward contracts and options, interest rate swaps and
options and cross currency swaps are measured at fair value on the day that
the parent company becomes a party to the contract. Subsequent measurement
is also at fair value. The changes of fair values are recorded to earnings.
Foreign exchange derivatives are measured at fair value using the closing
rates quoted by the European Central Bank on the reporting date together with
common pricing models that are used for valuation of foreign exchange forward
contracts and options. The fair values of interest rate and cross currency swaps
are calculated as the current value of future cash flows. Interest rate options
are valued with year end interest rates together with common option pricing
models.

The interest rate differential on foreign exchange derivatives, interest rate
derivatives and cross currency swaps is allocated over the duration of the
derivative on a net basis in interest expenses. The exchange rate differences are
recognized in the income statement.

—I-171 -



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Non-current assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis in order to write down the

cost or revalued amounts of assets to their residual values over their expected
useful lives which are as follows:

Intangible rights and other capitalized expenditure 5-10 years
Buildings 40 years
Machinery and equipment 3-10 years

Land and water are not depreciated.
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

An equity instrument is recorded in the shareholders’ equity if the instrument
includes no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset
to another entity or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with
another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the issuer.

The subscription proceeds from share issues are booked to invested unrestricted
equity reserve to the extent that they are not, in accordance with a shareholders’
resolution, booked to the share capital. The transaction costs of the share issues
are charged to financing expenses.

The acquisition cost of repurchased own shares is charged to equity until the
shares are cancelled or reissued.

Any dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is not deducted from
distributable shareholders’ equity until approved at the Annual General
Meeting.

PROVISION FOR CONTINGENT LOSSES

Future costs and losses which the company has an obligation to settle and
which are certain or likely to occur are disclosed in the income statement
under an appropriate expense heading. They are presented in the balance sheet
as provisions for contingent losses when the precise amount or timing is not
known. In other cases they are presented as accrued liabilities.

LEASING

Leasing payments are treated as rental expenses.
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PENSION PLANS

The pension and related fringe benefit arrangements of the parent company’s
employees are administered by a pension insurance company and recorded as
determined by actuarial calculations and payments to the insurance company.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The tax compensation of share-based incentive schemes granted to key
employees of the parent company are posted as personnel expenses in the
income statement over the vesting period of the schemes. The acquisition price
of the shares has been booked to equity on the date of acquisition.

TAXES

Taxes include taxes for the period calculated on the basis of the net result for
the period, assessed or returned taxes for prior periods as well as deferred taxes
calculated on temporary differences between the book and tax base of assets.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Deferred tax assets or liabilities are calculated on temporary differences
between the book and tax base of assets in accordance with the future tax rate
that is substantially enacted at the end of the financial period. A deferred tax
asset is recognized to the estimated probable amount. It is presented under the
long-term receivables.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT’S AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS’
SIGNATURES

Helsinki, Finland, February 9, 2017

Anssi Vanjoki Ilkka Brotherus Martin Burkhalter
Christian Fischer Hannu Ry6pponen Bruno Sélzer
Heikki Takala Lisbeth Valther Indra Asander
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF AMER SPORTS
CORPORATION

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Amer Sports Corporation
(business identity code 0131505-5) for the year ended 31 December, 2016. The
financial statements comprise the consolidated income statement, statement
of comprehensive income, cash flow statement, balance sheet, statement of
changes in equity and notes, including a summary of significant accounting
policies, as well as the parent company’s income statement, cash flow
statement, balance sheet and notes.

In our opinion

. the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
group’s financial position as well as its financial performance and its cash
flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

. the financial statements give a true and fair view of the parent company’s
financial performance and financial position in accordance with the laws
and regulations governing the preparation of financial statements in
Finland and comply with statutory requirements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland.
Our responsibilities under good auditing practice are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements section of our
report.

We are independent of the parent company and of the group companies in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are applicable in Finland and are
relevant to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

We have also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls.
This includes consideration of whether there was evidence of management bias
that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Revenue recognition
We refer to the Group’s accounting policies and the note 2.

Revenue is measured taking into account discounts, incentives and rebates
earned by customers, and is recognised when the risks and rewards of the
underlying products and services have been transferred to the customer. Due
to the multitude and variety of contractual terms across the Group’s markets
significant management judgement is needed to account for the revenue, and
therefore, revenue could be subject to misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. The Group focuses on revenue as a key performance measure which could
create the incentive for revenue to be recognised before the risks and rewards
have been transferred.

Our audit procedures to address the risk of material misstatement relating to
revenue recognition included, among others:

. Assessing the compliance of the Group’s accounting policies over revenue
recognition, including those relating to discounts, incentives and rebates,
with applicable accounting standards.

. Testing the Group’s controls over timing of revenue recognition and
over the calculation of discounts, incentives and rebates. These controls
comprised a combination of transaction level prevent controls and detect
controls.
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. Testing the cutoff of revenue with substantive analytical procedures
supplemented with test of details on a transaction level either side of the
balance sheet date as well as credit notes issued after the balance sheet
date.

. Considering the appropriateness of the Group’s disclosures in respect of
revenues.

Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets
We refer to the Group’s accounting policies and the note 7.

At the balance sheet date, the value of tested goodwill and intangible assets
amounted to 623.5 M€ representing 23% of the total assets and 62% of the total
equity. Procedures over management’s annual impairment test were significant
to our audit because the test imposes estimates. The Group management use
assumptions in respect of future market and economic conditions such as
economic growth, expected inflation rates, expected market share, revenue and
margin developments.

Our audit procedures included, among others, involving valuation specialists
to assist us in evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used by the
Group, in particular those relating to the forecasted revenue growth, profit
margins and weighted average cost of capital. We specifically focused on the
sensitivity in the available headroom by Cash Generating Unit and whether any
reasonably possible change in assumptions could cause the carrying amount to
exceed its recoverable amount. We also assessed the historical accuracy of the
management’s estimates. We considered the appropriateness of the Group’s
disclosures in respect of impairment testing.

Income taxes
We refer to the Group’s accounting policies and the notes 11 and 15.

The Group has extensive international operations and in the normal cause of
business the management makes assumptions and judgments in relation to tax
issues and exposures. This is a key estimate due to the inherent uncertainty of
complying with evolving tax regulations in multiple different tax jurisdictions
and the recovery of deferred tax assets recognised with respect to tax loss
carryforwards.
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Our audit procedures included, among others, assessing the Group’s process
around the recording and assessment of tax provisions. Our own tax specialists
performed an assessment of the Group’s correspondence with relevant tax
authorities, to evaluate the recorded tax provisions for relevant risks. We also
assessed the assumptions used, taking into consideration our tax specialists’
knowledge and experience. In addition, we assessed relevant opinions from
third parties in considering any need for a provision. We also considered the
appropriateness of the Group’s disclosures in respect of income taxes.

Inventory valuation and related provisions
We refer to the Group’s accounting policies and the note 16.

The total value of inventory and related excess and obsolete provision as
of December 31, 2016 amounted to 538.7 M€ and 25.1 M€, respectively
(net 513.6 M€). The gross inventory and related provision are material to
the financial statements, involve management judgment and are subject to
uncertainty due to rapid technological, fashion and consumer demand changes.

Our audit procedures involved assessing the compliance of the Group’s
accounting policies over the recording of inventory with applicable accounting
standards. We also evaluated, among others, the analyses and calculations
made by management with respect to slow moving and obsolete stock and the
expected demand and market value related to the inventoried items. We also
assessed the historical accuracy of management’s estimates and considered the
appropriateness of the Group’s disclosures about the accounting policies for the
valuation of inventory and the related balances.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for
the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
adopted by the EU, and of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of financial
statements in Finland and comply with statutory requirements. The Board of
Directors and the Managing Director are also responsible for such internal
control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors and the Managing
Director are responsible for assessing the parent company’s and the Group’s
ability to continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The financial
statements are prepared using the going concern basis of accounting unless
there is an intention to liquidate the parent company or the Group or cease
operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with good auditing practice will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing practice, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the parent
company’s or the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the
Managing Director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
parent company’s or the group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
company to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events so that the financial
statements give a true and fair view.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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OTHER REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
Other information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises information included in the report
of the Board of Directors and in the Annual Report, but does not include the
financial statements and our report thereon. We obtained the report of the Board
of Directors prior to the date of the auditor’s report, and the Annual Report is
expected to be made available to us after the date of the auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. With respect to report of the Board of Directors, our responsibility
also includes considering whether the report of the Board of Directors has been
prepared in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

In our opinion, the information in the report of the Board of Directors is
consistent with the information in the financial statements and the report of the
Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement in the information included in the report of the Board of
Directors, we are required to report this fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Helsinki, Finland, February 9, 2017

Ernst & Young Oy
Authorized Public Accountant Firm

Mikko Jiarventausta
Authorized Public Accountant
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D. AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2015

The following is an extract of the audited financial statements of the Target Group
for the year ended 31 December 2015, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS,
from the Target Group’s financial review 2015 (pages 18 — 60).

Specific page/section references mentioned in the audited financial statements of
the Target Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 are referred to in the Target
Group’s financial review 2015 which is available free of charge, in read-only, printable
format on the Target Group’s website at https://www.amersports.com/investors/.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

EUR million Notes 2015 2014
NET SALES 2 2,534.4 2,228.7
Cost of goods sold 7, 30 -1,388.5 -1,281.1
License income 7.3 6.2
Other operating income 4 4.8 5.5
Research and development expenses 7 -77.7 -76.2
Selling and marketing expenses 7, 30 -677.5 -582.9
Administrative and other expenses 7.8, 9, 30 -198.7 -186.1
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST

AND TAXES 5,6, 30 204.1 114.1
% of net sales 8.1 5.1
Financing income 10 1.1 0.4
Financing expenses 10 -37.2 -37.5
Financing income and expenses -36.1 -37.1
EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES 168.0 77.0
Income taxes 11 -46.4 -21.6
NET RESULT 121.6 554
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent company 121.6 55.4

Earnings per share of the net result attributable

to equity holders of the parent company, EUR 12
Undiluted 1.04 0.47
Diluted 1.03 0.47

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EUR million

Net result
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit
or loss
Remeasurement effects of postemployment
benefit plans
Income tax related to remeasurement effects
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Translation differences
Cash flow hedges
Income tax related to cash flow hedges

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent company

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.
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26
26

2015 2014
121.6 55.4
2.9 -25.7
-1.4 8.5
31.9 44.9
2.7 66.5
-0.5 -16.6
35.6 77.6
157.2 133.0
157.2 133.0
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR million Notes 2015 2014

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES
Earnings before interest and taxes 204.1 114.1
Depreciation 51.1 44.8
Adjustments to cash flow from operating

activities 22 0.4 14.5

Cash flow from operating activities before

change in working capital 255.6 173.4
Increase (—) or decrease (+) in inventories -51.3 -49.0
Increase (—) or decrease (+) in trade and
other current receivables 2.8 0.5
Increase (+) or decrease (—) in interest-free
current liabilities 54.6 28.2
Change in working capital 6.1 -20.3

Cash flow from operating activities before

financing items and taxes 261.7 153.1
Interest paid -29.3 -22.6
Interest received 1.1 0.4
Income taxes paid and received -22.0 -26.1
Financing items and taxes -50.2 -48.3
Total net cash flow from operating activities 211.5 104.8

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES
Acquired operations -76.3 —
Divested operations 1.0 —
Capital expenditure on non-current tangible

assets -48.3 -48.5
Capital expenditure on non-current

intangible assets -29.0 -3.1
Proceeds from sale of tangible non-current

assets 0.6 0.3

Net cash flow from investing activities -152.0 -51.3

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.
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EUR million Notes 2015 2014
NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Repurchase of own shares - -13.1
Change in short-term borrowings -115.4 -5.9
Withdrawals of long-term borrowings 368.0 30.0
Repayments of long-term borrowings -153.8 -66.0
Dividends paid -52.8 -47.2
Other financing items " -15.9 18.7
Net cash flow from financing activities 30.1 -83.5
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 89.6 -30.0
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at year end 14 3314 240.2
Translation differences 1.6 0.2
Cash and cash equivalents at year beginning 240.2 270.0
Change in cash and cash equivalents 89.6 -30.0
*)  Including, for example, cash flow from
hedging intercompany balance sheet items
FREE CASH FLOW ™ 121.7 53.5

**)  Cash flow from operating activities - net capital expenditure -restricted cash
Net capital expenditure = total capital expenditure less proceeds from sale of assets

The above figures cannot be directly traced from the balance sheet due to
acquisitions/divestments of subsidiaries and changes in rates of exchange.

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
EUR million Notes 2015 2014
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 13
Intangible rights 240.5 189.0
Goodwill 346.2 305.0
Other intangible assets 41.6 15.7
Land and water 14.8 14.5
Buildings and constructions 57.9 55.8
Machinery and equipment 123.4 96.7
Other tangible assets 0.3 0.4
Advances paid and construction in progress 10.3 6.6
Available-for-sale financial assets 14 0.4 0.3
Deferred tax assets 15 116.2 101.5
Other non-current receivables 11.6 21.5
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 963.2 807.0
CURRENT ASSETS
INVENTORIES 16
Raw materials and consumables 41.9 37.0
Work in progress 6.8 8.7
Finished goods 4333 367.5
482.0 413.2
RECEIVABLES
Accounts receivable 16 563.9 543.3
Loans receivable - 1.7
Current tax assets 12.1 14.5
Prepaid expenses and other receivables 17 203.1 150.2
779.1 709.7
MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Other securities - 19.0
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 14 331.4 221.2
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,592.5 1,363.1
Assets held for sale 3 - 35
TOTAL ASSETS 2,555.7 2,173.6

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EUR million

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
COMPANY

Share capital

Premium fund

Fund for own shares

Translation differences

Fair value and other reserves
Remeasurements

Invested unrestricted equity reserve

Retained earnings
Net result

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

LIABILITIES

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Bonds
Loans from financial institutions
Other interest-bearing liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Defined benefit pension liabilities
Other interest-free liabilities
Provisions

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Current tax liabilities
Provisions

TOTAL LIABILITIES

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

AND LIABILITIES

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.
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18

26

19
19
19
15

21

19

20

21

2015 2014
292.2 292.2
12.1 12.1
-18.1 -20.2
17.0 -14.9
43.8 41.6
-35.1 -36.6
163.1 163.1
353.0 350.1
121.6 554
949.6 842.8
534.1 309.9
81.4 80.3
19.0 0.1
40.6 20.0
60.2 60.0
25.9 21.9
25 2.1
763.7 4943
157.2 269.0
275.7 237.8
347.2 281.1
27.9 14.4
34.4 342
842.4 836.5
1,606.1 1,330.8
2,555.7 2,173.6
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY
Tnvested
Fund Fair value unrestricted
Share  Premium  forown Translation ~ andother ~ Remes- equity  Retained
EUR million capital fund shares differences  reserves  surements  reserve  earnings Total
Balance at January 1, 2014 1922 121 A1 598 43 -194 1567 3989 7613
Other comprehensive income;
Translation differences 49 49
Remeasurement effects of
postemployment benefit plans 257 257
Cash flow and fair value
hedges 66.5 66.5
[ncome tax related to OCI -l6.6 83 41
Net result 554 554
Total comprehensive income 49 499 172 554 1330
Transactions with owners:
Repurchase of own shares 129 -129
Share-based incentive program 38 04 16 86
Dividend distrbution 472 472
Balance at December 31, 2014 92 121 202 149 416 366 163.1 4055 8428
Other comprehensive income;
Translation differences 319 319
Remeasurement effects of
postemployment benefit plans 29 29
Cash flow and fair value
hedges Al 1
[ncome tax related to OCI 43 -14 -19
Net result 1216 1214
Total comprehensive income 319 1 15 1216 1572
Transactions with owners:
Repurchase of own shares o SN
Share-based incentive program 32 03 33
Dividend distribution 528 528
Balance at December 31, 2015 292 121 181 170 8 351 163.1 4746 949.6

Note 18 provides additional information on shareholders’ equity and note 26 on

the fair value and other reserves.

The notes are an integral part of consolidated financial information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General
Amer Sports Corporation is a Finnish public listed company that is domiciled in Helsinki.

Amer Sports Corporation and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) manufacture, sell and market sports
equipment, apparel and footwear to the sports equipment trade and direct to consumers. The
Group’s business is founded on its globally recognized brands, the most important of which are
Salomon, Wilson, Precor, Arc’teryx, Atomic, Mavic and Suunto.

The Group shared sales network covers 34 countries. The Group’s main market areas are the
United States and Europe.

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 3,
2016.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards approved for use in the EU (IFRS), observing the IAS and IFRS
standards and SIC and IFRIC interpretations in force as of December 31, 2015. In the Finnish
Accounting Act and the provisions issued under it, International Financial Reporting Standards
refer to standards approved for use in the EU in accordance with the procedure laid down in the
EU regulation (EC) No 1606/2002, and their interpretations.

The Group has applied the following new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations
as of January 1, 2015, which did not have material impact on the Group’s financial statements:

. IAS 19 (amendment): Defined benefit plans

. Small changes to various standards or interpretations as part of the annual improvements to
IFRS project.

The following standards and amendments that will come into force in 2016 are expected not to
have any material effect on the consolidated financial statements, as currently estimated by the

Group:

. IFRS 10 (amendment): Consolidated financial statements

. IFRS 11 (amendment): Joint arrangements

. IFRS 12 (amendment): Disclosures of interests in other entities

. IAS 16 (amendment): Property, plant and equipment

. IAS 27 (amendment): Consolidated and separate financial statements

. IAS 28 (amendment): Investments in associates and joint ventures

. IAS 38 (amendment): Intangible assets

. Changes to the following standards or interpretations as part of the annual improvements to

IFRS project: IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 19 and IAS 34
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The following new and revised standards will be adopted in 2016 or later (subject to EU

endorsement):
. IFRS 9: Financial instruments
. IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with customers

. IFRS 16: Leases
. IAS 1 (amendment): Presentation of financial statements
. TIAS 19: Employee benefits — discount rate

The new standard IFRS 16: Leases will have significant implications on the recognition of the
lease expenses, non-current assets, interest-bearing liabilities as well as on the key financial
ratios. The operating lease commitments as of December 31, 2015 were EUR 188.2 million.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of euros and have been prepared
under the historical cost convention with the exception of available-for-sale financial assets, share
based payments, financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss as
well as derivative financial instruments at fair value.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include all subsidiaries in which the parent company holds
directly or indirectly more than half of the votes or otherwise controls the subsidiary. Companies
acquired during the financial year have been included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date when control was obtained. Similarly, divested subsidiaries are included up to the
date when control has been relinquished.

The inter-company share ownership within the Group has been eliminated using the acquisition
method. The transferred consideration and all the identifiable assets and liabilities of an acquired
company are measured at fair values at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recognized as the
amount by which the total transferred consideration exceeds the fair value of the acquired net
assets. The potential additional purchase price is measured at fair value on the balance sheet
date and the related profit or loss is booked in the income statement. Goodwill is not amortized,
but its value is tested for impairment at least once a year by means of a cash flow analysis (see
impairment of assets below). Impairment losses are booked in the income statement.

Intercompany transactions as well as intercompany receivables and liabilities are eliminated.
Foreign currencies

The transactions in subsidiaries’ financial statements are valued in the currency of the country
where the subsidiary operates (“functional currency”). The Group financial statements are
presented in euros, which is the functional currency of the parent company and the presentation
currency of the Group. The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into euros
at the closing exchange rates confirmed by the European Central Bank on the balance sheet date.
The income statement is translated into euros by consolidating each calendar month separately
using the actual daily average rate for the month, whereby the sum of the twelve calendar
months represents the whole year. Translation differences arising from the translation of the net
investment in foreign operations are booked to translation differences in other comprehensive
income. Intercompany long-term capital loans that are not expected to be repaid are considered as
a part of the company’s net investment in the foreign operation and are treated similarly.
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The following exchange rates have been used in the consolidated accounts:

Income statement” Balance sheet
2015 2014 12/15 12/14
USD 1.11 1.33 1.09 1.21
CAD 1.42 1.47 1.51 1.41
JPY 134.38 140.23 131.07 145.23
GBP 0.73 0.81 0.73 0.78

Y Calculated average of the monthly average rates

Group companies record transactions in foreign currencies at the rate on the transaction date or
at an estimated rate sufficiently close to the rate on the transaction date. Assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are outstanding at the end of the financial year are
translated at the closing rate of exchange in effect on the balance sheet date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses related to operational transactions are presented in EBIT.
Exchange rate gains and losses on foreign currency-denominated loans and other receivables
and liabilities connected with financing transactions are recorded at their net values as financing
income and expenses.

Derivatives and hedge accounting

The company’s derivative instruments may include foreign exchange forward contracts and
options, interest rate swaps and interest rate options and cross-currency swaps. Foreign exchange
forward contracts and options are used to hedge against changes in the value of receivables and
liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and interest rate swaps and interest rate options to
hedge against the interest rate risk. Cross-currency swaps are used to hedge against changes in
value of foreign currency denominated receivables and liabilities and against the interest rate risk.

Foreign exchange forward contracts and options, interest rate swaps and options and cross
currency swaps are measured at fair value on the day that the Group becomes a party to the
contract. Subsequent measurement is also at fair value. Foreign exchange derivatives are measured
at fair value using the closing rates quoted by the European Central Bank on the reporting date
together with common pricing models that are used for valuation of foreign exchange forward
contracts and options. The fair values of interest rate and cross currency swaps are calculated as
the current value of future cash flows. Interest rate options are valued with year-end interest rates
together with common option pricing models.

Gains and losses from fair value measurement are treated in accordance with the purpose of
the derivative financial instrument. For maturities below 12 months after the balance sheet
date, the fair value of the derivatives is presented in prepaid expenses and other receivables or
accrued liabilities. For maturities over 12 months, the fair value is presented in other non-current
receivables or other interest-free liabilities.

Changes in the value of derivative instruments, which do not qualify for hedge accounting are
recorded as financing income and expenses, except for when they are associated with hedging the
cash flow from operating activities, in which case they are recorded in other operating income and
expenses.

The Group applies cash flow and fair value hedge accounting to foreign exchange derivatives that
hedge material cash flows from operating activities and to interest rate swaps and cross currency
swaps hedging against the interest risks and fair value changes associated with floating rate loans
denominated in foreign currency. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, in accordance with IAS 39, is recognized in
the fair value and other reserves under sharecholders’ equity. Any ineffective component, however,
will be immediately recognized in the income statement. The cumulative change in gains or losses
for the effective hedges is transferred to the income statement for the period when the hedged item
is recorded in the income statement.
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When a hedging instrument expires, is sold, or if the hedge does not meet the requirements set
for hedge accounting under IAS 39, any cumulative gain or loss recorded in equity remains in
equity until the forecasted transaction is recorded in the income statement. When the forecasted
cash flow is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity
is immediately recorded in financing income and expenses in the income statement in the case of
an interest rate hedge and in other operating income and expenses in the case of an operating cash
flow hedge.

When initiating hedge accounting, the Group documents the correlation between the hedged
item and the hedging instruments, as well as the Group’s risk management objective and hedge
initiation strategy. The Group documents and evaluates the effectiveness of hedges when initiating
hedging and on a quarterly basis by examining the degree to which the hedging instrument offsets
changes in the fair value and cash flow of the hedged item.

The Group does not hedge the net investment in foreign subsidiary operations with derivatives.
Measurement of financial assets

In accordance with IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, financial assets
are categorized as:

1. financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
II.  held-to-maturity investments

III.  loans and receivables

IV. available-for-sale financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. Changes
in fair value are booked as a credit or charge to earnings in financing income and expenses.
Derivatives are also categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets
in this category are classified as current assets, except for maturities over 12 months after the
balance sheet date.

Held-to-maturity investments and loans granted by the company are carried at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method. Held-to-maturity investments are valued at cost and are included
in current assets, except for maturities over 12 months after the balance sheet date. At the end of
the financial year, the Group did not possess any held-to-maturity investments.

Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Accounts receivable are carried at the original invoiced amount
less impairment losses and credits for returns. Impairment losses are recognized case by case
when there is evidence that the receivable cannot be recovered in full, such as due to the payment
difficulties or impending bankruptcy of the debtor.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at their fair value by applying the market prices
at the balance sheet date or some other determination of value used by the company. The change
in fair value is presented in fair value and other reserves under shareholders’ equity. Fair value
changes are transferred from shareholders’ equity to the income statement when the asset is sold
or its value has been impaired such that an impairment loss must be recognized. Available-for-sale
financial assets whose fair value cannot be determined reliably are measured at cost or a lower
value if they are impaired. Available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current assets
unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within 12 months after the
balance sheet date.
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Financial assets are recognized on the settlement date. Financial assets carried at fair value
through the income statement are initially recognized at fair value and transaction costs are
expensed in the income statement. Financial assets not carried at fair value through the income
statement are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial assets are
derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

On each closing date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence for the impairment
of a financial asset item or class. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a financial
asset below its cost is seen as evidence that the assets are impaired. The impairment loss is
recorded as a charge to earnings in financing items. Impairment losses are not reversed through
financing items.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits held at call with banks as well as
readily realizable marketable securities.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially carried at fair value. Transaction costs are included in the
original carrying amount of financial liabilities. All financial liabilities are subsequently carried
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Financial liabilities are classified as
current liabilities unless they mature over 12 months after the balance sheet date, in which case
they are included in long-term liabilities. The amounts drawn under the revolving credit facility
are included in loans from financial institutions.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of goods is booked when significant risks and rewards connected with
ownership of the goods have been transferred to the purchaser. Net sales represent the invoiced
value of goods, less value added taxes as well as discounts and adding or subtracting foreign
exchange differences.

Revenue obtained from other companies is booked to license income when these companies
manufacture or sell products bearing Amer Sports trademarks. In addition, license income includes
royalty payments obtained from other companies when they utilize manufacturing technology
patents owned by Amer Sports. License income based on fixed license agreements is recognized
evenly throughout the financial year.

License income determined by sales volumes is recognized during the financial year as the
licensee generates sales revenue.

Other operating income comprises rental income, gains on the sale of non-current assets as well as
other non-recurring income, such as patent settlements.

Cost of goods sold

The cost of goods sold includes all the salaries and wages, materials, procurement and other costs
connected with the manufacture and purchase of products.

Research and development
Research expenses are recognized as expenses when they are incurred. Product development

expenses are capitalized when they meet the recognition criteria according to IAS 38 Intangible
Assets.

—1-193 —



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

Sales and marketing expenses

Expenses related to the sales, distribution, marketing and advertising of products are booked to
sales and marketing expenses. These include sales inventory, customer service, marketing and
sales, media advertising expenses and athlete endorsements.

Administrative and other expenses

Administrative and other expenses encompass Group Headquarter’s expenses, general
administration expenses, as well as minor one-off losses such as losses on disposals of non-current
assets.

Pension plans

The Group’s pension arrangements comply with the local rules and practices of the countries
where Amer Sports operates. The Group’s pension arrangements are either defined contribution
or defined benefit plans. Under defined contribution based plans, such as the Finnish TyEL
employment pension system, the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and
will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions. In defined contribution
plans, the Group’s contributions are recorded as an expense in the period to which they relate.

Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans.
In defined benefit plans, the pension expenses recognized in the income statement are determined
using the projected unit credit method which calculates the present value of the obligation and
the related service costs. The pension liability is measured by calculating the present value of
future pension obligations, discounted using the market yield on high quality corporate bonds or
government bonds in countries where there is no deep market for such bonds. Fair value of plan
assets is deducted from present value of obligation and net liability (asset) is presented in balance
sheet. All actuarial gains and losses (“remeasurements”) relating to post-employment benefits
are recognized in full in other comprehensive income. For other long-term employee benefits, the
Group recognizes actuarial gains and losses immediately in profit or loss. All past service costs
are recognized immediately in the income statement. Net interest expense (income) is determined
based on the net defined benefit liability (asset) and the discount rate at the beginning of the year.
Expenses related to defined benefit post-employment plans are reported as follows:

. service cost: above EBIT
. net interest expense: in financing expenses
. remeasurement components: under other comprehensive income

Share-based payment

The Group’s key employees have been granted several share-based incentive schemes where the
rewards are settled either as equity instruments or in cash. The rewards are measured at fair value
at the time of granting using generally accepted valuation models and recognized as expenses
in the income statement in even installments over the vesting period of the rights. Cash-settled
share-based payment transactions and the change in fair value are recognized as expenses over the
vesting period. The income effect of the arrangements is presented as employee benefits in the
income statement.
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Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

Earnings before interest and taxes is a net amount which is derived from net sales by deducting the
cost of goods sold and the research and development, selling, marketing, administrative and other
expenses and adding license income and other operating income. Foreign exchange differences
related to operational transactions are presented in EBIT whilst other foreign exchange differences
are recorded as financing income and expenses.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

A non-current asset or a disposal group of assets and liabilities is categorized as held for sale
when the economic benefits gained from it will be accrued primarily from its sale rather than from
continuous use. Non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale are measured at the lower of
carrying amount or fair value less selling costs and disclosed as a separate line item in the balance
sheet. These assets are not depreciated.

Discontinued operations refer to a significant part of the company (such as a segment) that it has
decided to discontinue. The net result of discontinued operations is disclosed on its own line in the
income statement, separately from continuing operations.

Income taxes

Taxes include the taxes for the financial year calculated on the basis of the result for the period
and in accordance with the tax legislation of each company’s local domicile as well as assessed or
returned taxes for previous financial periods and the change in deferred taxes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on all temporary differences between the book
and tax base of assets in accordance with the tax rate at the balance sheet date or with the future
tax rates prevailing when the tax is estimated to be paid. Temporary differences arise from factors
such as unused tax losses, depreciation differences, provisions, defined benefit pension plans,
the fair valuation of derivative financial instruments, the internal inventory margin as well as
measurements to fair value of assets in connection with business acquisitions. The tax effect of
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries is recorded as a deferred tax liability if a dividend payout
is probable and it will result in tax consequences. A deferred tax asset is recognized as a result of
unused tax losses and other temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that these can be
utilized in future financial periods. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

Earnings per share

The undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net result for the financial year
less interest on the hybrid bond (net of tax) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding
during the financial year. The dilutive effect of warrants and shares granted on the basis of share-

based incentive plans is taken into account in calculating diluted earnings per share.

The effect of share issues on previous years’ earnings per share is taken into account by using a
share issue ratio.

Government grants

Government grants are recorded as adjustments to expenses in the financial period they are
received, except when they relate to investments, in which case they are deducted from the cost.
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Intangible rights and other intangible non-current assets

Intangible rights comprise trademarks and patents. Other intangible assets include for example
software licenses. Patents and software licenses are recognized in the balance sheet at cost
and amortized on a straight-line basis during a useful life of three to fifteen years. Trademarks
with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but tested for impairment on an annual basis (see
impairment of assets below). Capitalised development expenses are amortized during their useful
lives.

Tangible non-current assets

Tangible non-current assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses (see impairment of assets below).

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis in order to write down the cost of the tangible
assets to their residual values over their expected useful lives, adjusting for any impairment. The
depreciation periods are:

Buildings and constructions
Machinery and equipment 25-40 years

Land and water are not depreciated. 3-10 years
Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of non-current tangible and intangible assets are assessed by means of
impairment tests whenever there is an indication of impairment. Any impairment of goodwill and
other intangible rights having an indefinite useful life are nevertheless assessed at least once a
year.

Impairment tests involve measuring the recoverable amount of said asset. The recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s net selling price or cash flow -based value in use. An impairment loss
is recognized in the income statement when the carrying amount of an asset is greater than the
recoverable amount. Impairment recognized on assets other than goodwill is reversed if a change
occurs in the estimates leading to the impairment charge. An impairment loss is reversed to a
maximum amount that does not exceed the carrying amount of the asset if impairment would not
have been originally recognized.

The recoverable amount of goodwill and other intangible rights with indefinite useful lives is
determined via fair value less cost of selling or higher cash flow-based value-in-use (impairment
tests of these items are more closely explained in note 7).

In the cash flow-based impairment calculations for other intangible rights and property, plant
and equipment, cash flows are recognized so that the first three years are based on the budgets
and strategic plans for the next three years as approved by the Group’s Board of Directors. In the
calculations, later years are estimated conservatively according to the growth assumptions made in
the three-year plans. The residual values used in the calculations are estimates of the probable net
selling prices of the asset items.

The discount rate in the calculations is based on the long-term risk-free market interest rates and

on generally used standard risk premiums (the key assumptions of the discount rate are presented
more closely in note 7).
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Lease agreements

Lease agreements relating to tangible assets, in which the Group retains a significant part of the
ownership risks and rewards, are classified as finance lease agreements. A finance lease agreement
is recorded on the balance sheet at the lower of the asset’s fair value or the present value of
minimum lease payments, and it is depreciated. Lease obligations are included in interest-bearing
liabilities. Other leasing payments are treated as rental expenses.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost calculated according to the FIFO principle or the net
realizable value. For self-manufactured products, the cost includes direct wage and raw material
costs for the manufacture of the products as well as a portion of the indirect costs of manufacture.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Shareholders’ equity

An equity instrument is recorded in the shareholders’ equity if the instrument includes no
contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity or to exchange
financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially
unfavorable to the issuer.

The subscription proceeds from share issues are booked to invested unrestricted equity reserve
to the extent that they are not, in accordance with a shareholders’ resolution, booked to the share
capital. The transaction costs of the share issues are charged to retained earnings net of tax.

The acquisition cost of repurchased own shares is charged to equity until the shares are cancelled
or reissued.

Any dividend proposed by the Board of the Directors is not deducted from distributable
shareholders’ equity until approved at the Annual General Meeting.

Provisions

Obligations arising as the consequence of a past event, which are legal or which the company
has an actual obligation to settle and are considered certain or likely to occur, are booked in the
income statement under an appropriate expense heading. They are presented in the balance sheet
as provisions when it is probable that the resources will be transferred out of the Group but the
precise amount or timing is not known. In other cases they are presented as accrued liabilities.
The most important regular provisions are due to the repair or replacement of products during
the warranty period. These provisions are determined on the basis of historical experience. A
provision for reorganization is made when the Group has drawn up a detailed reorganization plan
and announced the reorganization. Long-term provisions are discounted.

Use of estimates in the financial statements

When preparing the financial statements, the Group’s management has to make estimates and
assumptions influencing the content of the financial statements and it must exercise its judgment
regarding the application of accounting policies. The most important of these estimates and
assumptions are related to impairment of goodwill and other asset items, such as trademarks,
property, plant and equipment, inventories and accounts receivable; provisions for reorganization,
warranty and legal proceedings; evaluation of pension liabilities and share-based payments
schemes as well as the future utilization of deferred tax assets. Actual results may differ from
these estimates. Any changes in the estimates and assumptions are recognized in the period in
which the estimate or assumption is revised.
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Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Pension plans

The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined
on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net
cost (or income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will
impact the carrying amount of pension obligations.

Amer Sports determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest
rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected
to be required to settle the pension obligations. Other key assumptions for pension obligations are
based in part on current market conditions (see note 6).

Net liability recognized for defined benefit pension plans was EUR 60.2 million as of December
31, 2015.

Share-based payment

The Group key employees have been granted several share-based incentive schemes where the
rewards are settled either as equity instruments or in cash. The rewards are measured at fair value
at the time of granting using generally accepted valuation models and periodized as expenses
in the income statement in even installments over the vesting period of the rights. Cash-settled
share-based payment transactions and the change in fair value are periodized as expenses over the
vesting period. The income effect of the arrangements is presented as employee benefits in the
income statement.

Expenses recognized for the share-based incentive schemes for the year ended December 31, 2015
amounted to EUR 10.1 million and for the deferred cash long-term incentive programs EUR 3.5
million.

Income taxes

Management judgment is required in determining provisions for income taxes, deferred tax assets
and liabilities and the extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognized. As of December
31, 2015, the company has recognized net deferred tax assets of EUR 75.6 million on tax loss
carry forwards and other temporary differences. The Group is also subject to income taxes in
various jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the Group’s provision for income taxes.
There may be transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group anticipates questions arising in tax audits and
recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is made.

Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of non-current tangible and intangible assets are assessed by means of
impairment tests whenever there is an indication of impairment. Any impairment of goodwill and
other intangible assets having an indefinite useful life are nevertheless assessed at least once a
year. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-
use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates. As of December 31, 2015, the
amount of goodwill and other non-current intangible assets with indefinite useful lives tested for
impairment amounted to EUR 346.2 million and EUR 228.5 million, respectively. No impairment
losses were recognized in 2015. In 2014 an impairment of EUR 3.6 million was recognized for
other non-current intangible assets. Management estimates, used assumptions as well as sensitivity
analyses are presented in note 7.
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Inventories

The Group periodically reviews its inventories for excess amounts, obsolescence and declines
in market value below cost and records an allowance against the inventory balance for any such
declines. These reviews require management to estimate future demand for products. If the future
demand for Group’s products was weaker than anticipated or the market conditions deteriorated,
the value of inventories would likely have to be written down. As of December 31, 2015, the
amount of inventories on balance sheet amounted to EUR 482.0 million. Value of inventories has
been decreased by EUR 27.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to correspond to its net
realizable value.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are carried at the original invoiced amount less impairment losses and
credits for returns. Impairment losses are recognized case by case and on the basis of historical
experience when there is evidence that the receivable cannot be recovered in full, such as due
to payment difficulties or impending bankruptcy of the debtor. The estimates are based on
a systematic, ongoing review and evaluation performed as part of the credit-risk evaluation
process. As part of this evaluation, the Group takes into account the history of collections, the
size and composition of the receivable balances and current economic events and conditions.
If the financial conditions of customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional impairment losses may be recognized in future periods. As of
December 31, 2015, the amount of accounts receivable on balance sheet amounted to EUR 563.9
million and impairment losses of accounts receivable amounted to EUR 15.7 million.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized on the balance sheet when there is a legal or actual obligation for the
company to settle an obligation arising as the consequence of a past event that is considered
certain or likely to occur. The most important regular provisions are due to the repair or
replacement of products during the warranty period. These provisions are determined on the basis
of historical experience. The provisions recognized represent management’s best estimate of the
present value of the future costs assumed to be incurred. The actual costs may differ from the
estimated. As of December 31, 2015, the amount of provisions on balance sheet was EUR 36.9
million.

2. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Amer Sports operates primarily in one industry — the design, manufacturing, distribution, selling
and marketing of sporting goods, apparel and footwear.

The company is managed through its global operating segments, business areas, regional sales
organizations and company wide platforms such as global operations, which encompass business
functions from product development to product sourcing, manufacturing and outbound logistics.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group is the President and CEO, who is assisted by the
Executive Board. The Chairman of the Board of Directors continuously monitors Amer Sports’
operations and development through contact with the President and CEO. The President and CEO
is also the President of Outdoor operating segment. Ball Sports and Fitness operating segments
have their own Presidents.

Amer Sports has three reportable operating segments:

. Outdoor: manufacturer and supplier of footwear, apparel, winter sports equipment, cycling
components and sports instruments
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. Ball Sports: manufacturer and supplier of racquet and team sports equipment and golf
equipment
. Fitness: manufacturer and supplier of fitness equipment

The operating segments are based on the Group’s global organizational structure and management
reporting. The decisions concerning assessing the performance of segments and allocation of
resources to the segments are mainly based on segments’ net sales and earnings before interest and
taxes. The operating segments are not fully independent as they operate in cooperation with Amer
Sports’ regional sales organizations and company wide support functions.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.

The operating segments have been divided into the following business areas:

Outdoor

. Footwear: Salomon, Arc’teryx

. Apparel: Salomon, Arc’teryx

. Winter Sports Equipment: Salomon winter sports equipment and Atomic

. Cycling: Mavic
. Sports Instruments: Suunto
Ball Sports

. Individual Ball Sports: Wilson, Racquet Sports and Golf

. Team Sports: Wilson, DeMarini, Louisville Slugger
Fitness
. Fitness Equipment: Precor, Queenax

The accounting policies for segment reporting do not differ from the Group’s accounting policies.
There were no intersegment business operations in 2015 and 2014. In the income statement, line
items below EBIT have not been allocated to the segments.

The assets and liabilities of the operating segments include only items directly connected to the
business as well as the goodwill and non-current intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
related to them. Tax assets and liabilities, prepaid and accrued interest, receivables and payables
related to derivative financial instruments, cash and cash equivalents, and interest-bearing
liabilities are not allocated to the operating segments.

Unallocated items relating to EBIT include income and expenses of corporate headquarters.
Geographic net sales are presented according to customers’ location and assets according to where

the assets are located. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not allocated
to the geographical areas.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS

2015
Operating  Unallocated

EUR million Outdoor Ball Sports Fitness segments total items Total
Net sales 1,530.1 647.0 357.3 2,534.4 - 2,534.4
EBIT 154.2 45.7 311 231.0 -26.9 204.1

% of net sales 10.1 7.1 8.7 9.1 - 8.1
Financing income

and expenses -36.1 -36.1
Earnings before taxes 168.0 168.0
Goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite

useful lives 227.1 176.6 171.0 5747 - 574.7
Other assets 855.2 341.1 180.6 1,376.9 604.1 1,981.0
Liabilities 3213 2593 73.7 654.3 951.8 1,606.1
Capital expenditure 48.1 9.2 18.6 75.9 1.4 713
Depreciation 334 8.4 7.6 49.4 1.7 511
Cash flow from

operating activities
before financing items

and taxes 186.4 64.4 38.5 2893 -27.6 261.7
2014

Operating Unallocated

EUR million Outdoor Ball Sports Fitness segments total items Total
Net sales 1,371.2 536.7 320.8 2,228.7 - 2,228.7
EBIT 101.5 8.1 27.9 137.5 2234 114.1

% of net sales 7.4 1.5 8.7 6.2 - 5.1
Financing income

and expenses -37.1 -37.1
Earnings before taxes 77.0
Goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite

useful lives 223.4 110.8 155.8 490.0 - 490.0
Other assets 805.7 259.2 155.7 1,220.6 463.0 1,683.6
Liabilities 302.9 2114 61.7 576.0 754.8 1,330.8
Capital expenditure 35.4 5.0 7.2 47.6 4.0 51.6
Depreciation 30.6 6.4 6.4 43.4 1.4 44.8
Cash flow from

operating activities
before financing items

and taxes 149.8 4.9 16.0 170.7 -17.6 153.1
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OTHER ASSETS

EUR million 2015 2014

Other non-current assets, accounts and other receivables

and inventories of operating segments 1,376.9 1,220.6
Deferred tax assets 116.2 101.3
Unallocated other non-current assets, accounts and

other receivables 24.1 45.6
Derivative financial instruments 108.3 54.8
Prepaid interest 12.0 6.6
Current tax assets 12.1 14.5
Cash and cash equivalents 331.4 240.2
Unallocated other assets 604.1 463.0
LIABILITIES
EUR million 2015 2014

Other interest-free long-term liabilities, accounts payable,
non-tax and non-financing related accrued liabilities

and provisions of operating segments 654.3 576.0
Interest-bearing long-term liabilities 634.5 390.3
Deferred tax liabilities 40.6 20.0
Interest-bearing current liabilities 157.2 269.0
Unallocated accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11.9 6.0
Derivative financial instruments 63.2 40.2
Accrued interests 16.5 14.9
Current tax liabilities 27.9 14.4
Unallocated liabilities 951.8 754.8

GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

2015
Unallocated
EUR million EMEA Americas Asia Pacific Elimination items Total
External net sales 1,114.7 1,070.1 349.6 - - 2,534.4
Assets 937.5 744.5 161.6 -108.9 821.0 2,555.7
Capital expenditure 434 27.1 6.8 - - 7.3
Unallocated
EUR million EMEA Americas Asia Pacific Elimination items Total
External net sales 1,064.0 874.3 290.4 - - 2,228.7
Assets 699.2 699.6 136.4 -55.6 694.0 2,173.6
Capital expenditure 28.0 17.9 5.7 - - 51.6
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3. ACQUIRED AND DIVESTED BUSINESSES AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Amer Sports strengthened its Ball Sports business by acquiring the global brand, sales and
innovation rights to the American baseball brand Louisville Slugger on April 22, 2015 from
Hillerich & Bradsby Co. Louisville Slugger is an iconic American baseball brand, the official bat
of Major League Baseball and the market leading wood bat. Louisville Slugger reported annual
sales of USD 75 million in 2014. Louisville Slugger sales in 2015 from the date of acquisition
were USD 32 million. The final acquisition price was USD 72.3 million, which was mainly paid
in cash in April 2015. The transaction and other acquisition related one-time costs had a slightly
negative impact on Amer Sports 2015 financial results.

The fair value of the acquired net assets of Louisville Slugger was EUR 66.4 million. EUR 40.6
million of the fair value was allocated to the non-current intangible assets of which EUR 38.7
million to the Louisville Slugger trademark. The Louisville Slugger trademark is not amortized.
EUR 12.1 million of the fair value was allocated to goodwill. Baseball is one of Amer Sports’
chosen strategic growth areas, which already includes two leading brands, Wilson and DeMarini.
The acquisition enhances Ball Sports’ product portfolio and provides Amer Sports with a strong
position and opportunity for gaining substantial synergies by combining Louisville Slugger’s
operations to Wilson and DeMarini. The goodwill is tax deductible.

The following fair values of the assets and liabilities of Louisville Slugger business have been
consolidated into Amer Sports’ results from the acquisition date. Transaction costs of EUR 1.4
million are included in the operating expenses of the consolidated income statement.

EUR million Fair value
Intangible non-current assets 40.6
Goodwill 12.1
Inventories 6.2
Accounts receivables 11.8
Total assets 70.7

Interest-free liabilities 4.3
Net assets 66.4
Purchase price 66.4
Analysis of the cash flows on the acquisition

Purchase price 66.4
Transaction costs 1.4
Net cash flow on acquisition 67.8

Fair value of accounts receivables was EUR 2.6 million lower than book value at the date of
acquisition due to impairment of doubtful receivables.

On May 12, 2015 Amer Sports acquired 100% of the shares in the company Sports Tracking
Technologies Oy to strengthen its digital connectivity services and capabilities. Sports Tracker is
a digital sports application and online service. It has a strong technology platform and capability,
and it is a recognized digital service which is used globally. The purchase price was EUR 5.0
million. The fair value of the acquired net assets was EUR 4 million, which mainly comprised of
the intangible assets, such as the customer register and technical know-how. In addition goodwill
of EUR 1 million was recognized. The acquisition had no material impact on Amer Sports’ 2015
financial results.
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On July 21, 2015 Amer Sports strengthened its fitness product and service offering through the
acquisition of Queenax. Queenax is a leading functional training systems provider. Queenax
will be integrated into Precor, which is Amer Sports’ Fitness business segment. The acquisition
includes the Queenax brand as well as intellectual property and distribution rights, among others.
Functional strength training is one of the fastest growing segments in the commercial fitness
industry. The acquisition will enable Precor to offer its customers a complete functional training
system and will further solidify Precor as a leading player in the global fitness equipment and
services market. The purchase price was EUR 5.0 million, out of which EUR 4.5 million was
paid in 2015. The fair value of acquired net assets was EUR 5.0 million, which was also the
value allocated to goodwill. The purchase price allocation is preliminary. The acquisition had no
material impact on Amer Sports 2015 financial results.

In March 2015, Amer Sports sold Nikita and Bonfire brands to CRN Pte Ltd. The sale price was
EUR 1.0 million and received fully in cash. The combined net sales of Nikita and Bonfire in 2014

was EUR 9.8 million. The divestments had no material impact on Amer Sports’ 2015 financial
results.

There were no significant business acquisitions or company divestments in 2014.
Assets held for sale in 2014

Assets held for sale reported in 2014 were intangible non-current assets of EUR 1.0 million and
net inventories of EUR 2.5 million related to Nikita and Bonfire brands.

4. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

EUR million 2015 2014
Rental return on real estate 0.0 0.0
Gain on sale of non-current assets 0.1 0.4
Other 4.7 5.1
Total 4.8 5.5

5. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

EUR million 2015 2014
Wages and salaries 386.6 337.6
Social expenditure
Pensions-defined contribution plans 13.0 10.5
Pensions-defined benefit plans 3.9 33
Other social security 78.7 77.8
Total 482.2 429.2

In countries where social expenditure paid to the government cannot be divided between pensions
and other social security, the expenses are presented under the heading Other social security.

Salaries and other compensation of the management are presented in note 27.

~1-204 —



APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET GROUP

6. PENSIONS

Pension security for Group companies is based on each country’s local regulations and practices.
The Group’s most significant defined benefit pension plan is for Wilson Sporting Goods Co.
(USA), whose present value of funded obligations is 61% (61) of the Group’s total value. In
addition to the USA, the Group has defined benefit pension plans in France, Switzerland, the UK,
Germany and Japan. These are handled via pension funds or pension companies whose assets
are not included in Group’s assets. Contributions to the funds are made in accordance with local
regulations. In the USA and the UK pension funds are closed, and new members are no longer
admitted to them. The Group’s other pension arrangements, such as the Finnish TyEL statutory
employment pension, are mainly defined contribution plans.

The net liability recognized in the balance sheet relating to defined benefit pension plans is
defined as follows:

EUR million 2015 2014
Present value of funded obligations 178.0 167.3
Fair value of plan assets -117.8 -107.3
Deficit 60.2 60.0
Impact of minimum funding requirement/ asset ceiling — -
Net liability in the balance sheet at December 31 60.2 60.0

The movement in the defined benefit obligation is as follows:

Present Fair
value of value of
EUR million obligation plan asset Total
At January 1, 2014 123.4 -90.5 32.9
Current service cost 3.0 - 3.0
Past service cost and gains and losses
on settlements 0.2 - 0.2
Administration cost paid from plan assets -0.4 0.5 0.1
Interest expense/(income) 6.1 -4.9 1.2
Cost recognized in income statement 8.9 -4.4 4.5
Remeasurements:
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts
included in interest expenses/(income) - 0.8 0.8
(Gain)/loss from change in demographic
assumptions 7.8 - 7.8
(Gain)/loss from change in financial
assumptions 12.9 - 12.9
Experience (gains)/losses 5.0 - 5.0
Remeasurements effects recognized in OCI 25.7 0.8 26.5
Contributions:
Employers -0.6 -6.0 -6.6
Employees 1.1 -1.1 0.0
Benefits paid from plan assets -4.0 4.0 0.0
Other changes 0.8 - 0.8
Exchange rate differences 12.0 -10.1 1.9
At December 31, 2014 167.3 -107.3 60.0
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Present Fair
value of value of
EUR million obligation plan asset Total
At January 1, 2015 167.3 -107.3 60.0
Current service cost 4.1 - 4.1
Past service cost and gains
and losses on settlements -0.2 - -0.2
Administration cost paid from
plan assets -0.8 0.8 0.0
Interest expense/(income) 6.5 -4.6 1.9
Cost recognized in income
statement 9.6 -3.8 5.8
Remeasurements:
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts
included in interest expenses/(income) - 4.7 4.7
(Gain)/loss from change in
demographic assumptions 0.3 - 0.3
(Gain)/loss from change in
financial assumptions -7.4 - -7.4
Experience (gains)/losses -1.0 - -1.0
Other changes 0.4 0.1 0.5
Remeasurements effects
recognized in OCI -7.7 4.8 -2.9
Contributions:
Employers -0.4 -6.7 -7.1
Employees 0.8 -0.8 0.0
Benefits paid from plan assets -6.9 6.9 0.0
Exchange rate differences 15.3 -10.9 4.4
At December 31, 2015 178.0 -117.8 60.2
Principal actuarial assumptions:
2015 2014
% USA Europe Japan USA Europe Japan
Discount rate 4.70-4.85 0.90-3.80 0.80 4.20-4.40 1.40-3.55 0.90
Inflation 2.25 1.00-3.20 0.00 2.25 1.00-3.10 N/A
Future salary increases 2.50 1.00-3.10 1.70 2.50 1.00-3.00 0.30
Future pension increases 0.00 0.00-2.20 0.00 0.00 0.00-2.10 N/A
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Sensitivity analysis:

Impact on
Change in defined
% assumption obligation
Discount rate 0,25% decrease 3.57
Inflation rate 0,25% increase 0.51

Mortality rate 1 year increase
in life expectancy 1.90

Major categories of plan assets:

EUR million 2015 2014
US equities 12.1 10.4
UK equities 6.0 6.0
Other equities 11.4 10.0
Corporate bonds 17.1 16.0
Government bonds 65.9 57.6
Commodities 0.6 0.7
Other including cash 4.7 6.6

Through its defined pension plans Amer Sports is exposed to actuarial risks such as investment
risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk and mortality risk.

The main risk is that additional contributions are required if investment returns are not sufficient
to pay for the benefits. The level of equity returns is a key determinant of overall investment
return; the investment portfolio is also subject to range of other risks typical to asset classes held.

A decrease in corporate bond yields, a rise in inflation or an increase in life expectancy would
result in an increase in plan liabilities. This would detrimentally impact the balance sheet position
and may give rise to increased cost in income statement. This effect would be partially offset by
an increase in the value of the plan’s bond holdings. Additionally, caps on inflationary increases
are in place to protect the plan against extreme inflation.

The estimated contributions to the pension plans during 2016 are EUR 7.7 million.

7. DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Depreciation and amortization by asset type

EUR million 2015 2014
Intangible rights 3.4 2.5
Other intangible assets 5.8 6.4
Buildings and constructions 9.6 7.7
Machinery and equipment 32.3 28.2
Total 51.1 448
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Impairment losses by asset type

EUR million 2015 2014
Other intangible assets - 3.6
Total - 3.6

In 2014 Amer Sports wrote down value of certain minor trademarks by EUR 3.6 million.

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses by function

EUR million 2015 2014
Cost of goods sold 19.5 17.1
Research and development 3.1 2.1
Selling and marketing 12.8 11.1
Administration and other expenses 15.7 14.5
Total 51.1 44.8

Amer Sports brands are well known and established in their respective markets. Products sold
under these brands have been available to customers for a long period of time and they have been
used by top athletes for decades. Amer Sports focuses on brand awareness and on the quality and
performance of the products sold under those brands. The brands will continue to generate positive
cash flow, hence they are not subject to amortization.

Impairment tests of goodwill and other intangible rights with indefinite useful lives, such as
trademarks, are performed when the management has identified indications of impairment or once
a year when business areas’ plans for the next three years are approved by the management in the
last quarter.

Goodwill is monitored by management at Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) level, the level at which
it and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for impairment. The CGUs in Amer
Sports are the following: Winter Sports Equipment, Salomon Apparel and Footwear, Arc’teryx
Apparel and Gear, Cycling, Sports Instruments, Individual Ball Sports, Team Sports, Golf, and
Fitness.

The impairment tests were calculated during the fourth quarter of 2015 on budgeted 2016 opening
balances by comparing the carrying amount of the asset being tested to its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value-in-use (“VIU”) and fair value less cost of selling. If
the VIU indicates impairment, the fair value less cost to sell is calculated in order to determine
recoverable amount. The VIU has been calculated using a discounted cash flow model method for
each CGU based on the following assumptions:

. A five-year future period was used after which a perpetuity value was defined.

. First year is based on the approved budget and the next two years on the business areas’
detailed business plans. The expected growth for the fourth and fifth year is zero.

. The perpetuity value is derived from a combination of estimate period and actual results
using the Gordon model. The default perpetuity growth is 2% which is in line with the
management’s view on long-term inflation which is no growth in real terms. In some cases
where management expects well above average growth after the estimate period, the growth
rate may rise to 5%.
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. Current cost structure is to remain unchanged.

. Discount rate is determined separately for the North America and European businesses and
it has varied on the range of 6.90%-9.07% pre-tax (10.37); equal to 5.92%-5.96% post-tax

(7.73). The main components of the discount rate were:

Risk Free Interest Rate Debt
Risk Free Interest Rate Equity
Equity Market Risk Premium
Asset Beta (Unlevered Beta)
Debt Risk Premium

Tax Rate

2015

0.73%
1.32%
5.11%

0.89
1.82%

27%-36%

2014

0.73%
1.61%
6.64%
0.91
2.34%
27%-36%

The main change to discount rate arose from a drop in the equity market risk premium and lower

debt risk premium.

Goodwill and other intangible rights with indefinite useful lives have been allocated to CGUs as
described in the table below. The table also sets out the discount rates used per CGU:

EUR million

Outdoor
Winter Sports Equipment
Salomon Apparel and Footwear
Arc’teryx Apparel and Gear
Cycling
Sports Instruments

Ball Sports
Individual Ball Sports
Team Sports

Fitness
Fitness

Total

Intangible rights

Pre-tax with indefinite

discount Goodwill useful lives

rate, % 2015 2014 2015 2014
7.5 11.7 11.7 87.8 86.0
7.7 - - 66.2 63.4
6.9 - - 7.9 8.5
7.7 - - 23.3 23.3
8.0 30.2 29.0 - -
9.1 77.7 63.4 - -
8.5 58.2 47.4 40.7 -
8.5 168.4 153.5 2.6 2.4
7.8 346.2 305.0 228.5 183.6

In 2015 and 2014, the value-in-use of goodwill and other intangible rights with indefinite useful
lives of all CGUs exceeded their carrying amounts. The table below summarizes how a +/—
1-2%-point change in discount rate and/or in perpetuity growth would impact on the result of the

impairment test in 2015:

-2%
-1%
Rate
1%
2%

-2%

S OO o O

-1%

S o oo O

Growth

S oo o O

1%

S O o o O

2%

oS oo o O

Based on the changes in the key variables used in the sensitivity analysis, the management
estimates that it is unlikely that there is sensitivity on impairment.
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The table below summarizes how a +/— 1-2%-point change in growth rate and/or in profitability in
the 5 year estimate period would impact on the result of the impairment test in 2015:

-2% -1% Growth 1% 2%
2% 0 0 0 0 0
1% 0 0 0 0 0
EBIT-% 0 0 0 0 0
-1% 0 0 0 0 0
-2% 0 0 0 0 0

Based on the changes in the key variables used in the sensitivity analysis, the management
estimates that it is unlikely that there is significant sensitivity on impairment.

The results of the value-in-use calculations have been analyzed against the valuation reports
prepared by industry analysts in various investment banks. The analysis shows that the results are

in-line with the analysts’ average estimates.

8. COMPENSATION OF AUDITORS

EUR million 2015 2014
Statutory audit 1.9 1.9
Tax consulting 0.5 0.3
Other services 0.1 0.2
Total 2.5 2.4

Amer Sports Corporation Annual General Meeting held on March 12, 2015 elected Authorised
Public Accountants Ernst & Young Oy to act as auditor of the Company. The financial year 2014
was audited by Authorised Public Accountants PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy.

9. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

In 2015, the Group had several share-based incentive arrangements which are targeted to Group
key personnel. These have been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2. According to the terms
of the arrangements, the Group key employees are granted shares and a cash payment covering
taxes and tax-related costs arising from the reward. In some arrangements, the reward is payable
only in cash.

Performance share plans 2010 and 2013

The performance share plan 2010 included six earning periods, the calendar years 2010, 2011 and
2012 and calendar years 2010-2012, 2011-2013 and 2012-2014. The Board of Directors decided
on the earnings criteria and the targets to be established for them for each earning period at the
beginning of each earning period. Rewards from the plan for the earning period 2010 were based
on the Group’s EBIT and rewards for the earning period 2010-2012 were based on the Group’s
total shareholder return. Rewards from the plan for the earning period 2011 were based on Group’s
EBIT and net sales and rewards for the earning period 2011-2013 were based on the Group’s total
shareholder return. Rewards from the plan for the earning period 2012 were based on the Group’s
EBIT and net sales and rewards for the earning period 2012-2014 were based on the Group’s total
shareholder return. For the six earning periods, Group’s EBIT and net sales constituted 70% and
total shareholder return 30% of the earnings criteria.
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The performance share plan 2013 includes six earning periods as well: the calendar years 2013,
2014 and 2015 and calendar years 2013-2015, 2014-2016 and 2015-2017. The Board of Directors
decides on the earnings criteria and the targets to be established for them for each earning period
at the beginning of each earning period. Rewards from the plan for the earning period 2013 were
based on the Group’s EBIT and net sales and potential rewards for the earning period 2013-2015
will be based on the Group’s total shareholder return. Rewards from the plan for the earning
period 2014 were based on Group’s EBIT and net sales. Potential rewards for the earning period
2014-2016 will be based on the Group’s total shareholder return. Potential rewards from the plan
for the earning period 2015 will be based on Group’s EBIT and net sales. Potential rewards for the
earning period 2015-2017 will be based on the Group’s total shareholder return. For the ongoing
earning periods, the weighting for the Group’s EBIT and net sales totals 80% and total shareholder
return 20%.

A prerequisite for participation by key personnel in the plans and for receiving rewards on the
basis of the plans is that they must acquire company shares. In 2015, as a reward for meeting this
condition, 31,649 shares were transferred to new key personnel participating in the performance
share plan (2014: 43,720).

Potential rewards from the earning periods will be paid partly in company’s shares and partly in
cash. Cash payments will equal to taxes and tax-related costs which arise from the reward to key
personnel. The amount of net rewards to be paid on the basis of the performance share plan 2010
will be a maximum total of 1,000,000 Amer Sports Corporation shares. The amount of net rewards
to be paid on the basis of the performance share plan 2013 will be a maximum total of 1,400,000
Amer Sports Corporation shares. In 2014, 246,656 shares were transferred to key personnel in
relation to the earning period 2013, and 77,370 shares in relation to the earning period 2011-2013.
In 2015, 134,126 shares were transferred to key personnel in relation to the earning period 2014,
and 72,870 shares in relation to the earning period 2012-2014. Shares awarded in connection with
the earning periods 2013, 2014 and 2015 may not be transferred during the restriction periods
ending on December 31, 2015, December 31, 2016, and December 31, 2017 respectively.

In 2014, 16,197 shares and in 2015, 35,540 shares granted as share-based incentives based on the
performance share plan were returned to Amer Sports Corporation in accordance with the terms of
the incentive plan as employment ended.

Members of the Group Executive Board must hold 50% of the shares they receive on the basis of
incentive plans as long as the value of the shares held by the member of the Executive Board in
total corresponds to the person’s annual gross salary.

The performance share plan 2010 was directed at approximately 60 people and the performance
share plan 2013 at approximately 200 people, including the members of the Group Executive
Board. At the end of 2015, 50 people were covered by the performance share plan 2010 for earning
period 2012-2014. 70 people participated in the performance share plan 2013 for the earning
period 2013-2015, 194 people for the earning periods 2014 and 2014-2016 and 231 people for
earnings periods 2015 and 2015-2017.

Performance share plan has been measured at fair value at grant date. The cash payment intended
to cover the tax consequences has been calculated using the share market price on the date of
conveying the shares. The cash payment accrued relating to shares not yet conveyed has been
revalued at the share market price prevailing on the closing date.

Restricted stock plan 2013
In restricted stock plans, potential rewards will be based on continuation of employment. Potential

rewards from the earning periods will be paid partly as the company’s shares and partly in cash.
Cash payments will equal to taxes and tax-related costs incurring by a result of receiving a reward.
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The restricted stock plan 2013 includes three earning periods: calendar years 2013, 2014 and
2015. Shares may not be transferred during the restriction periods, which will end on December
31, 2015, December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017 respectively. The amount of net rewards to
be paid on the basis of the restricted stock plan 2013 will be a maximum total of 300,000 Amer
Sports Corporation shares. In 2014 and in relation to earning period 2013, 88,500 shares were
transferred to key employees participating in this plan. In 2015 and in relation to earning period
2014, 83,600 shares were transferred.

In 2014, 12,000 shares and in 2015, 14,300 shares granted as share-based incentives in the
restricted stock plan were returned to Amer Sports Corporation in accordance with the terms of the
incentive plan as employment ended.

At the end of 2015, 65 people were covered by the restricted stock plan for the earning period
2015.

The members of the Group Executive Board must hold 50% of the shares they receive on the basis
of incentive plans as long as the value of the shares held by the member of the Executive Board in
total corresponds to the person’s annual gross salary.

Restricted stock plan has been measured at fair value at grant date. The cash payment intended
to cover the tax consequences has been calculated using the share market price on the date of
conveying the shares. The cash payment accrued relating to shares not yet conveyed has been
revalued at the share market price prevailing on the closing date.

Deferred cash long-term incentive plans

Deferred cash long-term incentive programs seeks to elicit commitment from key executives. The
programs encourage the achievement of the annual targets and long-term shareholder value. The
results are tied to the three-year trend in shareholder value. The rewards are payable in cash in
the same currency as the salary and the payments are subject to taxes and other deductions under
applicable laws. At the end of 2015, 101 employees were within the scope of the program for
2011-2013 (2014: 137).

The key conditions and assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of the
arrangements are presented in the table below:

Performance share plan and Performance share plan and

restricted stock plans 2013 restricted stock plans 2010
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Feb 2/March Jan 28/March Jan 31/March Jan 31/March  Feb 4/March March
Grant date 12, 2015 7,2014 8,2013 8, 2012 14,2011 31,2010
Number of instruments granted 528,247/ 530,715/ 475,532/ 403,060/ 397,800/ 408,700

-257,419 -112,116 -224.866 -19,950 12,198
Fair value at grant date, EUR 18.13 14.62 11.64 9.76 9.83/8.75 8.75
Vesting period, years 3 3 3 3 3 3
Returned shares 49,840 28,197 29,198 6,409 - -
Fair value per instrument

at grant date, EUR 18.13 14.62 11.64 9.76 9.83/8.75 8.75
EUR million 2015 2014

Expense of share-based incentive schemes recognized

in earnings 10.1 6.1
Accrual of cash component of share-based incentive schemes 4.0 3.4
Expense of deferred cash long-term incentive plans

recognized in earnings 3.5 1.5
Accrual of deferred cash long-term incentive plans 6.0 5.2
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10. FINANCING INCOME AND EXPENSES

EUR million 2015 2014
Interest income 1.1 0.4
Interest expenses
Interest expenses on bonds -17.3 -18.8
Interest expenses on commercial papers -0.1 -0.5
Interest expenses on loans from financial institutions -1.1 -1.3
Other interest expenses -11.2 -8.4
Total interest expenses -29.7 -29.0
Change in fair value of derivative instruments
not used in hedge accounting -1.0 -3.3
Exchange rate losses -5.4 -2.7
Other financing expenses -1.1 -2.5
Uneffectiveness of cash flow hedges 0.0 0.0
Total -36.1 -37.1

11. INCOME TAXES

EUR million 2015 2014
Current taxes 36.3 20.0
Taxes for prior periods 1.5 -1.9
Deferred taxes 8.6 3.5
Total 46.4 21.6
EUR million 2015 2014

Current taxes:

EMEA 18.0 8.5
Americas 3.8 -0.4
Asia Pacific 16.0 10.0
Total 37.8 18.1
Thereof for prior periods 1.5 -1.9
Deferred taxes 8.6 3.5
Total 46.4 21.6
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Reconciliation between income taxes at local tax rates in different countries and the total tax
expense in the income statement:

EUR million 2015 2014

Taxes at local rates applicable to earnings

in countries concerned 45.6 18.9
Permanent differences -1.3 2.0
Realisability of deferred tax assets 3.3 6.6
Changes in tax rates and tax laws 0.4 -0.6
Taxes for prior periods 1.5 -1.9
Tax credits -3.1 -3.4
Taxes recognized in the income statement 46.4 21.6
Effective tax rate, % 27.6 28.1

Certain of the Group companies’ income tax returns for prior periods are under examination by tax
authorities. Even though the Group does not expect that any significant additional taxes in excess
of those already provided for will arise as a result of the examinations, it cannot be excluded that
final resolutions of open items may differ from the amounts initially recorded.

The Group classifies interest on tax claims as interest expense and income tax penalties as
provision for income taxes.

The reconciliation of deferred tax assets and liabilities is presented in note 15.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

2015 2014

Net result attributable to equity holders

of the parent company, EUR million 121.6 55.4
Net result for the calculation of earnings per share,

EUR million 121.6 55.4
Weighted average number of shares

outstanding during the period (1,000 pcs) 117,314 117,697
Earnings per share, EUR 1.04 0.47
Earnings per share, excluding nonrecurring items, EUR 1.09 0.80
Weighted average number of shares outstanding

during the period, diluted (1,000 pcs) 117,913 118,323
Earnings per share, diluted, EUR 1.03 0.47
Earnings per share, diluted, excluding nonrecurring items, EUR 1.08 0.79
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13. INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Advances
Other Buildings ~ Machinery Other paid and
Intangible intangible ~ Land and and and tangible  construction
EUR million rights Goodwill assets water constructions  equipment assefs in progress
Initial cost, January 1, 2015 2329 4003 69.0 145 136.7 366.0 0.4 0.6
Additions 32 - 258 - 6.7 2.1 - 155
Company acquisitions 46. 185 20 - - - - -
Company divestments and disposals - - - - -03 -39 - -
Transfers 1.5 - 37 A1 -3 0.1 01 -2
Translation differences 42 302 12 04 54 9.7 - 03
Balance, December 31, 2015 288.0 4490 1027 148 143. 4180 03 103
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, January 1, 2015 49 953 533 0. 809 269.3 0.0 0.0
Depreciation during the period 32 - 6.0 - 9.6 33 - -
Company divestments and disposals - - - - 0.1 34 - -
Transfers 45 - 02 - 38 -107 - -
Translation differences 09 15 20 - 37 11 - -
Balance, December 31, 2015 415 1028 611 0. 9.3 2946 0.0 0.0

Balance shee value, December 31, 2015 403 346. 41.6 148 519 1234 03 103
Carrying amount of finance leases included - - - - U5 - -

Accumulated impairment losses of goodwill at January 1, 2015 totaled EUR 16.5 million.

Additions in other intangible assets include EUR 21.9 million of capitalized product development
expenses including investments in the new platforms for connected devices and digital services.

Advances
Other Buildings ~ Machinery Other paid and
Intangible intangible ~ Land and and and tangible  construction
EUR million rights” Goodwill assets water constructions  equipment assefs in progress
Initial cost, January 1, 2014 1543 3689 389 140 1215 3374 13 129
Additions 03 - 28 0.1 8.6 2.1 - 135
Company acquisitions - - - - - - - -
Company divestments and disposals - - - - 0.1 -15 - -
Transfers 08 - 57 - 13 45 -09 204
Translation differences 5l 314 1.6 04 54 §.5 - 0.6
Balance, December 31, 2014 319 4003 09.0 145 136.7 366.0 04 0.6
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, January 1, 2014 428 §17 454 0.0 69.8 U89 0.1 0.0
Depreciation during the period 15 - 04 - 11 82 - -
Company divestments and disposals - - - - 0.l -16 - -
Transfers 13 - - - -0.5 -135 0. -
Translation differences 09 16 15 - 40 13 - -
Balance, December 31, 2014 49 953 533 0.0 80.9 2693 0.0 0.0
Balance sheet value, December 31, 2014 189.0 305.0 157 145 558 9.7 04 0.6
Carrying amount of finance leases included - - - - - 0.6 - -
Accumulated impairment losses of goodwill at January 1, 2014 totaled EUR 14.5 million.
9 Transfers of intangible assets include impairment losses of EUR 3.6 million related to Nikita

and Bonfire trademarks and transfer of EUR 1.0 million to assets held for sale.
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14. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS AND CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS

Available-for-sale financial assets, EUR 0.4 million (0.3), consist in their entirety of shares in
unlisted companies and real estate shares. They are measured at fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents, EUR 331.4 million (240.2), include cash in hand EUR 298.4 million,
short-term deposits EUR 20.0 million and restricted cash EUR 13.0 million.

15. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EUR million

Deferred tax assets:
Provisions
Carryforward of unused tax losses
Employee benefits
Impairment
Other temporary differences

Total

Deferred tax liabilities:
Fair value adjustments
Depreciation differences
Other temporary differences

Total

Net deferred tax assets

Deferred taxes recognized in the balance sheet at December 31, 2015:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

Charge Acquired
Jan1, inincome Translation  Charged and sold Dec 31,
2015 statement differences to OCI operations 2015
24.2 0.1 0.2 - - 24.5
422 -12.3 0.1 - - 30.0
23.1 2.8 4.1 1.4 - 28.6
3.8 0.2 0.2 - - 4.2
29.8 -4.5 -0.1 - - 252
123.1 -13.7 4.5 -1.4 - 112.5
-11.6 8.5 0.5 -0.5 - 3.1
-26.8 -4.0 0.1 - -0.7 314
3.2 0.6 0.2 - - -2.4
-41.6 5.1 0.8 -0.5 -0.7 -36.9
81.5 -8.6 5.3 -1.9 -0.7 75.6
116.2
40.6
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Charge Acquired
Jan 1, inincome Translation Charged and sold Dec 31,
EUR million 2014 statement differences to OCI operations 2014
Deferred tax assets:
Provisions 21.7 2.5 - - - 24.2
Carryforward of unused tax losses 47.0 4.8 - - - 422
Employee benefits 15.1 -1.3 0.8 8.5 - 23.1
Impairment 5.6 -1.8 - - - 3.8
Other temporary differences 23.2 6.7 -0.1 - - 29.8
Total 112.6 1.3 0.7 8.5 - 123.1
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fair value adjustments 0.9 0.6 - -13.1 - -11.6
Depreciation differences 2217 -5.0 -0.1 - - -26.8
Other temporary differences 2.8 -0.4 - - - 3.2
Total -23.6 -4.8 -0.1 -13.1 - -41.6
Net deferred tax assets 89.0 -3.5 0.6 -4.6 - 81.5

Deferred taxes recognized in the balance sheet at December 31, 2014:
Deferred tax assets 101.5
Deferred tax liabilities 20.0

At December 31, 2015 there were unused tax losses carried forward and other temporary
differences of EUR 33.1 million (52.7) for which no deferred tax assets were recognized. The
unrecognized deferred tax assets at December 31, 2015 totaled EUR 10.0 million (16.1). No
deferred tax asset has been recognized since the utilization of losses in full in the near future
is not probable or the losses have been created in countries where the possibilities for their
utilization are limited.

No deferred tax liabilities of the retained earnings of foreign subsidiaries have been recognized.

The distribution of dividend from the subsidiaries is under control of the Group and no plans that
could lead to income tax consequences are probable in the near future.
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16. VALUATION PROVISIONS OF INVENTORIES AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

EUR million 2015 2014
Impairment losses of accounts receivable 15.7 10.1
Net realizable value valuation provision 27.2 36.7

Aging analysis of accounts receivable and amounts recognized as impairment losses

Impairment Net Impairment Net
EUR million 2015 losses 2015 2014 losses 2014
Undue accounts receivable 473.4 - 473.4 461.8 - 461.8
Accounts receivable 1-30 days overdue 49.6 - 49.6 49.3 - 49.3
Accounts receivable 31-60 days overdue 19.3 - 19.3 16.2 - 16.2
Accounts receivable 61-90 days overdue 10.1 - 10.1 7.3 - 7.3
Accounts receivable 91-120 days overdue 7.3 - 7.3 3.6 - 3.6
Accounts receivable more than 120 days
overdue 19.9 -15.7 4.2 15.2 -10.1 5.1
Total 579.6 -15.7 563.9 553.4 -10.1 543.3

17. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

EUR million 2015 2014
Prepaid interest 12.0 6.6
Prepaid advertising and promotion 5.1 4.3
Other tax receivables 18.0 20.5
Accrued employee benefits 10.3 3.6
Derivative instruments 101.7 54.8
Other receivables 56.0 60.4
Total 203.1 150.2
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18. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Invested

Number unrestricted

EUR million of shares Share capital Premium fund equity reserve
January 1, 2014 118,517,285 292.2 12.1 156.7
Transfer of own shares - - - 6.4
December 31, 2014 118,517,285 292.2 12.1 163.1
December 31, 2015 118,517,285 292.2 12.1 163.1

The articles of association of Amer Sports Corporation does not restrict the number of shares that
can be issued.

Premium fund

The premium fund is used for recognizing the payments for share subscriptions received in excess
of the par value (EUR 4.00 per share) before the 2009 share issue.

Fund for own shares

Fund for own shares includes the cost of own shares held by the Group (Dec 31, 2015: EUR
18.1 million or 1,176,673 shares; Dec 31, 2014: EUR 20.2 million or 1,415,112 shares). At Dec
31, 2015 Amer Sports Corporation held 1,176,673 own shares (1,404,187) and its fully owned
subsidiary Amer Sports International Oy 0 shares (10,925).

Translation differences

Translation differences comprise the differences arising from the elimination of net investments in
non-euro entities.

Fair value and other reserves

Fair value and other reserves include changes in the fair values of available-for-sale financial
assets and derivative financial instruments used for hedging interest and foreign currency cash
flows.

Invested unrestricted equity reserve

Invested unrestricted equity reserve contains the subscription proceeds from a share issue to the
extent that it is not, in accordance with an explicit decision of the shareholders, booked to the
share capital.

Amount of dividends proposed

Dividend proposed by the Board of Directors for the financial year is EUR 0.55 (0.45) per share.
Total dividends amount to EUR 65.2 million (52.8).
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19. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

EUR million

Bonds

Loans from financial
institutions

Pension loans

Other interest-bearing
liabilities

Total

EUR million

Bonds

Loans from financial
institutions

Pension loans

Other interest-bearing
liabilities

Total

INTEREST-BEARING CURRENT LIABILITIES

EUR million

Commercial papers

Current repayments of long-term loans

Other interest-bearing current liabilities

Total

EUR million

Bonds

Loans from financial institutions

Pension loans
Commercial papers

Other interest-bearing liabilities

Outstanding Repayments
Dec 31, 2021 and
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 after
688.5 154.4 - 165.5 - 208.7 159.9
81.4 - 0.0 30.4 50.4 0.4 0.2
21.8 2.8 2.6 2.5 2.4 2.3 9.2
791.7 157.2 2.6 198.4 52.8 211.4 169.3
Outstanding Repayments
Dec 31, 2020 and
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 after
459.9 150.0 153.3 0.0 156.6 0.0 -
80.9 0.6 0.3 0.0 80.0 - -
2.9 2.9 - - - - -
0.1 - - - - - 0.1
543.8 153.5 153.6 0.0 236.6 0.0 0.1
2015 2014
0.0 114.5
154.4 153.5
2.8 1.0
157.2 269.0
INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE

2015 2014
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
688.5 680.6 459.9 446.9
81.4 81.4 80.9 80.9
- - 2.9 2.8
- - 114.5 114.5
21.8 21.8 1.1 1.1
791.7 783.8 659.3 646.2

Total
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Fair values have been calculated by discounting future cash flows at market-determined interest
rates at the end of the financial period.

FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES
EUR million 2015 2014

Finance lease liabilities are due as follows:

Not later than one year 2.9 0.3
Later than one year but not later than five years 10.0 0.3
Later than five years 8.6 -
Total minimum lease payments 21.5 0.6

Present value of minimum l